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MICKEY LELAND CHILDHOOD HUNGER
RELIEF ACT

WEDNESDAY, APRIL 28, 1993

House of Representatives,
Subcommittee on Department

Operations and Nutrition,
Committee on Agriculture,

Washington, DC.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 3 p.m., in room

1300, Longworth House Office Building, Hon. Charles W. Stenholm
(chairman of the subcommittee) presiding.

Present: Representatives Dooley, English, McKinney, Bishop,

Volkmer, Clayton, Holden, Lambert, Smith, Emerson, Gunderson,
Allard, Barrett, Ewing, and Canady.

Staff present: JuUa M. Paracus, assistant counsel; John E.

Hogan, minority coimsel; Glenda L. Temple, clerk; Anita R. Brown,
Rob Wight, Lynn Gallagher, and Pete Thomson.

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. CHARLES W. STENHOLM, A
REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF TEXAS

Mr. Stenholm. If we could have order, well convene the sub-

committee.
Good afternoon. Welcome to this first hearing of the subcommit-

tee on the issue of nutrition. It is appropriate that this first hear-

ing address legislation that has been sponsored in the 101st, 102d,
and 103d Congresses by our former chairman to the Nutrition Sub-

committee, Leon Panetta.
As most of you know, the Mickey Leland Childhood Hunger Re-

Hef Act is the heart of the administration's proposal that was for-

mally delivered this afternoon by Secretary Espy to the full Com-
mittee on Agriculture. Many of you heard Secretary Espy testify

before the fiUl Agriculture Committee on the need for this legisla-
tion. It will make needed changes in the food stamp program and
the emergency food assistance program to help them more effec-

tively meet the needs of children. As I have often said before, we
owe it to our kids and to our Nation to make sure that our children

are well nourished, for that is one of the best investments we can
make in our own future.

The Agricult\ire Committee has always been a strong supporter
of our domestic feeding programs, and it has worked for years to

fashion effective and efficient programs that will serve those in

need. I was impressed by the chairman's list of activities of the Ag-
riculture Committee over the last 6 years addressing both domestic
£uid international hunger. Our subcommittee will continue in this

(1)



excellent tradition and in the hardworking tradition of the Select

Committee on Hunger and its chairmen, the late Mickey Leland
and Congressman Tony Hall. There can be no question about the
commitment of these men to alleviate hunger here and abroad, and
this subcommittee shares that commitment.
The food stamp program and TEFAP enjoy almost universal sup-

port in the Congress, but still we have hungry people. I am con-

cerned about this situation, that there are still hungry people even

though we spend tens of billions of dollars each year to alleviate

hunger. I hope some of our witnesses today can help us understand
why this is so. In the richest country in the world that produces
the cheapest food in the world, I do not understand why people are
still hungry. As a food producer, I am concerned about this situa-

tion.

I look forward to hearing this afternoon how the Mickey Leland

legislation can help address this issue. I welcome all of our wit-
nesses and look forward to your testimony.
Mr. Smith.
Mr. Smith. I have a statement for the record.
Mr. Stenholm. Without objection, your prepared statement will

appear in the record. Also, any prepared statements from members
of the committee will appear at this point in the record.
Mr. Smith. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
[The prepared statements of Mr. Smith, Mr. Canady, and H.R.

529 follow:]



THE HONORABLE BOB SMITH

SUBCOMMITTEE ON DEPARTMENT OPERATIONS AND NUTRITION

THE MICKEY LELAND CHILDHOOD HUNGER RELIEF ACT

APRIL 28, 1993

THANK YOU MR. CHAIRMAN. THE PURPOSE OF OUR HEARING

TODAY IS TO REVIEW H.R. 529, THE MICKEY LELAND CHILDHOOD

HUNGER RELIEF ACT. I WOULD LIKE TO DISCUSS A BRIEF HISTORY OF

THE LELAND BILL. THIS BILL, IN A SIMILAR FORM, WAS FIRST INCLUDED

AS A PART OF THE 1990 FARM BILL. THE BUDGET RESOLUTION ADOPTED

BY THE HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES IN 1990 PROVIDED FUNDS FOR THE

MICKEY LELAND BILL. HOWEVER, THE FINAL 1990 BUDGET SUMMIT

AGREEMENT DID NOT. SUBSEQUENTLY, THE CHANGES TO THE FOOD

STAMP PROGRAM THAT WERE INCLUDED IN THE 1990 FARM BILL WERE

DROPPED IN THE CONFERENCE WITH THE SENATE BECAUSE FUNDING

WAS NOT SUFFICIENT.

IN NOVEMBER 1991, THE AGRICULTURE COMMITTEE REPORTED

THE MICKEY LELAND CHILDHOOD HUNGER RELIEF ACT. AT THAT TIME,
m

WITH PAY-AS-VOU-GO RULES APPLYING, QUESTIONS REGARDING THE

SOURCE OF THE FUNDING FOR ADDITIONAL COSTS TO THE FOOD STAMP

PROGRAM RESULTING FROM THE LELAND BILL WERE UNANSWERED.



LATER, THE HOUSE LEADERSHIP DETERMINED THAT THE LELAND

BILL, ALONG WITH OTHER LEGISLATION FROM THE WAYS AND MEANS

COMMITTEE, WOULD BE CONSIDERED BY THE HOUSE IN AUGUST 1992.

THE FUNDING SOURCE WAS DETERMINED TO BE INCREASED TAXES AND

THE RESULT WAS PASSAGE OF THE BILL BY THE HOUSE OF

REPRESENTATIVES, ON BASICALLY A PARTY-LINE VOTE, AND NO ACTION

BY THE SENATE.

THAT BRINGS US TO TODAY'S HEARING. H.R. 529, THE MICKEY

LELAND CHILDHOOD HUNGER RELIEF ACT PROPOSES SEVERAL

CHANGES TO THE FOOD STAMP PROGRAM, AT A COST, ACCORDING TO

CBO, OF OVER $6 BILLION OVER A FIVE YEAR PERIOD. THE 1994 BUDGET

RESOLUTION INCLUDES FUNDING FOR THIS BILL; NEVERTHELESS,

SEVERAL QUESTIONS ARISE AS TO THE SOURCE OF THE FUNDING;

WHETHER SUCH FUNDING WILL INCLUDED IN THE RECONCILIATION

BILL;;AND, IF AGRICULTURE PROGRAMS WILL BE REDUCED TO

ACCOMMODATE ADDITIONAL MONEY FOR THE FOOD STAMP PROGRAM.

IT IS ESSENTL\L THAT THESE QUESTIONS BE ANSWERED BEFORE THE

AGRICULTURE COMMITTEE ACTS ON THE BILL BEFORE US TODAY.

THE FOOD STAMP PROGRAM IS THE LARGEST PROVIDER OF FOOD

ASSISTANCE TO NEEDY FAMILIES. IT PROVIDES HELP TO OVER 28

MILLION PEOPLE EACH MONTH AND TO OVER 43 MILLION PEOPLE EACH



YEAR. THE COST OF THE FOOD STAMP PROGRAM IS ESTIMATED TO BE

OVER $25 BILLION THIS YEAR.

THE 1994 CONGRESSIONAL BUDGET RESOLUTION AND THE

ADMINISTRATION'S 1994 BUDGET PROPOSE INCREASES ABOVE THE

BASELINE FOR THE FOOD STAMP PROGRAM IN SIGNIFICANT AMOUNTS.

I WANT TO SEE THAT THE FOOD STAMP PROGRAM PROVIDES

NECESSARY FOOD ASSISTANCE TO NEEDY FAMILIES AND AT THE SAME

TIME INCLUDES STRONG PROVISIONS THAT REQUIRE ABLE BODIED

PEOPLE TO WORK AND ENSURE THAT ABSENT PARENTS PROVE THE

FINANCIAL SUPPORT FOR THEIR CHILDREN. I BELIEVE THESE ACTIONS

WILL IMPROVE THE FOOD STAMP PROGRAM; AND MORE IMPORTANTLY,

WILL IMPROVE THE UVES OF NEEDY FAMILIES THAT MUST NOW RELY

ON PROGRAMS SUCH AS THE FOOD STAMP PROGRAM.

THANK YOU MR. CHAIRMAN.
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Thank you Mr. Chairman. Hr. Secretary, I want to join my fellow
colleagues in thanking you for appearing before us today to
discuss the Administration's proposal regarding the Mickey Leland
Childhood Hunger Relief Act (H.R. 529).

Mr. Saoratary, a particular area I would bring to your
attention today is the automation of our state's welfare program
distribution systems. As you may be aware, Florida has recently
experienced severe and costly problems with its attempt to
automate the distribution of Food Stamps, AFDC and Medicaid. The
state spent $108 million to develop a computer that is supposed
to improve the services provided to Florida's needy and elderly.
Of that $108 million, over 75% of the planning, design and
Installation money for the system was provided by the federal
government .

Unfortunately, during its first year of operation, the
computer lost roughly $260 million dollars because of errors and
mismanagement in program distribution.

A General Accounting Office report released in May of 1992
stated that ineffective oversight of the development and
installation of automated systems such as the one in Florida "has
allowed millions of dollars to be spent on systems that either do
not work or do not meet requirements." "Further, HHS and USDA
each spend time and money independently reviewing state systems
rather than coordinating their reviews, even though most states
are developing or operating systems that include all three
federal programs."

According to GAO, examples of this waste and ineffective
oversight are "three states spent almost $30 million in federal
funds before canceling projects because of development problems.
In another case, a state has been unable to implement its $51
million system because it did not Incorporate important user
requirements into its system design."



Vaga Two

With Bore states aoving toward the automation of systeais
covarlng Food stamps and other welfare programs, I am deeply
concerned that USDA and HHS are not providing the proper
oversight to ensure new systems accomplish their stated goals and
that any lessons learaed by states previously working towards
automation will be passed on to states currently attempting to
improve their systems.

Mr. Seeratary, on April 6th of this year, I sent you a
letter encouraging the USDA and the HHS to coordinate their
investigations of alleged mismanagement and abuse of funds by
Florida's Health and Rehabilitative Services. I look forward to
your response to this inquiry because I believe that this is
basic, essential good government policy that will save the
American taxpayer millions of dollars. Whenever two federal
agencies provide funds to a single state agency for distribution,
the two agencies must coordinate their operations and oversight
to guarantee that there are no overlapping services or costs.

When two government departments, such as USDA and HHS, spend
the money that is encompassed by these three progrtuBS — in
FY 1990, AFDC benefits were $10.1 billion, Medicaid Benefits were
$68.7 billion and Food Stamp benefits were over $14 billion —
proper coordination and oversight of these moneys must be
guaranteed to ensure that federal dollars are not wasted.

I would encourage you to review the May 1992 GAO report and
work for the implementation of its recommendations.
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103d congress
1st Session H. R. 529

To amend the Pood Stamp Act of 1977 to respond to the hunger emergency

afOicting American families and children, to attack the causes of hunger

among all Americans, to ensure an adequate diet for low-income people

who are homeless or at risk of homelessness because of the shortage
of affordable housing, to promote self-sufficiency among food stamp

recipients, to assist families affected by adverse economic conditions,

to simplify food assistance programs' administration, and for other

purposes.

IN THE HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

January 21, 1993

Mr. Panetta (for himself, Mr. Emersok, Mr. de la Garza, and Mr. Hall
of Ohio) introduced the followng bill; which was referred to the Commit-
tee on Agriculture

A BILL
To amend the Food Stamp Act of 1977 to respond to the

hunger emergency afflicting American famiHes and chil-

dren, to attack the causes of hunger among all Ameri-

cans, to ensure an adequate diet for low-income people

who are homeless or at risk of homelessness because

of the shortage of affordable housing, to promote self-

sufficiency among food stamp recipients, to assist fami-

lies affected by adverse economic conditions, to simplify

food assistance programs' administration, and for other

purposes.



2

1 Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representa-

2 tives of the United States ofAmerica in Congress assembled,

3 SECTION 1. SHORT TITLE AND TABLE OF CONTENTS.

4 (a) Short Title.—This Act may be cited as the

5
* '

Mickey Leland Childhood Hunger Rehef Act'
*

.

6 (b) Table of Contents.—The table of contents is

7 as follows: .

Sec. 1. Short title and table of contents.

Sec. 2. References to Act.

. TITLE I—ENSURING ADEQUATE FOOD ASSISTANCE

Sec. 101. Families with high shelter expenses.

Sec. 102. Basic benefit level.

Sec. 103. Continuing benefits to eligible households.

Sec. 104. Homeless families in transitional housing.

Sec. 105. Improving the nutritional status of children in Puerto Rico.

Sec. 106. Households benefiting from general assistance vendor payments.

Sec. 107. Helping low-income high school students.

TITLE n—PROMOTING SELF-SUFFICIENCY

Sec. 201. Child support disregard.

Sec. 202. Child support payments to non-household members.

Sec. 203. Vehicles needed to seek and continue employment and for household

transportation.

Sec. 204. Vehicles necessary to carry fuel or water.

Sec. 205. Improving access to employment and training activities.

TITLE m—SIMPLIFYING THE PROMSION OF FOOD ASSISTANCE

Sec. 301. Simplifying the household definition for households with children and

others.

Sec. 302. Resources of households with disabled members.

Sec. 303. Assuring adequate funding for the food stamp program.

TITLE IV—COMMODITY DISTRIBUTION TO NEEDY FAMILIES

Sec. 401. Conmiodity purchases.

TITLE V—IMPLEMENTATION AND EFFECTIVE DATES

Sec. 501. Effective dates.

Sec. 502. Budget neutrality requirement.

•HR 529 IH
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3

1 SEC. 2. REFERENCES TO ACTS.

2 Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, ref-

3 erences to "the Act" and sections thereof shall be deemed

4 to be references to the Food Stamp Act of 1977 (7 U.S.C.

5 2011 et seq.) and the sections thereof.

6 TITUS I—ENSURING ADEQUATE FOOD

7 ASSISTANCE

8 SEC. 101. FAMILIES WITH fflGH SHELTER EXPENSES.

9 (a) Removal op Cap.—(1) The fourth sentence of

10 section 5(e) of the Food Stamp Act of 1977 (hereinafter

11 referred to as "the Act") (7 U.S.C. 2014(e)) is amended

12 by striking ": Provided, That the amount" and all that

13 follows through "June 30".

14 (2) The fifth sentence of section 5(e) of the Act (7

15 U.S.C. 2014(e)) is amended by striking "under clause (2)

16 of the preceding sentence".

17 (b) Transitional Cap.—(1) Effective on the date

18 of enactment of this Act, section 5(e) of the Act is amend-

19 ed by inserting after the fourth sentence the follo^ving: "In

20 the 12-month period ending September 30, 1994, such ex-

21 cess shelter expense deduction shall not exceed $230 a

22 month in the forty-eight contiguous States and the Dis-

23 trict of Columbia, and shall not exceed, in Alaska, Hawaii,

24 Guam, and the Virgin Islands of the United States, $400,

25 $328, $279, and $170 a month, respectively; in the 12-

26 month period ending September 30, 1995, shall not exceed

•HR 529 IH
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4

1 $260 a month in the forty-eight contiguous States and the

2 District of Columbia, and shall not exceed, in Alaska, Ha-

3 waii, Guam, and the Virgin Islands of the United States,

4 $452, $371, $315, and $192 a month, respectively; in the

5 12-month period ending September 30, 1996, shall not ex-

6 ceed $300 a month in the forty-eight contiguous States

7 and the District of Columbia, and shall not exceed, in

8 Alaska, Hawaii, Guam, and the Virgin Islands of the Unit-

9 ed States, $521, $420, $364, and $221 a month, respec-

10 tively; and in the 12-month period ending September 30,

11 1997, shall not exceed $360 a month in the forty-eight

12 contiguous States and the District of Columbia, and shall

13 not exceed, in Alaska, Hawaii, Guam, and the Virgin Is-

14 lands of the United States, $626, $514, $437, and $266

15 a month, respectively.".

16 (2) Effective October 1, 1997, section 5(e) of the Act

17 (7 U.S.C. 2014(e)) is amended by striking the fifth

18 sentence.

19 SEC. 102. BASIC BENEFIT LEVEL.

20 Section 3(o) of the Act (7 U.S.C. 2012(o)) is amend-

21 ed by striking "(4) through" and all that follows through

22 the end of the subsection, and inserting the following: "(4)

23 on October 1, 1993, adjust the cost of such diet to reflect

24 103V3 percent of the cost of thrifty food plan in the pre-

25 ceding June (without regard to adjustments made under

•HR 629 IH
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5

1 clauses (9), (10), and (11) of this subsection as in effect

2 before the date of the enactment of the Mickey Leland

3 Childhood Hunger Relief Act), as determined by the Sec-

4 retaiy, and round the result to the nearest lower dollar

5 increment for each household size, (5) on October 1, 1994,

6 adjust the cost of such diet to reflect 103% percent of

7 the cost of the thrifty food plan in the preceding June

8 (without regard to adjustments made under such clauses

9 (9), (10), and (11) and under clause (4)), as determined

10 by the Secretary, and round the result to the nearest lower

11 dollar increment for each household size, (6) on October

12 1, 1995, adjust the cost of such diet to reflect 104 percent

13 of the cost of the thrifty food plan in the preceding June

14 (without regard to adjustments made under such clauses

15 (9), (10), and (11) and under clauses (4) and (5)), as de-

16 termined by the Secretary, and round the result to the

17 lowest dollar increment for each household size, (7) on Oc-

18 tober 1, 1996, adjust the cost of such diet to reflect 104V3

19 percent of the cost of the thrifty food plan in the preceding

20 June (without regard to adjustments made under such

21 clauses (9), (10), and (11) and under clauses (4), (5), and

22 (6)), as determined by the Secretarj^, and round the result

23 to the nearest lower dollar increment for each household

24 size, (8) on October 1, 1997, adjust the cost of such diet

25 to reflect 104% percent of the cost of the thrifty food plan

•UR 529 IH
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6

1 in the preceding June (without regard to adjustments

2 made under such clauses (9), (10), and (11) and under

3 clauses (4), (5), (6), and (7)), as determined by the Sec-

4 retary, and round the result to the nearest lower dollar

5 increment for each household size, and (9) on October 1,

6 1998, and on every October 1 thereafter, adjust the cost

7 of such diet to reflect 105 percent of the cost of the thrifty

8 food plan in the preceding June (Avithout regard to pre-

9 vious adjustments made under such clauses (9), (10), and

10 (11), under clauses (4), (5), (6), (7), and (8), and under

11 this clause), as determined by the Secretary, and round

12 the result to the nearest lower dollar increment for each

13 household size.".

14 SEC. 103. CONTINUING BENEFITS TO ELIGIBLE HOUSE-

15 HOLDS.

16 Section 8(c)(2)(B) of the Act (7 U.S.C.

17 2017(c)(2)(B)) is amended by inserting "of more than one

18 month in" after "following any period".

19 SEC. 104. HOMELESS FAMILIES IN TRANSITIONAL HOUS-

20 ING.
'

21 Section 5(k)(2)(F) of the Act (7 U.S.C.

22 2014(k)(2)(F)) is amended to read as follows:

23 "(F) housing assistance payments made to a

24 third party on behalf of a household residing in

25 transitional housing for the homeless;".

•HR 629 IH
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7

1 SEC. 106. IMPROVING THE NUTRITIONAL STATUS OF CHIL-

2 DREN IN PUERTO RICO.

3 Section 19(a)(1)(A) of the Act (7 U.S.C.

4 2028(a)(1)(A)) is amended:

5 (1) by striking "$1,091,000,000" and inserting

6 "$1,111,000,000"; and

7 (2) by striking "$1,133,000,000" and inserting

8 "$1,158,000,000".

9 SEC. 106. HOUSEHOLDS BENEFITING FROM GENERAL AS-

10 SISTANCE VENDOR PAYMENTS.

11 Section 5(k)(l)(B) of the Act (7 U.S.C.

12 2014(k)(l)(B)) is amended to read as follows:

13 "(B) a benefit payable to the household for

14 housing expenses, not including energy or utility-cost

15 assistance, under—
16 "(i) a State or local general assistance pro-

17 gram; or

18 "(ii) another basic assistance program

19 comparable to general assistance (as determined

20 by the Secretary).".

21 SEC. 107. HELPING LOW-INCOME HIGH SCHOOL STU-

22 DENTS.

23 Section 5(d)(7) is amended b}^ striking ", who is a

24 student, and who has not attained his eighteenth birth-

25 day" and inserting "and who is an elementarj'^ or second-

26 ary student".

•HR 529 IH
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1 TITLE n—PROMOTING SELF-SUFFICIENCY

2 SEC. 201. CHILD SUPPORT DISREGARD.

3 Section 5 of the Act (7 U.S.C. 2014) is amended—

4 (1) in clause (13) of subsection (d)
—

5 (A) by striking "at the option" and all

6 that follows through "subsection (m)," and in-

7 serting "(A)"; and

8 (B) by adding at the end the following:

9 "and (B) the first $50 of any child support

10 payments for each month received in that

11 month, and the first $50 of child support of

12 each month received in that month if such pay-

13 ments were made by the absent parent in the

14 month when due,"; and

15 (2) by striking subsection (m).

16 SEC. 202. CHILD SUPPORT PAYMENTS TO NON-HOUSEHOLD

17 MEMBERS.

18 Section 5(d)(6) of the Act (7 U.S.C. 2014(d)(6)) is

19 amended by striking the comma at the end and inserting

20 the following: ": Provided, That child support payments

21 made by a household member to or for a person who is

22 not a member of the household shall be excluded from the

23 income of the household of the person making such pay-

24 ments if such household member was legally obligated to

25 make such payments,".

•HR S29 IH
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1 SEC. 203. VEHICLES NEEDED TO SEEK AND CONTINUE EM-

2 PLOYMENT AND FOR HOUSEHOLD TRANS-

3 PORTATION.

4 Section 5(g)(2) of the Act (7 U.S.C. 2014(g)(2)) is

5 amended by striking $4,500" and inserting the following:

6 "a level set by the Secretary, which shall be $4,500

7 through September 30, 1993, and which shall be adjusted

8 from $4,500 on October 1, 1993, and on each October

9 1 thereafter, to reflect changes in the Consumer Price

10 Index for All Urban Consumers published by the Bureau

11 of Labor Statistics, for new cars, for the 12-month period

12 ending the preceding June 30, and rounded to the nearest

13 $50".

14 SEC. 204. VEHICLES NECESSARY TO CARRY FUEL OR

15 WATER

16 Section 5(g)(2) of the Act (7 U.S.C. 2014(g)(2)) is

17 amended by adding at the end the following: "The Sec-

18 retary shall exclude from financial resources the value of

19 a vehicle that a household depends upon to carr^' fuel for

20 heating or water for home use when such transported fuel

21 or water is the primary source of fuel or water for the

22 household.".

•HR 529 IH
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1 SEC. 206. IMPROVING ACCESS TO EMPLOYMENT AND

2 TRAINING ACnVITIES.

3 (a) Dependent Care Deduction.—Section 5(e) of

4 the Act (7 U.S.C. 2014(e)) is amended in clause (1) of

5 the fourth sentence—
6 (1) by striking "$160 a month for each depend-

7 ent" and inserting "$200 a month for a dependent

8 child under age 2 and $175 a month for any other

9 dependent"; and

10 (2) by striking ", regardless of the dependent's

11 age,".

12 (b) Reimbursements to Participants.—(1) Sec-

13 tion 6(d)(4)(I)(i)(I) of the Act (7 U.S.C.

14 2015(d)(4)(I)(i)(I)) is amended by striking "$25" and iii-

15 serting "$75".

16 (2) Subclause (II) of section 6 (d)(4) (I) (i) of the Act

17 (7 U.S.C. 2015(d)(4)(I)(i)(II)) is amended by striking

18 "reimbursements exceed $160" and all that follows

19 through the end of such subclause, and inserting "reim-

20 bursements exceed the applicable local market rate as de-

21 termined by procedures consistent with any such deter-

22 mination under the Social Security Act. Individuals sub-

23 ject to the program under this paragraph may not be re-

24 quired to participate if dependent care costs exceed the

25 limit established by the State agency under this paragraph

•HR 529 IH
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1 (which Umit shall not be less than the Hmit for the depend-
»

2 ent care deduction under section 5(e)).".

3 (c) Reimbursements to State Agencies.—Sec-

4 tion 16(h)(3) of the Act (7 U.S.C. 2025(h)(3)) is

5 amended—
6 (1) by striking "$25" and all that follows

7 through "dependent care costs)" and inserting "the

8 payment made under section 6(d)(4)(I)(i)(I) but not

9 more than $75 per participant per month"; and

10 (2) by striking "representing $160 per month

11 per dependent" and inserting "equal to the payment

12 made under section 6(d)(4)(I)(i)(II) but not more

13 than the applicable local market rate".

14 TITLE in—SIMPLIFYING THE PROVISION

15 OF FOOD ASSISTANCE

16 SEC. 301. SIMPLIFYING THE HOUSEHOLD DEFINITION FOR

17 HOUSEHOLDS WITH CHILDREN AND OTHERS.

18 The first sentence of section 3(i) of the Act (7 U.S.C.

19 2012(i)) is amended—

20 (1) by striking "(2)" and inserting "or (2)";

21 (2) by striking ", or (3) a parent of minor chil-

22 dren and that parent's children" and all that follows

23 through "parents and children, or siblings," and in-

24 serting ". Parents and their minor children who live

25 together and spouses"; and

•HR 829 IH
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1 (3) by striking ", unless one of and all that

2 follows through "disabled member".

3 SEC. 302. RESOURCES OF HOUSEHOLDS WITH DISABLED

4 MEMBERS.

5 Section 5(g)(1) of the Act (7 U.S.C. 2014(g)(1)) is

6 amended by striking "a member who is 60 years of age

7 or older," and inserting "an elderty or disabled member,".

8 SEC. 303. ASSURING ADEQUATE FINDING FOR THE FOOD

9 STAMP PROGRAM.

10 Section 18 of the Act (7 U.S.C. 2027) is amended

11 by striking subsections (b), (c), and (d) and redesignating

12 subsections (e) and (f) as subsections (b) and (c), respec-

13 tively.

14 TITLE IV—COMMODITY DISTRIBUTION TO

15 NEEDY FAMILIES.

16 SEC. 401—COMMODITY PURCHASES.

17 Section 214(e) of the Emergency Food Assistance

18 Act of 1983 (7 U.S.C. 612c note) is amended—

19 (1) by striking "$175,000,000" and all that fol-

20 lows through "1992, and";

21 '

(2) by inserting after the first sentence the fol-

22 lowing:

23 "During fiscal year 1994, the Secretary shall spend

24 $220,000,000 to purchase, process, and distribute addi-

25 tional commodities under this section."; and

•HR S29 IH
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1 (3) in the last sentence by striking "1991

2 through" and inserting "1993 and".

3 TITLE V—IMPLEMENTATION AND
4 EFFECTIVE DATES

5 SEC. 501. EFFECTIVE DATES.

6 (a) General Effective Date.—Except as other-

7 wise provided in this Act, the provisions of this Act shall

8 become effective and be implemented on October 1, 1993.

9 (b) Special Effectr^ Date.—Sections 103, 106,

10 201, 202, 204, 205, 301, and 302 of this Act shall become

11 effective and be implemented on July 1, 1994.

12 SEC. 602. budget neutrality REQUIREMENT.

13 None of the provisions of this Act shall become effec-

14 tive unless the costs are fully offset in each fiscal year

15 through fiscal year 1998. No agriculture price or income

16 support program administered through the Commodity

17 Credit Corporation under the Agricultural Act of 1949

18 may be reduced to achieve such offset.

O
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H.R 529, as introduced

Section-by-Section Analysis

H.R. 529, the Mickey Leland Childhood Hunger Relief Act, is virtually

identical to H.R. 1202, a bill reported by the Committee on Agriculture in the

102nd Congress that was later incorporated into the Family Preservation Act

and passed by the House. Most of the provisions of H.R 1202 originated in

the Mickey Leland Memorial Domestic Hunger Relief Act of 1990 as that bill

was reported by the Committee on Agricvilture and passed by the House as title

XVn, Food Stamp and Related Provisions, of H.R 3950, the Food and

Agricultural Resources Act of 1990 (PubUc Law 101-624; the 1990 Farm BiU).

Section 1-Short title and table of contents

Section 1 provides that the bill may be cited as the "Mickey Leland

Childhood Hunger Relief Act", and sets out the table of contents of the bill.

Section 2—References to Act

Section 2 provides that references in the bill to "the Act" are references

to the Food Stamp Act of 1977.

TITLE I-ENSURING ADEQUATE FOOD ASSISTANCE

Section 101-Families with high shelter expenses
Section 101 amends section 5(e) of the Act to provide that households

without elderly or disabled members, for purposes of determining Food Stamp

Program eligibility and benefit levels, may deduct from income high shelter

costs in the same way that elderly and disabled households do at present.

Under current law, households may deduct shelter expenses that exceed 50% of

their incomes, but this deduction is capped, cvurently at $200 a month in the

48 contiguous States, for households that do not contain elderly or disabled

members.

Section 101(a) removes the cap for such households effective October 1,

1997 and makes a conforming change to section 5(e) of the Act. Section 101(b)

establishes increased shelter deduction caps for the interim period.

Section 102--Basic benefit level

Section 102 amends the definition of "thrifty food plan" in section 3 of

the Act to raise basic food stamp benefits. The thrifty food plan is the cost of

the diet required to feed a family of four adjusted by household size. The cost

of such diet is the basis of the food stamp allotments for households. These

allotment levels are adjusted every October to reflect food costs imder the
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thrifty food plan for the year ending the previous June.

Food stamp benefits are currently set at 103% of the cost of the thrifty

food plan. Under section 102, food stamp benefits will rise in increments on an

annual basis imtil they reach 105% of the thrifty food plan by fiscal year 1999.

Section 103-Continuinp benefits to elieible households

Section 103 amends the definition of "initial month" in section 8 of the

Act to mean the first month for which an allotment is issued to a household

following any period of more than one month in which the household was not

participating in the Food Stamp Program, after preAdous participation in the

program.
The effect of this provision is that eUgible households reapplying during

the first month following the end of their prior certification period will receive

full benefits, rather than pro-rated benefits as required by current law, for that

month. This rule currently applies to migrant and seasonal farmworkers.

Section 104—Homeless families in transitional housinp
Section 104 amends section 5 of the Act to exclude from income, for

purposes of determining Food Stamp Program eligibility and allotment levels,

the full amount of vendor payments (payments made to third parties) for

transitional housing for homeless households.

The Food Stamp Act generally excludes vendor payments from

calculations of food stamp income. However, in those states that have shelter

allowance components within their payments to families under the Aid To
Families with Dependent Children (AFDC) program, current law excludes that

portion of the vendor payments for transitional housing for the homeless only

up to an amoimt equal to half of the AFDC maximum shelter allowance. The
amount of a vendor pajrment that exceeds the AFDC maximum shelter

fdlowance is also excluded. The majority of states have no separate AFDC
shelter allowance, and therefore the entire vendor payment is excluded for the

purposes of the Food Stamp Program under the general rule to exclude vendor

payments. This section would treat vendor payments for transitional housing
the same in all states by excluding the entire vendor payment from income for

purposes of determining Food Stamp Program eligibility and allotment levels.

Section 105—Improving the nutritional status of children in Puerto Rico

Section 105 amends section 19 of the Act to increase funding for the

Nutrition Assistance Program (NAP) in Puerto Rico. In 1981, the Food Stamp
Act was amended to replace the Food Stamp Program in Puerto Rico with a

block grant, the Nutrition Assistance Program. For 1994, the block grant

funding for NAP funding is increased from $1,091 billion to $1,111 billion; and
for 1995 it is increased from $1,133 billion to $1,158 billion.
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Section lOS-Households benefiting from general assistance vendor payments
Section 106 amends section 5 of the Act to include only general

assistance (GA) vendor payments provided for housing expenses, but excluding

energy or utility-cost assistance, as income for determining food stamp eligibility

and benefit levels.

Under current law, GA vendor payments are excluded from consideration

as income if they are made under state laws that prohibit making direct GA
pajonents to households. In other states, they are counted as income if they
are made for normal living expenses.

The 1990 Farm Bill established the current exclusion from income for

those GA vendor payments made under state laws prohibiting direct GA
payments to households.

Section 107-Helping low-income high school students

Section 107 amends section 5 of the Act to exclude the income of high
school students for the purpose of calculating eligibility and benefit levels for

the Food Stamp Program. Current law excludes the income of high school

students only up to their eighteenth birthday.

TITLE II-PROMQTING SELF-SUFFICIENCY

Section 201-Child support disregard

Section 201 amends section 5 of the Act to exclude from consideration as

household income in determining Food Stamp Program eligibility and allotment

levels the first $50 a month received for child support, including those

payments made on time but received in a later month. Under current law, the

State agency has the option to exclude the first $50 in child support payments
received by households participating in the AFDC program, but must reimburse

to the Federal government, from state fimds, the value of increased food stamp
benefits.

Section 202-Child support payments to non-household members
Section 202 amends section 5 of the Act to exclude from consideration as

income for purposes of determining Food Stamp Program eligibility and
allotment levels any child support payments a household member makes to

support a child outside of the household, if the payments are a legal obligation.

Current law provides no such exclusion.

Section 203"Vehicle8 needed to seek and continue employment and for

household transportation
Section 203 amends section 5 of the Act to require the annual indexing

of the current asset threshold for the fair market value of vehicles owned by



24

households. Current law imposes the eligibility requirement, generaUy, that

households not have assets above $2,000 if they do not contain an elderly

member, or $3,000 if they do contain an elderly member. The amount of the

fair market value of each household vehicle (other than those that are totally

disregarded) that exceeds $4,500 is calculated toward the asset limit. Section

203 reqiiires that the $4,500 threshold be adjusted, beginning on October 1,

1993, and on each October 1 thereafter, to reflect changes in the Consumer

Price Index for all urban consumers published by the Bureau of Labor

Statistics, for new cars, rounded to the nearest $50.

Section 204-Vehicle8 necessary to carry fuel or water

Section 204 amends section 5 of the Act to exclude from financial

resources, for purposes of determining Food Stamp Program eligibiUty, a vehicle

that is used by a household to transport fuel for heating or water when that

fuel or water is the primary source for the household. Current law provides no

such exclusion.

Section 205--Improving access to employment and training activities

Section 205(a) amends section 5 of the Act to raise the current dependent
care deduction, allowed in computing household income for purposes of

determining program eligibility and benefit levels, from $160 a month for each

dependent to $200 a month for children under age 2 and $175 a month for

other dependents. Current law permits a dependent care deduction when

dep>endent care enables a household member to work or look for work, or

engage in education or training in preparation for employment.
Section 205(b) amends section 6 of the Act to rtiise the limit on

reimbursements to recipients participating in employment and training (E^&T)

programs for costs related to E&T activities. Current law limits dependent care

reimbursements to $160 per dependent per month and other reimbursements to

$25 p>er month per person and requires states to exempt from participation in

E^T activities those households whose costs would exceed the reimbursement.

Section 205 raises dependent care reimbursements to the applicable local

market rate as determined using procedures consistent with those used for

AFDC E&T programs. Section 205 exempts from participation in E&T
activities individuals whose dependent care costs exceed the dependent care

deduction. Section 205 also raises the limit for reimbursements for other work-

related costs to $75 a month.

Section 205(c) makes a conforming change to the Act in section 16 to

raise the amounts of E&T dependent care and other work-related

reimbursements made by State agencies to recipients for which State agencies
will be reimbursed (at the normal fifty percent rate) by USDA, consistent with

the increase in such reimbursements to recipients.

I
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TITLE III-SIMPLIFYING THE PROVISION OF FOOD ASSISTANCE

Section 301-Simplifving the household definition for households

with children and others

Section 301 amends section 3 of the Act to delete a provision that

requires siblings living together and parents living with adxilt children to be

considered as one household even if they do not purchase and prepare meals

together.

Section 301 amends the definition of "household" in section 3 of the Act

to include (1) an individual who Uves alone, (2) an individual who lives with

others but customarily purchases food and prepares meals separate and apart
from the others, and (3) a group of individuals who live together and

customarily purchase food and prepare meals together. Parents and their

minor children who live together and spouses who live together would continue

to be treated as a group of individuals who customarily purchase and prepare
meals together even if they do not do so.

Section 302—Resources of households with disabled members
Section 302 amends section 5 of the Act to increase the resource limit

for determining Food Stamp Program eHgibility from $2,000 to $3,000 for any
household containing a disabled member.

Under current law, most households have a resource limit of $2,000,
while those containing at least one elderly member have a $3,000 limit. This
amendment extends to households containing a disabled member the $3,000
limit available now for households with an elderly member.

Section 303"As8uring adequate funding for the Food Stamp Program
Section 303 amends section 18 of the Act to delete from the Act

provisions that authorize the reduction of benefits to households and
notification to States if the Secretary of Agriculture determines that Food

Stamp Program funding is insufficient.

TITLE IV-COMMODITY DISTRIBUTION TO NEEDY FAMILIES

Section 401--Commoditv purchases
Section 401 amends section 214 of the Emergency Food Assistance Act of

1983 to require that the Secretary spend $220,000,000 in fiscal year 1994 to

purchase, process, and distribute additional commodities. These commodities
are to be in addition to those commodities from Commodity Credit Corporation
stocks distributed under the authority of the Emergency Food Assistance Act of

1983.

Current law, which would not be changed by this provision, authorizes to

be appropriated $220,000,000 for each of the fiscal years 1993 through 1995.
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TITLE V -IMPLEMENTATION AND EFFECTIVE DATES

Section SOl-Eflective dates

Section 501 provides that sections 103, 106, 201, 202, 204, 205, 301, and
302 will become effective and be implemented on July 1, 1994. Other
provisions of the bill wiU become effective and must be implemented on October
1, 1993.

Section 502--Requirement for budget neutrality
Section 502 provides that none of the provisions of the bill shall become

effective unless the costs of the bill are fully offset in each fiscal year through
fiscal year 1998. The offset may not be achieved by reduction of any „

agriculture price or income support program. J
111

re

k

k
ffll9



27

Mr. Stenholm. Mr. Emerson.
Mr. Emerson. No statement. Thank you.
Mr. STE^fHOLM. Ms. McKinney.
Ms. McKinney. No statement, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Stenholm. Mr. Bishop.
Mr. Bishop. No opening statement, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Stenholm. I'd be happy, then, to call our first witness, a

member of this committee, the Honorable Jill Long, a Member of

Congress from Indiana.

Welcome, Jill.

STATEMENT OF HON. JILL L. LONG, A REPRESENTATIVE IN
CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF INDIANA

Ms. Long. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate the oppor-
tiinity to testify today on the Mickey Leland Childhood Hunger Re-
Hef Act. As you know, I was a member of the Select Committee on
Hunger, and I have been very supportive of efforts to draw atten-
tion to the hunger needs of those in our Nation.
One of the most important programs for combating hunger in our

country is the food stamp program. In an effort to improve the ad-
ministration of this progrsun, I have introduced the Food Stamps
QuaUty Control System Amendments of 1993. This legislation cur-

rently has—I was incorrect in the last hearing—48 cosponsors, 9 of
which are members of the Agriculture Committee. The Food
Stamps Quality Control System is designed to measure a State's

performance in determining eligibility for food stamp benefits. As
many of my colleagues are aware, this system has sometimes been
the subject of contentious debate.

Congress took some steps to reform the QC System in the Hun-
ger Prevention Act of 1988, and then 2 years later, in the 1990
farm bill. Congress eliminated food stamp error rate sanctions for

fiscal years 1983 through 1985. Earlier this year, 24 States and the
District of Columbia came to an agreement on over $300 milUon in

error rate penalties due under this system for fiscal years 1986

through 1991.
No one and certainly I am not saying that there should not be

a system of quality control or that States with high error rates
should not be msiking great efforts to improve the accuracy of their

programs; however, as is evidenced by the Congress' willingness to

waive sanctions and the Food and Nutrition Services' agreement to

settle for 15 cents on the dollar in reinvestment, the validity and
integrity of the QC System has to be brought into question. In ad-

dition, a 1987 National Academy of Sciences study on the Food

Stamps Quality Control System questioned the statisticgd validity
of the system.
Improvements were made to the AFDC qusdity control progrgim

in 1989. H.R. 1195 reforms much of the food stamp quality control

program to be similar to the AFDC quality control program. The
objective of this legislation is to ensure that the Quality Control

System sets reasonable targets and establishes a reliable and a fair

system for measuring State performance. Such reforms should also

improve the contentious relationship between the States and the
Food and Nutrition Services that has been perpetuated under the

current system.
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While H.R, 1195 is technical, and, therefore, some may be reluc-

tant to address this issue, the problems for the States under the
current System are quite burdensome and are not going to go
away. If tne integrity of the food stamp quality control program is

not improved this year, this issue will continue to be raised in the
future. I think that at this time in particular, when legislation that
increases funding for the food stamp program is being considered,
it is appropriate to implement a review system that is fair, that is

reasonable, and, probably most importantly, that is accurate.

I hope that H.R. 1195 can be included in the Mickey Leland

Himger Act. In this regard, I would like to submit as an attach-

ment to my prepared statement a copy of a letter signed by 37
Members requesting that H.R. 1195 be included in the Mickey Le-
land Hunger Act, and I'm also pleased to note that Secretary Espy
today indicated that he does not oppose this bill and is willing to

work with us to ensure that any reforms are efPective.

[The prepared statement of Ms. Long appears at the conclusion
of the hearing.]
Mr. Stenholm. Without objection.
Mr. Emerson.
Mr. Emerson. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Jill, I'm a Uttle confused about this sanctions issue, because I

guess it was in the Technical Corrections Act of the 1990 farm bill

tiiat we forgave sanctions from 1991 on back, and you're right, we
settled for 15 cents on the dollar, providing they invested the 15
cents in systems that would prevent the problems from recurring
prospectively. I don't understand how, having done that and given
some incentive, we can say—and I'm afraid that's what we're say-
ing—^that there shouldn't be any quality control.

How are we to have quahty control? We looked very closely. I re-

member when we did it. There was no prospect that the States
were going to be able to come up with the money that they were
being hit with as sanctions, so we tried to fix it then. What did we
do wrong, and how can we not have a system of quality control?
Ms. Long. Well, there must be quality control
Mr. Emerson. How would you structure it, though?
Ms. Long. The assessment of whether or not a State is

overissuing or underissuing, that assessment has to be more accu-
rate. Currently, the States will take a sample of data, and then
FNS takes a subsample of that sample and runs a rep'ession, and
the subsample is too small in many cases to get statistical preci-
sion, so States are penalized based on a subsample of a sample of
data.

In addition to that, the target figure has been set at 1 percent
of the lowest error rate ever. I believe that the target rate that is

used for comparison should be calculated annually. In particular,
when we have a recessionary period of time, the caseload becomes
greater for the States, and that leads to higher rates. It seems to
me that a State should not be penalized because they have more

people in need and higher caseloads and fewer people relatively to
handle those caseloads.
So I think that we have to have quality control, but it has to be

a fair quality control system, and it also has to be an accurate
quality control system.
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Mr. Emerson. I think it would be well if members of the admin-
istration and you and the chairman and the ranking minority
member, with staff, sat down and walked through this. It's a veiy
technical, complex subject, and we tried hard to understand it

when we made those corrections. The standards have to be pretty

tight, or they just don't work.
Ms. Long. But they also have to be accurate.

Mr. Emerson. They have to be fair.

Ms. Long. I agree with you.
Mr. Emerson. Thank you.
Ms. Long. Thank you.
Mr. Emerson. If I may have 1 more minute, this gets into this

subject. You know, automation here, this is another one. As we
look at the whole subject of welfare reform which is coming upon
us, I have been appalled in a lot of work that I've done on the sub-

ject of welfare reform at how little automation there is in our wel-

fare system. I mean, in this country we can put people on the Moon
and people in space, and we're not utilizing technology to help us
deal with everyday problems.

It's appalling in the food stamp program how little automation
there is, and I just think that with a higher level of automation we
could avoid a lot more errors. In most places—this is a fact. In
most places, food stamp benefits are calculated manually. I mean,
people sit aroiuid figuring them out with a pad and a pencil instead
of utilizing computers, and the recordkeeping process is a manual
process in most places.

I know it's expensive to get all that technology in the first place,
but I think once an investment was made there would be enormous

savings over the long haul. I think this is the kind of problem that,
with a better utiUzation of technology, we could perhaps almost hit

it right on the nose, but we don't.

Thank you.
Mr. Stenholm. Mr. Bishop.
Mr. Bishop. I can appreciate the concerns that were raised by

my colleague, Mr. Emerson, but I imderstand very well the prob-
lems that are created with the existing quality control system. My
State has suffered tremendously and is in peril of having its re-

sources go for penalties rather than for, in actuality, the service

that it's designed to render simply because of the way that the
error rate is calculated. I think it should be accurate, and I think
that this measure that Ms. Long is proposing is designed to in-

crease accuracy, and I'd like to support it.

But I do think that it is highly technical, and I would also sup-
port the proposition that Ms. Long and the subcommittee, the

chairman, the leadership, and the a^inistration sit down together
with their staffs and see if we can't work out the technical aspects
of this in a way that everybody can live with it, and the States will

not have to be unduly penalized, but we will, at the same time,
have accurate and effective quality control of the food stamp pro-

gram.
Mr. Stenholm. Mr. Smith.
Mr. Smith. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
jni, it's certainly no news to any of us that welfare and food

stamps are probably the most maligned two Government benefits
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in this country. Everybody has a story, or you've all heard them,
about somebody that's using food stamps to buy something they
shouldn't be bu5dng for food or able-bodied people on welfare that

they shouldn't be there.

That leads me again to the question on your bill, and it's simply
that food stamps are paid by the Federal Government 100 percent,
and it's a passthrough to the States, so they have really no obliga-
tion to manage the program unless there is some kind of control

that either penalizes them for abusing the distribution of food

stamps or brings them in as a partner. I think about the banks and
the school loan program. Banks are guaranteed 100 percent in

those loans, and we have banks who will loan money to anybody
because it's no skin off their nose, and we're shocked when people
aren't repa5dng those loans.

So I worry, on the one hand, that—I hear your discussion about
unfairness to some States, but I really worry and fret about how
we're going to hold States responsible for implementing the pro-

gram without abusing it if we merely wipe out any kind of violation

fine or any kind of responsibility for the program. So I guess that's

what we're all talking about.

Ms. Long. I believe there should be penalties, and in my bill

there £ire penalties. In fact, the greater the error rate of

overissuance, the greater the penalty is going to be exponentially,
not just by a simple percentage, and I think that's very important.
But I also think that States that are being penalized today based
on data collection that is questionable and also a regression analy-
sis that in many cases has given a low statistical precision number,
I think that is not good policy. It's not just that it's unfair, it's not

good pohcy.
I would not introduce legislation that didn't include pencdties and

penalties that I think are important to provide that necessary in-

centive for States to work very hard to comply with the provisions,
but I also think that it is wrong for States to have to pay a penalty
today for something they did yesterday—not for something they did

yesterday, but for a mismeasurement of something that they did

yesterday. It would be comparable to having to pay a speeding tick-

et when the method for assessing your rate of speed was inac-

curate. That's why I think it's important to waive those penalties
for fiscal year 1992 and then move forward with a measurement
system that is accurate and where it would be reasonable for us
to expect the States to be in compliance.

If I could add one more thing, I think there has been consider-
able misinformation about what is actually included in this piece
of legislation, and there has been more focus on the waiving of the

penalties for fiscal year 1992 than on the other provisions. In my
own judgment, the other provisions of the bill are the more signifi-
cant aspects of the legislation.
Mr. Stenholm. Mrs. Clayton.
Mrs. Clayton. I apologize, I did not hear the full extent of your

remarks, but I think I understand a little bit of it. I just wanted
to know if you felt the bill could be amended with—did I imder-
stand that the other provisions other than the waiving of the pen-
alties are far more significant and you perhaps are considering
modifying that
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Ms. Long. I'm always willing to work with the Congress as well

as the administration where there are concerns. I'm always willing
to do that.

Mrs. Clayton. I was wondering also if there is a provision in the

bill that addresses the underissuance as well as

Ms. Long. Yes.
Mrs. Clayton. Just for the sake of equity if that's a possibility.
Ms. Long. Well, as you know now, if you underissue in a State,

the penalty is the same as if you overissue even though there's no
additional cost—in fact, there's less cost to the Federcd Govern-
ment. I think the targets should be established annually based on
the average error rate across the country for a particular year and
based on the overissuances, without including the underissuances.
This bill would do that, but there's also an incentive to keep the

underissuances low. Also, research has shown that when you re-

duce overissuances, there's a correlation and underissuances are

reduced as well, and it comes about as a result of being better able

to keep track of your caseload.

Mrs. Clayton. Well, my point was just made in the sense of eq-

uity. I think we all heard a very passionate plea from our col-

league. Congressman Hall, today, and that certainly wasn't a small
incident of fraud. It was just out of being sensitive and willing to

be responsive. I'm not suggesting that it's intentional that we do
underissue. Nonetheless, underissuance may not affect us finan-

cially in the Federal Government, but it does affect the livelihood

of thousands of people, which also ought to be of equal concern. It

was in the spirit of that equity that I was pushing for some ac-

knowledgment that to deny people the right to eat is almost as of-

fensive to our humanity as it is to fraudulently get something you
shouldn't have gotten. Both are offensive and unacceptable.
Ms. Long. There is a provision in the bill for that.

Mrs. Clayton. Is it equally proportionate?
Ms. Long. It's handled differently. It's a financial incentive,

and
Mrs. Clayton. One is an incentive, and the other one is a pen-

alty. OK. Thank you.
Mr. Stenholm. Ms. Lambert.
Ms. Lambert. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I most certainly applaud my colleague, Ms. Long, for her hard

work on all that she's done. It's an issue that's very interesting to

me. The district that I represent is probably one of the bigger users

of the food stamp program. It's a large rural area with quite a lot

of poverty. It's critical, I think, that if we want to see the long-term
evidence of what a food assistance program can do for our Nation
and for areas such as mine, then we've got to take a long, hard look

at making it long term. I think that there's a good beginning here,
and I certainly look forward to the opportunity to work with you.

I'd also like to echo the concerns of my colleague, Mr. Emerson,
as far as automation is concerned. I've been in and out, and I

apologize for that, but I don't know that the Secretary addressed
the EBT System, if he did or not, as to whether or not we're still

working on that, how quickly or how far along it's come, and what
the prospects are, but it might be something that would work in

well with what you're talking about as far as the bill.
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So I applaud your efforts and certainly look forward to working
with you.
Ms. Long. Thank you.
Mr. STE^fHOLM. We thank you, Ms. Long, very much. I assure

you this committee will look very closely at H.R. 1195 as we delib-

erate on the Mickey Leland bill and other issues before this sub-

committee. We thank you for your interest and your input.

Ms. Long. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Stenholm. Mr. Braley and Ms. O'Neil from USDA are still

with us from the frill committee hearing earher. Does any member
have any questions for them?
Ms. Lambert.
Ms. Lambert. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
At the sake of being redundant—and I don't know because we

were called out for a vote—I don't know if the question was asked

about the EBT system, how far along it has gotten, what the prog-
nosis of the progress of the program or the system is, and what

your feelings are about how effective that system could be.

REMARKS OF BONNY O'NEIL, ACTING DEPUTY ADMINIS-
TRATOR, FOOD STAMP PROGRAM, AND GEORGE BRALEY,
ACTING ASSISTANT SECRETARY, FOOD AND CONSUMER
SERVICES, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE

Ms. O'Neil. We have four on-line systems currently operating,
and we have 33 additional States that have approached us and said

that they're interested. There are several in between that have ac-

tually gone through the process of putting out contracts and are

worlmig on planning documents. So there's a great deal of interest.

We continue to encourage that interest, and the Secretary has indi-

cated his support, although there were no specific questions asked
about EBT.
Ms. Lambert. There were none?
Ms. O'Neil. No.
Ms. Lambert. You said there are how many States that are

currently
Ms. O'Neil. There are 33 that have told us that they are seri-

ously interested in pursuing EBT, and they're in various stages in

that pursuit.
Ms. Lambert. So there's no one currently as a testing ground

or
Ms. O'Neil. There are four on-line systems in operation now. The

State of Maryland, effective this May, will be statewide. That will

be our first statewide project. We still have the Reading, Penn-

sylvania, project that we started back in 1984. It's continuing to op-

erate, has expanded some. We have a project in Albuquerque, New
Mexico, and another in Ramsey County, Minnesota.
Ms. Lambert. Does that limit those that can be involved, the

vendors?
Ms. O'Neil. No, it doesn't. Each State decides whether they want

to operate the system themselves and design it or go out to a ven-
dor to run the system. Our experience has been that they usually
choose a private vendor and go through a competitive process.
Ms. Lmibert. No, I mean the vendor that the individual using

the food stamps would choose to use. Does it limit
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Ms. O'Neil. No. As a matter of fact, the statute mandates that

there be full coverage, so that every store, whether a mom-and-pop
or a supermarket, would be equipped with whatever equipment is

necessary to use the card.

Ms. Lambert. So it doesn't necessarily use bar codes. It's simply
a scanner of some sort.

Ms. O'Neil. That's correct. It's a card similar to your VISA card
that has that little magnetic stripe, and they use the same type of

machine that they would use when they magnetic stripe your VISA
card.

Mr. Braley. I might add that there's one other technology that's

being tested in a site in Dayton, Ohio. It's an off-line technology
using a computer chip actually in a card, a so-called smart card

technology that's being tested there that we're evaluating at this

point as well.

Ms. O'Neil. I should mention that the equipment is not paid for

by the individual vendor unless they choose to pay for it. We can-

not put that by law as an additional burden upon them.
Ms. Lambert. Thank you.
Mr. Stenholm. Mr. Emerson.
Mr. Emerson. Mr. Chairman, I just very briefly want to reem-

phasize my interest in TEFAP and suggest that I don't think
there's any reason that the administration and the Congress should

be out of sync on the issue. There are provisions for it in the legis-

lation that we have introduced, and I would ask you to take a look

at your own budget considerations, because I fully expect that

there will be good TEFAP provisions in the bill to be reported by
this subcommittee and the full committee. As you know, TEFAP
has long had strong support in this committee, and there just real-

ly isn't any reason that we shouldn't be in accord on it, I don't

think.
Mr. Braley. Thank you, Mr. Emerson. We'll talk further on that,

and I mentioned to you earlier there is some additional funding for

TEFAP in the President's budget request, an appropriation re-

quest. But you're correct, it is not dealt with in this bill, and we'll

have some further discussions on that, I'm sure.

Mr. Emerson. Thank you.
Mr. Stenholm. Mrs. Clayton.
Mrs. Clayton. I wanted to just state for the record also that I

come from a district that's primarily rural and has an inordinate
amount of people who use that, and part of my inquiry of the Sec-

retary at the ftiU committee hearing earlier as to what this expan-
sion meant and a larger part of the implication was that the in-

crease in food stamp people all need, and, therefore, it's a relation-

ship to the economy. I'm also interested in that self-sufficiency part
of it probably as much as I am about the fraud. But I think the

integrity of the program has to be in place in order for us not to

use it as a whipping boy. So could you help me understand, are you
removing the \inderissuing also under your penalty? Did I hear you
earlier suggest that?
Ms. O'Neil. No. Actually, our bill has nothing specific to the QC

program. It would leave the current system intact, and that's es-

sentially the system that was designed in 1988 as a series of com-

promises.
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Mrs. Clayton. My other question is about the training. Is there
increased requirement or increased opportunity for the participants
in terms of job training? Are there new moneys and new require-
ments? Help me understand. Section 205?
Ms. O'Neil. There are a couple of provisions where we currently

allow reimbursements, that the State can reimburse someone for

expenses that they incur as a part of training, and what we would
be doing is raising those amounts. In fact, they would be consistent

with the AFDC jobs program, so people would have additional re-

imbursement to pursue those activities for things such as child

care, uniforms, other requirements of the training.
Mrs. Clayton. Because I don't fully understand the bill, is that

integrated here, or are you offsetting some other resources that
come in for child care?

Ms. O'Neil. No, there are actually two opportunities. There's a
deduction for child care where you get 20 percent of your—^you get
a certain amoimt of your child care deducted. But you may also be
reimbursed for expenses that you incur by the State, for instance,
and we would allow them to pay a certain amount, $200 for some-
one with a child of 2, and we would pay 50 percent of that cost the
State chose to give them.
Mrs. Clayton. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Stenholm. Mr. Volkmer.
Mr. Volkmer. I'd just like to ask a question as far as the budg-

etary amounts. If we make the changes as proposed in the legisla-

tion, we have an estimate, as I understand it, that you all have
made as to the additional cost. Correct?
Ms. O'Neil. Correct.
Mr. Volkmer. Now, of course, we all know that this is an entitle-

ment program, and the sunounts of money will be appropriated. I've

never seen a time, and I've been here times when we've had to do

supplementals in order to make sure that everybody—^we're not

going to wait imtil August or September and then have people
starve to death. So my question to you is, what t5rpe of facts as far
as emplojonent, unemployment, interest rates, and ever5^hing else
did you make in order to arrive at the conclusion as to the expendi-
tures that you're saying that these additional changes will cost?
Mr. Braley. The methods we normally would use in the kinds

of changes that are being proposed to the food stamp legislation
here are something called the microsimulation model that looks at
the characteristics of households that participate in the program,
and if you make a change, for example, uncapping the shelter de-

ductions, you can tell from that information from surveys how
many people would be affected by it and how much additional ben-
efits they would receive. That's a technique that we use, and the
Congressional Budget Office uses a very similar technique.
We project the ongoing cost and participation in the food stamp

program using economic measures like the ones you mentioned—
imemployment and things like that. As they're projected, that af-

fects the number of people we would expect to be participating in
the food stamp program.
Mr. Volkmer. Well, we have more participation now than we've

ever had.
Mr. Braley. Yes, sir; we do.
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Mr. VOLKMER. Undoubtedly, that is caused a lot by the fact that
we have a lot of people out of work.
Mr. Braley. Aosolutely.
Mr. VOLKMER. And we have a lot of people that are marginally

employed or part-time employment, et cetera, and still qualify.
Mr. Braley. Yes, sir.

Mr. VOLKMER. If we anticipate that the economy does not im-

prove, are you going to say we would probably have the same what
I call basic increases in food stamps in 1994 that we've had in

1993, or are we at a leveling-off place? Where are we?
Mr. Braley. The numbers of participants, I believe, are forecast

to begin leveling off in the near future. I don't see the folks from
our Office of Analysis and Evaluation here, but the participation

begins to level off in 1994, as I recall. Again, that assumes that the

economy is in a recovery mode and that unemployment would con-

tinue to improve.
Mr. V0LKI:IER. Now, that's with those assumptions. That's what

I'm getting at. Basically, we in the Congress are in a quandary. We
want to do the right thuig so that people have adequate nutrition,

but on the other hand, like I said, I've seen the time when we
thought when we do this and we do the appropriation process this

year, we find out by next year that we missed the guess. But our

problem now is under our budget. If we budget so much for the
total food stamps and then we're going to have to exceed that budg-
et, we have to take it away from someplace else.

Mr, Braley. Yes. One way that that's been dealt with in the past
couple of years is a reserve appropriation set aside. There's a $2.5
billion reserve in the food stamp program in case the estimates

prove incorrect and in case more people want or need to participate
in the program than we had forecast. So we have not had to come
back and seek supplemental appropriations in the past several

years even on occasions where we've missed our estimate.
Mr. Volkmer. Let me ask you this before my time is out. Assum-

ing the amendments that are being proposed are passed by the

Congress for the 1994 fiscal year, what are your total estimates for

the total food stamp program for 1994, or what's in the budget?
Mr. Braley. The benefit costs that are forecast in the budget

under current law are $22.8 billion, and this would add about an
additional $600 million to that total, so it would bring the benefit

cost up to roughly $23.4 billion. So it's an increase of about $600
million in benefits. There are additional costs associated with State
administration that I have not added in those figures. I'd be happy
to supply that for the record.

[The information follows:]

Costs for State administrative expenses, employment and training activities, and
other program costs for fiscal year 1994 under current law are about $1.74 billion.

Mr. Volkmer. If I remember right, with those costs we were

going to be running pretty close to between $27 billion and $28 bil-

lion. Is that correct? Would you say so?
Mr. Braley. I think $27 bilHon is right in the ballpark, yes, sir.

Mr. Volkmer. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Stenholm. Mr. Dooley.
Mr. Dooley. I just have a question, if any of you would have the

information, and it really concerns not the food stamp proposed leg-
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islation, but the WIC program. I'm from the State of California,
and I think you're well aware of some of the problems we face

there with only 46 percent of our eUgible population being able to

access WIC program funding. We had a provision in the stimulus

package which was going to rectify the prohibition from us receiv-

ing additional funds if we exceeded the 15-percent increase.

I guess my question is, are there any other alternatives adminis-

tratively that can provide us with some redress, or what actions do
we need to take in order to free up or give greater flexibility so we
can address this problem?
Mr. Braley. Before that language was added to the stimulus bill,

Mr. Dooley, we looked at our possible administrative remedies, and
because it appears unlikely that we'll have a vehicle legislatively
to change that, we're looking again to see if we have any flexibility.

I'm not sure that we will, and I don't know if there will be another

legislative vehicle available to address that problem. So it is a situ-

ation that we need to try to manage and find a way out of fairly

quickly.

Again, I don't want to hold out a lot of hope for a major adminis-
trative remedy. I think we still would need a legislative change
there in order to bypass the regulations that are currently in place.
Mr. Dooley. Thank you.
Mr. Stenholm. We thank you both for your attendance.
Mr. Smith. Mr. Chairman, I just have one question.
Mr. Stenholm. Mr. Smith.
Mr. Smith. Thank you very much.
I want to mgike clear that the increase in this bill is estimated

to be almost $7 billion over 5 years, and that's an increase in pro-
gram. It does not reflect an increase—^well, the increase in people
has already been taken into consideration. So this is an increase
over and above the existing program for aU people who file. Is that
correct?

Mr. Braley. That's correct, sir.

Mr. Smith. And that constitutes $7 billion, and it's short next

year $563 million, and then I think it goes to $1.5 billion or some-

thing like that extended on out. Is that correct?
Mr. Braley. That's correct.

Mr. Smith. All right. Thank you. I wanted to make sure I had
that correct.

Mr. Stenholm. Thank you. We look forward to working with
both of you over the weeks and months Eihead.

We'll call the first panel: Ms. Ticer, Dr. Meyers, Mr. Rector, Rev-
erend Sherry, and Mr. Gonzalez.

Also, I have the testimony of Alan G. Hassenfeld, chairman and
chief executive officer of Hasbro, Inc., in support of the Mickey Le-
land Childhood Himger Relief Act, and I wish to have that inserted
uito the record.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Hassenfeld appears at the con-
clusion of the hearing.]
Mr. Stenholm. I would say to all of our witnesses that your en-

tire statement will be made a part of the record. We appreciate
very much your attendance here today, and we look forward to

hearing from you and look forward to working with you in this en-
deavor.
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We'll call the first witness, the Honorable Patricia Ticer, a mem-
ber of the Task Force on Hunger and Homelessness, U.S. Con-
ference of Mayors, Alexandria, Virginia.
Your Honor.

STATEMENT OF PATRICIA S. TICER, MAYOR, CITY OF ALEXAN-
DRIA, VA, AND MEMBER, TASK FORCE ON HUNGER AND
HOMELESSNESS, U.S. CONFERENCE OF MAYORS
Ms Ticer. Good afternoon, Mr. Stenholm, and members of the

subcommittee. As you said, I'm Patricia S. Ticer. I'm the mayor of

the city of Alexandria, right across the river, and a member of the
Task Force on Hunger and Homelessness of the U.S. Conference of

Mayors. I'm especially pleased to appear before you at this hearing,
because I believe we finally have a chance that this will be the year
that the Mickey Leland Childhood Himger Relief Act will actually
become law. I want to impress upon you the commitment of the
Conference of Mayors and the mayors of this country to making
that happen. We want to make sure that that occurs.

It was more than 10 years ago when we began seeing the prob-
lems of hunger growing in our cities. It began with the long lines

of people waiting for surplus cheese, if you remember, and the pro-
liferation of soup kitchens and food pantries. Ever since then, the
Conference of Mayors has been tracking the problems of hunger in

our cities on an annual basis. Requests for emergency food have in-

creased each year between 1985 and 1992 in the cities we survey
by at least 18 percent and by, in some cases, as much as 28 per-
cent.

Let me provide you now with some of the details of our most re-

cent survey, which examined the status of hunger in 29 cities in

1992. For those cities, we found that requests for emergency food

assistance increased by an average of 18 percent. Requests by fami-
lies with children increased by 14 percent, and just over two out
of every three people requesting emergency food are members of

families—children and their parents. On average, 21 percent of the

requests for emergency food assistance are estimated to have gone
unmet. In more than two out of three of the cities' emergency food
assistance facilities, they may have to turn away people because of

lack of resources.
The overall level of resources available to emergency food assist-

ance facilities increased by 6 percent. Forty-six percent of the cities

reported that emergency food assistance facilities are unable to pro-
vide adequate quantities of food. Seventy percent said that the food

provided is nutritionally balanced. In 82 percent of the cities, emer-

gency food assistance facilities were reUed on by families and indi-

viduals both in emergencies and as a sustaining source of food over

long periods of time.

Unemployment and other employment-related problems, as you
all have been discussing, lead to a Hst of causes of hunger. The
other causes frequently identified by the city officials include inad-

equate public assistance benefit levels, housing costs, the high cost

of living, and, of course, the economy. Nearly 9 out of 10 cities ex-

pect requests for emergency food to increase this year. Improving
the economy and creating jobs were identified most frequently as
the most important thing that the Federal Government could do to
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eliminate hiinger. Improvements in and increased funding for the
food stamp program and increased funding for WIC were also cited.

Clearly, hunger remains a serious and growing problem in Amer-
ica, one which we have the ability to solve. We just have not dem-
onstrated the will so far. We can begin to demonstrate that will by
passing the Mickey Leleuid Act. We understand that this sub-

committee will be marking it up within a few weeks, and we ap-

plaud your resolve.

The Mickey Leland Act takes into account some of the root

causes of hunger in this country—inadequate incomes and high
shelter costs. It gdso increases the basic benefit levels. It woidd
allow families to deduct high shelter costs in the same way that el-

derly and disabled households do at the present time. It would
allow relatives to be treated as separate food stamp households if

they buy and cook food separately. It would prevent the first $50
a month paid for child support fi*om being counted as income in de-

termining food stamp benefits. It would exclude fi-om low-income
households' income any legally obligated child support pajnnents
household members make to people outside of their household. It

would index the current $4,500 limit on the fair market value of

vehicles that food stamp recipients may own. Finally, it would raise

food stamp benefits to a level more closely reflecting the actual cost

of bu5dng food in today's world.
Half of all food stamp recipients are children. Ninety-two percent

of all food stamp households have gross incomes equal to or less

theui the poverty level. They need more help, and the Mickey Le-
land Act can provide it for them. Be assured that the U.S. Con-
ference of Mayors stands ready to work with you to make sure that
this criticsdly needed piece of legislation is enacted into law.

Again, I want to thank you. Alexandria has previously taken ad-

vantage of all of the programs of the Department of Agriculture,
and this summer the summer food programs are going to be feed-

ing about 1,100 to 1,500 children in our summer programs.
Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Ms. Ticer appears at the conclusion

of the hearing.]
Mr. Stenholm. Thank you very much.
Next, Dr. Meyers, Department of Pediatrics, Boston City Hos-

pital, Boston, Massachusetts.
Dr. Meyers, before you start, let me personally apologize. I'm

going to have to excuse myself for a while. I have a bill on the floor

today. I'm going to turn it over to the capable hands of Mr. Cal
Dooley. I look forward to reading your testimony and hopefully get-
ting back within the hour.

STATEMENT OF ALAN MEYERS, M.D., ASSISTANT PROFESSOR,
DEPARTMENT OF PEDLVTRICS, BOSTON UNIVERSITY
SCHOOL/BOSTON CITY HOSPITAL
Dr. Meyers. Thank you. Congressman Stenholm, and distin-

guished colleagues. My name is Alan Meyers. I'm a faculty member
of the Boston University School of Medicine and a practicing gen-
eral pediatrician at Boston City Hospital. The majority of families
I see in our clinics are low-income families. I greatly appreciate the

opportunity the committee has granted me to share with you some
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of our knowledge regarding the effects of hunger and
undernutrition on the children of the United States.

Some of what I would like to discuss is presented in a report en-

titled "Eat to Learn, Learn to Eat: The Link Between Nutrition

and Learning in Children," being released today by the National

Health^ducation Consortium, which is represented here by Judy
Ressallat, Washington liaison for the National Association of School

Nurses, who will speak briefly following my testimony. I believe

this material provides an important context in which to view the

significance of the Mickey Leland Childhood Hunger Relief Act.

Hunger, even in the well-nourished child, can adversely affect

the child's cognitive performance. Experimental studies have shown
that children who miss a meal perform more poorly on school-relat-

ed tasks than they do after they have eaten. Our own research in

Massachusetts suggests that low-income children who participated
in the school breaStfast program perform better on standardized

achievement tests than before the program was available.

Of course, hunger is a natural state experienced by everyone by
which the body signals its need for food. The hunger with which
we are concerned is that which is recurrent and cannot be satisfied

due to inadequate household resources. The himgry child may be

hstless, irritable, unable to concentrate, and easily frustrated. The

prevalence of such hunger is difficult to measure, but an instru-

ment has been developed by the community childhood hunger iden-

tification project, or CCHIP. A CCHIP survey conducted in Massa-
chusetts in 1991 found that 43 percent of families who were receiv-

ing food stamps were experiencing hunger. These results are not

surprising to health care providers working with poor families who
regularly report to us that their monthly food stamp allotment runs
out by the third week of the month.

If persistent, hunger may lead to pathological states of

undernutrition of varjdng degrees, which also impact on the learn-

ing ability of the affected child. A large body of scientific literature

documents the adverse effects of severe acute undernutrition on the

developing brain of the young child, which probably results in some

degree of permanent loss of cognitive potential even with optimal
rehabilitation.

We do see some children with this degree of acute

undernutrition, but in general it is the milder forms of

imdemutrition among low-income children, manifested primarily
as poor growth rates and iron deficiency, which represent a public
health problem in the United States. Children who do not take in

enough nutrients to support optimal growth will not achieve their

full genetic potential for height. The resultant short stature has
been associated v.rith poor performance on tests of cognitive func-

tion.

It should concern all of us that an excess of short stature among
low-income children has been demonstrated in every national nu-
trition survey yet undertaken in this country. The cause of this

poor growth is most likely a higher prevalence of inadequate intake

of food energy among low-income children. Dietary intake data
from the U.S. Department of Agriculture supports this interpreta-
tion.
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Also of concern is the vitamin mineral nutritional status of low-

income children, especially with regard to iron. Iron deficiency,

with or without anemia, £Uffects development in cognitive function

at all ages throughout childhood. Particularly worrisome are recent

studies which suggest that these cognitive deficits may not be re-

versible by iron therapy. Data fi-om the second national health and
nutrition examination survey, or NHANES II, show that low-in-

come young children have a three to fourfold higher prevalence of

iron deficiency than their peers who are not poor. Data from the

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention show an ongoing prev-
alence of anemia in the 20 to 30 percent range among low-income

young children. This is consistent with data we have collected in

our primary care clinic at Boston City Hospital.
Mr. Chairman, in view of these facts, the legislation currently

being considered by this subcommittee is critically important to the

nutritional status of the most vulnerable segment of the child pop-
ulation of the United States. In testimony before the Select Com-
mittee on Hunger in 1985, the late Dr. Jean Mayer, a nutritionist

of international stature, stated that the food stamp program "has

to be considered as the first line of defense against malnutrition of

children. The food stamp program, 50 percent of the recipients of

which are children, feeds them day-in and day-out."

Many poor families, including many that I see at our hospital,
are forced to live constantly on the edge of hunger by the

imremitting economic pressures of supporting a family with an in-

adequate, poverty-level income. In our own research at Boston City

Hospital, we have found that more low-income children are under-

weight in the cold winter months than during the rest of the year,
which may well be due to their parents having to make the choice

to heat rather than to eat.

In separate studies at our hospital, we have found that poor chil-

dren whose families are on the waiting list for subsidized housing
are more likely to be iron deficient and to have poor growth than
are comparable children whose families do receive housing sub-
sidies. It's of particular importance, then, that the legislation being
considered by your subcommittee removes that cap on the deduc-
tion of high shelter costs from the income level which determines
food stamp program eligibility and benefits.

In summary, then, a large number of low-income children in the
United States are hungry, and mginy suffer some degree of

undernutrition, which may affect their ability to develop and learn
to their fullest potential. The finances of many families are so mar-
ginal that the additional stress of a cold winter, a rent increase, or

rising food costs may tip them into dietary inadequacy.
For low-income children in the United States, the food stamp

program represents their major defense against hunger and
undernutrition. However, at current eligibility and benefit levels,
the program cannot meet the nutrition^ needs of the low-income
family. To the extent that its provisions will be made more ample,
we should expect a corresponding improvement in the nutritional
status of some of our most vulnerable citizens—poor children—and
a decrease in the number of children who suffer from hunger,
undernutrition, and associated learning problems.
Thank you for this opportunity to testify.
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[The prepared statement of Dr. Meyers appears at the conclusion

of the hearing.]
Mr. DOOLEY [assuming chair]. Thank you, Dr. Meyers.
At this time, we'll hear from Mr. Robert Rector, Senior Policy An-

alyst for Welfare and Family Issues at the Heritage Foundation.

STATEMENT OF JUDY RESSALLAT, R.N., WASHINGTON LIAI-

SON, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF SCHOOL NURSES, ON BE-
HALF OF THE NATIONAL HEALTH/EDUCATION CONSORTIUM
Ms. Ressallat. Excuse me. If I might interject, I just had some

brief comments. I'm here with Dr. Meyers.
Mr, Chairman and members of the subcommittee, my name is

Judy Ressallat, and I'm coming from 20 years of experience in

school health nursing in rural Ohio. Dr. Meyers has eloquently dis-

cussed his observations and experience with hunger and
undernutrition. He's brought to light many important findings from
research and surveys about children in low-income families. My
brief comments will attempt to personalize the impact of these

findings from my experience as a school health nurse in rural

America.

My practice setting was the public schools. I covered five schools,
which included 3,000 students, kindergarten through 12th grade.
Did I see hungry and undernourished Mds in my practice of school

nursing? You bet I did. Every week. I vividly remember one of my
first experiences—Lisa, age 5V2, a kindergarten student who
missed school frequently and, when she was in school, complained
of stomach aches mid-morning and wanted to lay down. She was
shy and withdrawn and not used to talking with adults outside of

her own family. One day she did share with me that all the family
ate was pancakes and that last night she only got to eat one pan-
cake because her five siblings beat her to the plate of pancakes
that night.

After getting some milk £ind crackers for her, I drove her home
so that I could meet with the mom and assess the situation. We
arrived to a run-down small house with no screens. Lisa ran into

the house to find her mom, who was not home. I looked into the

kitchen cupboards, and there I saw one box of pancake mix, half

empty. Nothing else. No milk in the refingerator and nothing in the

cupboards. Needless to say, this was a shock for me as a young
school nurse.

I was able to get an emergency food order from the Salvation

Army for this single mom and her five kids. She told me later that

the food stamps just did not last. Her kids were always hxingry,
and they ate the food up right away, especially two teenagers, and
then there would be 4 to 5 days of pancakes only. We were able

to work with her in planning to supplement with food from the

church pantries.
There are many Lisas in this country, both rural and urban, and

they need our help. The National Health and Education Consor-
tium has released today an engrossing report, which has been de-

livered to the subcommittee's office: "Eat to Learn, Learn to Eat."

I believe each of you will take the time to think about the material

presented.
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The consortium grew out of the need for better integration of

health and education programs for children. The project is unique
in that it has brought together leaders from 57 national health and
education organizations, representing 11 million constituents, to

bridge the gap between the worlds of health and education and to

generate unified action for children. We stand ready to assist the
subcommittee members in your challenges.
Thank you.
Mr. DOOLEY. At this time, we'll hear from Mr. Rector.

STATEMENT OF ROBERT RECTOR, POLICY ANALYST, FAMILY
AND SOCIAL WELFARE ISSUES, HERITAGE FOUNDATION

Mr. Rector. Thank you. I would like to begin my testimony with
a simple question. I have here to my right a chart which, in con-
stant dollars, shows the growth of the welfare state from 1929 to

the present. Of particular interest is to look what has happened to

welfare spending from 1965, when the war on poverty began, until

the present time. In constant dollars from 1965 to the present, we
have quintupled our welfare spending on the 75 largest Federal
means-tested programs. These figures exclude Medicare for the
middle class and Social Security. In 1990, the last year for which
this data is available, we spent a total of $226 billion on means-
tested programs, giving cash, food, housing, medical, and social

service assistance to low-income Americans. That was 2V2 times
the amount of money needed to abolish all poverty in the United
States.

My question is, how much is enough? I would like any member
here to take that chart back to his constituents and, looking at the
data on that chart, say, **Well, the real problem here is we didn't

spend enough money. If we just spend some more money, then
we're going to solve these problems."

President L5nidon Johnson, when he inaugurated the war on pov-
erty, declared that the war on poverty was going to be an invest-
ment in the United States, which would return its cost manyfold
to the American taxpayer. Well, as a taxpayer who has invested in
the war on poverty to the tune of—the average taxpayer has now
pgdd about $50,000 per household in taxes into the war on poverty,
I think it's time to ask what has been the return on this invest-
ment before we put anymore money into the conventional welfare

state, as this bill proposes to do.

Since the war on poverty began, we have spent $3.5 triUion on
welfare in the United States. Adjusting for inflation, that is greater
than the entire cost of defeating Germany and Japan in World War
II. But in the war on poverty, poverty has won. What are the re-

turns that we've gotten for tlus gargantuan increase in expenditure
on food, housing, and every conceivable welfare program that we
can imagine? Well, when the war on poverty began, one out of four
black children was bom out of wedlock. Today the figure is two out
of three, and similar increases have occurred among low-income
whites. Today one out of eight children in the United States is

being supported by the welfare system through AFDC. I repeat
that: one out of eight. If we continue down this path, these trends
are only going to get dramatically worse.
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My second point would be to deal with the general concept here
that is the basis of this bill that there is widespread malnutrition

among poor children in the United States. Those who contend that
there is widespread malnutrition among poor children in the Unit-
ed States despite spending $226 billion a year on assistance for

those children as well as elderly poor people should have to con-
tend with figures such as the following:
Poor children today, when they reach age 18, are 1 inch taller

and 10 pounds heavier than the GI's who stormed the beaches of

Normandy in World War II. It's pretty difficult to do that if you are

consistently malnourished and hungry. Poor children today on av-

erage consume twice the recommended daily allowance of protein.
They consume exactly the same level of protein intake as upper-
middle-class children, protein being the most expensive nutriment.
How can these families consume twice the recommended daily al-

lowance of protein at the same time they are allegedly consistently
hungry and malnourished?

I would ask, what do the hematological studies done down at At-
lanta by the Centers of Disease Control show concerning average
deficiencies in vitamin C, in zinc, and other things? With the excep-
tion of some iron deficiency, which is still a recurring problem but
one that is diminishing, none of these surveys show any form of ex-

tensive malnutrition among poor children or at least any that is

msirkedly more extensive among the poor than among upper-mid-
dle-class children.

The No. 1 nutrition-related problem among poor people in the
United States today is obesity. Poor people are much more likely
to be obese than those who are not, and that is a problem that
needs to be addressed. It is extremely difficult to reconcile the no-

tion that these families are consistently hungry and malnourished
when up to 45 percent of all poor women are chronically over-

weight. If the argument is that these women eat bad food and they
cannot afford good food, it is simply false. I would challenge anyone
to show any study that verifies that position. The evidence deci-

sively refutes it.

The third point that I need to make today is that spending on
this bill, spending on conventional welfare, will not make the lives

of poor children better. In fact, it will make them worse. Poor chil-

dren today don't need more food stamps. What they need are intact

families, strong families. They need fathers in the home. They need
to be able to play in their streets and neighborhoods without being
shot at. They need good schools that can provide them with a firm

moral underpinning. Despite the extensive spending that we put
into the public school system, it seems to be unable to do this.

In fact, the Leland hunger bill will not only not address any of

those crushing problems, but it distracts attention fi-om them and
will make all of those problems worse. How is that? Well, the sim-

ple fact of the matter is that the most decisive variable in public

policy is the welfare benefits rate, the combined welfare benefits

package that is paid to the average single mother on welfare, of

which food stamps plays a major part. The simple fact of the mat-
ter is that the higher that welfare benefits package is, the greater
the illegitimacy and out-of-wedlock births that we have in our

country, the greater the welfare dependence, the lower the labor
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force participation. When you raise the number of single mothers

and pull them out of the labor force, making them dependent on

welfare, you decisively undermine the lifetime achievement, the

cognitive skills, the probability that their children will graduate
from high school, and so forth.

A recent study by Dr. June O'Neil, formerly of the Urban Insti-

tute, now of Baruch College in New York City, found that increas-

ing food stamp and AFDC benefits by 50 percent per month causes

a 43-percent increase in the out-of-wedlock birth rate within a

State. Similarly, a 50-percent increase in the monthly AFDC and
food stamp combined benefit package causes a 75-percent increase

in the number of mothers enrolled on welfare and a 75-percent in-

crease in the time that they will spend on welfare.

Other studies have shown us—for example, the Seattle-Denver

income maintenance experiment conducted in the late 1970's

showed that for every additional dollar that we put into transfer

programs of this conventional welfare nature, individuals will re-

duce their labor force earnings by 80 cents.

Similarly, Dr. O'Neil's study showed that a young man raised in

the inner city in a single-parent home—recognizing that increases

in welfare cause increases in out-of-wedlock birth and single-par-

enthood, a young man raised in a single-parent home, when com-

pared to a similar child in the same neighborhood, same low-in-

come status, holding all other variables constant, if the father is

not in the home, that young man is twice as likely to end up with
a criminal career and end up in jail.

The welfare state and what we see on this chart here today has

ripped the American family apart, and children have been the vic-

tims of that. I am particularly dismayed that President Clinton,
after boldly declaring to the American people his intention to end
welfare as we know it, has no significant fiinds in his budget to re-

form the welfare system, but instead has about $30 bilhon, includ-

ing the funding for this bill, in expansions of conventional welfare.
Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Rector appears at the conclusion

of the hearing.]
Mr. DOOLEY. Thank you, Mr. Rector.
At this time, I'd like to interrupt our format for just a minute,

because Mayor Ticer has to leave shortly, and I would ask if any
of the members of the subcommittee have any questions they would
like to direct to Mayor Ticer.
Mr. Smith. Just one, Mr. Chairman.
Ms. Ticer, why did you deprive the Redskins of a home in Alex-

andria? [Laughter.]
Ms. Ticer. I very much like those kinds of questions. I wish that

we were as successful on all fi-onts as we were on that, and I don't
want to talk about the good guys and the bad guys, but Alexandria
was definitely the good guy. Thank you. [Laughter.]

Mr. DooLEY. We thank you, mayor, for your participation in this

hearing.
Ms. Ticer. I apologize for having to leave, but I have an appoint-

ment back at the office.

Mr. DooLEY. Absolutely, no problem.
Ms. Ticer. Thank you.
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Mr. DOOLEY. At this time, we'll turn to our next panelist, the

Reverend Paul Sherry, president of the United Church of Christ.

STATEMENT OF REVEREND PAUL H. SHERRY, PRESIDENT,
UNITED CHURCH OF CHRIST, CLEVELAND, OH

Reverend Sherry. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I am
Paul Sherry, and I'm the president of the United Church of Christ,
which is a denomination of some 1.6 million members and 6,400
local churches located in the United States and in the Province of

Puerto Rico. I speak today on the basis of the policy of our general
senate, which is the largest representative body of our denomina-
tion.

I want to begin by thanking this committee for your leadership
on issues of food security. We appreciate very deeply the interest,

the vigor, and the commitment of this committee as you address
the problems of hunger and its dramatic consequences on our Na-
tion's people. We have deep respect for what you're about.

I'm here today to urge your continuing support for major public

policy initiatives, and in particular I ask you to support the Mickey
Leland Childhood Hunger Relief Act. If children are to be fed and
hves secured in this society, we really can do no other.

I'd Uke to share briefly with you the extent of church-related vol-

unteer efforts to respond to growing hunger in this country and to

say that voluntary activities and efforts, as important and as sig-

nificant as they are, are insufficient. Without public sector ap-

proaches, including the enactment of the Mickey Leland Childhood

Hunger Relief Act, we will not see the alleviation of hunger in this

country, and that hunger continues to expand dramatically every

day on the streets of our cities and rural areas.

We in the churches are committed to help meet people's needs.

Eighty-five percent of the some 6,400 congregations of the United
Church of Christ provide needed services, such as feeding centers,

soup kitchens, food pantries, or have contributed financially to the

support of these activities. In both rural and urban settings, in all

of our churches, our church members witness firsthand the growing
number of people in need of utilizing these services.

Since 1981, the number of food kitchens and food pantries in

New York City, for example, has grown by 2,500 percent, ft-om 30
sites to over 750. In St. Louis the demand on pantries has in-

creased by 15 percent in each of the last 3 years. In Cleveland,

Ohio, a city that I left this morning, the food bank distributed ap-

proximately 1 million pounds of food in 1980, but by 1989 that fig-

ure had grown to 10 million pounds. An ecumenical agency in

Cleveland served 129,000 persons in 1981. In 1991, 2 years ago,
that figure had increased to 653,000.

Hunger is rising. It's rising dramatically, and it's overwhelming
virtually every community in this Nation. This is a moral outrage.
It should be, and conscience dictates, I believe, that it simply can-

not continue. As I said, the members of our churches are trying to

respond. We will continue to do so, but volunteer efforts simply are

not enough, and major public sector initiatives are critically needed
if people are to receive the food they need to live.

The 18th general senate of the United Church of Christ endorsed

the c£mipaign to end childhood hunger in July of the year 1991.
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That campaign recognizes the urgent need for increased govern-
mental action. Again, I want to thank you for your efforts in this

behalf. That campaign recognizes the fact that food stamps con-

tinue to be the most effective program at this time for alleviating

himger in our country. That campaign calls for increases in food

stamp benefits and helpful changes in the qualifying criteria. We
support the Leland Act because it responds to that call.

On the way down this morning on the plane from Cleveland, I

was reading a book of children's letters to God, and one of those

letters reads, "Dear God, How come you did all those miracles in

the old days but don't do any now?" Well, obviously, the Leland Act

is not going to create miracles, but it can indeed move us forward

from where we are in this coimtry in terms of alleviating hunger
and suffering to where we need to be.

United Church of Christ is only one denomination committed to

addressing the root causes of himger and poverty in this country.

Many other denominations, many other religious bodies have simi-

lar commitments. We all are united as religious people in our belief

that a first and vital step toward the goal of alleviating himger
should be to urge that the food stamp program be accessible to all

who are eligible and that the program be provided sufficient sup-

port so that children and their families will have enough to eat

each month of the year. The Leland bill does this, and we urge its

support.
You've already heard some of the major changes that are being

addressed in that legislation. I will not repeat them now. But sta-

tistics concerning the food stamp program tell only half the story.

Numbers really cannot bring to life the faces that lie behind those

numbers. They can't convey the stories of those for whom the food

stamp program makes such a vital difference.

Let me just give you two very brief testimonies, the first from
Cheri Hciikala in her capacity as director of the Kensington Wel-
fare Rights Union in Philadelphia. These are her words: "For too

long, recipient after recipient has entered our offices throughout
the country in search of food for their children. The food stamp pro-

gram for these families has been the solution. It has put near-

starving children to bed, whether it be in the urban or rural areas,
with food in their stomachs. Above everything else, we must do all

that we can to feed our children."

Then there's John, a 12-year-old food stamps program partici-

pant: "Because my mom gets food stamps, I'm better able to con-

centrate in school. Before all I used to think about was how hungry
I was. Now I feel like I'm learning more."

I believe that if we care for our children, not only will they bene-

fit, but so will we all. If we abandon them, however, they will suf-

fer, and so will we all. Hungry children are more than four times
as likely to sufibr from fatigue, almost three times as likely to suf-

fer fi-om concentration problems, almost twice as likely to have fi-e-

quent colds. To feed a child is to feed the future. The Leland bill

does that. It is a commitment to children and their future.

The Leland bill is an education bill, a health care bill, and a

housing bill. It helps families avoid the impossible choice between
food and shelter, and I believe the Leland bill is our country at its
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best, providing the chance for all children to rise to their potential
and to be fiill and contributing citizens of this beloved land.

It would be a tragedy if this bill were not to pass during this ses-

sion of Congress. For the first time, there is funding in the budget
for the initiatives of the Leland bill, and as the number of hungry
children grows, as it does, so too must our commitment to ending
hunger grow in this Nation.

Congregations and church members across our country have and
will continue to respond to the needs of those who are poor. We
dare not and we will not do otherwise. But our resources are insuf-
ficient. We simply cannot meet the need. Increases in public re-

sources are required, and you, our public servants, need to respond
if hungry children are to be fed. This Nation has a fundamental
moral responsibility to meet the basic needs of its people, especially
its children. The Mickey Leland bill addresses these needs, and for

the sake of our children, for all our sakes, for the sake of this Na-
tion's future, I urge your positive response.
Also on the way down fi*om Cleveland this morning, I read an-

other letter from another child to God. It goes like this: "Dear God,
I keep waiting for spring, but it don't come yet. Dear God, don't for-

get." I hope that we will not forget, because if we don't, children
in this society will indeed endure and thrive, and our society will

be the better for it, and we will be the Nation that we were created
and conceived to be.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
[The prepared statement of Reverend Sherry appears at the con-

clusion of the hearing.]
Mr. DooLEY. Thank you, Reverend Sherry.
At this time, we'U hear fi*om Mr. Joe Heiney-Gonzalez, who's

deputy to the president, Catholic Charities USA.

STATEMENT OF JOE HEINEY-GONZALEZ, DEPUTY TO THE
PRESroENT, CATHOLIC CHARITIES USA

Mr. Heiney-Gonzalez. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I

thank you and the subcommittee for inviting us to this very impor-
tant hearing.

I have to say that the discussions that have been held earlier

with regard to hunger in America express to you what we experi-
ence. There are 150 Cathohc Charities agency directors across the

country that today pledge to do fast on the occasion of this hearing.
We recently met in Albuquerque, New Mexico, and because of the

importance of this bill, we have put forward our own commitment
to this. I am the 151st person who is doing this fast today.
As an aside, when I left the house this morning at breakfast

time, I told my youngster that I was not eating breakfast with him.
He asked "Why not?" I said, "Because one out of five children are

hungry in this Nation." He stopped, he looked at me, and he said,

"Dad, good thing we don't have five children here, because that

fifth one would be hungry." My three boys are very committed to

this issue. They are concerned. They are worried because it means
that their fiiture may be faced with poverty in the fiiture to see

youngsters who are malnourished.
He also said another thing. He said, "Dad, do you understand

that if you take one glass of water every hour, you'll have 24 glass-
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es of water in you? Boy, you're going to have to urinate a lot

today." [Laughter.]
So I hope I don't have to leave the room, because I have been

drinking water extensively today.
In all seriousness, thank you for letting me join you today. I am

here representing Catholic Charities USA, the largest human serv-

ice provider network in this country. In the last congressional ses-

sion, 10,000 members, community volunteers, and clients of Catho-
lic Charities sent letters to their Representatives urging that the
Leland bill be passed. Also, there was a Capitol Hill rally where
there were youth from the surrounding £irea who presented a pub-
lic statement and presented these 10,000 letters to elected rep-
resentatives, of whom Representative Emerson was there to receive
the letters. Representative Kika de la Garza was present, and
former Representative Leon Panetta was there. We are here aggdn
to ask for your consideration and your support.

In April 1985, Reverend Thomas Harvey, then Catholic Charities
executive director, joined with Representative Mickey Leland in

urging the Congress to act on a $1 billion Federal food assistance
bill that would expand antihunger programs, such as food stamps
and school lunches. Conditions described then by Representative
Leland have worsened. Hunger and poverty in America have wors-
ened. As you know, the number of food stamp recipients, which is

26.8 million, and I heard Secretary Espy give a higher figure today
in his presentation, shows that the increase for nutrition assistance
is at an all-time high.

Catholic Charities USA serves 12 million people a year. Almost
7 million people are in need of food or shelter. They come to Catho-
lic Charities food banks and soup kitchens, and volunteers serve
them through a meals-on-wheels program if they are homebound.
Ten years ago, 2 out of 10 people who came to Catholic Charities
needed food, shelter, or other emergency help. Today more than 6
out of 10 people need food or shelter, and one-third of them are
children.

As a native Texan, I am personally interested in the effect that
the Mickey Leland bill would have on fellow Texans. West Texas
has one of the highest rates of teen pregnancy in the United States.

The Leland bill would assist these low-income individuals, preg-
nant teens, and their youngsters. The Leland bill also would allow

poor migrant families to receive food stamps. A high number of
farmworkers migrate to west Texas to work in the cotton and vege-
table industry. It is very ironic that the farmworkers who harvest
the bounty of this Nation's food crops are themselves many times

ineligible to receive food stamps.
Food banks, such as the South Plains Food Bank in Lubbock,

Texas, distribute food to hungry children in over 80 rural counties.
The Leland bill will help rural families as well as urban families.

Voluntary service organizations, such as our 1,400 Catholic Char-
ities agencies, cannot carry the burden of hunger in this Nation by
themselves. We are stretched beyond our limits. We are losing
ground because the number of hungry families are increasing. I

urge the Subcommittee on Department Operations and Nutrition
and the full Committee on Agriculture to approve H.R. 529, This
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bill is the most important domestic antihunger legislation in 15

years.
Catholic Charities agencies in the United States have helped

people in need for over 200 years. In 1991 Catholic Charities agen-
cies spent more than $1.8 billion of public, private, and church re-

sources to assist children, families, and communities. This includes
$1.16 billion in Government moneys. Our untiring commitment to

people of all religious, ethnic, social, and economic backgrounds is

undisputed and contributes to the common good of this Nation.
Catholic Charities USA will work with Members of Congress and

with our colleague organizations and all people of good will to
eliminate hunger in this Nation. We urge decisive bipartisan action
on the Mickey Leland bill. Children and families of this country
cannot wait any longer. It is time that we bring this issue to the
floor. Your leadership and your statement of positive action on the
Leland bill says to this Nation it is OK to admit that poverty exists
in this Nation and that it can be attended to through resources of

leadership in the Congress and the administration. It's OK to say
that there are hungry children. Let us not deny this reality.
Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Heiney-Gonzalez appears at the

conclusion of the hearing.]
Mr. DOOLEY. Thank you, Mr. Gonzalez, and thank all the panel-

ists.

At this time, we'll open it up for questions, and I would like to

defer to the Congressman from Missouri, Mr. Emerson, who's been
a leader in this effort for some time.
Mr. Emerson. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
You've all presented some very, very interesting testimony. I

would like to ask each of you at the table, with the exception of

Mr. Rector, for a reason that I will get to, if you disagree with his

fundamental premise.
Dr. Meyers. I'd like to respond to that. Congressman. I do dis-

agree. I would like to address a few points with which I have some
familiarity.

Personally, I disagree with the overall premise that vast quan-
tities of resources have been poured into support programs for the

poor and we have nothing to show for it but more poverty. I think
there have been some important and measurable quantifiable bene-
fits to the people of the United States who have received those ben-
efits.

This is a large topic. I would choose one example that springs to

my mind, the USDA-fiinded study of the effects of the WIC pro-

gram, the most comprehensive study of its kind, performed by Dr.

David Rush. One of the findings of that study was that women en-

rolled into the WIC program prenatally compared to control low-in-

come women who were not enrolled prenatally gave birth to chil-

dren who had significantly larger head circumferences and who
had better measures of psychometric performance at 1 year and at

5 years after birth. I think that's a striking finding. As a pediatri-

cian, the thought that enrolling a mother prenatally could improve
the brain growth of her child in utero and result in better cognitive

performance after birth, and that's what the best data show, makes
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me more enthused than ever to invest more money in the WIC pro-

gram.
I'm sure that the members of this committee are famihar with

a number of significant studies that have demonstrated that taking
into accoimt the costs of caring for premature babies and remedied

education in the pubUc schools, it can be calculated that a dollar

invested in preventative programs such as WIC can result in sav-

ings of seversd dollars down the line in savings from rehabilitative

costs.

The second point I would like to make is that one has to be care-

ful in looking at data that reflect nutritional and health status to

not only look at averages, but also to look at what's happening at

the tails of the distribution, because in a clinical sense, that's

where the individuals are who are likely to be having trouble.

When one takes that principle and looks at the best data that we
have on nutritional status, for example, which comes from the

NHANES studies—^we're in the third cycle now; NHANES I was
fi-om the early 1970's, NHANES II the late 1970's—if one looks at

the distribution of height for age of children in the United States

and compares the heights of low-income children to the heights of

children who do not have low incomes, there's a twofold excess of

short stature amongst low-income children, controlled for race, and
that has not diminished.
So I don't understand how one can look at that data, which is

the best data available, and say there isn't any evidence that

there's poor nutrition amongst low-income people in the United
States. Similarly, NHANES II showed us that the prevalence of

iron deficiency
—and these were by the best measures available—

of iron deficiency, which is a serious nutritional problem, the most

widespread nutritional deficiency worldwide and with well-docu-

mented adverse effects on child development, iron deficiency

amongst low-income children under 2 years of age was about 21

percent compared to nonpoor children under 2 years of age, where
it was 6.7 percent. I have to look at those data and say that we
have a serious problem, and it can be redressed by measures that
we have in our hands.
Reverend Sherry, I'd like to speak rather personally. I served a

large social service agency in Chicago in the 1980's. My wife and
I were members of the Central City Congregation in Chicago in one
of the demographically poorest areas in this country. We were very
active in that church in trying to find adequate food resources to

meet the needs of children in that immediate neighborhood. Those
children that we were able to get sufficient food and nutrition over
a period of several years this day are performing not in attitudes
of dependence but, just the opposite, are becoming independent and
productive citizens. Those children in that same area of the city
that we were not able to relate to and connect with and get the
food and nutrition that they needed, those children have been lost

on the streets of the cities.

So to make the connection between providing additional food and
support and services leads ultimately to dependency is precisely
the opposite, it seems to me, of what indeed has happened in my
experience and in the experience of people across the life of this

country. As I look at program after program in our own churches
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in rural areas and in urban areas and, yes, in suburban Eu-eas,
those programs that meet basic human needs for young people,
those programs support and initiate independent action, ways by
which young people can fulfill themselves as children of God and
as citizens of this Republic.
So my understanding and everything that I've ever seen leads

me to walk in contrary directions to the findings of Mr. Rector. One
of the concerns I have with his testimony is the causality factors
that he's using. It seems to me he tries to make a direct causal re-

lationship between those resources we're putting forward to assist

people and to many of the pathologies which affect this society. The
pathologies that affect this society are far more complex in origin
than that, and luitil this country commits itself more fully to meet
the fiill human needs of its citizenry, we will continue to have the

pathologies that you rightly point to.

Mr. Emerson. Mr. Chairman, I have a rather extensive line of

questioning that I would like to pursue, but we are under the 5-

minute rule, so I'll just wait until we come around to my time

again. I want to certainly give Mr. Rector an opportunity to com-
ment. I understand we're close to a vote, which means then we're

going to have some extensive general debate. I don't know if we can
round this out today or not by coming back here. It's late in the
giftemoon. But that's the situation we face.

Thank you.
Mr. Heiney-Gonzalez. Mr. Chairman, I do want to go on record

that Catholic Charities USA and Joe Heiney-Gonzalez, deputy to

the president, does disagree with Mr, Rector's presentation and ar-

gument.
Mr. DOOLEY. Thank you.
Mrs. Clayton.
Mrs. Clayton. I'm reluctant, I guess, to go into questioning, not

knowing where we are in terms of the whole question, but let me
just thank the panel, all of them, as well as Mr. Rector, although
I thoroughly disagree with him, but thank them all, because all of
them have presented new insight for us to begin looking at it.

Let me just pose perhaps one question to all persons other than
Mr. Rector. Is there a way we can address hunger more effectively
and efficiently through the program than we are? I think a re-

sponse to any criticism of the program that it hasn't had an output
of productivity—I think one has to be responsible to that criticism
and then reexamine is there a way where we can be more respon-
sive and responsible, and I agree with the latter point that helping
people is not the cause that they're on welfare. It's a larger ques-
tion.

The background of the food stamp program really was respond-
ing to hunger. Unfortunately, it was not to get people out of pov-
erty. Now, I think if Mr. Rector's assumption is that people need
to be moved fi*om poverty, I agree with that, but I don't think food

stamps were designed, unfortunately, to get people out of poverty.
It was designed to respond to the desperation of people needing
food, and in my judgment that has happened.
So I would like for you to answer the question, is there a more

effective and efficient way through this instrument that we can be
better serving the hunger needs of people?
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Mr. Heiney-Gonzalez. I think the passage of the Mickey Leland
bill allows the opportunity to respond to the 5 million children that

already face hunger and the potentisd 5 million or more children
that are in risk of hunger. In Catholic Charities' programs—for ex-

ample, in New Mexico we have a program where famihes that are
on public assistance, that receive food stamps, participate in the
curriculum of nutritional education. The curriculum is one of teach-

ing a 12-year-old mother of an infant what it means to prepare a
meal and what it means to be a parent. My point is that the Mick-

ey Leland bill would allow voluntary agencies to include an edu-
cational component to families who can have food stamps to pur-
chase meals and to learn through the programs that exist for their

immediate needs.
Teen pregnancy, as we all know, is a major, major, major issue.

These young mothers and working families are in need of food

stamps. The use of educational programs tied in with this measure,
can be efficient.

Mrs. Clayton. Mr. Chairman, recognizing that's the bell, is it

possible we can get back to the individusd panelists with written

questions? Is that permissible through the hearing?
Mr. DOOLEY. Yes, without objection.
Mrs. Clayton. Well, let me do that.

Mr. DoOLEY. We can do that. We still have 15 minutes, so we'll

continue on for another 10, and then we'll take a short break for

the vote. Mrs. Cla5rton, did you want to continue?
Mrs. Clayton. No, I will refrain. I'll come back again.
Mr. DooLEY. All right. Thank you.
At this time, I'll recognize Mr. Smith.
Mr. Smith. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Rector, reading your statement, I came away with the

thought that you were trying to identify behavioral poverty, and I

note that you suggest in your statement that the current welfare

system undermines work and marriage—that is, a mother must not
work or must not marry an employed male.
Mr. Rector. That's correct.

Mr. Smith. Therefore, I want to ask you, if we continue on this

way, I suppose well continue to interfere with behavioral poverty,
but in your thought, should we reverse that and let the mother
work, let the mother marry?

Mr. Rector. The current welfare system, which includes food

stamps as an integral part of it, is a systematic form of child and
family abuse. It rewards nonwork, nonmarriage, and it destroys
children's capacity to flourish in this society as a result of doing
that. We've heard a lot of talk here from Reverend Sherry and oth-

ers about a religious commitment to feed the poor. I would ask the

question, what have we forgotten in this whole process?
I would like to refer to my favorite welfeire reform expert, the

apostle Paul. In the 1st century A.D., the apostle Paul, laying out
the rules of sound and moral charity—and we have a moral respon-
sibility to design charity or welfare in a way that helps rather than
harms the poor—the apostle Paul said, "He who shall not work
shall not eat," and through the 19th century and up through about

1925, that rule was in fact the cardinal rule in shaping Catholic

and Protestant charities in the United States today.
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I wonder why we have forgotten that rule. I also wonder why
Paul said that. Did Paul see a Gallup poll that told him that would
be popular with the voters? Or perhaps he was facing a fiscal crisis

and he wanted to cut back on charity-giving in the early Christian
church. No, I don't think that was the reason at all. If you look at

Catholic charity and welfare givers in the 19th century in the Unit-
ed States, they understood, as Paul did, that if you give food

stamps or any other form of welfare unconditionally, without re-

quiring any commitment back or behavior back in terms of the re-

cipient, it has two effects.

One is the demand for that charity grows infinitely and
inexhaustibly, and that is what we see in the United States today.
You cannot spend your way out of this problem. The more you
spend, all the data shows, the more need you're going to generate.
Mr. Smith. Thank you, Mr. Rector. I think I have that.

I want to ask the two gentlemen of the cloth, do you think the
current welfare system destroys families and work ethic? And if

you do, what would you do about it?

Reverend Sherry. I think there £u*e some elements of the current
welfare system that need a serious look. Obviously, it's true. We
need to think of the best ways by which we can provide the support
fi*om which one can then rise to independence of living. The food

stamp program does not do that. The food stamp program, deeply
rooted in the Leland Act, is an attempt to provide for people in des-

perate need a floor fi-om which they can move to that sense of self-

sufficiency and direction and guidance, without which no one can
live a productive Hfe. I've seen that in every city and countryside
in this Nation. I've seen what food stamps can do. It provides a
basis around which one can move.

But, yes, we need to continue to look at the programs that we
have to see if indeed they are providing the movement toward self-

sufficiency or if indeed they're not.

Mr. Smith. Yes.
Mr. HEi>fEY-GONZALEZ. CathoUc Charities USA and its national

membership believe that the best place for a family to eat is in

their homes, not in soup kitchens and not in soup lines, only to re-

ceive parceled out commodities because of the fact that they are

poor or because they've been pushed to the fringes of society be-

cause of their economic condition. The Mickey Leland Act needs to

be enacted because of the 5 million children that are waiting. They
cannot wait for the cerebral arguments of Mr. Rector to be thought
through, and Congress must act at this time.

Mr. Smith. Well, is $7 billion enough?
Mr. Heiney-Gonzalez. It may not be enough to end total poverty

immediately now, but it begins to feed those children now. It be-

gins to lay a model that legislators as yourselves can see how it can
build a process of ending hunger within the immediate 10-year pe-
riod.

Mr. Smith. How much is enough?
Mr. Heiney-Gonzalez. I can only respond to you at a later date.

I don't have the financial analytical figures right now. But $7 bil-

lion is essential to begin with.
Mr. Smith. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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Mr. DOOLEY. Mr. Rector, I would just like some comments from

you. It obviously appears that something contributed to a great re-

duction in the poverty rate from 1950 through 1970. Were there

some things that we were doing at that time from welfare spending
that contributed to that?

Mr. Rector. No. In fact, the welfare system was virtually con-

stant during that period. What you see, if you take these numbers
at face value, and these are the official numbers which most of the

people are using here today, basically economic growth pulled fami-

lies out of poverty, and it has been doing that through the entire

20th century. If you went back to, say, the 1920's, everybody had
a parent or a grandparent who, by our contemporsuy standards,
was poor. Your parents were poor. Mine were, too, in the sense
that in 1928 the average family income was $1,600. If you pull that

up to todays terms, it comes to about $10,000, adjusted for infla-

tion. Everybody was poor, but the economy, economic growth, grow-
ing wages, without the welfare state, was doing a bang-up job of

eliminating poverty.
It's a funny thing, when you go back to the war on poverty and

its originators, they recognized that, but they said, "It's not fast

enough. What we're going to do is speed it up." But then around
about 1966, 1967, when the war on poverty starts and this spend-
ing starts to skyrocket, this poverty thing just kinks out, and we've
made no progress since then. I think that's an underestimate, be-

cause, for one thing, in that poverty figure, your food stamp pro-
gram isn't counted. It has no income value, so it's not counted in
terms of eliminating poverty. I don't believe that the Federal Gov-
ernment can spend that level of money and have no impact on pov-
erty.
But what we have seen since 1965 is a dramatic increase in the

out-of-wedlock births and a dramatic erosion in the percentage of
the low-income part of the population that is working. That's what
chEirities understood. They understood up to 1925 that if you gave
people a lot of free food, a lot of free housing, a lot of free cash,
that's what you would get. You would get single-parenthood, and
you would get people out of the labor force. That's what we've ac-

complished.
Mr. DooLEY. Thank you.
I would just like to say, on a totally different tact, that an issue

of interest is we spend a lot of time talking about the nutritional

input of the food that poor families have. Should we not then look
at creating some different criteria in terms of what products are el-

igible for purchase with food stamps? I mean, currently, we have
the situation where there's been some convenience stores that have
been eliminated from participation in the food stamps, primarily
because food stamps are eligible for purchase of fountain drinks. If

we really are concerned about getting the best investment from
this Government's contribution to food stamps and nutrition, how
do we make an argument that we ought to justify this tj^e of ex-

penditure for food stamps?
Mr. Heiney-Gonzalez. To the question should we restrict the

types of food eligible for purchase through food stamps, I would
only respond and ask you, Mr. Chairman, and distinguished Rep-
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resentatives here, would you wish to be restricted in your purchase
of your commodities when you go to the store?
Mr. DOOLEY. I guess the issue, though, is if we are providing in

fact a benefit, can we not condition that?
Mr. Heiney-Gonzalez. Mr. Chairman, I would question the word

"benefit." I beheve that I

Mr. DoOLEY. You don't think there's any benefit to food stamps?
Mr. Heiney-Gonzalez. I think food is a basic right of a human

being, and so, therefore, when you use the word "benefit," it means
that the individual receiving it must be fulfilling certain conditions.
Catholic Charities believes that each individual has human dignity
and there should be social justice with regard to distribution of re-
sources.

Second, I think that to do as you recommended pushes the poor
further into the fiinges of society and keeps those that are rich in
the center of society, and you begin creating more environments in
which Los Angeles riot situations will arise.

Mr. DoOLEY. So you don't think it's appropriate for taxpayers,
then, to necessarily condition or try to provide incentives on what
beneficiaries of entitlement programs, such as the food stamp pro-
graxa, should be able to spend their benefit on?
Mr. Heiney-Gonzalez. I would say that taxpayers have a right

to know that their tax dollars are being spent efficiently. I would
say that the food stamp program has proven itself with regard to
its efficiency rate. And I would say that, yes, educational programs
and initiatives are what will assist families, because they are ad-

dressing multiple issues that you and I, not aware of poverty, en-
counter.

Last, Mr, Rector's zeroing in on 75 programs and claiming that

they are the cause of economic decay of America is a bit much to
stand for.

Mr. DoOLEY. Dr. Meyers, we can take a brief comment, and then
we're going to have to adjourn and head to our vote here.

Dr. Meyers. I want to make the brief point, Mr. Chairman, that
I believe that USDA's own studies have shown that families pur-
chasing food with food stamps make decisions that, from a nutri-
tional point of view are as good as, or better than, middle-class
families.

Mr. DooLEY. So there wouldn't be any real benefit, then?
Dr. Meyers. No, and it's already restricted in that nonfood items

can't be purchased.
Mr. DoOLEY. I thank you for the comments. What we're going to

do is we're going to take a brief adjournment because we have a

vote, and if you folks can remain with us for about 10 minutes, I

know Mr. Emerson has some additional questions he'd like to ask.
Mr. Emerson. If anyone has travel obligations, I would not object

to their being excused, but to those who can stay, I would like to
ask some more questions.

[Recess taken.J
Mr. DooLEY. If we can go ahead and reassemble, I know Mr. Em-

erson has a few questions he'd like to continue to ask whatever
panelists are still here, and then we will proceed to the next panel.
It looks like we have Mr. Rector and Mr. Heiney-Gonzalez.
Mr. Emerson.
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Mr. Emerson. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I'm glad some of you could stay. I don't want to prolong this in-

terminably, but there were a couple of points that I wanted to

make before we concluded. I didn't want to just leave us where we
were. Certainly, I would want to give Mr. Rector the opportunity
to comment in response to the comments that he has heard in an-

swer to the question that I asked, if Mr. Rector would like to.

Mr. Rector. Yes. This is one of these things where somehow,
after a period of time, all of the mjiihs are going to be dispelled and
all of a sudden something that was quite obvious all along is going
to become clear. It may take 10 years. I'll state the basic fact.

Poor children in the United States today are not malnourished,
they are in fact among the most supemourished group of people
ever to exist on the face of the Earth. They are huge, large, strong
people. They are stronger than any previous generation, bigger
than any previous generation of American children. They are big-

ger probably than any previous generation almost in the history of

the world, and that's because thej^ve been pumped full of proteins
and vitamins and minerals through their entire course of child-

hood. That's why they're bigger and stronger than the GI's who
stormed the beaches of Normandy. It's why on average a poor child

today is bigger and stronger than the average middle-class child in
the 1950's.

The reality is—and HI state one other very simple thing without

getting into all these details—obesity tells you a whole lot. If you
look at all the nations in the world, if you look at low-income, less-

developed countries, in those countries, in every single one of them,
if you look at socioeconomic status and obesity, obesity or over-

weight status is much more prevalent among middle-class and rich

people. Why? Because food is hard to get in those societies, and you
have to have a lot of money to get a lot of food. Lower-income peo-
ple in those societies don't have enough money to buy a lot of food.

As soon as you hit industrialized status like we have in the Unit-
ed States and in every single other industrialized country, as soon
as the average income rises, that flips over and obesity becomes
much more prevalent among the lowest-income members of society.
The reason for that is that at that point food has become so preva-
lent in those societies and so easy to obtain that it takes an active
act of discipline among £dl members of society to keep from

overconsuming food.

Again, if you look at the chart and the table that I submitted,
you cannot tell the difference between average protein, mineral,
and vitamin consumption of very poor children. Children with in-

comes below 75 percent of the poverty threshold, their protein con-

simiption is 211 percent of RDA. You go to the upper middle class,
it's 213 percent of RDA. You can't tell the difference, with the pos-
sible exception of iron, between the very poor kids and the upper-
middle-class kids on average.

If you want to go to the tail end of the distributions, then look
at what the CDC does in terms of collecting blood samples. They
collect blood samples from poor kids, poor adults, and they can find
no evidence of protein deficiency anywhere at any point in the en-
tire population of the United States. Same thing with every vita-

min they test, and on and on and on.
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There are terrible, terrible problems facing poor children in the
inner city today, but a lack of food stamps is not one of them.
That's not what's causing the crime rate here, it's not what's caus-

ing the educational failure rate, and it's not what's causing one out
of eight children in the United States to be on welfare and to pass
that tendency to be on welfare on to their own children.

Mr. Emerson. Thank you, Mr. Rector. I've been involved in this

problem for my entire tenure in the Congress, most specifically
over the course of the past 10 years, in the course of which eight
of those years I have been the ranking minority member or was the

ranking minority member on the Nutrition Subcommittee of this

committee, and for the entire 9-year period of the life of the Hun-
ger Committee I was a member of the Hunger Committee and the

ranking Republican for the last 5 years.

Franldy, I have come to the conclusion—I feel, and feel very
strongly, that what we have in this country is a welfare mainte-
nance system that has indeed generated a lot of dependence. I

think that's almost indisputable. I think liberals and conservatives,

RepubUcans and Democrats, should be able to agree upon that

point, and given the fundamental nature of the basic well-being of

our people, we ought also to be able to agree on what to do to fix

that problem.
I think in addressing that issue of how we fix the welfare system

so that we help people get up and off of dependency that, frankly,
the issues raised by you, Mr. Rector, are going to have to be ad-

dressed. I'm not sure that I agree with all of your conclusions.

You've presented some data here that I would like to examine. But
I think that you make a lot of points that should be objectively con-

sidered.

Conversely, I would have said to Mr. Sherry that his plea for

children is eloquent, but that the picture that he painted about
what the Leland bill might do in fixing the problems of malnour-
ished children I don't believe is accurate without a whole lot of

other things happening—safe schools and safe streets and stable

families, a growing economy, and job opportunities.
So I don't think that we can piecemeal fix this problem. I think

we've got to address the larger issue of welfare reform comprehen-
sively and that we should be open-minded as we approach that
issue and try to do those things that, based on some evidence, will

work or won't work. I think that we have a responsibility to set

policies that will uplift our people, and I don't think that people
who, of necessity, are in the welfare trap want to be there. There's

something wrong with the economy, there's something wrong with
the value system that permits these conditions to occur in the first

place.
I don't believe Government has all the solutions. I think that

we've got to turn to other institutions in addition to—I'm not main-

taining that there's no role for Government, but in addition to Gov-

ernment, and maybe some of the institutions—the family, the

schools, the religious community—we need to focus on how all of

them might be doing a better job also.

I am concerned that what we have is a welfare maintenance sys-

tem, and in maintaining people, Mr. Rector, we're adding money
every year to some of these welfare programs, because we do have
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inflation, and that's about all we're doing is maintaining. That's my
point. About all we're doing is maintaining, because it's going to

cost
Mr. Rector. Congressman, this is in constant dollars, and it's

adjusted for inflation. That isn't maintaining. That's going up. It's

been going up, and contrary to general claims, it went up actually

during the Reagan period. Total welfare spending. The only way
you can contest that is people take 1 out of the 75 programs and

say, "Well, this one didn't go up." Well, a lot of them did go up.
Mr. Emerson. But here's another point. You know, there are a

lot of different sociological factors at work today as opposed to

1925. Maybe we made a wrong turn in 1925. I don't know. Maybe
we did. But we are where we are, and we're not going to let the

safety net collapse, we're not going to stop providing food assist-

ance to people who, for whatever reason, need food assistance. So
I want us to get, and get quickly, to the national debate that I am
sure is going to occur on comprehensive welfare reform, because I

think all of the factors that have been laid on the table today need
indeed to be taken into account.

I do know some conservatives who argue that if everyone would

simply get their lives straightened out, we wouldn't have these

problems to deal with in the first place, and I know that liberals

think that if we just add a little more money, it's going to cure the

problem. I don't think either of those positions is going to fix the

problem. I think that we've got a serious situation on our hands,
and the sooner we can get into a realistic appraisal of what works
and what doesn't work and how to cure the problems and get peo-

ple out of the welfare dependency trap, the better, and certainly to

have a system where they don't get into it in the first place.
Mr. Heiney-Gonzalez. If I may, Mr. Chairman, my comments

earlier for this hearing were focused on the Mickey Leland bill, not
on welfare or the debate of welfare. But I would offer our organiza-
tion as a resource when the time comes for that debate, and we
wish to be part of that. So I would like to go on the record with
that.

Second, I do need to address the general statements that have
been made here with regard to welfare dependency, both in the im-

plied economic material being presented here by Mr. Rector and
some comments by Representative Emerson. Welfare dependency is

seen as part of a stereotyping of a problem that has not been ad-

dressed for many, many years. Yes, there are things that need to

be addressed, and the debate must continue. But, specifically, peo-
ple who use welfare, it is known through studies—and I do not
have them here, since I did not prepare for them—but, in general,
it has been known that recipients of welfare stay on or who need
welfare go on it because of the loss of a job.
So we're talking about economic realities of joblessness out there.

We're talking about lack of training of individuals who have never
been able to get into the job market to begin with. We're talking
about families who have never had the support needed to get them
to the level of living beyond one more day of economic need. Yes,
our Federal programs and tax dollars need to help bring families
out of poverty. Unfortunately, the experience of Catholic Charities
USA is one that allows us only to have families live 1 more day

I
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by giving them some food to live and try to suffer through the next

day with resources and support by the voluntary agencies.
In summary, I'd say that dependency needs to be addressed

head-on. We cannot taUt in generalities. Welfare does help people.
Let us not throw out the baby with the bath water. But families

are known to stay on welfare between 6 months to 1 year, and they
move on if they get jobs. There's a group that stays on between 2

to 5 years, and then they move on because they have had support
that Federal programs provide. And then, yes, there are the fami-

lies that are ongoing welfare recipients. At some point we need to

analyze the actual statistical ansdysis of those categories. Also, let

us not forget that there is institutional racism in this country that

plays a very serious part in the whole issue of welfare, and that

is another item that is denied in review of our pohcies here in this

Nation.
Mr. Emerson. I think that in the course, certainly, of the last 10

years, I have, between this subcommittee and the Hunger Commit-

tee, participated in probably somewhere between 70 and 90 field

hearings. These have not been field hearings where we just went
and sat in the meeting hall and listened to people present testi-

mony. In most of those hearings, we did site visits to not just soup
kitchens. Oh, no. We've done that. Not just to feeding centers. But
I've been a couple of times with Secretary Espy to his former dis-

trict down in Mississippi and have been in the homes and seen the

conditions and seen what exists. We've been to the urban areas.

There's virtually no part of the coimtry that, in looking at hunger
and poverty and malnutrition, we have not been, and I just want
to say we haven't just talked about it, we've actually gone and
looked at it.

Mr. Rector, I might suggest that while in theory I think you have
a lot of good points to offer, I think you ought to go see some of

these conditions yourself.
Mr. Heiney-Gonzalez. I have personally invited him to come

visit and work in one of our field programs to see and experience
what it is like to work with a person that has reached their edge,
that has reached the end of their rope, and experience the condi-

tions that people live in that he is generalizing are part of the

problem of our Government policies today.
Mr. Rector. I'd be happy to take up that invitation. I've been in

a lot of low-income communities, a lot of public housing situations.

Again, the problem I don't see there, I don't see a lot of malnour-
ished kids that look like they came out of "Oliver Twist." I see a
lot of kids who don't have dads and are running around with guns,
and that's what I see. And they don't have good schools. Those are

the problems I see.

If I could just add one thing there, of the close to 5 million fami-

nes currently on AFDC, about one-half of them are going to remain
on AFDC for over 8 years. That data is directly out of the Ways
and Means green book prepared by the Democratic staff. What I

think is the real tragedy of this bill is that the $6 bilUon to $7 bil-

lion that's being proposed to be spent here would pay for a major,

major portion of President Clinton's welfare reform, and there is no

money in his budget for welfare reform. He promised it to the tax-

payers, he promised it to the voters, and here we are expanding the
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conventional welfare system yet again, for the infinite time, and
there's no significant money in the budget for welfare reform.

The money that is in the Leland bill would pay for probably one-

half of the welfare reform that's needed, but it's not doing it, and
I think that's a real tragedy. It's a tragedy for the poor, and it's

a tragedy for the taxpayer.
Mr. Emerson. Well, another factor we do have to consider is by

one count—this was a year or so ago—there are 125 separate social

welfare programs in this country, not one of which is hooked up
very well with the other. I think that we need to consolidate, inte-

grate, and automate a lot more than we have. I think we've got to

gear toward giving legitimate, fuU-fledged help to people who need
it in order to get them up and running, and we need also to exam-
ine the problem of dependency and fraud. I mean, those are ele-

ments that rile the taxpayers, but I think there's rather universal

acceptance of the fact that for those who, for a whole variety of rea-

sons, are in the trap, they need legitimate full-scale help to get out
of the trap.
Those are some considerations that I want to bring forward as

we pursue the subject of welfare reform. I don't thmk that the
President can just sit down there and say, "OK, this is welfare re-

form. Let's do it." I think there has to be some rather broad-scale

public education efforts, some rather large-scale debate, yes, Mr.
Rector, of points that you've raised and that others have raised,
and let's see where as a society we come down on this issue.

I think the system that's in place right now is maintaining, and
I beHeve it's, in a certain subjective sense, helping a lot of people.
But I think we need to do better as a society. I think that these

tragic cases of people being malnourished or himgry or iU-attended

medically or ill-housed, as a mgirket-oriented, capitalist, democratic

society, we've got to find better solutions than we have thus far.

I guess that's my ultimate point. I think our current system is

failing us. I think it's simply maintaining a lot of people, but we're
not really bringing people up and out.
Mr. Heiney-Gonzalez. If I may add briefly, I fully agree with

that last statement. What we have right now is failing us very evi-

dently. So Catholic Charities USA welcomes you and your col-

leagues to visit in the field. We offer our programs as resources so

you can look at them. We'd be happy to work with you, because we
beheve, too, the system is not worMng properly.

Last, I would say that for the Mickey Leland bill, I think it offers
us four very crucial elements at this time. Father Fred Kamber, at
our director's meeting in Albuquerque, New Mexico, said that the

challenge to us in pubUc pohcy hes in four areas: One, that poHcy,
Avhatever issue we're addressing, be it teen pregnancy, be it the na-
tional budget deficit, and so forth, demands us to be reflective of
what we are as a society and what we ought to be as a society;
what policy is needed in this Nation, what values are promised by
Government for the people and by the people and all the people in-

clusively; (2) it demands us to be focused on the issue, (3) but it

also challenges us to be hard-headed so that the human values
upon which this society is built upon are carried forward, value in
individuals and their human dignity; (4) and last, examining poli-
cies in our society here, such as we're doing here, demands that we
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be collaborative, that all parties, all views, Mr. Rector's included,
be viewed, but not to forget the human dimension and injustice
that does exist.

Mr. Emerson. Thank you.
Mrs. Clayton [assuming chair]. We want to thank the panelists

for their contribution.

We will ask that the third panel assembled here come and take
their seats, and then I'm going to turn this over to our chairman.
Mr. Stenholm [resuming chair], Ms. Deyampert, I understand

that you have a scheduling problem here, so we will allow you to

go first when you are ready.

STATEMENT OF MARY K. DEYAMPERT, DIRECTOR, NORTH
CAROLINA DIVISION OF SOCIAL SERVICES, ON BEHALF OF
THE NATIONAL COUNCIL OF STATE HUMAN SERVICE AD-
MINISTRATORS, AMERICAN PUBLIC WELFARE ASSOCIATION

Ms. Deyampert. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee, I really do

thank you, I can't say enough, for the opportunity to speak today
at this very important hearing. I am Mary K. Deyampert, and I am
the director of the division of social services in North Carolina. I

am here today representing the American Public Welfare Associa-

tion's National Council of State Human Service Administrators.
We've heard a lot today about the Mickey Leland Hunger Relief

Act. We have also consistently supported the Mickey Leland Act.

We have supported that act since its introduction as well as impor-
tant food stamp administrative reform to simplify the program and
to make it more accessible to the participants. We are very pleased
to once again give this legislation our strong endorsement. The
need for the Leland Act, as you've heard from others that have spo-
ken before this panel, is very apparent, and it's shown more re-

cently in studies documenting the alarming number of America's
children who are hungry or at risk of being hungry.
As administrators, we can certainly confirm the growing need for

food assistance. Since July 1989 the food stamp caseloads have

grown by 44 percent. A record of about 26.83 million Americans
now participate in the program. I can sincerely speak for my State
of North Carolina. Between the time period of 1989 to 1991, we
were one of the fastest-growing States in terms of our caseload

growth.
We're particularly pleased with several specific provisions in the

Leland Act. Certainly, one of the most important for us is a sim-

pHfied household definition. That's section 301. This provision
would not only enhance access and strengthen benefits for families,
but it would simplify the unusually complex set of requirements
and exceptions in present law that cause substantial difficulty and
errors for administrators. These requirements and exceptions were
created by a series of legislative attempts in the early 1980's to re-

strict program access, followed later by attempts to reverse that di-

rection. The net result was to greatly complicate States' task of de-

termining the correct household grouping for food stamp benefits.

Section 301, in my judgment, strips away most of the complicating
layers of rules and is one of the most essential features, I think.
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of the Leland Act. We will work diligently to see that it remains

intact as this legislation progresses.
We're also especially pleased with section 201, the exclusion of

the first $50 a month received in child support, which, again, pro-

vides an important benefit and incentive for program participants

while removing an extremely troublesome difference between food

stamps and AFDC.
Two other important provisions that will meet the needs of the

families we serve and promote their self-sufficiency are section 101,

the removal of the cap on shelter expense deductions, and section

203, the increase in the allowance value of motor vehicles.

Mr. Chairman, we very much look forward to passage of the

Mickey Leland Act and beheve it will greatly strengthen the food

stamp program. I do want to say that on behalf of all of the admin-

istrators that work in the program—and I have been in this pro-

gram, in public social services, 28 years—we do take very seriously
the integrity of the program and are very dedicated to ensuring
and to ma^g sure that the program runs efficiently and serves

the individuals that it was intended to serve.

This is why we urge you and the subcommittee to keep in mind
the need in the passage of this bill for some of the simplification
and reforms that will help us deliver program benefits with the ac-

curacy, timeliness, and attention that participating families de-

serve.

There are two major areas of program administration that must
be reformed in this bill if we are to be able to continue carrying
out our crucial roles. The first of these urgent reforms concerns the

Food Stamp Quality Control System. We, as administrators, sup-

port the concept of quality control. We are not about to back away
one step from program integrity. But we are opposed to the QC
System as it currently exists. We believe the present QC System
is invalid, and we believe it's unfair, and we believe it fails to serve

as a management tool for States to improve their programs. In-

stead, the QC program as it exists today is burdensome, and it im-

poses excessive fiscal penalties on nearly all of the States and coun-
ties in this country.

Earlier Representative Jill Long of Indiana talked about the bill

that she had introduced, H.R. 1195. That bill can at last complete
the process of food stamp QC reform. The bill is nearly identical

to one that was introduced in the House last year, I believe, by
former Representative Charles Hatcher. Unlike the Hatcher bill,

however. Representative Long's bill does not contain a waiver of

past sanctions from the years 1986 through 1991, and that is be-

cause in an unprecedented agreement reached earUer this year,
States settled these sanctions with the Food and Nutrition Service.
We settled these sanctions with the return of a $45 million invest-

ment of State funds in administrative improvement, an investment
that I think clearly demonstrates our commitment to quality im-

provement. We urge you and the full Agriculture Committee to

support H.R. 1195. H.R. 1195 does not do away with QC, it merely
seeks to change the flawed QC System that we currently have.
A second major administrative need is simpUfication of present

food stamp administrative requirements, and aUgnment of poUcy,
where appropriate, with that of the existing programs. APWA has
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recently analyzed 57 significant different AFDC and food stamp is-

sues and has grouped those into either legislative or regulatory rec-

ommendations to change and to simplify the system. I chaired the

group that worked on those 57 regulations, and that's attached as

a part of our formal testimony, I believe, for the record. We strong-

ly urge you to enact these proposals this year as part of a com-

prehensive package of program improvements.
One of the things that I want to take the time to mention here

is that earlier this group talked about and supported automation
and the need for automation, and I clearly support that and believe

that it's absolutely essential. But one of the issues or one of the

tensions with respect to that is that I believe the elimination of the

enhanced FFP match for automation flies in the face of the need
for automation and what the States really and truly need.

Finally, I would like to say that it really and truly is important
for us to genuinely analyze all the important features that the

Mickey Leland Act does. State administrators believe whole-

heartedly in this act and support it very strongly.
Once again, I do thank you. It's genuinely been a pleasure for me

to come and take the opportunity to share with you my thoughts
today. Thank you very much. I'd be happy, if I could, to entertain

any questions.
[The prepared statement of Ms. Deyampert appears at the con-

clusion of the hearing.]
Mr. Stenholm. Thank you. We will wait on questions until the

end of the panel, but when you have to leave, you can certainly be
excused.
Ms. Deyampert. Thank you very much.
Mr. Stenholm. Mr. Greenstein.

STATEMENT OF ROBERT GREENSTEE^, DIRECTOR, CENTER
ON BUDGET AND POLICY PRIORITIES

Mr. Greenstein. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I'm Robert Green-

stein, director of the Center on Budget and Policy Priorities. A
number of years ago I served in USDA as Administrator of the

Food and Nutrition Service.

I'm a little torn as to how to spend my time. I was fascinated by
the debate in the last panel, the debate involving Mr. Rector and
Mr. Emerson. If I were a Member of Congress, I would say to Mr.
Emerson that I would like to associate myself with his remarks.
The current system in many ways does maintain people and needs

major improvement.
By the same token, I have spent a lot of time oyer the last 2

years reading the same studies as Mr. Rector cites in his presen-
tation. He and I have debated a number of times, and I'll not use

up all my time doing this. But in area after area from the tables

he cited and others, the research and the data don't show some of

the specific findings that he noted.
Just as one very brief example, he mentions in his statement

that virtually all poor Americans live in well-maintained housing.
The latest census data show that one out of every five households
live in substandard housing, and 29 percent of poor blacks live in

housing classified as physically deficient by the Department of
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Housing and Urban Development during a study conducted under
the Bush administration.
The research also does not show some of the extraordinary ef-

fects that he cited—huge increases in out-of-wedlock birth rates—
from the public assistance system. But on the other heuid, coming
back to your point, Mr. Emerson, the evidence is relatively strong
that the AFDC system as currently set up penalizes work and pe-
nalizes marriage, and it needs to be significantly overhauled.

One point I'd like to make now before getting into my testimony
is that we need to be very careful to remember the difference be-

tween the AFDC structure and the food stamp structure. The food

stsmip program, is an example of a well-designed program. In the

specific areas where AFDC is poorly designed, food stamp differs

significantly. If you go on AFDC, after your fourth month of work-

ing you lose a full dollar for each additional dollar you earn. In the
food stamp program, your benefits drop 24 cents for each additional
dollar you earn. That has long been praised by m£my poverty ex-

perts as a much better design that has better work incentive fea-

tures. In AFDC, when you hit a certain threshold, you lose a lot

of benefits. You lose Medicaid coverage. You have a big loss in ben-
efits from earning a little more. There is no similar cliff in the food

stamp program.
In AFDC, if you are a two-parent family, you often can't get ben-

efits, whereas for the same amount of work and the same amount
of income, a single-parent family can get benefits, so there's an in-

centive to split the family. There is no place in the entire food

stamp program where there is a rule that discriminates between
two-parent families and makes them less eligible for food stamps
or eligible for fewer stamps than a single-parent family in the same
circumstance.

In short, food stamps avoids a number of these pitfalls. Interest-

ingly, a couple of months ago I was on a "C-Span" call-in show with
Jim Miller, the 0MB Director imder President Reagan, and a caller
asked about a program that he and I both agreed was not very well
run at the Federal level. Mr. Miller's answer was, "We have poorly
run programs, and we have well-run programs. One of the best-de-

signed programs is the food stamp program." An interesting re-

sponse.
I'd like to turn now to some of the points made in my testimony.

One of the things I find myself thinking about from time to time
is, if the food stamp program is as large as it is today, why do we
still seem to have a significant hunger problem? Why would some-
thing like the Mickey Leland bill be needed? There are several as-

pects to this. Most of them go well beyond the issue of food.
We know that poverty is high. In 1991 the number of poor people

in the coiintry was higher than at any year since the mid-1960's.
The rise in poverty has been especially marked among poor chil-
dren. Among children, more than one in five children today is poor.
Among black children below the age of 6, one of every two is poor.We have a recent study by a distinguished team of international
researchers which finds the child poverty rate in the United States
is now double the rate of Canada and four times the average of
Western Europe.
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This long-term rise in poverty has been accompanied by and par-

tially caused by several other trends—eroding wages and a con-

sequent increase in the ranks of the working poor, more single-par-
ent families, and a growing shortage of low-rent housing. Census
data show the ranks of the working poor have swelled in recent

years as wages have slipped, especially for low-skill jobs. The aver-

age hourly wage for nonmanagement employees in the private sec-

tor is now lower than at any time in the 1970's or 1980's, adjusting
for inflation. Obviously, the internationalization of the economy has
a lot to do with this. A census report released last year found that

the proportion of full-time year-round workers paid a wage too low
to lift a family of four to the poverty line grew by 50 percent be-

tween 1979 and 1990.
Another long-term trend—Mr. Rector talked about this—^is the

increase in the proportion of single-parent families. In single-par-
ent families there's no spouse to help support the family and share

child-rearing responsibilities. There's no possibility of a second

earner, and the single parent is often unable to work full-time her-

self. That makes the provision of child support payments especially

critical, but too often they're not paid.
The housing issue is also of great importance. Census data show

that in about 1970 there were 400,000 more low-rent units than
low-income renters in the United States. By 1989 there were 4 mil-

lion fewer low-rent units than low-income renters. As a result of

that, poor households spend increasing shares of their limited in-

comes on housing. The standard set under the Reagan administra-

tion holds that housing is unaffordable for the low-income house-

hold if it consumes more than 30 percent of income. The latest data

show that over half of poor renters are paying over 50 percent of

income for housing, and as they pay more for rent, less money re-

mains for food.

Interestingly, these problems are acute in rural as well as in

urban areas. The poverty rate remains higher in rural America
than in urban areas. The growth in the ranJks of the working poor
has had a particular impact in rural areas. In fact, census data

show that 70 percent of all poor rural families not headed by a re-

tired, ill, or disabled person are families in which the household
head works. The lack of sufficient low-cost housing is a problem in

urban and rural areas alike. In fact, the region of the country in

which the number of poor households that pay over one-half of

their income for housing is greatest is the South.
Put all these trends together, and they do impact the food pur-

chasing power of low-income households. ERS at USDA issued a

major study of food expenditure patterns during the 1980's. I have
a table on this. I don't know if it's been given out. It's also on page
4 of my testimony. What the table shows is that between—this is

ERS data—1980 and 1988 for the middle one-fifth and the top one-

fifth of households, average food expenditures stayed about the

same. They rose about 2 percent. For the poorest one-fifth of house-

holds, food expenditures per person dropped 13 percent between
1980 and 1988. This is undoubtedly linked to such factors as erod-

ing wages, eroding public assistance payments, and the tendency of

housing costs that consume a steadily rising share of household in-

come.
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I think these developments help explain why hunger remains a
serious problem despite the availability of the food stamp program;
obviously, while their main effect is on poor households, they also

affect agricultural producers when low-income people purchase less

of the products that they produce.
These data have significant policy implications. They suggest we

need to take policy actions aimed at a number of goals, some of

which are beyond the scope of this committee: Reducing poverty
and hunger among children so they have a better chance of achiev-

ing their full potential and becoming productive workers that our

economy needs; more adequately rewEirding hard work performed
at low wages; and promoting self-sufficiency and parental respon-
sibility through work effort and meeting child support obligations.
Reforms in the food stamp program can't solve all these problems,
but if the/re well-designed, they cannot only help reduce hunger
among poor households and especially children, but also make
some progress in rewarding work and promoting self-sufficiency
and parental responsibility.

In my view, both H.R. 529 £ind the new administration bill meet
those goals. These pieces of legislation are well-targeted. They pri-

marily focus on poor children and their families, with particular
targeting on those whose housing costs are especially high in rela-

tion to their incomes. Incidentally, when you look again at who
those households are and who benefit, they're spread across the

country. Every time this issue comes up, someone asks us—because
we do a lot of data work on housing—whether this isn't primarily
an issue in the Northeast. The Congressional Budget Office did a
run on this in 1990 and found that 7 of every 10 food stamp house-
holds that would be helped by removing that ceiling on the shelter
deduction are outside the Northeast.
H.R. 529 and the administration's legislation assist the working

poor in important ways. They're consistent with the goal espoused
in recent years by Members of both parties, most recently by Presi-
dent Clinton, that if a family works full-time year-round, the fam-

ily shouldn't be poor. In the President's calculations on how to

achieve that goal, the most ink on paper has been on his proposed
increase in the earned income credit, but the President's and the
administration's proposal actually is that full-time year-round min-
imum wage earnings plus the EIC and food stamps would get one
to the poverty line. Their proposal would help many of the working
poor who don't get food stamps now through raising the vehicle

limit, which particularly affects the working poor.
I was also pleased that they've proposed to strengthen the food

stamp employment and training program in a way that fewer able-
bodied recipients would be excused from the program on the

grounds that participating in it would require them to bear work-
related expenses that the program would fail to reimburse.
Both bills—I think is quite important—bolster the child support

system by strengthening incentives both for custodial parents to

help track down and collect support from absent parents and for
absent parents to meet their child support obligations. The bills

simplify the programs, which should help reduce errors. They align,
in a number of respects, food stamps and AFDC more closely. The
administration bill goes farther on that front than H.R. 529 does.
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and the administration bill has a battery of antifraud and abuse

provisions to strengthen program integrity. It, of course, also is de-

signed to offset the impact of the energy tax on low-income house-
holds.

I'd like to close with just a couple of final issues, one of particular
interest to the chairman and also to our center because of our work
on budget issues. The administration's estimates note that its legis-
lation would cost $1.5 billion to $1.7 billion a year starting in fiscal

year 1995, with a 5-year cost of about $7 billion. H.R. 529 would
cost $6.3 billion over 5 years. Should one view H.R. 529 as the less

expensive bill? The answer is no. The added cost in the administra-

tion's bill stems from more honest budgeting, not from a more ex-

pensive bill.

All earUer versions of the Leland bill, including H.R. 529, re-

duced their 5-year costs by phasing in their major provisions slowly
and backloading them. One of the largest provisions in H.R. 529
wouldn't take effect until the sixth year, outside the normal 5-year

budget measurement period. That's not the case with the adminis-
tration's bill. Every provision in it is fully in place by 1995. It is

because the administration's bill doesn't use phase-ins that its 5-

year costs are modestly higher than H.R. 529, but its long-term
costs are lower in the sixth year £ind all subsequent years. It costs

$200 million a year less than H.R. 529. It is actually a less expen-
sive, not a more expensive, piece of legislation.

Last, I think very highly of both H.R. 529 and of the administra-
tion's bill. The changes the administration has made to H.R. 529
contain a number of excellent additions. There is one aspect of the
administration bill that I believe should be modified slightly. That
bill proposes to reduce to 50 percent the Federal matching rate for

State administrative costs in computers, fraud investigations, and
a couple other areas, and it would make that effective on April 1,

1994.
I believe the administration's basic principle is sound. I see no

reason why States shouldn't assume 50 percent of those costs. But
I think there's a problem with the timing of the provision. April 1

falls in the middle of the State fiscal year. By the time the rec-

onciliation bill is enacted this summer, most States will have com-

pleted work on their budgets for that year, and many States are

still in fiscal crisis due to the weak economy. Since this is a cost

shift to States, I'm concerned that if we do it all at once, we could

get some money withdrawn from the basic administration of the

food stamp program. My suggestion is simply to implement this

provision over several years in stages. The long-term effect would
be the same.

I would note that the President's budget as of about February 5

had exactly the proposal that I'm recommending. In the final days
before it was released on the 17th, it was changed from three

stages in one fell swoop in order to hit the deficit targets. However,
at that point the administration hadn't designed the bill they
brought up yesterday. Now that they have, their bill is actually
under the targets in the budget resolution. It is under their own
budget, which means there would be room to help States by imple-

menting that provision in stages, and I'd urge the subcommittee to

look at that as it deliberates on this bill.
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In conclusion, I'd just say that following the discussion in the

earlier panel, I think this is a piece of legislation that's a "two-fer."

It both helps deal with issues of hunger, particularly among chil-

dren, but in a number of areas also helps the working poor, re-

wards work, strengthens the child support system, and moves us

into the direction that a larger, more comprehensive welfare reform

should ultimately take us.

Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Greenstein appears at the con-

clusion of the hearing.]
Mr. Stenholm. Mr. Fersh.

STATEMENT OF ROBERT J. FERSH, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,
FOOD RESEARCH AND ACTION CENTER

Mr. Fersh. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. In light of the hour and

length of the hearing, I will summarize my remarks quite briefly.

I'd like to ask that my statement be included in the record in full

as well as the additional fact sheet on hunger in the United States

that we've prepared. I'd also like, in light of the late-breaking ad-

ministration bill, to be able to submit a letter with some comments
on some changes they're recommending. Finally, I, like Bob Green-

stein, am torn about whether to talk about my original testimony
or respond to Mr. Rector. We do have a paper we'd like to submit
for the record which provides a lot of evidence contrary to what Mr.
Rector provided.
Mr. Stenholm. Without objection.
Mr. Fersh. Thank you very much.
I, too, want to, for the record, acknowledge the extraordinary role

of this subcommittee and the full committee and this subcommit-
tee's predecessors. There's a history of bipartisan efforts on hunger
in America, and we certainly hope that this will be the year in

which the Leland bill, which has been pending since 1990, will

really be moved through.
Mr. Stenholm, we very much appreciate your leadership, the

leadership you're exhibiting already, and the kind of energy you're

putting into this issue as you assume the duties of this subcommit-
tee.

I also wanted to mention the extraordinary role Chairman de la

Garza has played, and I wanted to acknowledge that he is right
that this committee has time and again passed legislation on a bi-

partisan basis to deal with the issue of hunger in America, yet only
a relatively few of those pieces of legislation have passed in recent

years.
Let me also say it was with some pleasure and delight I heard

the administration support a bill that's as positive as the Mickey
Leland bill. We do have an issue with one particular provision,
which has to do with the recoupment of benefits from recipients
when there's been a State agency error, and that's what we'd like
to submit some testimony on rather than dwell on that now.
The bottom line for us is that there really is a hunger problem,

and you can rely upon all sorts of charts that are put together by
academic people who take selective facts and studies, and you can
try to deny there's a problem, but if you talk to anybody who's in
touch with it, the problem is real. I know Larry Jones is very ar-
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ticulate about it. I see him on TV about it, he has very moving pic-

tures he paints about it. And if you talk to those of us who work
with people on the frontlines of hunger—^we have a campaign to

end chilmiood hunger which involves hundreds of organizations
across the country—and you yourselves, when you get out for field

hearings, you talk to real people, you know that the picture painted
by Mr. Rector is very far from being accurate.

The bottom line is that these people do need some help, and
while we do think there need to be reforms of the overall welfare

system—and we want to join in that—and we do believe there

needs to be moral renewal and there needs to be two-parent fami-

lies and there needs to be more work effort, we do not believe that

programs like food stamps work against that. We certainly believe

that in the long run all those measures need to be taken—child

support enforcement, jobs, training, education, you name it—and
we would like to be part of that. But in the short run, people go

hungry, and in the short run, kids don't learn so well, and in the

short run, women's pregnancies don't go so well and children's

heads don't get a sufficient circimiference if mothers aren't well-fed,

and that's what we're about here with the Leland bill.

As Chris Rebstock will indicate, the food banks and soup kitch-

ens around the country are swamped with people who come and
need assistance. Why do we ask them to suffer, in many cases, the

indignity of having to travel long distances for limited foods or

going without when we have programs in place that, if we adjusted
the benefit structure, would deal with their needs?

My testimony gives you examples of people from across the coun-

try. We are a legal services center that hears from attorneys for the

poor every day, examples of people who cannot make the system
work for them. I urge you to look at the testimony and read the

examples. There are hundreds, if not thousands, more that we
could provide to indicate what is the reality of people's lives. People
who own a 1991 Chevy pickup truck who lose their jobs, can't get
food stamps for the few months they need to get by, and suffer

great hardships while they try to get by until the next job comes
around. People live in areas where there are high shelter costs, yet
the food stamp program assumes that some of the money they ac-

tually spend on shelter is available for food.

All this is a reality, and I suggest that in distinction to what you
heard about a lot of studies—and I've got countervailing studies

that I think reflect a great weight of evidence on the issues that

Mr. Rector addressed—I suggest you talk to the people who really
are in touch with reality, in touch with people's real lives, and try
to form judgments on that basis.

Let me sdso just say quickly as I wrap up that you're not alone

if you act. Not only are there hundreds and thousands of groups
around the coimtry who are part of this campaign to end childhood

hunger who support you, and they represent millions of people, but

the public is in support of you. Many of you may be aware of a poll

that the Kraft General Foods Company sponsored last year that in-

dicated that the pubUc viewed himger as one of the most important
issues we face in this coimtry. They supported increased public

policies, public action to deal with the hunger problem. They said

they'd even pay $100 more in taxes—two-thirds of the voters said
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that—if the money was devoted to fighting hunger. And when it

came to the food stamp program, once they were told that 80 per-
cent of the benefits went to famihes with children, even the food

stamp program, the oft-maligned food stamp program, had an 80

percent approval rating. Also, as the chairman mentioned before,

you have testimony from a CEO of Hasbro Toys on behalf of 25
other CEO's, and so there are business leaders who believe that the

hunger issue needs to be addressed in this coimtry.
We urge you now to provide the leadership, to be adamant in

seeking this legislation, not simply to pass it through and hope
that something else happens. We need you to be absolutely commit-

ted, because the hungry people really cannot wait. We, and I in-

cluded, can talk about it all the time, as I do, but it's very divorced
from reality. For real people and real families struggling, this as-

sistance is absolutely vital, and we urge you to move forward with
a passion and get this done this year so that fewer children and
fewer families in this country have to go without sufficient food re-

sources.
Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Fersh appears at the conclusion

of the hearing.]
Mr. Stenholm. Reverend Jones.

STATEMENT OF REVEREND LARRY JONES, PRESmENT AND
FOUNDER, FEED THE CHILDREN

Reverend Jones. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for inviting me to

come here today. I'm president of Feed the Children, and I want
you to know that we do feed hungry children. I think we're all here

striving for a common goal so that no child goes to bed hungry.
We've heard the figure thrown around today that one out of five

children in America live in poverty, and I might add that one out
of five children in America, I believe, are hungry and malnour-
ished. I think it's important we also know that 60 percent of the
children under the age of 6 who live with a single mother are poor.

Before I left Oklahoma City, I called the assistant commissioner
of agriculture, and he shared with me that the TEFAP program in
Oklahoma provided food to over 100,000 families last year. We of-

tentimes wonder, who and where are these people that continually
need food assistance, and why do the numbers continue to inflate?

Typically, Americans think that they are "those people, not us." I

am constantly reminded of the disbehef among average Americsms
that himger even exists in our country. A couple of months ago I

was in our President's home State—Dumas, Arkansas, to be
exact—and we interviewed many rural hardworking families who
were trying but just could not make ends meet, many of them
working two jobs. It may surprise some people, but you can work
two jobs making minimum wage, and if you have three children,
you still can't make it if your jobs don't provide benefits.

After the interview was televised, my staff was asked, **Where do
you get these actors and actresses?" They were not actors and ac-

tresses, but they were real people with real everyday problems.
Who are these people? Contrary to popular belief, the majority of

poor children are not black. They are not on welfare. Also, they five
in working families and they Uve in small towns, rural commu-
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nities, and suburban America. In 1989, the parents of 3.5 million
families with children worked, but they were still poor. They were
underemployed .

A particular group that receives very little, if any, attention is

the non-Hispanic whites. Their rate of poverty is growing faster
than any other group, and the frightening news is that many
Americans are not aware of their existence. Why are non-Hispanic
white poverty numbers growing disproportionately? It is quick and
easy to obtain media footage for interviews of the inner city poor,
who are mostly black. The non-Hispanic whites are not con-
centrated in an urban area, but scattered throughout the hills of
Arkansas and West Virginia, along the Appalachian Trail and the

Mississippi Delta. Because it takes a lot more effort to reach these

areas, the depth of their poverty level is nearly unknown; there-

fore, they receive very little food assistance, and their numbers are

rapidly multiplying.
We are kidding ourselves if we think that the Government can

solve this problem. The real problem today is job loss. I recall a
commercial many years ago with three older women who were ana-

lyzing a hamburger. The comment was, "Where's the beef?" If those
three women were here today, they would ask, "Where are the

jobs?" While many economists today are painting a picture that de-

picts a recovering economy, the man on the street is asking,
"Where are the jobs?" The Senate passed a $4 billion unemploy-
ment benefit package, and the House is expected to approve it this

week, therefore, the question remains, "Where are the jobs?" Only
12 weeks ago, the following corporations announced the following
job cuts: Sears, 50,000 jobs; IBM, 25,000 jobs; Boeing, 20,000 jobs;
United Technologies, 10,500 jobs; McDonnell-Douglas, 8,700 jobs;
and Eastman-Kodak, 2,000 jobs. The incumbents of these an-
nounced job cuts are your typical hardworking Americans who pre-
pared themselves to be a responsible American citizen. When their

job ends soon, they, too, will be asking, "Where are the jobs?"
Although the answer to this question requires a long-term solu-

tion, there is a solution that provides temporary relief for the man
on the street who is asking, "Where are the jobs?" like the family
I met in Dvunas, Arkansas, and that is the emergency food assist-

ance program.
Dr. E.V. Hill of Los Angeles, a personal friend of former Presi-

dent Reagan's, recalled one of their meetings where the President
stated that he wanted to see every person in America employed
with a secure future ahead. Dr. Hill replied, "Good, Mr. President,
but what are we going to do in the meantime?" That meeting was
nearly a decade ago, Mr. Chairman. We are still living in the
meantime. For those who don't believe that TEFAP is helping peo-
ple, it's like the late Congressman Claude Pepper said: "If more
politicians in this country were thinking about the next generation
instead of the next election, it might be a better United States."

Seventy percent of the relief in this country is handled through
nongovernmental organizations. Feed the Children has been help-
ing to provide food for food pantries in all 48 lower States plus the
District of Columbia. It is one thing to debate the hunger problem
in this country, but when you stand in front of a family refrigerator
and the mother is crjdng because it's empty, you don't want to de-
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bate TEFAP. We were at one home where not only was the refrig-

erator empty, but in the course of 30 minutes, they came and
turned ofiF the electricity, the water, and the gas. While living in

the meantime, millions of Americans' daily survival depends on

programs like TEFAP.
Some people are slow to help lower-income families either be-

cause they do not fit their defmition of a family, such as babies

bom out of wedlock, or the belief that the parents are just plain

lazy. The reason for why these children are poor is important, but
should not be a criteria in order for a child to receive food. Other-

wise, these innocent children are being penalized for their parents'
faults at the expense of a stronger, healthier American society in

the future.

Each of us here today witnessed 17 children bum to death in

Waco, Texas. We mourned and asked, why in the world didn't they
let the children out? Today we can decide. Let's get the children out
of hunger. Help sometimes comes a day late and a dollar short. For
the Waco children, it was a day late. For one in five American chil-

dren, help is a dollar short.

Fifteen years from now, I hope we do not have to ask why our

young adults are not fully developed. Today's children are the poor-
est age group, two times as likely to be poor as elderly people. In

fact, hungry children are two to three times more likely to suffer

health problems than the elderly. Lack of nourishment today will

breed less-developed adults tomorrow, who will be incapable of

competing in a global market for jobs. The current decline of jobs
will continue if we do not feed the children of today so that they
can fully develop physically, emotionally, and mentally at the same
level as today's children in Asia and Europe.
We cannot forget the Waco children. Let's decide today not to be

a dollar short. We cannot afibrd to forget the children in the Mis-

sissippi Delta, in Appalachia, our inner city children, and the Na-
tive American children on reservations, or, for that matter, any
child that goes to bed himgry in these United States of America.

In closing, may I just say this: I've heard a lot of things said
about a lot of people today who have misused the program, but
when we take food to the children, we've never had a child sell food
or trade food. We've had a lot of children eat the food. Let us never
forget hungry children will eat the food that's put in front of them.
Thank you, sir.

[The prepared statement of Reverend Jones appears at the con-
clusion of the hearing.]
Mr. Stenholm. Mr. Rebstock.

STATEMENT OF CHRIS REBSTOCK, DmECTOR, NETWORK
SERVICES, SECOND HARVEST NATIONAL FOOD BANK NET-
WORK
Mr. Rebstock. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Mr. Emerson. I'd like

to take the opportunity to express my appreciation and that of my
boss, Christine Vladimiroff, president of Second Harvest, whom I

represent, for the opportunity to talk to you today about the Mick-
ey Leland Childhood Hunger Relief Act. My name is Chris
Rebstock, and I'm director of network services for Second Harvest,
which is the national network of food banks.
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To provide some context briefly, Second Harvest defines a food

bank not as the local church or community pantry, but as a food

warehouse. Our 185 member food banks are private, nonprofit or-

ganizations engaged in the solicitation, inspection, storage, and re-

distribution of every kind of food and grocery product produced in

this country. A vast majority of the product is donated by the food

industry, but other sources include food collected through food

drives, products purchased with private and local government
funds. Federal commodities obtained through TEFAP, and the soup
kitchen/food bank commodities programs and the commodity sup-
plemental foods program.
The majority of the food distributed by food banks is distributed

not to individuals, but to other 501(c)(3) organizations engaged in

the direct service of individuals, agencies such as soup kitchens,

emergency pantries, day care centers, senior centers, rehab pro-

grams, shelters, the Red Cross in emergency disaster relief, and
others. In 1992 our network distributed products to more than

47,000 such charitable agencies throughout the 50 States, the Dis-

trict of Columbia, and PHierto Rico.

I won't take the time to run through a history lesson on TEFAP.
I'm sure you don't need to restudy the evolution of that program.
But it is important to note a significant change that took place in

the program as a result of the farm bill in 1990, when the program
was retitled from the temporary emergency food assistance pro-

gram to the emergency food assistance program. It was authorized

through 1994, and then an increasing schedule of funding was de-

signed to support and maintain the program. The major shift in the

program was toward making funds available to purchase commod-
ities to continue its operation rather than reliance upon bonus com-
modities. Clearly, the whole nature of the program was changed as

a result of that action, and the focus was redirected fi-om that of

dealing with surplus inventories toward making it a program that

was established to provide assistance to hungry people, which was
a side benefit of its initial structure.

The total poundage distributed by the Second Harvest network
in 1992 was more than 900 million pounds. Of this amount, more
than 153 million pounds were Federal commodities fi"om TEFAP
and the soup kitchen/food bank commodities programs and from
the commodity supplemental food program. The network distrib-

uted a projected 35 percent of all TEFAP product and soup kitchen/

food bank commodities distributed in that fiscal year.
Given the enormity of the volunteer effort required to make the

network function—that is, the boards of directors, the volimteer

stafi" assistance, privately donated food, financial support, transpor-

tation, warehousing, technical assistance, et cetera—these figures
are quite impressive. Yet, in spite of these figures, we continue to

lack the resources to keep pace with the problem. Our members,
and the 47,000 charities they represent, report a continually in-

creasing need at the local level. In 1992, the average network food

bank experienced roughly an 18-percent increase in demand for

service.

It comes as no surprise, as I'm sure you've heard fi*om others,
that the most rapidly growing segment of the population at risk is

the working poor. While we lack firm scientific stats at this point.
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we're in the midst of a national study of the 47,000 agencies and
some of their cUents represented by the network to gather such

statistics, and we'll have information to share by the end of the

year as a result of that study.
We do know, on the basis of recent Government reports, that

more than 1 in 10 Americans is receiving food stamps. The Food
Research and Action Center's recent study and ongoing study of

childhood himger indicates that one in five American children is

living at the poverty level or below. The fact that the food bank
network is the port of last resort makes this information particu-

larly disturbing. People do not tend to show up at soup kitchens

or commxinity food centers until they've exhausted all other re-

sources, so when a family does seek assistance at one of these orga-
nizations and finds the shelves bare, they've got nowhere else to go.

According to the U.S. Conference of Mayors, 21 percent of those

seeking assistance at emergency feeding sites were either turned

away due to a lack of resources or were provided inadequate assist-

ance to meet their need.
At our national conference last summer, which is a gathering of

representatives of our member food banks as well as the food in-

dustry, a panel of food industry representatives addressed the as-

sembly on the subject of trends in the industry and the potential

impact of those trends on donations of industry surpluses. The re-

port was not a good one. More and more of the companies are mov-

ing toward operating philosophies based on zero defects or total

quality management. There's no question that this is a movement
that will benefit the consumer. Fewer errors mean lower prices.

Tighter operating controls mean improved product quality. In this

case, however, the consumer's benefit spells difficulty for those of

us scrambling to generate more resources to assist those who can't

afford to be the consumer.
Don't misunderstand me, we salute the industry for its efforts on

behalf of our constituents, and we applaud their movement toward
improving their service to the consumer. We just need to become
more creative in searching out additional product resources from
the industry and fi-om other sources.

Supplies are not only dwindling from the private sector, however.
The commodities available through TEFAP are disappearing as
well. Although the quantities procured with the funds appropriated
for purchase have been relatively stable over the last 3 years, the

quantities available through bonus commodities have steadily de-
creased. In 1987 nearly 1 billion dollars' worth of bonus commod-
ities were distributed. These included seven different products. In
fiscal year 1993 only two commodities are available. Those are
commeal and butter.

In some States food banks merge the TEFAP commodities into
their regular inventories, enabling their member agencies to mix
the commodities with other privately donated products. The result
is a balanced package of food products for the most needy. Other
States have been forced to reduce the fi*equency of mass distribu-
tions and have had to restrict the amount of product distributed to
each household, regardless of the quantity guideUnes provided by
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The funds for storage and distribution of TEFAP and soup kitch-

en/food bank commodities were cut 10 percent, from $50 million to

$45 million, for fiscal years 1992 and 1993. The thinking which led

to the cut was that a reduction in products available for distribu-

tion equals a reduction in the need for funds to underwrite it.

While seemingly logical, the thinking misses the point. The funds
weren't sufficient in the first place. The average food bank spends
between 12 and 13 cents to distribute 1 pound of food. This low
cost is directly attributable to the creativity of food bankers and to

the extensive volunteer support of the network, which exceeded 4
million hours in 1992.

It does mean, however, that the average food bank faces a large

fundraising need every year in order to meet its $656,000 budget.
It is estimated that with the current level of support from the stor-

age and distribution fiinds, food banks are losing an average of 2y2

to 3 cents a pound. That translates to approximately $3.5 million

which must be raised by the food banks, or approximately $12 mil-

lion which must be raised by all TEFAP distributors just to keep
the program operating.

It's important that TEFAP and the soup kitchen/food bank com-
modities programs be viewed for what they are: A part, albeit a

very important part, of the total complement of Federal food assist-

ance programs. Despite the tendency to pit one program against

another, each must be evaluated on the basis of its target popu-
lation and the need that it fills for that population. There is some

overlap, that's true, but there is also evidence that TEFAP reaches

a large segment of the hungry population which is untouched by
food stamps, WIC, school breakfast and lunch programs, et cetera.

This segment includes a significant number of people in rural areas

of the country and a number of the working poor who just barely
exceed the requirements of the needs tests for these other pro-

grams. Through the special distribution mechanisms established to

facilitate the delivery of this program, the logistical obstacles of the

established systems are supplemented.
Second Harvest would like to offer two recommendations to the

committee to support TEFAP and other commodity distribution

programs. First, and most obvious, Congress should pass the Mick-

ey Leland Childhood Hunger Relief Act, which provides for full

funding of the authorized amounts for TEFAP product purchases
and for storage and distribution costs.

The second is that Congress should establish a committee com-

prised of representatives from State administrations and private,

nonprofit entities engaged in commodity distribution—agencies like

the American Commodity Distribution Association, Food Research
and Action Center, Second Harvest, and others. The purpose of

that committee would be to examine the potential savings of com-

bining certain commodity programs which target the same popu-
lations. These would include TEFAP, soup kitchen/food bank com-

modities, and charitable institution programs. Such consolidation

may decrease duplication and increase effectiveness and efficiency.

In closing, I want to thank the subcommittee for its interest in

and concern for this pressing issue, and I want to thank it for its

leadership in the whole issue of hunger over the years. What is
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lacking are the resources; unfortunately, the need continues to

grow.
Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Rebstock appears at the conclu-

sion of the hearing.]
Mr. Stenholm. Thank you, and thank all of you for your testi-

mony today.
Mr. Emerson.
Mr. Emerson. I don't have any questions, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you all for your statements. You know, the door is always

open to all of you, and I hope you'll talk with us as the matter
moves forward in the committee. We have an opportunity—cer-

tainly, Rob and Bob are on the scene here, and we can visit with
them almost any time.

Reverend Jones, it's good to see you, and, Mr. Rebstock, I'm a

great admirer of the work that Second Harvest does. Don't be bash-

ftil in your communications with us.

Mr. Rebstock. Thank you.
Mr. Steistholm. One quick question. Reverend Jones, you were

talking about the jobs. Mr. Roberts earlier raised an interesting

question on how little money is spent on employment and training
in the food stamp program. Has anyone got a response to that?

Mr. Greenstein.
Mr. Greenstein. Mr. Chairman, if the food stamp emplojnment

and training program were an effective program that improved em-

ployment and earnings, then I would agree with the notion that we
should increase the resources for it. But just in the way Mr. Emer-
son said at the conclusion of the previous panel, we have to take
hard looks at what works and what doesn't. The Federal Govern-
ment spent a fair amount of money doing a very careful evaluation
of the impact of the food stamp employment and training program.
The study came out a year or two ago, and looked at the effect on

increasing employment and increasing earnings. The study basi-

cally found that it had no effect.

I believe that pouring more money into the program at the

present time would be a little bit like putting more money into a
raffle. This is not a question of liberal or conservative ideology.
Whether it's a program, with the best intentions for poor people,
whether it's a defense program, whether it's an employment and
training program, if it doesn't work, then I think we've got to im-

prove it before we put a lot of additional money into it.

Now, I can tell you a little bit about why I think it may not be

working. We have a very large population that's subject to the food

stamp work requirements. Food stamp emplo5rment and training
program devotes a very small amount of resources per participant,
and the research basically is showing in the employment and train-

ing area that unless one spends a much larger amount, or invests
a much larger amount per person, you don't get a result. Even if

you do, if it's not a well-run program, you may not get a result.

One could double the amount of money in the food stamp employ-
ment and training program, and the amount per participant would
still be very low.

There's a second issue. The second issue is that most people who
are food stamp work receipents are not long termers. Mr. Rector
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said one-half the people on AFDC are going to be on welfare for
8 years. They aren't in food stamp employment and training.
They're in AFDC employment and training. The people who are in
food stamp employment and training, many of them are short
termers who are on for 4, 5, or 6 months, and they often get jobs
just as well on their own as they do if they do the emplo5anent and
training program.
So what's the answer? Mr. Emerson, you're on the right track in

the sense that I don't believe that we're going to fix the employ-
ment and training program in food stamps by itself. We have to
look at all the employment and training programs—^welfare em-
plojnnent and training, the JTPA training program—and we've got
to improve the system in a way that channels food stamp people
in it and helps them. But I really believe that if we just put $20
million or $100 million more into the current food stamp employ-
ment and training program, you're not going to get anything much
for your money.
Mr. Fersh. Mr. Stenholm, if I could just add one quick comment,

I want to agree with Bob. Of all food stamp recipients entering the

program, one-half leave the program within 6 months, two-thirds
within 1 year. So it's a different population than the AFDC pro-
gram.

I'd also just raise a caution. I don't know what Mr. Roberts has
in mind, although I think it's better dealt with in the context of
welfare reform, but I would hope there would be nothing offered
that would substantially diminish the money now targeted to pro-
vide essential benefits so people can eat. It's a difficult tradeoff. All
of us want to see employment and training get better, but we
would be concerned and would love to be in a dialog with him and
anyone else working on this to make sure there's not some transfer

away fi*om this very well-targeted, very well-designed bill that has
benefits going to the appropriate people.
Mr. Greenstein. If I could add just two sentences more, the ad-

ministration has talked about national service and apprenticeship.
One of the important issues if the Congress chooses to move for-

ward with those is to make sure they're not designed in a way that

they are only for people who have certain levels of skills but also
for people who are on food stamps and AFDC whom we want to

become self-sufficient. That may entail using some of the appren-
ticeship or youth service money to set up feeder programs that

bring those people's skills up to the level necessary to feed them
into the apprenticeship program.
What I fear we're going to do is have better-funded well-designed

apprenticeship programs for people who have already completed
high school and poorly designed food sta.xip employment and train-

ing and AFDC employment programs that don't do as much. That's

why we've got to fix the whole system together and design it in a

way that serves these kinds of people as well as others,
Mr. Emerson. Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Stenholm. Mr. Emerson.
Mr. Emerson. May I just interrupt to concur in what Mr. Green-

stein is saying. I think the E&T programs as presently constructed
are rather cosmetic, and he's right, it needs to be addressed in the

subject of comprehensive welfare reform. It's like so many things.
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We think we fix things by changing the perception, and it's nice to

say we have welfare, but what kind of results is it really getting?
We need to deal, I think, as we look to the future, far less with

fixing the perceptions and more fixing the reality.

Reverend JONES. I'd like to ask, because I got involved last year
in JTPA, has anybody here worked with that program directly?
Mr. Greenstein. There are people in our office who have. I per-

sonally have not.

Reverend JONES. I hear one side, which I call theory, then I hear
the realistic side, and I think what Representative Emerson just
said is true. We employed 11 JTPA participants last summer, and

they looked at it as a temporary job. To the participants, it was not

job training. They looked at it as a summertime job. Then when the
JTPA office still had program money left over in Oklahoma City,

they called and asked, "Would you take some JTPA participants for

September and October?" and we said yes.
I think if it's going to be a job training program, then it needs

to include a longer work period. The participants need to view it

as a program thejr're going to complete rather than, "Get these kids
off the street" or "earn a little spending money," it needs to be job
training. I agree 100 percent with Representative Emerson. It's got
to be job training, or you're just putting a Band-Aid on the real

problem. That's all we're doing. It needs to be job training.
Mr. Stenholm. I had an interesting visit fi-om an unemployment

personnel person when I was home in my district over the Easter
break that confirms everything that you have said and adds to it

concerning your suggestion that we deal with that in the reform

process, but start with those who are responsible for job training
under current programs. There's a lot of frustration out there right
now with the system. Part of it is the fault of the Congress. Fortu-

nately, not this committee in the area I heard about back home,
but we have not been as diligent in oversight and making certain
that the programs we create and the money that we appropriate
are going to do the things that they're supposed to.

You mentioned JTPA. That is a valid criticism. At least, you're
not the only one that has been telling me that. People who are

working within it are finistrated. That's why I asked the question,
Mr. Greenstein, and I concur with your answer.
The final point I would make, Mr. Rebstock, is that I like your

suggestion No. 4. We're going to try to build on that within this

subcommittee, getting some kind of a—I hate to use the word "tem-
porary' emergency task force, but that's the one that popped into

my niind right now, to take a look, as we get into the reform part
of this down the line, at using your resources on some kind of a
fairly permanent basis, at least for advice and consent to this com-
mittee. That's something that I'm very interested in. Certainly, in

my own case, I've got a lot to learn regarding the issues that we're
talking about today, which I'm more than ready to do.
We thank you for your testimony today. We appreciate your in-

dulgence of the lateness of the hour, but this was one of those days.
And I apologize for not being here all day myself. We do relatively
little for 3 months, and then all of a sudden everything happens
at once, it seems, around here. But thank you for your patience, for
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your attendance today, and, more than that, for what you do out
there.

Reverend Jones, you said it very, very well. As we look at reform,
as we look at everyone, we mustn't forget the children, and that's

something that I have gotten very interested in as I watch the

amount of money that we spend on the grandmothers and grand-
fathers versus the children. We've got some things out of balance.

I know as I talk to the grandmothers and grandfathers, they're just
as concerned about those grandchildren as you and I are, and
somehow we're missing that link right now. But hopefully we'll find

that link in some of our activities.

Reverend Jones. Just remember that I've never had a child com-

plain because I fed it. That encourages me.
Mr. Stenholm. Thank you.
Thank you all very much. This hearing is adjourned.

[Whereupon, at 6:35 p.m., the subcommittee adjourned, to recon-

vene, subject to the call of the Chair.]

[Material submitted for inclusion in the record follows:]
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COMMITTEE ON AGRICULTURE
SUBCOMMITTEE ON DEPARTMENT OPERATIONS AND NUTRITION

TESTIMONY ON H . R . 119 5

CONGRESSWOMAN JILL LONG
APRIL 28, 1993

Mr. Chairman, I appreciate the opportunity to testify today
during hearings on the Mickey Leland Childhood Hunger Relief Act.

As you know, I was a member of the Select Committee on Hunger and
have been very supportive of efforts to draw attention to the

hunger needs of those in our nation. One of the most important
programs for combatting hunger in our country is the Food Stamps
program. In an effort to improve the administration of this

program, I have introduced the Food Stamps Quality Control System
Amendments of 1993. This legislation currently has 48

cosponsors, nine of which are members of the Agriculture
Committee.

The Food Stamps Quality Control system is designed to
measure a state's performance in determining eligibility for Food

Stamp benefits. As many of my colleagues are aware, this system
has sometimes been the subject of contentious debate. Congress
took some steps to reform the QC system in the Hunger Prevention.
Act of 1988. Two years later, in the 1990 Farm Bill, Congress
eliminated Food Stamp error rate sanctions for Fiscal Years 1983-
85. And, earlier this year, 24 states and the District of
Columbia came to an agreement on over $300 million dollars in
error rate penalties due under this system for Fiscal Years 1986

through 1991.

No one is saying that there should not be a system of

quality control or that states with high error rates should not.
be making great efforts to improve the accuracy of their
programs. However, as is evidenced by the Congress' willingness
to waive sanctions, and the Food and Nutrition Service's
agreement to settle for 15 cents on the dollar in reinvestment,
the validity and integrity of the QC system has to be brought
into question. In addition, a 1987 National Academy of Sciences
study on the Food Stamps QC system questioned the statistical
validity of the system.

Improvements were made to the AFDC Quality Control program
in 1988. H.R. 1195 reforms much of the Food Stamps QC program to
be similar 'to the AFDC QC program. The objective of this
legislation is to ensure that the QC system sets reasonable
targets and establishes a reliable and fair system for measuring
state performance. Such reforms should also improve the
contentious relationship between the states and the Food and
Nutrition Services that has been perpetuated under the current
system.

While H.R. 1195 is technical and, therefore, some may.be
reluctant to address this issue, the problems for the states
under the current system are quite burdensome and are not going
to go away. If the integrity of the Food Stamps QC program is
not improved this year, the issue will continue to be raised in
the future. Particularly at a time when legislation that
increases funding for the Food Stamps program is being considered
I believe it is appropriate to implement a review system that is
fair, reasonable, and accurate. I hope that H.R. 1195 can be
included in the Mickey Leland Hunger Act. In this regard, I

would like to submit for the record a copy of a letter signed by
37 Members requesting that H.R. 1195 be included in Mickey
Leland.

(Attachment follows:)
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The Honorable E. (Kika) de la Garza
Chairman
Committee on Agriculture
1300 Longworth HOB
Washington, D.C. 20515

Dear Chairman de la Garza:

As the Subcommittee on Department Operations and Nutrition
considers legislation to reform the Pood Stamp program, we urge
the inclusion of the Food Stamps Quality Control System
Amendments of 1993, H.R. 1195, as part of the package.

As you know, the Quality Control (QC) program is designed to

measure a state's performance in determining eligibility for Pood

Stamp benefits. Unfortunately, the current system is based on
unreliable measures of state performance, is the source of

unnecessary conflicts between the Pood and Nutrition Service

(PNS) and the states, and has resulted in excessive error rate

penalties.

While Congress took some steps to reform the QC system when
the Hunger Prevention Act of 1988 was enacted, and further steps
when it eliminated Pood Stamp error rate sanctions for Piscal
Years 1983-85 in the 1990 Parm Bill, additional reforms are
needed. H.R. 1195 completes the process of reform by setting
reasonable targets and establishing a reliable and fair system
for measuring state performance.

We support the inclusion of the quality control system
2unendments as part of any appropriate legislation moving through
your Subcommittee in an effort to improve the states' ability to

deliver Food Stamp benefits to their low-income populations. The
recent unprecedented caseload growth in the Food Stamp program
further establishes the need for a reasonable and accurate QC

system. A streamlined, equitable, and statistically valid system
should enable states and PNS to surpass the current contentious

relationship and achieve a cooperative effort resulting in more
effective and efficient administration of the Pood Stamp program.

Prattwl on niT^dta Pip*



82

We look forward to working with you on this important issue.
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MR. STENHOLM, MEMBERS OF THE SUBCOMMITTEE, I AM PATRICIA TICER,

MAYOR OF ALEXANDRIA AND A MEMBER OF THE TASK FORCE ON HUNGER AND

HOMELESSNESS OF THE U.S. CONFERENCE OF MAYORS. I AM ESPECIALLY

PLEASED TO APPEAR BEFORE YOU AT THIS HEARING BECAUSE I BELIEVE THAT

THIS CAN FINALLY BE THE YEAR IN WHICH THE MICKEY LELAND CHILDHOOD

HUNGER RELIEF ACT BECOMES LAW, AND I WANT TO IMPRESS UPON YOU THE

COMMITMENT WHICH THE NATION'S MAYORS HAVE TO MAKING SURE THAT THIS

OCCURS.

IT WAS MORE THAN 1 YEARS AGO THATWE BEGAN SEEING THE PROBLEMS

OF HUNGER GROWING IN OUR CITIES. IT BEGAN WITH THE LONG LINES OF

PEOPLE WAITING FOR SURPLUS CHEESE AND THE PROLIFERATION OF SOUP

KITCHENSAND FOOD PANTRIES. EVER SINCE THEN THE CONFERENCE HAS BEEN

TRACKING THE PROBLEMS OF HUNGER IN OUR CITIES ON AN ANNUAL BASIS.

REQUESTS FOR EMERGENCY FOOD HAVE INCREASED EACH YEAR BETWEEN 1985

AND 1992 IN THE CITIES WE SURVEY BY AT LEAST 18 PERCENT AND BY AS MUCH

AS 28 PERCENT.

LET ME PROVIDE YOU NOW WITH SOME OF THE DETAILS OF OUR MOST

RECENT SURVEY -- WHICH EXAMINED THE STATUS OF HUNGER IN 29 CITIES IN

1992. FOR THOSE CITIES WE FOUND THAT:
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O REQUESTS FOR EMERGENCY FOOD ASSISTANCE INCREASED BY AN

AVERAGE OF 18 PERCENT.

o REQUESTS BY FAMILIES WITH CHILDREN INCREASED BY 14 PERCENT, AND

JUST OVER TWO OUT OF EVERY THREE PEOPLE REQUESTING EMERGENCY

FOOD ARE MEMBERS OF FAMILIES -- CHILDREN AND THEIR PARENTS.

O ON AVERAGE, 21 PERCENT OF THE REQUESTS FOR EMERGENCY FOOD

ASSISTANCE ARE ESTIMATED TO HAVE GONE UNMET. IN MORE THAN TWO

OUT OF THREE OF THE CITIES EMERGENCY FOOD ASSISTANCE FACILITIES

MAY HAVE TO TURN AWAY PEOPLE IN NEED BECAUSE OF L^CK OF

RESOURCES.

THE OVERALL LEVEL OF RESOURCES AVAILABLE TO EMERGENCY FOOD

ASSISTANCE FACILITIES INCREASED BY SIX PERCENT. FORTY-SIX PERCENT

OF THE CITIES REPORTED THAT EMERGENCY FOOD ASSISTANCE FACILITIES

ARE UNABLE TO PROVIDE ADEQUATE QUANTITIES OF FOOD; 70 PERCENT

SAID THAT THE FOOD PROVIDED IS NUTRITIONALLY BALANCED.

O IN 82 PERCENT OF THE CITIES EMERGENCY FOOD ASSISTANCE FACILITIES

WERE RELIED ON BY FAMILIES AND INDIVIDUALS BOTH IN EMERGENCIES

AND AS A STEADY SOURCE OF FOOD OVER LONG PERIODS OF TIME.
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UNEMPLOYMENTAND OTHER EMPLOYMENT-RELATED PROBLEMS LEAD THE

LIST OF CAUSES OF HUNGER. OTHER CAUSES FREQUENTLY IDENTIFIED BY

THE CITY OFFICIALS INCLUDE INADEQUATE PUBLIC ASSISTANCE BENEFIT

LEVELS, HOUSING COSTS, THE HIGH COST OF LIVING AND THE ECONOMY.

o NEARLY NINE OUT OF 10 OF THE CITIES EXPECT REQUESTS FOR

EMERGENCY FOOD TO INCREASE THIS YEAR.

o IMPROVING THE ECONOMY AND CREATING JOBS WERE IDENTIFIED MOST

FREQUENTLY AS THE MOST IMPORTANT THING THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT

COULD DO TO ELIMINATE HUNGER. IMPROVEMENTS IN AND INCREASED

FUNDING FOR THE FOOD STAMP PROGRAM AND INCREASED FUNDING FOR

WIC WERE ALSO CITED.

CLEARLY, HUNGER REMAINS A SERIOUS AND GROWING PROBLEM IN

AMERICA -- ONE WHICH WE HAVE THE ABILITY TO SOLVE. WE JUST HAVE NOT

DEMONSTRATED THE WILL. WE CAN BEGIN TO DEMONSTRATE THAT WILL BY

PASSING THE MICKEY LELAND ACT. WE UNDERSTAND THAT THIS SUBCOMMITTEE

WILL BE MARKING IT UP WITHIN A FEW WEEKS, AND WE APPLAUD YOUR RESOLVE.

THE LELAND ACT TAKES INTO ACCOUNT SOME OF THE ROOT CAUSES OF HUNGER

IN THIS COUNTRY INADEQUATE INCOMES AND HIGH SHELTER COSTS. IT ALSO

INCREASES THE BASIC BENEFIT LEVELS:
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O IT WOULD ALLOW FAMILIES TO DEDUCT HIGH SHELTER COSTS IN THE SAME

WAY THAT ELDERLY AND DISABLED HOUSEHOLDS DO AT PRESENT.

O IT WOULD ALLOW RELATIVES TO BE TREATED AS SEPARATE FOOD STAMP

HOUSEHOLDS IF THEY BUY AND COOK FOOD SEPARATELY.

O IT WOULD PREVENT THE FIRST $50 A MONTH PAID FOR CHILD SUPPORT

FROM BEING COUNTED AS INCOME IN DETERMINING FOOD STAMP

BENEFITS.

O IT WOULD EXCLUDE FROM LOW-INCOME HOUSEHOLDS' INCOME ANY

LEGALLY OBLIGATED CHILD SUPPORT PAYMENTS HOUSEHOLD MEMBERS

MAKE TO PEOPLE OUTSIDE THEIR HOUSEHOLD.

O IT WOULD INDEX THE CURRENT $4,500 LIMIT ON THE FAIR MARKET VALUE

OF VEHICLES THAT FOOD STAMP RECIPIENTS MAY OWN.

O FINALLY, IT WOULD RAISE FOOD STAMP BENEFITS TO A LEVEL MORE

CLOSELY REFLECTING THE ACTUAL CURRENT COST OF BUYING FOOD.

HALF OF ALL FOOD STAMP RECIPIENTS ARE CHILDREN. NINETY-TWO

PERCENT OF ALL FOOD STAMP HOUSEHOLDS HAVE GROSS INCOMES EQUAL TO
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OR LESS THAN THE POVERTY LEVEL THEY NEED MORE HELP. AND THE MICKEY

LELAND ACT CAN PROVIDE IT TO THEM.

BE ASSURED THAT THE U.S. CONFERENCE OF MAYORS STANDS READY TO

WORK WITH YOU TO MAKE SURE THAT THIS CRITICALLY NEEDED PIECE OF

LEGISLATION IS ENACTED INTO LAW.
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TESTIMONY OF ALAN MEYERS, MD,MPH
ASSISTANT PROFESSOR OF PEDIATRICS

BOSTON UNIVERSITY SCHOOL OF MEDICINE/BOSTON CITY HOSPITAL
before the

HOUSE AGRICULTURE SUBCOMMITTEE
ON DEPARTMENT OPERATIONS AND NUTRITION

April 28, 1993

Congressman Stenholm and distinguished colleagues: My name

is Alan Meyers. I am a faculty member of the Boston University

School of Medicine and a practicing general pediatrician at

Boston City Hospital. I spend roughly half my time seeing

patients, children and their families almost all of whom have low

incomes. I have cared for a number of undernourished children as

a member of the Failure to Thrive team at our hospital. I devote

the rest of my time to teaching and to research, most of which

involves varied aspects of public health nutrition in children.

I greatly appreciate the opportunity the Committee has granted me

to share with you some of our knowledge regarding the effects of

hunger and undernutrition on the children of the United States.

Some of what I would like to discuss today is discussed in a

report being released today by the National Health Education

Consortium, entitled Eat to Learn, Learn to Eat: The Link Between

Nutrition and Learning in Children. The consortium is being

represented today by Judy Ressallat, Washington liason for the

National Association of School Nurses. My colleague Dr. Barbara

Boardman and I assisted in preparing this report, which I believe

provides an important context in which to view the significance

of the Mickey Leland Childhood Hunger Relief Act.
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Although they are intimately related, the terms hunger and

undernutrition should not be used interchangeably, and their

prevalence and effects should be considered separately. Hunger

refers to a physiologic state which is immediately reversible by

eating, while undernutrition connotes a pathological state caused

by a chronic lack of sufficient absorbed nutrients to meet the

body's needs for optimal growth, repair, and function.

Undernutrition develops over prolonged periods of time and

generally requires sustained rehabilitation, which may not always

restore the individual to optimal health and function.

Hunger, even in the well-nourished child, can adversely

affect the child's cognitive performance. Studies by Dr. Ernesto

Pollitt and others, utilizing controlled experimental settings,

have shown that children who miss a meal and are in the fasting

state perform more poorly on school-related tasks than they do

after they have eaten. ^"^ Our own research in Massachusetts

suggests that low-income children who participated in the School

Breakfast Program performed better on standardized achievement

tests than before the Program was available.^

Of course, hunger is a natural state experienced by

everyone, by which the body signals its need for food. The

hunger with which we are concerned is that which is recurrent and

cannot be satisfied due to inadequate household resources. The

hungry child may be listless, irritable, unable to concentrate,

and easily frustrated. The prevalence of such hunger is

difficult to measure, but as the Committee is surely aware, an
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instrument has been developed and applied around the country by

the Community Childhood Hunger Identification Project (CCHIP) . A

CCHIP survey conducted in Massachusetts in 1991 found that 4 3% of

families who were receiving Food Stamps were experiencing

hunger.^ These results are not surprising to health care

providers working with poor families, who regularly report that

their monthly Food Stamp allottment runs out by the third week.

Furthermore, economic analyses have shown that, even with maximal

participation in food assistance programs. Food Stamps, the

Special Supplemental Food Program for Women, Infants, and

Children (WIC) , and school meals cover only one-third to two-

thirds of food costs for poor families in Boston,' and many

families do not receive maximal benefits.

CCHIP data reflect a condition - hunger - which, if

persistent, may lead to pathological states of undernutrition of

varying degrees. As such, these data might be viewed as an early

warning, since by the time measureable signs of undernutrition

appear, the child has been inadequately nourished for a prolonged

period. The National Center for Health Statistics has adopted

some of the CCHIP questions on its Third Health and Nutrition

Examination Survey (NHANES III) .

Undernutrition also impacts on the learning ability of the

affected children. A large body of scientific literature

documents the adverse effect of severe, acute undernutrition on

the developing brain of the young child. This damage can be seen

in reduced brain growth, altered microscopic brain anatomy, and
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reduced intelligence scores in later life. While nutritional and

environmental rehabilitation can restore much of the child's

potential, there is probably some degree of permanent loss even

with optimal rehabilitation. °"^*

We do see some children with moderate-to-severe acute

undernutrition. Fortunately, although we do not have reliable

data on the prevalence of this condition, this is not the face of

undernutrition which confronts us as a public health problem in

the United States. Rather, it might be considered the tip of an

iceberg, the largest portion of which is mild-to-moderate

undernutrition among low-income children, manifested primarily as

poor growth rates and iron deficiency. The growth of young

children is the single best measure of the nutritional status of

a community,
^^ and those who do not take in enough nutrients to

support optimal growth will not achieve their full genetic

potential for height. In several studies, this short stature, a

measure of poor growth, has been associated with poorer perfor-

mance on tests of cognitive function, ^^"^°
although a cause-and-

effect relationship is extremely difficult to prove in humans.

It should concern us all that an excess of short stature

among low-income children has been demonstrated in every national

nutrition survey yet undertaken, and continues to be demonstrated

by the Pediatric Nutrition Surveillance System of the Centers for

Disease Control and Prevention. ^^ The cause of this poor growth

is most likely a higher prevalence of inadequate intake of food

energy among low-income children. Dietary intake data from the
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U.S. Department of Agriculture support this interpretation.^^

Also of concern is the vitamin-mineral nutritional status of

low-income children, especially with regard to iron. Iron

deficiency, with or without anemia, affects development and

cognitive function at all ages throughout childhood. Iron-

deficient infants have lower developmental scores than do

comparable iron-replete infants; iron-deficient school children

have lower achievement test scores than comparable iron-replete

children. ^^"^^ Of great concern, some recent studies have

suggested that these cognitive deficits may not be completely

reversible with iron therapy. ^^'^' Data from the second National

Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES II) show that

low-income young children have a three-to-fourfold higher

prevalence of iron deficiency.^® CDC data show an ongoing

prevalence of anemia of 20-30% among low-income young children. ^^

This is consistent with data we have collected in our Primary

Care Clinic at Boston City Hospital. It should be noted that

iron deficiency is technically easier to measure, and is

therefore better studied, than deficiencies of most other

micronutrients. Thus, other types of vitamin and mineral

deficiencies may also be prevalent among low-income children.

The best defense against such deficiencies is a well-balanced

diet with sufficient calories for optimal growth.

Mr. Chairman, in view of these facts, and others which have

been detailed in the National Health Education Consortium report,

the legislation currently being considered by this Subcommittee
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is surely one of the most important with regard to the

nutritional status of the most vulnerable segment of the child

population of the United States, In testimony before the Select

Committee on Hunger in 1985, the late Dr. Jean Mayer, a

nutritionist of international stature, stated that the Food Stamp

Program "has to be considered as the first line of defense

against malnutrition of children... the Food Stamp Program, 50

percent of the recipients of which are children, feeds them day

in and day out." While we do not entirely understand why some

children living in poverty become undernourished while others do

not, I have no doubt that great numbers of poor families are

forced to live constantly on the edge of hunger by the

unremitting economic pressures of supporting a family with

inadequate income. In our research at Boston City Hospital,

along with Dr. Deborah Frank and other colleagues, we have found

that more low-income children are underweight in the cold winter

months than during the rest of the year, which may well be due to

their parents having to make the choice "to heat rather than to

eat."^' These data recall studies of Dr. Robert Karp and

colleagues, who showed that the sharp increase in food costs

between 1972 and 1975 was associated with an increased prevalence

of iron-deficiency anemia among low-income early school-age

children in Philadelphia as family food purchases shifted away

from the more expensive iron-rich foods. ^° In separate studies

at Boston City Hospital, we have found that poor children whose

families are on the waiting list for subsidized housing are more
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likely to be iron deficient^^ and to have poor growth^^ than are

comparable children whose families do receive housing subsidies.

This should not be surprising, given that in 1992, the maximum

AFDC grant provided to a family of three with no other income in

metropolitan Boston was $539/month, while HUD-determined fair-

market rent for a two-bedroom apartment in this area was $855; in

1986, 63% of Boston AFDC recipients spent over 75% of their grant

on rent.^^ It is of particular importance, therefore, that the

legislation being considered by your Subcommittee removes the cap

on the deduction of high shelter costs from the income level

which determines Food Stamp Program eligibility and benefits.

In summary, then, a large number of low- income children in

the United States are hungry and many suffer some degree of

undernutrition, which is of sufficient degree to affect their

ability to develop and learn to their fullest potential. The

finances of many families are so marginal that the additional

stress of a cold winter, a rent increase, or rising food costs

may tip them into dietary inadequacy. For low-income children in

the United States, the Food Stamp Program represents their major

defense against hunger and undernutrition. However, at current

eligibility and benefit levels the Program cannot meet the

nutritional needs of the low-income family; to the extent that

its provisions will be made more ample, we should expect a

corresponding improvement in the nutritional status of some of

our most vulnerable citizens, poor children, and a decrease in

the number of children who suffer from hunger, undernutrition.
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and associated learning problems. I thank you for this

opportunity to testify.
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Executive Summary

Eal to Leun. Loin lo Eat

The quality of nutrition in childhood— and even before birth—
affects children's ability to leam and function in later life. With

that in mind, it is particularly alarming that hunger arvl poor
nutrition are on the rise in the United States. Whatever the exact

cause of these trends among children, the consequences can be

serious.

Studies have demonstrated a lii\k between poor nutrition and

learning in children, leading researchers to report that well-fed

children leam better than poorly fed childreiv Furthermore, stud-

ies indicate that children's eating habits aiKl attitudes about food

develop eariy and last a lifetime.

Many public and private programs are in place that address

children's nutrition and nutrition education. Examples of public
initiatives include the National School Lunch Program, the

School Breakfast Program, the Food Stamp Program, the Special

Supplemental Food Program for Women, Infants and Children

(WIC), the Child and Adult Care Food Program, the Summer
Food Service Program for Children and the Nutrition Education

and Training (NET) Program. Several have demonstrated signifi-

cant, positive effects on the nutritional status of children and their

ability to leam in school. However, under-ftmding, red iape aiui

misconceptions about these programs have limited their reach

and potential.

In order to ensure that the nation's children grow up healthy and

ready to leam, it is imperative that steps be taken to build on the

infrastructure of child nutrition programs. No single agency, or-

gaiuzation, school adq^unistrator, health professional or parent
can— or should— singlehandedly, accomplish this goal Success

depends on the ability of these diverse groups, all of whom share,

a stake in children as America's futxire, to collaborate, cooperate
and combine resources and expertise. Action areas iiKlude:

•
Increasing funding for and expanding child nutrition pro-

grams with proven effectiveness such as WIC, Food

Stamps, National School Lunch, School Breakfast, Sum-
mer Food Service, Child and Adult CareFoodand theNET
programs.

• Reducing the red tape and admiiustrative requirements
for the School Breakfast and LuiKh Programs and eventu-

ally implementing a Universal School Breakfast and
Lunch Program.

• Expanding and enhancing child nutrition education initia-

tives.

National Health/Education Consortiuni

April 1993
Pagev



107

Ell 10 Lcun. Leant lo EjI

• Promoting theinterconnectednessof children'shealthand

ability to learn in school so that policies and progrants in

these areas work with one another.

• Encouraging the development of innovative nutrition

programs that involve children, families, educators, dieti-

tians and others working at the community level.

It is our hope that this report will help raise awareness and spur
movement in the area of children's nutritior\. It is in all of our

interests that the nation's youth have the opportunities and re-

sources they need to eat to leam and leam to eat.

Page vi National Health/Education Consortiiiin
"

April 1993
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Introduction

Eal lo Learn, Leam to Eal

Children of all socioeconomic levels are at-risk for poor nutrition.

Some children do not get enough to eat each day because their

fanulies lack money to buy sufficient amounts of food. Other
children cor\sume enough (or too much) food, but have diets high
in fat, sugar and sodium that put them at risk for beconung
overv^eight or developing heart disease and other chronic ill-

nesses. Furthermore, as the number of parents in the workforce

increases, more and more children are being left to fend for

themselves for meals and snacks.

Hunger* and poor nutrition in America are on the rise (see box,

page 2). One key reason is an increase in the number of families

living in or near poverty. In 1990, more than 11 million children—
18 percent

— lived in households with incomes below the pov-
erty level ($12,675 for a family of four in 1990) compared to 16

percent in 1980. This represents tui increase of 14 percent over the

decade, a rise that cuts across racial and ethnic groups.' Mean-
while, recent surveys by the U.S. Conference of Mayors and the

Food Research and Action Center's (FRAC) Commuiuty Child-

hood Hunger Identification Project have identified an increasing
incidence of hunger among children and families in the United

States.

Whatever the exact cause of poor nutrition or hunger among
children, the consequences can be serious. In addition to physical

problems, studies have uncovered a link between nutrition and

learning in children indicating that well-fed children leam better

than poorly nourished children. Researchers also know that chil-

dren's eating habits cind attitudes about food develop early and
can last a lifetime. In light of this information, tmyone who cares

about children's health or education should care about their nu-

tritional status. In February 1990, President Bush and the Gover-

nors established National Education Goals. The first goal states

that, by the year 2000, "all children in America vitII start school

ready to leam." To achieve this ctmbitious objective, action is

required on several fronts. Nutrition is one.

This report reviews some of what is known about the link be-

tween nutrition and learning in children and between nutrition

education and eating habits. It describes several public and pri-

Hunger has been defined as the "physiological and psychological state

resulting from insufficient food intake to meet immediate energy needs."

(Meyers, A., Sampsoa A., Weitzman, M. "Nutrition and Academic

Performance in School Children." Clinics i« Applied Nutrition, 1(2), April
1991. p. 13).

National Health/Education Consortium
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vate initiatives underway to address children's nutritional status

and examines their effectiveness and deficits. Finally, it offers

action steps that government, school staff, health professionals
and parents can take to ensure that children are well-educated
about good nutrition and well-fed. There is no quick fix for poor
nutrition among children in the United States. Nevertheless, pro-

gress can be made if this tuition commits itself to providing
children with the resources they need to eat to leam and learn to

eat.

How Big a Problem is Poor Nutrition in America?

Each year, the US. Conference of Mayors conducts a survey on hunger and homelessness in

more than two dozen cities across the country. The 1 992 survey found that, during the previous

year, overall requests for emergency food assistance increased by an average of 1 8 percentfrom
1991. The number of requests from families with children rose by 14 percent. However, a full

21 percent of the requests for emergency food assistance are estimated to have gone unmet.^

A survey conducted by the Food Research and Action Center's (FRAC) CommunityChildhood

Hunger Identification Project and released in 1991 found that 1 out of every 8 children under

age 12 living in the United States is hungry. In addition, the survey found that approximately
6 million more children are at-risk of hunger because their families are experiencing food

shortage problems. Taken together, approximately one out of every four children under age
12 in the United States lives in a family that has experienced at least one food shortage problem-
in the past twelve months.'

Strong evidence exists that nutrition-related disorders and health conditions related to poor
nutritional status are greater among low-income households than among the rest of the

population. Lack of funds to buy sufficient amounts of food is the main reason for their poor
nutritional status.* According to the US. Department of Health andHuman Services' "Healthy
Children 2000," growth retardation in preschool children may especially reflect the adequacy
of a child's diet. Low-income children experience growth retardation at as much as three times

the rate of their non-poor peers. They are also more likely to suffer from iron deficiency, which

can adversely affect growth and development.

According to one study on breakfast consumption patten« for 10 year-olds, a full 16 percent
of all children skipped breakfast. They never compensated for it later in the day and, conse-

quently, had lower daily nutrient intakes than those who did have breakfast.*

Between 1984 cmd 1991 there vras a 42 percent increase (from 24 percent to 34 percent) in the

number of children ages 3 through 17 who were considered overweight.* Not only can being

overweight cause children to have low self-esteem and related problems, but new research

shows that being overweight during the teenage years can lead to life-threatening chronic

diseases such as heart disease in adulthood, even if the youngster ultimately loses the excess

weight.

Page 2 National Health/EducaHon Consoiiium

April 1993

(The complete report Is held in the committee files.)
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INTRODUCTION

I wish to thank the sub-committee for inviting me to testify

on H.R. 529, the "Mickey Leland Childhood Hunger Relief Act". H.R.

529 proposes the latest in an endless series of expansions of the

welfare state. But the U.S. welfare system has failed. Both the

public and decision makers increasingly recognize that the current

welfare system has harmed rather than helped the poor. Welfare has

undermined the American family and promoted long term dependency.

President Clinton has declared his intention to "end welfare

as we currently know it". But far from ending welfare as we know

it, this bill dramatically expands it. It is deeply distressing to

those interested in serious welfare reform that despite his reform

rhetoric, the President's proposed budget has little funding for

implementing welfare reform while containing billions for

expansions of old fashioned welfare programs.

H.R. 529 will not help poor American children. Poor children

do not need more conventional welfare spending. We are now

spending five times as much on means-tested welfare as when the War

on Poverty began, after adjusting for inflation. If welfare

spending were an answer to the problems of the poor in the inner

city and elsewhere, we would have solved these problems long ago.
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American children don't need more welfare spending. They need

stable families and fathers. They need to be able to play in their

neighborhoods without getting shot. They need a decent education

which, despite massive spending, the public school monopoly is

unable to provide. H.R. 529 will not solve any of these real

problems; in fact it will make most of them worse.

OVERVIEW

Let me begin a few basic facts.

1) The level of welfare spending in the United States is enormous

and growing rapidly. In 1990, the latest year for which complete

data are available, welfare spending reached a record high of $226

billion, or 4.1 percent of GNP. This figure excludes programs for

the middle class like Social Security. Contrary to political

claims, welfare spending increased during the 1980s after adjusting

for inflation. Nor was the recent increase restricted to medical

aid; in constant dollars, means-tested cash, food, and housing aid

also increased more rapidly than the growth in the population.

2) Total welfare spending is more than sufficient to raise the

incomes of all persons defined as poor by the Census above the

poverty income levels. Part of the $226 billion in welfare

spending does go to persons in nursing homes and other institutions

who are not included in the annual Census population and poverty
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count. However, $184 billion was spent on the general non-

institutional population in 1990. This sum was roughly two and a

half times the amount needed to eliminate poverty. Welfare cash,

food, and housing aid alone were more than enough to eliminate

poverty.

3) There is little poverty-induced malnutrition in the U.S.; the

material living standards of poor Americans are far higher than is

generally understood. Today the fifth of the population with the

lowest incomes has a level of economic consumption higher that of

the median American family in 1960. There is little or no poverty-

induced malnutrition in the U.S. Persons defined by the U.S.

government as "poor" have almost the same average level of

consumption of protein, vitamins, and other nutrients as persons in

the upper middle class. ^ Children living in "poverty" today, far

from being malnourished, are actually super-nourished by any

conceivable historic or biological standard. Poor children today

will actually grow up to be one inch taller and ten pounds heavier

than the GI's who stormed the beaches of Normandy in World War 11.^

In reality, the principal nutrition-related problem facing poor

persons in the U.S. today is not "hunger" but obesity; the poor

have a higher rate of obesity than do members of other

socioeconomic groups in the U.S. (For further information about

poverty and malnutrition please refer to the accompanying article

I have submitted to Committee, "Food Fight: How Hungry Are

America's Children?")
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similarly, the claim that poor Americans are badly housed is

untrue. Nearly all of America's poor live in decent housing that

is well-maintained. In fact, "poor" Americans have more housing

space and are less likely to be overcrowded than is the average

citizen in Western Europe.'

4) The War on Poverty did not succeed. While there may be little

material poverty, this does not mean that the War on Poverty was a

success. The recent expansion of the welfare state has not really

raised the incomes of less affluent Americans. Instead it has

largely replaced work with dependence. And by undermining family

structure, welfare has greatly contributed to the increase in

single mothers who have difficulties supporting their families.

5) The real problem in low income communities is behavioral

poverty not a shortage of welfare benefits. "Behavioral poverty"

refers to a breakdown in the values and conduct that lead to the

formation of healthy families, stable personalities, and promote

self sufficiency. Behavioral poverty is a cluster of social

pathologies including: dependency and eroded work ethic, lack of

educational aspiration and achievement, inability or unwillingness

to control one's children, increased single parenthood and

illegitimacy, criminal activity, and drug and alcohol abuse. While

there may be little material poverty in the United States,

behavioral poverty is abundant and growing. For example, the black

illegitimacy rate was around 25 percent when the War on Poverty
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began; today two out of three black children are born out of

wedlock. A similar increase is occurring among low income whites.

Likewise, crime and dependency rates exploded as welfare spending

increased.

6) The central dilemma of the welfare state is that nearly all of

the cash, food, housing, and medical programs designed to alleviate

material poverty have the harmful side effect of increasing

behavioral poverty. Welfare fosters dependency and family

disintegration. The erosion of the work ethic and family structure

in turn demolishes the real life prospects of low income Americans,

greatly contributing to crime, school failure, and other problems.

7) The Leland Hunger Relief Act will actually harm rather than help

the poor. By expanding conventional welfare benefits the bill will

make most social problems worse. H.R. 529 will cause an increase

in: single parent families; welfare dependence; school failure;

and crime.

8) We should reform welfare rather than expand benefits. What is

needed is a dramatic overhaul of the welfare system with the aim of

promoting work and marriage and discouraging single parenthood and

dependence. A good place to begin welfare reform would be to

establish firm work requirements for many non-elderly Food Stamp

recipients; this would dramatically reduce dependency and save the

taxpayers billions.
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THE GROWTH OF THE WELFARE STATE

Discussions of welfare are often distorted by talking about

one or two government programs as if they existed in isolation. It

is easier to call for expanding a given anti-poverty program if you

ignore the existence of dozens of related programs aiding the poor.

But the effects of welfare can only be understood by examining the

welfare system in its entirety. In reality the federal government

runs over 75 means-tested welfare programs. These programs provide

cash, food, housing, energy aid, medical aid, training, and social

services to poor and low income Americans.

In 1990 federal, state, and local governments together spent

$226 billion on assistance programs for low-income persons and

communities. This figure includes only spending on programs for

the poor and low income persons emd excludes general entitlement

programs such as Social Security and Medicare for the middle class.

Adjusting for inflation, total welfare spending in 1990 was five

times the level of welfare spending in the mid-1960s when the War

on Poverty began. Total mean-tested welfare spending now equals

about 4 percent of GNP, up from a little over 1 percent in the nid-

sixties. As a percent of GNP welfare spending is now at roughly

the sane rate as existed in the Great Depression when a quarter of

the labor force was unemployed.
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Over 25 years have passed since President Lyndon Johnson

launched his "Unconditional War on Poverty." Johnson declared that

this war was to be a great "investment" which would return its cost

to society manyfold. Total welfare spending since the onset of the

War on Poverty has aunounted to $3.5 trillion in constant 1990

dollars — more than the full cost of World War II after adjusting

for inflation. From another perspective, the average American

household has already paid around $50,000 in taxes in fighting the

War on Poverty. Before we expand welfare spending even more, as

H.R 529 proposes, I think the taxpayers are justified in asking

what return they have gotten on their current "investment."

UNDERSTANDING THE TWO TYPES OF POVERTY

Concern over the enormous cost of welfare is legitimate. But

for the general public the problem with welfare is not merely its

cost but rather the perception that welfare has harmed rather than

helped the poor. In order to analyze this perception, it is

important to begin with an understanding of two separate concepts

of poverty: "material poverty" and "behavioral poverty". Material

poverty means, in the simplest sense, having a family income below

the official poverty income threshold, which was $12,675 for a

family of four in 1991. To the average man on the street, to say

someone is poor implies that he is malnourished, poorly clothed,

and lives in filthy, dilapidated and overcrowded housing. In

reality there is little material poverty in the U.S. in the sense
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generally understood by the public*

"Behavioral poverty", by contrast, refers to a breakdown in

the values and conduct which lead to the formation of healthy

families, stable personalities and self-sufficiency. As noted,

behavioral poverty incorporates a cluster of social pathologies

including: eroded work ethic and dependency, lack of educational

aspiration and achievement, ineibility or unwillingness to control

one's children, increased single parenthood and illegitimacy,

criminal activity, and drug and alcohol eJsuse. While material

poverty may be rare in the United States, behavioral poverty is

abundant and growing.

The present welfare system is designed almost exclusively to

raise the material living standards of less affluent Americans.

The key dilemma of the welfare state is that the prolific spending

intended to alleviate material poverty has led to a dramatic

increase in "behavioral poverty". The War on Poverty may have

raised the material standard of living of some Americans, but at a

cost of creating whole communities where traditional two parent

families have vanished, work is rare or non-existent, and multiple

generations have grown up dependent on government transfers.

The onset of the "War on Poverty" directly coincided with the

disintegration of the low-income family — and the black family in

particular. At the outset of the Second World War, the black

8
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illegitimate birth rate was slightly less than 19 percent. Between

1955 and 1965 it rose slowly, from 22 percent in 1955 to 28 percent

in 1965. Beginning in the late 1960s, however, the relatively slow

growth in black illegitimate births skyrocketed — reaching 49

percent in 1975 and 65 percent in 1989. If current trends

continue, the black illegitimate birth rate will reach 75 percent

in ten years.' Similar increases are occurring among low income

whites.

Dependence has also increased enormously. Currently, one

child in eight in the United States receives aid from the Aid to

Families with Dependent Children (AFDC) program. Some 22 percent

of U.S. children bom in the early 1970 's received AFDC for at

least one year before reaching their 15th birthday. For black

children born in the early 1970 's, 55 percent received AFDC for

some portion of their childhood before reaching age 15.^

RIOH WELFARE BENEFITS 0MDERMIME FAMILY 8TR0CTURE

The central feature of H.R. 529 is to increase the monthly

value of Food Stamp benefits. But research indicates that higher

welfare benefits lead to increases in out of wedlock births, single

parenthood and dependence. Increases in single parent families and

dependence in turn lead to increases in school failure and crime.

The National Longitudinal Survey of Youth (NLSY) provides the
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best current data base for analyzing the effects of welfare on

behavior. In 1979, the NLSY established a large sample of young

women (aged 14 to 19) and then tracked the behavior of these women

over the next decade. Using the NLSY data, Dr. June O'Neill of

Baruch College in New York City, found the dollar value of monthly

welfare benefits in a state has a dramatic affect on whether women

will have children out of wedlock. Holding constant a wide range of

other variables such as income, parental education, and urban and

neighborhood setting, O'Neill found that a fifty percent increase

in the monthly value of AFDC and Food Stamp benefits led to a 43

percent increase in the number of out of wedlock births over the

study period. These findings on the effects of welfare benefits

in increasing out of wedlock births closely match recent research

by Shelley Lundberg and Robert D. Plotnick of the University of

Washington.^ Similarly, high benefits discourage single mothers

from remarrying. Research by Dr. Robert Hutchens of Cornell

University shows that a 10 percent increase in AFDC benefits in a

state will cause a decrease in the marriage rate of all single

mothers in the state by 8 percent.

The collapse of family structure in turn has crippling effects

on the health, emotional stability, educational achievements and

life prospects of low income children. Children raised in single

parent families, when compared to those in intact feunilies, are one

third more likely to exhibit behavioral problems such as

hyperactivity, antisocial behavior, and anxiety. In regard to more

10
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extreme disorders, children deprived of a two parent home are two

to three times more likely to need psychiatric care than those in

two parent families.' And they are more likely to commit suicide

as teenagers.

Because the father plays a key role in a child's cognitive

development, children in single parent families score lower on IQ

tests and other tests of aptitude and achievement.' Children in

single parent families are three times as likely to fail and repeat

a year in grade school than are children in two parent families.

In all respects, the differences between children raised by single

parents and those raised in intact homes are profound, and such

differences persist even when single parent homes are compared to

two parent homes of exactly the same income level and educational

standing.^"

Family disintegration is a major contributing factor in

America's soaring crime problem. A father plays a vital role in

disciplining a young man and building his moral character. Boys

raised without fathers are much more likely to become involved in

criminal activity. For example, holding family income,

neighborhood, parental education, and other variables constant,

young black men from single parent homes are twice as likely to

commit crimes and end up in jail when compared to similar young men

raised in low income families where the father is present.^

11
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But the greatest tragedy is that family instability and its

attendant problems are passed on to future generations. Children

from single parent homes are far less likely to establish a stable

married life when they in turn become adults. White women raised

in single parent families are 164 percent more likely to bear

children out of wedlock themselves; 111 percent more likely to have

children as teenagers. If these women do marry, their marriages

are 92 percent more likely to end in divorce than are the marriages

of women raised in two parent families. Similar trends are found

among black women. ^^

HIGHER WELFARE BENEFITS INCREASE DEPENDENCE

The O'Neill study also found that higher welfare benefits

increased the number of women who left the labor force and enrolled

in welfare. A 50 percent increase in monthly AFDC and Food Stamp

benefit levels led to a 75 percent increase both in the number of

women enrolling in AFDC and in the number of years spent on AFDC.

In other words increases in benefits' value will cause dramatic

expansion in welfare caseloads."

These findings on the effect of higher welfare benefits in

reducing work effort are confirmed by a series of controlled

experiments conducted by Office of Economic Opportunity (OEO) in

the mid-seventies. The longest running and most comprehensive of

these experiments was conducted between 1971 and 1978 in Seattle

12
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and Denver, and became known as the Seattle/D«nver Income

Maintenance Experiment, or "SIME/DIME." The SIME/DIME experiments

found that increasing welfare benefits had a dramatic negative

effect on labor force participation and earnings. Indeed, the

SIME/DIME experiment found that every $1.00 of extra welfare given

to low income persons reduced labor and earnings by $0.80.'* The

results of the SIME/DIME study are directly applicable to existing

welfare programs: nearly all have strong anti-work effect like

those demonstrated in the SINE/DIME experiment.

Thus higher welfare benefits decrease work effort and increase

welfare dependence. But increased dependence, in turn, has strong

negative effects on children's intellectual abilities and life

prospects. Holding constant a wide range of factors such as

fanily incone, parental education and residence in a slum

neighborhood, long term welfare dependence by a family reduces a

child's intellectual ability by over one third compared to nearly

identical children in low income feunilies that were not on

welfare.'' Not surprisingly, research shows that young women

raised in families dependent on welfare are two to three times less

likely to graduate from high school than are young women of similar

socio-economic background not raised on welfare. '^

Finally, dependence on welfare also appears to spread from one

generation to another. Children raised in families that receive

welfare assistance are themselves three times more likely than

13
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other children to be on welfare when they become adults J^ This

inter-generational dependency is a clear indication that the

welfare system is failing in its goal to lift the poor from poverty

to self-sufficiency.

WHY WELFARE DNDERNIMES WORK AND MARRIAGE

Although it seems clear that the current welfare system

undermines work and marriage, it useful to understand why this is

so. Current welfare may best be conceptualized as a system which

offers each single mother a "paycheck" worth an average of between

$8,500 and $15,000, depending on the state. ^' The mother has a

contract with the government: She will continue to receive her

"paycheck" as long as she fulfills two conditions:

1) she must not work; and

2) she must not marry an employed male. 19

The current welfare system has made marriage economically

irrational for most low-income parents. Welfare has converted the

low-income working husband from a necessary breadwinner into a net

financial handicap. It has transformed marriage from a legal

institution designed to protect and nurture children into an

institution which financially penalizes nearly all low-income

parents who practice it.

14
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Welfare establishes strong financial disincentives to marry,

effectively blocking the formation of intact, two-parent families.

Example: Suppose a young man in the inner-city has fathered a child

out of wedlock with his girlfriend. If this young father abandons

his responsibilities to the mother and child, government will step

in and support the mother and child with welfare. If the mother

has a second child out of wedlock, as is common, average combined

benefits will reach around $13,000 per year.

If, on the other hand, the young man does what society

believes is morally correct (i.e., marries the mother and takes a

job to support the family) , government policy takes the opposite

course. Welfare benefits would be almost completely eliminated. If

the young father makes more than $4.50 per hour, the federal

government actually begins taking away his income through taxes.

The federal welfare reform act of 1988 permits the young father to

narry the mother and join the mother and child to receive welfare,

but only as long as he does not work. Once he takes a full-time

job to support his family, the welfare benefits are quickly

eliminated and the father's earnings are subject to taxation.

The economic logic of welfare is simple and cruel. If a

mother and father do not marry their joint income equals: welfare

for the mother plus the father's earnings." If they do marry

their joint income equals the father's earnings alone. Another way

of expressing this dilemma is that the welfare system imposes an

15
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extraordinarily high marginal tax rate (i.e. income loss rate) on

the act of marriage. If a man earning $10,000 per year marries a

mother on welfare, their joint income (including the value of the

welfare benefit) will fall by some 50 percent. If a man earning

$20,000 marries a mother on welfare, the couple's joint income will

fall some 3 percent.

A simple approach to welfare reform would appear to be to

allow the welfare mother to retain all or most of her benefits when

she goes to work or gets married. While this approach at first

seems plausible, in reality it would result in nearly all low

income families receiving welfare. (For example, it would create

a strong incentive for a low income couple to divorce, put the

mother on welfare, and then remarry — or to postpone marriage

until after a mother was enrolled on welfare.) The cost would be

enormous. Real reform will need to be tougher and more complex.

PRINCIPLES OF REAL REFORM

Welfare is currently a check in the mail with no obligations.

This is wrong. Instead, welfare should be based on the principle

of reciprocal responsibility: society will provide assistance, but

able-bodied recipients will be expected to contribute something to

society in exchange for the benefits they receive. The Apostle

Paul set forth the foundation of sound welfare nearly two thousand

years ago. In laying the ground rules for charity in the early

16
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Christian church, he stated simply "He who shall not work, shall

not eat .
"

Society should provide aid to those in need. But, as Paul

understood, aid which is merely a one way handout is harmful to

both society and the recipient. Such aid undermines the

individual's ability to take responsibility for his or her own

life. If the habit of dependence becomes entrenched, it limits the

individual's capability to become a fully functioning member of

mainstream society.

TOWARDS COMPREHENSIVE WELFARE REFORM

A second, related goal of welfare reform must be to change the

welfare incentive structure. The current incentives for non-work

and non-marriage must be drastically reduced. At the same time the

rewards to those who work or get married must be increased.

Comprehensive reform would have 5 parts:

1) Reduce Welfare Benefits The higher the value of a

combined monthly welfare benefits the greater the increase in out-

of-wedlock births and dependence. Thus H.R. 529, by raising

benefit levels, will have completely counter-productive effects.

Rather than increasing benefits, the combined welfare benefits for

families on AFDC should be reduced. This is particularly necessary

17
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in states with high benefits levels. AFDC recipients are eligible

for benefits from nearly one dozen major welfare programs. In

roughly half the states, the combined value of benefits received by

the average AFDC family very much exceeds the federal poverty

income threshold.

2 )
Establish Work Requirements in the AFDC Program. Within

the AFDC program, mothers who do not have children under age five

or who have received AFDC for over five years should be recjuired to

perform community service for at least 35 hours per week in

exchange for benefits. In all two parent families receiving AFDC,

one parent would be required to work. The work requirements should

be permanent, lasting as long a the family receives benefits.

The effect of such a work requirement in encouraging welfare

recipients to leave welfare and obtain private sector employment is

clear. Equally important but less obvious is the fact that a work

requirement also eliminates most of the anti-marriage incentives of

the current welfare system. Under the current welfare system, when

a single mother marries a fully employed male she loses most of her

welfare benefits. Under a welfare system with a work requirement,

a single mother would still lose her benefits upon marrying — but

she would now be losing benefits which she had to earn rather than

a free income, so the loss would be far less significant. As long

as the mother could obtain a private sector job which paid roughly

as much as welfare, then marriage would no longer impose a

significant financial or personal cost on the mother or her

prospective spouse. Indeed, if required to work for welfare
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benefits, some welfare mothers would prefer to marry and be

supported by a husband's income rather than enter the labor force.

By converting welfare from free income to income which must be

earned, a work requirement eliminates most of welfare's anti-

marriage incentives and would make marriage economically rational

once again for millions of low income parents.

3) Establish Work Requirements for Food Stamp and General

Assistance Recipients. Food Stamps and General Assistance

recipients should be required to perform community service in

exchange for benefits received. Elderly and disabled recipients as

veil as mothers with young children should be exempt from this

requirement. Experiments have shown that work requirements for

Food Steunp recipients can significantly reduce dependence and

produce significant savings for the taxpayer.'^

4) Provide Tax Credits or Vouchers for Medical Coverage to All

Working Families The current welfare system which provides free

medical coverage to single parents and non-working parents on AFDC

but does not provide medical assistance to low income working

families discourages both work and marriage. The federal

government could reduce the anti-work/anti-marriage effects of

welfare by enacting the comprehensive medical reform proposed by

the Heritage Foundation.^ This plan would provide federal tax

credits and vouchers for the purchase of medical insurance to low

income working families not eligible for Medicaid.
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5) Provide Tax Relief to All Families with Children The federal

government heavily taxes low income working families with children.

A family of four making $20,000 a year currently pays about $3000

in federal taxes. This heavy taxation promotes welfare dependence

by reducing the rewards of work and marriage relative to welfare.

A crucial step in welfare reform is broad feunily tax relief to all

low income working families.

EDUCATIOM REFORM AND MORAL RENEWAL IN THE INNER CITY

However, reforming welfare alone will not be sufficient to

grapple with the real problems of urban poverty. In addition, we

must draw upon the strengths of institutions outside government.

Particularly important are churches. The church in the inner city

can and should be our number one weapon in combatting: crime,

poverty, feunily break up and school failure. Research by Dr, Roger

Freeman of Harvard University shows that black inner-city youth who

have religious values are 47 percent less likely to drop out of

school, 54 percent less likely to use drugs, and 50 percent less

likely to engage in crime than those without religious values.

Religious institutions can succeed in improving urban life where

government has failed.

Churches need to have a larger role in building the moral

character of young people in the inner city. At the same time poor

parents need the right to choose the type of education which will
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best meet the moral and intellectual needs of their children. Both

goals can be met by providing poor parents with educational

vouchers which can be used to send their children to any school the

parent chooses, public, private, or religious.

Poor parents should have the same right of choice in

education currently exercised by Bill Clinton, Al Gore, Jesse

Jackson, and Marion Wright Edelman. Because they are rich, these

parents are not forced to send their children to public schools,

instead they send them to private schools. Ironically, they will

adamantly fight to deny the same right of choice to poor parents.

The bottom line is simple: poor parents do not need more Food

Stamps, instead they need school vouchers which will give them the

same rights of choice in education currently exercised by Bill

Clinton anmd Al Gore.

CONCLUSZON

Any attempt to reform the current structure of public welfare

must begin with a realization that most progreuois designed to

alleviate "material" poverty generally lead to an increase in

"behavioral" poverty. While the poor were supposed to be the

beneficiaries of War on Poverty's transfer progreuns, they instead

have become its victims. If policy makers fail to recognize or

respond to this relationship, the welfare state will continue to

worsen, rather than improve, the lives of America's poor.
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The rule in welfare, as in other government programs, is

simple: you get what you pay for. For over forty years the welfare

system has been paying for non-work and single parenthood and has

obtained dramatic increases in both. But welfare which discourages

work and penalizes marriage is a system which ultimately harms its

intended beneficiaries. Comprehensive welfare reform must combine

toughness and a refusal to reward negative behavior with positive

rewards for constructive behavior.

However, truly grappling with the problems of the inner city

and American families Will require much more than reforming welfare

policies. Instead we need to begin a process of cultural renewal.

Key to this renewal is educational reform based on parental choice

and a broadening of the role of America's number one anti-poverty

weapon: the inner city church.

(Actachmencs follow:)
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The Poverty Paradox:

Massive Government Spending Shows No Results
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Chart 2

Federal, State and Local Welfare

Spending by Program

$250
Billions of 1990 Dollars

$200-

$150-

$100-

$50-

1940 1950 1960 1970 1980 1990

Cosh. Food, Housing D Education & Training

Services & Urixin Aid Medical Aid Work Relief

llcfttaQc DcrtoChort



138

Charts
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Chart 4

Welfare Spending per Low Income Person

on Cash, Food and Housing Aid

$1^0
Spending per Person in 1990 Dollars

$1,200
-

iniimmn }imniiiniil

1940 1950 1960 1970 1980 1990

Low income person means the lowest income third of the nation.

Heritage DotoChart



140

Total Food Assistance Spending
Per Poor Person
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on Food Assistance Programs
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Average Per Capita Consumption of Nutriments
as a Percentage of Recommended Daily Allowances
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Table 2

Average Per Capita Food Consumption
By (jlram Weight

Children under age 6 in 1985
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Food Fight

How Hungry Are America's Children?

Robert Rector

"AXA. startling number of American children are in

danger of starving...one out of eight American children

is going hungry tonighL' So began a CBS Evening News
broadcast last March. This headline-grabbing charge
came from a survey conducted by the Food Research

Action Center (FRAC), a liberal food advocacy group,

sponsored by the Kraft Corporation, one of America's

largest food-processing companies.
CBS got it wrong. FRAC actually reported that one

out of eight children in the United States had been

"hungry" at some time during the prior year, not each

night as the network reported. This shocking statistic has

since passed into media and political folklore as just the

latest example of the plight of poor children under the

Reagan and Bush presidencies. The New York Times, the

Boston Globe, the Washington Post, the Chicago Tribune, the

Christian Sdenee Monitor, and USA Today all gave the FRAC
report saturation coverage.

All of these media accounts ignored the FRAC study's
lack of scientific basis. In contrast to numerous other

studies of nutrition in America, FRAC did not measure
actual food or nutrient consumption. Instead, FRAC
asked American families subjective questions about
whether they would like to have more or a wider variety
of foods. The FRAC survey was deliberately so vague that

it actually "discovered" that large numbers of middle-
class children were hungry as well.

FRAC's startling assertions of widespread hunger in

America are flatly contradicted by scientific surveys con-
ducted by the Food and Nutrition Service of the Depart-
ment ofAgriculture and the Centers for Disease Control
of the Department ofHealth and Human Services. These

surveys, which measure actual food consumption and

physiologrical status in the U.S. population, show little

evidence of hunger or insufficient calorie and protein
intake among poor children or poor adults. Vitamin and
mineral consumption are in most cases well above recom-
mended norms and little difference is found between
the level of nutrients consumed by poor and aflluent

children. Overall, government research finds no sig-

nificant health problems among the poor caused by

general food shortages. Rather, the top nutrition-related

health problem among poor Americans is not hunger

and undernutrition—but obesity.

Similarly inaccurate is FRAC's identification of the

politically correct cause ofhunger; "sp>ending cutsduring
the Reagan presidency." Like FRAC's discovery of

widespread undernutrition, these spending cuts are

purely fictitious. In reality, constant-dollar spending on
food programs, and on welfare programs in general,
increased under Ronald Reagan. After peaking during
the recession of the mid-1980s, aggregate constant-doUar
federal and state food assistance spending remained at

S24.4 billion in 1990. Adjusted for inflation, this was 15

percent higher than spending in 1980 and 68 percent
higher than spending in 1975. In inflation-adjusted
terms, government food aid per poor person in 1987

equalled $687, compared with $529 in 1975.

Big FRAC Atuck
The FRAC study claimed that 40 percent of poor

children suffer hunger, which it defined as "a physical
condition that comes from not eating enough food due
to insufficient economic.resources," and as a state of
"chronic mild uindemutrition." This is a reasonable

definition of hunger; but what are the actual facts about
undernutrition and malnutrition in the United States?

For over 50 years the federal government has painstak-

ingly surveyed food and nutrient consumption within the

United States. In each decade since the 19S0s the US.
Department of Agriculture (USDA) has conducted at

least one "food consumption survey," using extensive

interviews with representative samples of households to

determine the actual amount of food consumed by each
household on various days throughout the year. These

surveys permit comparisons ofaverage food and nutrient

consumption in households from different
socioeconomic strata.

The USDA food consumption surveys provide the

government with preliminary data to identify potential
nutritional problems within the general population and

Robert Rector u a policy analystforfamily and social welfare

issues at The Heritage Foundation and editor of Steering the

Elephant: How Washington Works, a book on the inner

xuorkinp ofthe presidency.
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vmrioui (odocconomic tulvgroupt. The government
then foUowi Ihii prdiminaiy daa with periodic targeted

pfayiiological and anlhropometric (body ilnicture) lui^

wyt that provide a for more predie asiesnnent of nutii-

lional tiatiu within the popubtion. Past (urveyi include

the Health Esamiitation Surveys of the early 1960s (HES
I and HES II) and the National Health and Nutrition

Examination Survey (NHANES) of the early 1970s. Be-

tween 1976 and 1980, the Centers for Disease Control

conducted NHANES II, collecting hematological,
biochemical, anthropometric, and other medical data

from a representative sample of tens of thousands of

Americans. The NHANES 11 data are critical to an ac-

curate assessment of protein, vitamin, mineral, and
caloric deficiencies.

Neither the USDA food consumption surveys nor the

NHANESn study found evidence of malnutrition among
poor children. In bet, they show very little difference in

the nutritional content offood consumed by low-income

children compared with those in affluent American
families.

Overabundant Protein

One of the most serious forms of malnutrition is

protein deficiency. Proteins are amino adds that act as

the fundamental building blocks of life. Without a sufiB-

dent intake of protein, humans suffer growth retarda-

tion, impaired mental Amctioning, and fatigue; a very
severe defidency can lead to death. Fortunately, protein
is abundant in many food sources induding meal, milk,

poultry, fish, soy, nuts, com, and beans. Although
protein defidency still plagues developing nations, it is

essentially non-existent in the United States.

As part of the NHANES II survey, CDC offices

analyzed serum albumin levels among Americans. Low
levels of serum albumin, the most common protein in

the blood, are the dearest indicator of protein-caloric
malnutrition. Of a total representative sample of 15,457

persons, however, only 19 individuals, or less than one-
tenth of 1 percent, showed signs of protein defidency.
Moreover, there were no differences between races or
between poor and non-poor persons.
A 198S-1986 USDA food consumption survey likewise

found no sig^s of protein defidency among young
children. Preschool children fi-om funilieswilh incomes
below 75 percent of the poverty level ($8,242 for a family
of four in 1985) consumed 54.4 grams of protein per
day, compared with 5S.6 grams for children in fiunilies

with incomes above 900 percent of poverty (roughly
SU.OOO for a family of four in 1985). Black preschool
children consumed 56.9 grams of protein, compared
with 52.4 grams for \^te children. Surprisingly, protein
and calorie consumption was slightly higher among
children in the central dties than in the suburbs. On
average, protein intake of both poor and upper-middle-
incoroe children exceeded 200 percent of U.S. recom-
mended standards.

Thus, as the NtUrUion Momtormg Update, a summary
report preparedjoindy by the Department ofHealth and
Human Services and the USDA, conduded in 1989:

"Protein is not considered to be a current public health
issue...lhere is no evidence ofhealth problems associated

with defidency or excess.*Where protein defidencydoes
occur, it b not linked to poverty. Indeed, poor as well as
affluent Americans of all ages have diets rich in meat
and protein in comparison with the rest of the world,
and greatly exceed recoaunended daily requirements.

FromAtoSnc
As Tabk 1 shows, consumption of essentia] vitamins

and minerals among both high- and low-income pre-
school children also generally exceed USDA standards,
often by more than 50 percent In only a few instance*
does nutrient consumption fall bdow recommended
levels. The few shortfalls that occur among poor children

appear among higher-income children as well The
USDA data show not only that the average nutrient

consumption of poor and higher-income children was

very similar, but that the variation (or sutistical spread
around the average) was quite similar in both groups as
well. Moreover, since the recommended USDA stand-
ards for consumption of vitamins and minerals are con-

servatively set above the levels needed for good health
for most persons and USDA underestimates the
nutrients in some foods due to lack of information—an
average defidency of a nutrient does not necessarily
indicate a significant nutritional problem.

For example, the 1985 USDA study of pre-schoolers
showed that average zinc consumption feU below recom-
mended standards for both poor and higher-income
children by some 25 percent. But the NHANES II

On average, protein intake of

both poor and upper-middle-
income children exceeds 200

percent of U.S. recommended

daily requirements.

hematological study found only 2 to 3 percent of all

children had low serum zinc levels. Low serum zinc was

only subtly more common among poor children. Zinc
aids in the metabolism of protein. Severe defidendes
can lead to stunted growth, increased susceptibility to

infection, and mental lethargy, and may even contribute

to sickle cell anemia. Peanut butter, meat, poultry,
seafood, cheese, milk, and whole-grain cereals are all

good sources of this trace mineral.

Similarly, while USDA surveys found that higher-in-
come school-aged children consume much higher levels

of fruit and fi^t juice, the lower consumption of fi^t

among poor children did not result in vitamin C defiden-

cy. The NHANES II hematological survey found no
evidence oflow levels ofserum vitamin Camong children

under age 1 1 . Between 1 and 2 percent of American

teen-agers were found to have low serum vitamin C levels,

but this was more common among non-poor than poor
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Eat your broccolL It'* high in vitamin C,

calcium, and vitamin A.

teen-agers. Although vitamin C is abundant in firuits,

especially onunges, lemons, and strawberries, it can be
found in a number of other foods as well, including

green peppers, brussel sprouts, tomatoes, and potatoes.
Scientists are still not sure exactly how vitamin C is

utilized by the body, but it does play a role in metabo-

lizing protein. It also works to strengthen the immune
system. A serious vitamin C deficiency can cause bleeding

gums and reduce, the body's natural aliility to head

wounds. A complete lack of vitamin C in the diet is

potentially fatal; it is also almost unheard of in modem
times.

Calcium, which makes up 2 percent of the bodyweight
of an adult, is another vital mineral Not only does it

build up teeth and bones, calcium also aids in proper
nerve function, blood clotting, and muscle contraction,

among other functions. Calcium deficiencies can lead to

osteomalacia, a softening of the bones, or osteoporosis,
a brittling of the bones. Fortunately, it is fairly easy to

get through food sources an adequate amount of cal-

cium. Two cups of milk a day for adults fulfills RDA
requirements; three cups ofmilk takes care of the greater
needs of adolescents. Broccoli an4 mustard greens are

also good sources. The USDA consumption survey dis-

covered that among preschoolers average calcium con-

sumption for both poor and high-income children was

slighdy below recommended levels. Symptoms of cal-

cium deficiency appear among middle-aged and older

women, but are generally unrelated to economic class.

Better Eat Your Wheaties
The most common nutritional shortfall among

Americans appears to be iron deficiency
—a problem we

share with most other developed nations. As a key com-

ponent of hemoglobin, iron is essential to the blood

system's ability to absorb and deliver oxygen to the body.
Periods of rapid body growth, such as infuicy, adole»-

cence, and pregnancy, increases the likelihood of iron

deficiency, which can cause fatigue, impaired mental
activity, and increased susceptibility to infection.

Deficiency can be countered by eating foods rich in iron
such as liver and other organ meats, egg yolks, raisins,
dark leafy vegetables such as spinach, and legumes such
as kidney beans, or by taking an iron supplement

During the early 19708 there was concern that iron

deficiency was causing high rates ofanemia among poor
young children. In 1974, the Centers for Disease Control

began monitoring anemia among low-income preschool
children deemed to be at high nutritional risk. Among
this group the prevalence of juiemia has been more than
halved, falling from 7.8 percent in 1975 to 2.9 percent
in 1985. The anemia rates for poor children are now
quite low, although still slightly higher than 'Jie anemia
rates for middle-class children.

Part of the decline in anemia is a result of the expan-
sion of the Women, Infants, and Children (WIC) food

program over the past two decades. However, the CDC
data show diat between 1975 and 1985 the most dramatic
reductions in anemia occurred among poor children

prior to enrollment in WIC Similar reductions in anemia
occurred among middle-class children not eligible for

WIC. These dramatic changes were the result ofimprove-
ments in iron levels in the general food supply as well

as changes in food selected for young children. These

improvements included: greater frequency and duration

of breast feeding, increased substitution of iron-fortified

infant formula for non-fortified milk, and increased use

of iron-fortified cereals.

Moreover, while CDC data from the mid-1970s show

significant declines in anemia among poor children after

those children began participation in WIC, CDC data
fi-om the 1980s show WIC playing a diminishing role.

The di£rerence in anemia rates among poor children

prior to enrollment in WIC and the anemia rates of poor
children after participation in WIC shrank between 1975

and 1985. This suggests that the improved level of iron

nutrients provided to children in general has meant that

WIC has played a less significant, although still impor-
tant, role in reducing iron deficiency among the poor
in recent years.

Honey, I Shrunk the Kids

The effects of malnutrition are evident not only in

blood chemistry but in a child's body structure as well.

Thus, surveys of body structure are useful additions to

food intake and biochemical studies as tools to detect

malnutrition. Body weight relative to height, for in-

stance, is the best indicator of adequate caloric intake.

A child suffering from serious caloric underconsumption
will exhibit low body weight relative to height

—known
as "thinness* or "Svasting.'

The CDC began monitoring wasting among poor
children at risk of malnutrition in 1973. The CDC data

show that thinness is not more common among im-

poverished children than among the general population.
Nutrition Monitoring in Ih* United States, produced jointly

by the USDA and the Department ofHe^th and Human

40 Policy Review
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Services in 1986, concludes that "wasting does not con-

stitute a signiflcant health problem* among im-

poverished children in the United States.

In NHANES II, the CDC also measured general body
(at among poor and non-poor children through a *skin-

fold test* In this test a specific width of flesh is pinched

together to produce a skinfold. The width of the skinfold

is then measured with calipers that give a specific
measure of the individual's body &t level.

Skinfold tests show that poor girls, on average, are

plumper than non-poor girls. Poor boys, on the other

hand, have slightly less body £at than more affluent boys.
But even in the case of poor and non-poor boys, the

average difference in skinfold thickness is roughly one
one-hundredth of an inch. This amounts to a difference

of around 2 percent or one-tenth of a standard devia-

tion—a minute difference detectable only with very

precise measuremenL
The NHANES II survey did find that poor children

were roughly 1 percent, or a half-inch, shorter than

non-poor children of the same age. However, the survey
found no consistent evidence linking this lower height
to lower levels of nutrition. The NxUriiion Monitor UpdaU
cautions that many factors other than food consumption
may contribute to the relative shortneu ofpoor children.

For example, parents' height, genetically transmitted to

their of&pring, is the strongest determinant of a child's

heighL Poor children, on average, have shorter parents
than non-poor children. Emotional disturbances due to

unstable fiunily structure also tend to slow a child's

growth, and family instability is also more common
among poor households. Smoking by a mother during

pregnancy and exposure to parental smoking in the

home during childhood can be an additional cause of a

child's stunted growth; both practices are more common
among poor households. And low birth-weight, which u
more common among poor children, has an effect on a

child's height in subsequent yearv

Etdiewing the Fat

The most striking feature ofthe extensive government
nutrition research on poor persons is, surprisingly, the

high prevalence of obesity among poor adiUts. Nearly 45

percent of all poor adult women are overweight com-

pared to 28 percent of non-poor women. The
socioeconomic pattern of obesity in the United Stttes is

mirrored in all other developed lutions: obesity is most
common among loMHncome groups and declines as

income rises. By contrast, in developing economies this

pattern is reversed: as an individual's socioeconomic
status increases, the probability of obesity increases as

well. Within developing nations, economic constraints

limit the food available to lower-income persoiu; as

individuals climb the socioeconomic ladder within these

developing societies the economic coiulraints diminish
and the rate of obesity rises. But in developed societies,

food is abundantly available in all income classes; obesity
is controlled by a self<onscious discipline that occurs
more often among higher socioeconomic groups.

Excessive weight or obesity is a serious medical prob-
lem. Obesity contributes to high blood pressure,
diabetes, cardiovascular disease, and some types of cait-

TABLE 1
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Among the 20 percent of poorest hoiueholds today, concumption of vegetables, meat, poultry, and fish

actually exceeds consvunption among the general population in the mid-1 950s.

accually eat slightly more complex carbohydrates—a

healthy food item—than do affluent households, and
less unhealthy cheap simple sugars.

As Table 2 shows, poor persons, moreover, actually
have lower levels of serum cholesterol relative to higher-
income persons of the same gender, age, and race. And
dangerously high levels of serum cholesterol are more
common among the non-poor than the poor.

Better Than Ozzie and Harriet

Historical data show a consistent 'upscaling* of the

diets of low-income Americans over time. Today, among
the 20 percent of households with the lowest incomes,

consumption of vegetables actually exceeds consump-
tion among the general population in the mid-1950s.

Low-income Americans today consume about 20 percent
more meat, poultry, and fish than did the average cidzen

in 1955. And current low4ncome consumption of meat,

poultry, and fish is nearly 70 percent greater than the

average per-capita consumption of these items in urban
households in 1948.

Beef consumption, often considered a symbol of diets

of the prosperous middle-class, has shown a similar in-

crease. Current per-captta beefconsumption among low-

income households exceeds average consumption in the

U.S. in 1955 by 35 percent Most strikingly, per-capita
beef consumption among the current lowest economic

quintile lops beefconsumption among the most affluent

5 percent of urban households in 1948 by nearly a third.

Consumption of frivolous items such as soft drinks is

100 p>ercent greater among low-income persons today
than among the general population in the mid-1950s.

By contrast, inexpensive foods such as potatoes, bread,
and flour are consumed by low-income individuals today
at rates 25 to 50 percent below that of the general

population in the 1950s.

The increasing levels of meat consumption and

declining levels of grain contumpdon among the poor
are further evidence that these households are not suf-

fering from recurring hunger. Poor persons on average
eat roughly the same amount of meat, poultry, and fish

as do higher-income persons, with resulting protein in-

takes weU above recommended levels. As noted, poor
children actually consume more meat products thaii do

higher-income children and have average protein in-

takes 100 percent above recommended levels.

While meat is a good source of protein, it is an

extremely expensive source of calories. Calories provided
through inexpensive meats still cost roughly five times

as much as calories obtained from grain products. It is

simply not plausible that poor families would maintain

the same level of meat consumption as high-income
families while suffering, as FRAC contends, from recur-

ring empty refrigerators and empty stomachs. If so, the

empty stomachs could readily be filled through a slight
reduction in meat purchases and an increase in less

expensive although still healthful bulk foods. Indeed,

many nutritionists would argue that reducing meat and

42 Policy Review
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increanng grain connunpcion would actually be heal-

thier for most Americans, rich and pcx>r.

Land of MiOc and Honey
In general, poor Americans, young and old, are well-

nourished. The poor do not suffer from food shortages
nor are they forced by penury to consume less healthy
foods than the rest of Americans. There is no evidence

of widespread hunger and undernutrition. To the con-

trary, the Nutrition Monitoring Updatt summary report,
issued by USDA and HHS in 1989, concludes that among
persons at all income levels: The principal nutrition-re-

lated health problems experienced by Americans con-

tinue to be related to the overconsumption of some
nutrients and food components, particularly f(x>d energy
[ut, calories], fat, saturated fatty acids, cholesterol,

[and] sodium.* The report identifies five nutrition-re-

lated public health problems affecting U.S citizens:

obesity from excess calories; high serum cholesterol from
excess consumption of fat, saturated fats, and
cholesterol; hypertension promoted by high sodium in-

take; osteoporosis (lou of bone mass) from low caldum

consumption; and anemia from low iron consumption.
With the possible exception of iron-deficiency anemia,
which is slightly more frequent among the poor, none
of these health conditions can be attributed to poverty-
induced undernutrition.

Moreover, even in the case of nutrient short&lls

among the poor like calcium and iron, it is unlikely that

the broad expansion of food assistance programs,

promoted by FRAC and other liberal organizations,
would alleviate the specific nutritional problems. There
are two reasons for this. First, providing food aid does
not necessarily increase the amount of money a Eunily

The top nutrition-related

health problem among poor
Americans is not hunger and

undernutrition—^but obesity.

spends on food. Research by the Congressional Budget
Office has shown that if the average family is given $100
in focxl stamps it will decrease its cash spending on food

by |4S. Thus SI00 in food aid results in only $57 in

increased focxl expenditures. Second, an increase in

food spending does not necessarily lead to an increase
in consumption of specific nutrients because there is no
guarantee the funds will be spent to buy foods that have

high levels of those nutrients. This is particularly true in

the case of nutrients, such u calcium, zinc, and iron,
that tend to be underconsumed by both high- and low-

income families.

A more effective way to address potential specific
vitamin or mineral deficiencies among poor persons

TABLE 2
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TESTIMONY OF THE

REVEREND PAUL H. SHERRY

PRESIDENT, THE UNITED CHURCH OF CHRIST

Good afternoon Mr. Chairman and members of the Committee. I am the Rev. Paul Sherry,

the President of the United Church of Christ. We are a denomination of 1.6 million

members and 6,400 local churches located in the United States and Puerto Rico. I speak

on the basis of the policy of our General Synod, the largest representative body of our

church.

Mr. Chairman, I and others in the religious community want to thank this committee for

your leadership on issues of food security. We appreciate deeply the interest, vigor and

commitment of this committee in addressing the problem of hunger and its dramatic

consequences on our nation's people.

I come here today to urge your support for major public poUcy initiatives to end hunger in

our beloved country. In particular, I ask you to support the Mickey Leland Childhood

Hunger Relief Art so that children may be fed and lives secured.

I want to share with the committee the extent of church-related volunteer efforts to respond

to growing hunger in this country and to say that volimteer services- as important as they

are- are dearly insufficient Public sertor approaches, including the enactment of the

Mickey Leland Childhood Hunger Relief Act, are essential if hunger is to be alleviated.

We in the churches are committed to help meet people's needs. 85% of the some 6400

congregations of the United Church of Christ have provided needed services such as feeding
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centers, soup kitchens, and food pantries, or have contributed financially to their support.

In both rural and urban settings, our church members have seen firsthand the growing

number of people in need of utilizing these services. The United Church of Christ Hunger

Action Office continues to receive reports from across the country of dramatically increased

demands on the direct service system. Since 1981, the number of soup kitchens and food

pantries in New York City has grown by 2500% - from 30 sites to over 750. In St Louis,

Missouri the demand on pantries has increased by 15% each of the last three years. In

Qeveland, Ohio, where our church's national offices are located, the Food Bank distributed

approximately 1 million pounds of food in 1980. By 1989, that figure had grown to 10

million pounds. An ecumenical agency in Qeveland served 129,000 persons in 1981, and

over 653,000 in 1991. In 1991 the emergency food pantries system in Lincoln, Nebraska,

experienced for the first time in its history a period when 7 out of its then 11

congregationally-based emergency food pantries ran out of food. Indeed, from 1987 to 1992,

the Lincoln food pantries system saw a 114% increase in the use of its services - and in

1993 the figures continue to rise. These figures support the data of the 1991 Community

Childhood Hunger Identification Project study documenting that more than 5 million of this

country's children imder the age of 12 are hungry and that an additional six million more

of our children are in danger of himger.

Hunger is rising and it is overwhelming virtuaUy every community in this natioiL This is a

moral outrage and conscience dictates that it simply cannot continue. As I have said, the

members of our churches are responding. We will continue to do so. But volimteer efforts



153

are not enough. Major public sector initiatives are critically needed if people are to receive

the food they need to live.

The 18th General Synod of the United Church of Christ endorsed the Campaign to End

Childhood Hunger in July of 1991. That Campaign recognizes the urgent need for increased

governmental action. That Campaign recognizes the fact that food stamps continue to be

the most effective program for alleviating himger in this country. That Campaign calls for

increases in food stamp benefits and helpful changes in the qualifying criteria. We support

the Leland Act because it responds to that call.

The United Church of Christ is but one denomination committed to addressing the root

causes of hunger and poverty in this country. Many other denominations and religious

bodies have made similar commitments. The Presbyterian Church (USA) has begun an

extensive survey to determine the type and extent of responses by their congregations across

the country. Current statistics show that one third of all Presbyterian congregations are

involved in some form of direct service and around holidays that number increases to 75%.

The Evangelical Lutheran Church of America, through its network of 250 affiliated social

ministry associations, annually involves 190,000 employees and volunteers to provide services

to 2 million people experiencing poverty across the nation at a cost of 1.5 billion dollars.

Both of these denominations have long standing policy bases regarding hunger and food

policy. That is also true for other religious bodies. We are united in our belief that a first

and vital step toward the goal of alleviating himger should be to urge that the Food Stamp
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Program be accessible to all who are eligible and that the program be provided sufficient

support so that children and their feunilies will have enough to eat each month of the year.

The Leland bill does this and we urge its support

It is well documented that the Food Stamp Program is the most far-reaching and effective

program for aiding our fellow American citizens who are experiencing faimger. For mai^

of our nation's children, food stamps provide the only consistent access to food. The current

Food Stamps Program provides more than 82% of its benefits to families with children. It

is the himger safety net of our country. We also know, however, that in its present form,

the Food Stamp Program is not able to meet the current need. It is estimated that only

60% of eligible families are participating in the Food Stamp Program and that only 20.6%

of households receive the maximum benefit The proposed provisions of H.R. 529 would

make improvements in our current Food Stamp Program that would allow us to better serve

oiu' citizens. Currently, food stamps provide only 75 cents per person/per meal, and the

current level of aid provided means that families run out of food stamps toward the end of

the month. Hence, the provision calling for an increase in the basic benefit level fi'om 103%

to 105% of the Thrifty Food Plan, makes modest but crucial inroads towards insuring

nutritionally adequate food supplies to our citizens.

Statistics concerning the Food Stamp Program tell only half the story. Numbers do not

bring to life the faces behind the numbers- they do not convey the stories of those for whom

the Food Stamp Program makes a vital difference. The following testimonies bear wimess

to the significance of the Mickey Leland BilL deri Honkala, in her capacity as Director
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of the Kensington Welfare Rights Union in Philadelphia, confronts the devastation of

hunger on a daily basis. She observes, "For too long recipient after recipient has entered

our offices throughout the country in search of food for their children, the Food Stamp

Program for these families has been the solution, it has put near starving children to bed,

whether it be in the urban or rural areas, with food in their stomachs. Above everything

else, we must do all we can to feed our children!" For John, a twelve year old Food Stamps

Program participant, food stamps mean the opportunity to make the most of his time at

school each day. "Because my mom gets food stamps, Fm better able to concentrate in

school. Before, all I used to think about was how hungry I was. Now I feel like Fm

learning more."

If we care for our children, they will benefit and so will we all. But if we abandon them,

they will suffer and so will we all. Hungry children are:

• more than four times as likely to suffer from fatigue;

• almost three times as likely to sxiffer from concentration problems; and • almost twice as

likely to have frequent colds.

To feed a child is to feed the future. The Leland bill does that It is a commitment to

children and their future. The Leland bill is an education bill; it is a health care bill; it is

a housing bill. It helps families avoid the impossible choice between food and shelter. I

believe the Leland bill is our Country at its best- providing the opportunity for all children

to rise to their potential and to be full and contributing citizens of this land.
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It would be a tragedy for this bill not to pass during this session of congress after four years

of discussion and debate. For the first time, there is funding in the budget for the initiatives

of the Leland BilL As the number of hungry children grows, so too must our commitment

to ending hunger grow in this nation. Congregations and church members across our

country have and will continue to respond to the needs of those who are poor. We dare not

and will not do otherwise. But our resources are insufficient We simply caimot meet the

need. Increases in public resources are required and you, our public servants, need to

respond if himgry children are to be fed. This nation has a fundamental moral responsibility

to meet the basic needs of its people. The Mickey Leland bill addresses these needs and

for the sake of our children- for all our sakes- for the sake of this nation's future, I urge

your positive response.

(Attachment follows:)
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RESOLUTION "CAMPAIGN TO END CHILDHOOD HUNGER"

91-GS-24 VOTED: The Eighteenth General Synod adopts the Resolution "Campaign to

End Childhood Hunger."

CAMPAIGN TO END CHILDHOOD HUNGER

WHEREAS, millions of children are going hungry in the United States of America and
these children are invisible to the eyes of many people who are unaware of the tragic
dimensions of the solvable problem of hunger in the United States;

WHEREAS, it is time to make ending childhood hunger a national priority;

WHEREAS, conservative estimates based on the final Community Childhood Hunger
Identification Project (CCHP) r«ults indicate that 53 million children are now hungry
and 11.5 million are either hung^ or at risk of hunger in the United States;

WHEREAS, the impact of hunger on children in the U5-A. often maiufests itself in lower
birth weights of newborns ana in manv specific health problems such as unwanted

weight loss, fatigue, headaches, irritability, inability to concentrate and frequent colds;

WHEREAS, CCHn? found that himgry children e.xperience two to three times as many of

these problems as do children whose families do not experience hunger;

WHEREAS, the capacity to learn of children who are hungry is compromised and their

physical development, stamina and resistance to disease are impaired;

WHEREAS, hunger hurts everybody, and only w^hen our diildren are well nourished can

they reach their mil potential and become contributing members of society;

WHEREAS, childhood htinger in the United States is caused by lack of income, and with

nearly 32 million people livmg below the poverty line, including 12.6 million children, the

need 'for affordable housing, health care, quality'education and jobs with living wages
become critical components of long term solutions to the many problems caused by
poverty.

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Eighteenth General Synod endorses the Campaign
to End Childhood Hunger and

Supports the adoption of national policies guaranteeing food security to all people;

Seeks to ensure all eligible low income women, infants and children can receive

assistance through the Special Supplement Food Program for Women, Iiifants, and
Children;

Seeks to make the School Breakfast program available to low income children across

the country and encourages federal, state and local policies to ensvire the national

School Lunch progrzun remaixis broadly accessible to cdl such children;
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Seeks to make the Food Stamp program, accessible to all who are
eligible

and

supports changes in the benefit level so that children and their feunilies will have

enough to eat each month.

BE rr FURTHER RESOLVED, the Eighteenth General Svnod calls upon the Office for

Church in Society (OCIS) to monitor and advocate legislative issues related to the above

policy matters in Washington, EXZ.

BE rr FURTHER RESOLVED, the Eighteenth General Synod asks the Office for Church in

Society to continue to coordinate relationships with low income community groups
involved in partnership efforts to address the above concerns through the related

National Up and Out of Poverty Now Campaign, and the Childrenm Poverty working

group.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the Eighteenth General Synod asks that the United Church

Board for Homeland Ministries, the Commission for Radal Justice, and the Coordinating
Center for Women in Church and Society continue to relate to grouns in poverty for

whom such a campaign is concerned, and seek to engage others in the campaign's efforts.

BE rr FURTHER RESOLVED, the Eehteenth General Sviuxi requests that the Hunger
Action Program be a coordinating table for the above e/forts, as well as the primary body

responsible for education, ti^ining, and curriculum development regarding the campaign
wifchLi the United Church of Christ.

BE rr FURTHER RESOLVED, the conferences and local churches of the United Chtirch of

Christ be called upon to endorse the campaign to End Childhood Hunger, to continue

and expand their partnerships with low-mcome groups, to develop and/or present
educational opportunities for their members about the issues, to engage in advocacy

regarding pubuc policies consistent with the campaign, and to communicate their eJfforts

w5h the Hunger Action Office campaign so helpnil models and activities can be shared

across the church.

Subject to the availability of funds.
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TastlBony of Jo* Hainay-Qonzales, ACSW

Deputy to tb* Prasident
catholic Charitias USA, Alexandria, VA
before the
Subconnittee on Department Operations and Nutrition
Coamittee on Agriculture

Mickey Leland childhood Hunger Relief Act, H.R. 529

April 28, 1993

Mr. Chairman, members of the Subcommittee, I am Joe Heiney-
Gonzalez, representing Catholic Charities USA, the nation's

largest, private human service network. We strongly support
passage of the Mickey Leland Childhood Hunger Relief Act, H.R.
529. Thank you for inviting us to comment.

In the last congressional session, 10,000 of our members,
community volunteers, and clients sent letters supporting the
Leland bill to their representatives.

In April 1985, Rev. Thomas J. Harvey, then Catholic Charities USA
executive director, joined Representative Mickey Leland in urging
Congress to act on a $1 billion federal food assistance bill that
would expand anti-hunger programs such as food stamps and school
lunches .

Conditions described by the late Rep. Leland have worsened.

Hunger and poverty in America have worsened. As you know, the
number of food stamp recipients — 26.8 million individuals — is

at an all-time high.

We serve over 12 million people a year. Almost 7 million people
need food or shelter. They come to Catholic Charities food banks
or soup kitchens. Volunteers bring them Meals-on-Wheels.

Ten years ago, two out of ten people who came to Catholic
Charities needed food, shelter, or other emergency help. Today,
more than six out of ten people need food or shelter. And one-
third of them are children.

As a native Texan, I am personally interested in the effect this
bill will have on fellow Texans. West Texas has one of the

highest rates of teen pregnancy in the United States. The Leland
bill will especially help low-income, pregnant teens.

The Leland bill also will allow poor, migrant families to receive
food stamps. A high number of farm workers migrate to West Texas
to work in the cotton and vegetable crop industry. It is ironic
that farm workers who harvest the bounty of this nation's food

crops frequently are not eligible for food stamps.
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Food banks, such as the South Plains Food Bank in Lubbock,
distribute food to hungry families in 80 rural counties. The
Leland bill will help rural families as well as urban families.

Voluntary service organizations such as our 1,400 Catholic
Charities agencies cannot carry the burden of hunger in this
nation by themselves. We are stretched beyond our limits. He
are losing ground as the number of hungry families increases.

I urge that the Subcommittee on Department Operations and
Nutrition and the full Committee on Agriculture approve H.R. 529.
This bill is the most important domestic anti-hunger legislation
in over 15 years.

Catholic Charities agencies in the United States have helped
people in need for over 200 years. In 1991 Catholic Charities
spent more than $1.8 billion of public, private, and church
resources to assist children, families, and communities. This
includes $1.16 billion in government monies. Our untiring
commitment to people of all religious, ethnic, social, and
economic backgrounds is undisputed and contributes to the common
good.

Catholic Charities USA will work with members of Congress,
colleague organizations, and all people of good will to eliminate
hunger in this nation. Thank you.
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Mr. Chainnan and members of die Subcommittee, diank you for die opportunity to

speak today at diis in^rtant hearing. I am Mary K. Deyampert, Director of the

Nordi Carolina Division of Social Services, and I am representing die American

Public Welfiare Association's (APWA) National Council of State Human Service

Administrators.

APWA is a 63-year-old non-profit, bipartisan organization representing the SO

state human service departments, local public welfare agencies, and individuals.

APWA has been a leader in die movement to reform and strengdien the nation's

economic security and human service programs for low-income families and

individuals.

In 1986 APWA published One Child in Four, which presented die state and local

human service commissioners' recommendations for comprehensive welfare

reform. These recommendations emphasized the need to change assistance

programs into vehicles for self-sufficiency for as many recipients as possible.

Many of our recommendations were reflected in die Family Siqiport Act, the

significant reform of the Aid to Families with Dependent Children (AFDC) and

child support enforcement programs passed by strong bipartisan majorities in

1988. The commissioners are now preparing a new set of welfare reform

recommendations and look forward to working with die Congress and President

Clinton as we continue to advance this important agenda.

In our view die subject of this hearing, the Mickey Leland Childhood Hunger
Relief Act, is an essential step forward in strengthening die base of income support

upon which so many families must rely. APWA and &e human service

commissioners have consistently supported the Leland Act since it was first

introduced, and we share your hope that 1993 will at last be die year when it

becomes law. The need for this legislation has been well known for years and has

only been made more urgent by recent studies showing that alarming numbers of

America's children are himgry or are at risk of hunger. As administrators we can

certainly confirm the growing need for food assistance: since July 1989, food

stamp caseloads have grown by 44 percent, and a record 26.83 million Americans

now participate in the program.

We are particularly pleased with several specific provisions in die Mickey Leland

Act. Certainly one of the most important for us is the simplified household

definition. Section 301. This provision would not only enhance access and

strengthen benefits for families, but would simplify the unusually complex set of

requirements and exceptions in present law that cause substantial difficulty and

errors for administrators. These requirements and exceptions were created by a

series of legislative attempts in the early 1980s to restrict program access, followed
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later by attempts to reverse that direction; the net result was to greatly complicate
states' task of determining the correct household grouping for food stamp benefits.

Section 301 strips away most of the complicating layers of rules, and is one of the

most essential featiu-es of the Leland Act. We will work diligently to see that it

remains intact as this legislation progresses.

We are also especially pleased with Section 201, exclusion of the first $50 a

month received in child support, which again provides an important benefit and
incentive for program participants while removing an extremely troublesome

difference between the food stamp and AFDC programs.

Two other provisions of the Act offer improvements that we believe are especially

important in meeting the needs of the families we see and in promoting their self-

siifficiency. These are Section 101, removal of the c^ on shelter expense
deductions, and Section 203, the increase in the allowable value of motor vehicles.

State administrators have become increasingly alarmed at the incidence of

homelessness and other problems faced by low income families in obtaining
decent and affordable housing, and believe removal of the shelter cap will ease the

housing burden on food stamp participants. We also look forward to the increase

in the allowable value of vehicles, which is quite outdated and hurts those families

who must have reliable cars to go to and from work.

Mr. Chairman, we very much look forward to passage of the Mickey Leland Act

and believe it will greatly strengthen the Food Stamp Program. As a state

administrator of this and other assistance programs, I want to take a moment to

note how essential to food stamps is the day-to-day administration of these vital

programs that occurs in every state and coimty across the country, carried out by

public departments ofhuman services. As I mentioned above, the workload of

administering food stamps has surged dramatically; the 44 percent jimip in

caseloads in the past few years has, unfortimately, come at a period of severe fiscal

restraints for state goverrunents, and state resources have been far outstripped by
this tmprecedented increase in activity. States have had to serve rapidly growing
numbers of applicants and recipients within the same constraints of accuracy and

timeliness that apply in calmer times, yet many have had to reduce staff or at best

freeze persoimel at inadequate levels.

This is why we must urge you and the Subcommittee to keep in mind the need for

simplifications and reforms that will help us deliver program benefits with the

accuracy, timeliness, and attention that participating families deserve. I want to

mention briefly several significant administrative changes we believe must be

made if we are to be able to continue carrying out this crucial role.
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Peili^s the most urgent of these improvements is reform of the food stamp quality

control (QC) system. We support the concept of a quality control program and are

committed to administering food stamps with accuracy and efficiency. But we
believe the present QC system is invalid and unfair, and fails to serve as a

management tool for states to improve their programs. Instead QC has come to be

a burdensome process that has imposed excessive fiscal penalties on nearly every
state in the country. There is widespread agreement with our point of view. The

National Academy of Sciences issued a study in 1986 strongly criticizing the

assumptions and methodology of the present system. In 1989 Congress enacted

extensive reforms of the AFDC QC system (then similar to today's food stamp

system), following in large part the Academy's recommendations. Congress has

twice dealt with the food stamp QC system in recent years, in 1988 when it

changed the target error rate and made other changes and in 1990 when it

eliminated some of the back sanctions against states. Legislation was introduced

in the House last year by former Rep. Charles Hatcher (H.R. 5439) that would

complete the process of reforming food stamp QC, making it similar to the

reformed AFDC system.

Another very significant recent development is the agreement reached between

states and the Food and Nutrition Service (FNS) early this year to settle the

remaining six years (fiscal years 86-91) of back food stamp sanction claims. The

agreement stipulated that states would invest in administrative improvements in

return for waiver of over $300 million in back claims. The settlement negotiations

occurred because both states and the federal government, we believe, recognize the

time has come to put the QC dispute behind us. After initially offering to settle

these claims for 35 cents on the dollar, FNS in the end agreed to settle for just 15

cents on the dollar. Even this amount represented a substantial investment for

states—some $45 million—that must be expended in immatched state dollars.

States were willing to take this step so we can move forward on the QC question.

We also think the settlement was in the best interest of the federal government;
this was a much more effective way to settle the QC sanction issue than continuing
the impasse over collection of claims. FNS has over the years collected relatively

little money imder the present system, only about $4.86 million for penalties

assessed for FYs 81-85.

Your colleague Rep. Jill Long of Indiana has now introduced in this session a bill,

H.R. 1 195, that is nearly identical to Rep. Hatcher's bill and that can at last

complete the process of food stamp QC reform. The bill's major provisions would

change the target error rate to a floating national average, assess penalties on a

sliding scale so that states greatly exceeding the target are penalized much more

severely than states nearly meeting the target, reform statistical procedures in line

with the National Academy of Sciences' recommendations, and streamline the

I



165

review process so that an independent decision-maker, an administrative law

judge, will have the authority to review all the evidence of a state's case including

good cause criteria. These changes would conform food stamp QC in most

respects to the reforms enacted for AFDC QC in 1989 and to ihe principles

supported by the National Academy of Sciences study. As a transition to the new

system. Rep. Long's bill also removes any sanctions that will be assessed against

states for fiscal year 92, which will soon be announced.

We urge you and the full Agriculture Committee to support H.R_ 1 195 and to take

steps to enact this legislation as part of a comprehensive, complete package of

food stamp improvements. The Leiand Act would provide badly need benefit

improvements, but these can be effectively delivered at the state level only with

corresponding administrative improvements.

Another extremely important administrative need is substantial simplification of

present food stamp administrative requirements and alignment of those

requirements, where appropriate, with those of the AFDC program. Food stamps
interacts closely with AFDC since most persons participating in one program

participate in the other, and most states now administer the programs together.

While the Leiand Act would achieve several important parts of the states'

simplification and coordination agenda, there is far more that must be done.

APWA has issued many proposals to simplify and conform the food stamp and

AFDC programs. Our most recent effort was concluded in December 1992, when

we published an analysis of 57 significant differences between AFDC and food

stamps and made legislative or regulatory reconmiendations to change and

simplify most of these differences. As chair of the work group that issued these

proposals, I can attest to the time and thought that have gone into these proposals,

and to the wide range of input we sought and received fi-om policymakers and

program advocates.

While our'recommendation package as a whole would incur some program costs,

we contend that administrative savings from its implementation would be

significant. But the majority of our proposals either have minimal budget impact,

have no cost at all, or even save money. It is to this group in particular that we ask

your Subcommittee to give immediate consideration. The most urgent

administrative recommendations we have identified would simplify the application

process, reduce requirements to process changes and recalculate budgets, align and

simplify both programs' treatment of income and deductions, overhaul the

recertification and redetermination process, and align the two programs' treatment

of resources.
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The detailed text of our recommendations on this urgent issue was shared some

mondis ago widi members of your stafiT, and is attached for your reference to our

testimony submitted for the record. Again, we strongly urge you to give serious

consideration to at least those portions of our recommendations that require no

new funding, and hope you will enact these proposals this year as part of a

comprehensive package of program improvements.

While not part of the attached recommendations, state administrators have recently

identified several technical administrative improvements we would suggest for a

few provisions of the Leland Act. Our suggestions would not alter the substance

of the provisions in question. The provisions include Section 202, Child Support

Payments to Non-Household Members, and Section 204, Improving Access to

Employment and Training Activities. We will be happy to discuss tiiese

suggestions in detail with your staff.

Before I close I must mention our concern that many share over the demise of the

House Select Committee on Hunger, and our strong recommendation that the

Congress establish some other forum that focuses exclusively on hunger, such as a

special task force. We do urge in any case your Subcommittee to continue paying

special attention to both domestic and international hunger, and to continue its

strong record of addressing this vital issue.

Mr. Chairman, thank you again for this opportunity to present our views today.

We commend you and the Subconmiittee for taking up Ais extremely important

legislation and hope you will give it your prompt and full approval. The nation's

public human service commissioners stand ready to work with you to assure

enactment of tfiis bill. I will be pleased to answer any questions you may have.

(Attachment follows:)
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TESTIMONY OF ROBERT GREENSTEIN
DIRECTOR, CENTER ON BUDGET AND POUCY PRIORITIES

before the

SUBCOMMITTEE ON DEPARTMENT OPERATIONS
of the

HOUSE COMMITTEE ON AGRICULTURE

April 28, 1993

I appreciate the opportunity to appear before the Subcommittee today. I am
Robert Greensteii\, executive director of the Center on Budget and Policy Priorities

here in Washington, EKZ. The Center is a non-profit orgaruzation that conducts

research and analysis on a range of public issues and has an emphasis on issues

relating to poverty, hunger and domestic food assistance programs. The Center's

work is funded primarily by foundations.

Prior to starting the Center, I served in USDA as Admirustrator of the Food

and Nutrition Service in 1979 and 1980 and as Special Assistant to Secretary Bergland

for food and nutrition issues in 1977 and 1978.

Background: Problems of Poverty and Hunger In the United States

Poverty remair\s at high levels in our nation. In 1989, the peak year of the

longest peacetime economic recovery since the end of World War H, the poverty rate

was higher than in any year of the 1970s, including the deepest recession years of

that decade. From 1989 to 1991, poverty rose further as the economy turned down,

and four million more Americar\s became poor. In 1991, the number of poor people
in the United States — 35.7 million — was higher than in any year since the mid-

1960s. The percentage of the population living below the poverty line (i.e., the

poverty rate) was higher than at any time two decades except for a few years in the

early 1980s when the unemployment rate was close to double-digit levels. In

addition, Censvis data show that those who are poor have, on average, grown poorer
in recent years.

The rise in poverty is especially marked — and especially disturbing
— among

children. More than one in every five children — and nearly half of minority

children — are poor. One of every two black children below the age of six lives in

poverty. Moreover, large numbers of children fall into the ranks of a group
sometimes described as the "very poor" or the "poorest of the poor"

— those with

incomes below half of the poverty line. Nearly half of all poor children now live in

families this poor.
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In this regard, a recent study by a distinguished team of international

researchers is of particular significance. The researchers found that the child poverty
rate in the United States is double the rate in Canada and four times the average in

western Europe. This situation has serious implications for our future economic

competitiveness with other western nations, as well as for our social fabric.

The long-term rise in poverty has been accomparued by several other trends,

including: eroding wages and an increase in the ranks of the working poor; more

single-parent families; and a growing shortage of low-rent housing, with the result

that poor families must pay increasing portions of their limited incomes for housing— which leaves less for other necessities such as food.

Census data show that the ranks of the working poor have swelled in recent

years, as wages have slipped, especially for low-skilled jobs. The average hourly

wage for nonsupervisory employees in the private sector is now lower than at any
time in the 1970s or 1980s, after adjustment for inflation. A Census report released

last year found that the proportion of full-time year-round workers paid a wage too

low to lift a family of four to the poverty line grew by 50 percent between 1979 and
1990. Census data also show that the poverty rate among families with children in

which the household head works has risen significantly since the late 1970s.

Another long-term trend is the increase in the proportion of families that are

single-parent families. Single-parent families have higher poverty rates than two-

parent families. In single-parent families, there is no spouse to help support the

family and share child-rearing responsibilities. Thus, not only is there no possibility

of a second earner, but the single parent often is ui\able to work full-time herself.

This makes the provision of child support payments from the absent parent especially

critical. But too often, child support is not paid.

Still another problem that has grown more severe in recent years is the

shortage of low-rent housing. Census data show that in 1971, there were 400,000

more low-rent units in the nation than there were low-income renter households. By
1989, there were four million fewer low-rent units than low-income renter households.

As a result, low-income renters are forced to spend steadily increasing shares

of their limited incomes on housing costs. Under standards recommended by, and
established under, the Reagan Administration, housing in considered unaffordable for

a low-income household if it consumes more than 30 percent of household income.

But in 1989, the last year for which these data are avciilable, more than half of all

poor renters in the United States spent at least 50 percent of income for housing.
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Rural Problems

A number of these problems are partictilarly acute m rural areas. Despite the

media emphasis on urban poverty, the poverty rate remains higher in rural than in

urban areas. In 1991, nearly one of every six Americans living in nonmetropolitan
areas — 16.1 percent

— was poor, according to the Cer\sus data. In urban areas,

fewer than one in seven — or 13.7 percent
— was poor.

The erosion in wages and the consequent increase in the ranks of the working

poor has had a particular effect in rural areas. A very high proportion of the rural

poor work. In fact, 70 percent of all poor noral families not headed by a retired, ill,

or disabled individual are families in which the household head works.

In addition, the lack of sufficient low<ost housing is a problem in urban and
rural areas alike and in all regions of the country. The region of the country in

which the number of poor households paying over half of their income for housing is

greatest in the South. While housing costs tend to be somewhat lower in Southern

and rural areas than in northern and urban areas, wages and public assistance

payments are lower as well. As a result, large proportions of poor households in all

areas pay high percentages of their income for housing.

Impact on Food Purchasing

These adverse trends appear to have affected the food purchasing power of

low-income households. In 1991, the Economic Research Service at USDA issued a

major study on food expenditure patterns among urban households during the 1980s.

The study. Food Spending in American Households 1980-1988,^ shows a disturbing
trend. While the food expenditures of middle- and upper-income households

remained relatively constant over this period, after adjustment for inflation, the food

expenditures of poor households declined substantially.

• Among the middle fifth of urban households, average weekly food

expenditures per person rose two percent between 1980 and 1988, after

adjusting for inflation. Similarly, among the top income fifth, food

expenditures per person rose three percent.

David M. Smallwood, Noel Blisard, and James T. Blaylock, Food Spending in American

Household, 1980-1988, Economic Research Service, US. Department of Agriculture, May 1991. The

study is based on data from the Continuing Consumer Expenditure Diary Surveys of the Bureau of

Labor Statistics.
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By contrast, among the poorest fifth of urban households, food

expenditures per person fell 13.1 percent. Among the next-to-the

poorest fifth, food expenciitures dropped 6.5 percent.

Change in Average Weekly Food Expenditures
Per Person from 1980 to 1988

(expenditures are adjusted for inflation)
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poor have squeezed the ability of many poor households to devote adequate
resources to food purchases. For all but a small minority of poor households, food

stamps are supposed to provide some — but not all — of their food budgets. The
rest of their food purchases are to be made from their own resources. When they
have lower incomes and fewer resources left for food after paying rent and utilities,

the chances that they will secure an adequate diet throughout the month are lessened.

Policy Implications

These sobering data have sigiuficcmt policy implications. In my view, they

suggest that we need to take policy actions aimed at achieving a number of goals
—

reducing poverty and hunger among children so they have a better chance of

achieving their full potential and becoming the productive workers our economy
needs, more adequately rewarding hard work performed at low wages, and

promoting self-sufficiency and parental responsibility through work effort and

meeting child support obligations.

It is, of course, unrealistic to expect reforms in the food stamp program to

solve all these problems. But if such reforms are well designed, they can significantly

reduce hunger among poor households and especially among poor children while

also making progress in better rewarding work and promoting self-sufficiency and

parental responsibility.

Such reform can be quite sigiuficant in rural as well as urban areas. A Census

study that covered a 32-month period in the late 1980s found that during this period,

neculy one in every six residents of nonmetropolitan areas received food stamps for

at least one month. The study also found that a much smaller number — fewer than

one in 25 — received food stcunps in every month in this 32-month period, which
indicates that large numbers of rural households rely upon food stamps to help them

through periods of temporary hardship.

The Role of H.R. 529 and the Administration's New Bill

The legislation introduced earlier this year by then Rep. Leon Panetta and

Reps. Emerson, de la Garza, and Hall (H.R. 529), as well as the Administration's bill

unveiled yesterday, meet these criteria very well. Both pieces of legislation are

sinular to earlier legislation that passed the House floor in 1990 by a 336-83 margin,
with every Democrat and a majority of Republicans supporting it. In the final part of

this testimony, I will focus on the Administration's new proposal. The
Admirustration's proposal is patterned largely on H.R. 529, as well as on bipartisan

legislation introduced in 1990 and 1991 in the Senate and recent anti-fraud legislation
introduced by Senators McCormell, Dole, and Lugar.
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The Administration's legislation appears particularly well designed in several

respects.

• It is well-targeted. It is primarily foaised on poor children and their

families, with particular targeting on those families with children whose

housing costs are especially high in relation to their incomes.

• It assists the working poor in important Ways and is consistent with the

goal espoused in recent years by leading members of both parties
—

and most recently by President Clinton — that families in which a

parent works full-time year-round should not be poor.^ It also

strengthens the food stamp employment arwi training program so that

fewer able-bodied recipients are excused from the program on the

grounds that participation in it would require them to bear work-related

expenses the program fails to reimburse.

• It should bolster the child support system by strengthening incentives

for custodial parents to help track down and collect support from absent

parents and for absent parents to meet their child support obligations.

• It simplifies the program, which should ease administrative burdens and

lead to some moideration in error rates. It also aligns the food stamp
and AFDC programs more closely in several respects.

• It includes a battery of anti-fraud and abuse provisions to strengthen

program integrity.

• It also helps to offset the impact of the energy tax on poor households

so the tax does not push them deeper into poverty. As the only low-

^ Under the Administration's budget, this goaJ would prindpally be met by an expansion of the

widely praised earned income tax credit. Full-time year-round minimum wage earnings would raise a

family of four to the poverty line when EITC benefits and food stamps are added, and payroll taxes

are subtracted. This formula for raising working poor families out of poverty thus relies in part on

receipt of food stamps by the working poor. USDA and Census data show, however, that a majority

of working poor households do not receive food stamps. As a result, measures to improve food

stamp participation by the working poor are important. The Administration's food stamp bill includes

measures that help in this regard, such as a provision that would raise the limit on the value of a

vehicle a food stamp household may own (many working poor families, especially in rural areas, need

a car to commute to work) and a provision that would enable working food stamp families to retain

their food stamps when they receive an earned income credit benefit. (At present, families can retain

their food stamps when they receive an EITC benefit, but in some cases, they are required to spend
their EITC payment rapidly in order to do so. That does not represent sound policy. The

Administration's bill would remedy this problem.)
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income benefit program that covers ail categories of poor households,

the food stamp program is a logical program to help perform this role.

The legislation includes numerous provisions. I will not attempt to cover most

of them here. An appendix to this testimony discusses several of the key provisions.

The Administration's Biil and Budgetary Issues

I do want to touch briefly on one other issue of particular interest to us at the

Center on Budget and Policy Priorities. One of our principcd areas of focus is the

federal budget, an area of interest to a number of members of the Subcommittee as

well, especially the Chairman. What are the budgetary aspects of this legislation?

The Administration's estimates show that starting in fiscal year 1995, its

legislation would cost $1.5 billion to $1.7 billion per year. The five-year cost would
be $6.95 billion. Some who have heard this five-year total have commented that it is

somewhat larger than earlier versions of the Leland bill. H.R. 529 would cost $6.3

billion over five years.

The added cost stems, however, from more honest budgeting, not from a more

expansive bill. Earlier versions of the Leland bill — including H.R. 529 — reduced

their five-year costs by phasing in most major provisions slowly. In fact, one of the

largest provisions in H.R. 529 would not take effect until the sixth year, which is

outside the five-year budget window.

This is not the case with the Administration's bill. Every provision of the bill

would be fully in place by FY 1995, with the costs essentially rising only with

inflation after that year. Because the Administration's bill does not use a slow phase-
in, it costs more over the next five years than H.R. 529. But its long-term costs are

lower than those of H.R. 529. In the sixth year and all subsequent years, it would cost

$200 million a year less than H.R. 529 would. In short, it costs more initially than

H.R. 529 and earlier versions of the Leland bill because it does not use the phasing
and back-loading provisions of the earlier pieces of legislation. But it costs less over

the long run because it is a less expansive piece of legislation.

I would also note that under the Administration's budget and the

Congressional budget resolution, the food stamp proposal is fully paid for and

complies with the "pay-as-you-go" requirement of the Budget Enforcement Act of

1990. The budget resolution would reduce the deficit by $496 billion over five years.

The entitlement changes alone would reduce the deficit by well over $100 billion

during this period.
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One Possible Modification in the Legislation

There is one aspect of the legislation that I believe might be modified slightly.

The bill proposes to reduce to 50 percent the federal matching rate for state

administrative costs in developing and ir\stalling computer systems, in undertaking
fraud investigations and prosecutions, and in using INS' system regarding the

verification of the status of non-citizens. This reduction in matching rates would be

effective April 1, 1994.

I believe the basic principle of this proposal is sound. After all these years, it

is reasonable to ask states to assume 50 percent of these costs, as they do of other

food stamp administrative costs. But I am concerned about the timing of this

provision. April 1, 1994, falls in the midst of the state fiscal year in virtually every

state. By the time the reconciliation bill is enacted this summer, most states wi]l have

completed work on their budgets for the coming year.

Moreover, many states are still in fiscal crisis due to the weak economy and

for other reasons. Since the proposal to reduce the federal matching rates is

essentially a proposal to shift costs from the federal government to the states, I

believe that states should be given more time to adjust to it.

1 would suggest that this provision begin to take effect on July 1, 1994, rather

than on April 1, 1994. Most state fiscal years begin July 1.

In addition, I would suggest that the reduction in matching rates be

implemented in stages over several years. That is also what early versions of the

President's budget proposed. Shortly before the budget was released February 17,

however, this proposal was changed to one in which the matching rates were

lowered in one fell swoop on April 1, 1994 as part of an effort to secure enough

savings to reach a particular deficit reduction target.

As it now turns out, the food stamp legislation that the Admiiustration

released yesterday does not use all of the budgetary resources allotted for it under

the President's budget and the Congressional budget resolution. As a result, there is

room to implement the reduction in matching rates in stages and still fully comply

with the budget targets for all years. I believe that such a course would be in the

interests both of sound administration of the food stamp program and equitable

treatment of the states.

That concludes my prepared testimony. I would be pleased to answer

questions and would again like to thank the Subcommittee for inviting me to testify.

(Attachment follows:) 3
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APPENDICES TO

TESTIMONY OF ROBERT GREENSTEIN
DIRECTOR, CENTER ON BUDGET AND POUCY PRIORITIES

APPENDIX 1

- Discussion of Major Provisions of H.R. 529 and the Administration Bill

1. Removing the ceiling on the shelter deduction

H.R. 529 and the Administration's bill would make a long overdue change in

the manner in which the food stcimp program treats housing costs when food stamp
benefit levels are determined. In theory, the food stamp benefit structure is supposed
to ensure that poor households have enough resources — including their food stamps— to purchase a low cost but nutritionally adequate diet after they meet the cost of

other necessities such as paying the rent. This goal is supposed to be achieved by

providing a deduction from household income (when food stamp benefit levels are

computed) for "excess shelter costs." Excess shelter costs cire defined as housing costs

that exceed 50 percent of a household's net income.

The problem is that for households that are not elderly or disabled, the shelter

deduction is limited to $200 a month, even if a household's excess shelter costs are

greater than this. Elderly and disabled households are allowed to deduct the full

amount of their excess shelter costs; other households, however — principally
faniilies with children — ese not. This meai\s that the very families that face the

most severe housing cost burdens — families that do not receive any HUD or FrrvHA

housing assistance and that pay extremely high proportions of their income for

housing
— are the families that are not permitted to deduct the full amount of their

excess shelter costs. (By defirution, families with lower housing cost burdens and a

smaller amount of excess shelter costs get to deduct their costs in full.) Under the

current food stamp benefit structure, farr\ilies with very high shelter costs are thus

assumed to have money available for food that actueilly must go to pay the rent; as a

result, their food stamp benefits are set at uru'ealistically low levels. In short, the

current food stamp benefit structure effectively compels some of these fcmiilies to

choose between paying the rent and utility bills and feedir\g their fanulies adequately

throughout the month.

There are also equity considerations. It is difficult to justify denying to poor
families with children the ability to deduct their excess shelter costs in full when the

elderly and disabled are permitted to do so. Census data show that the housing cost

burdens of poor families with children are generally more severe than those of the

elderly poor, because many of the elderly poor own their homes and have long since

paid off their mortgages.

The current structure of the food stamp shelter deduction dates from the Food

Stamp Act of 1977. At the time that Act was passed, it appeared that a ceiling could

be placed on the shelter deduction without causing widespread hardship. (There was
no ceiling on the deduction prior to the 1977 Act.) But what no one could know in

1977 was that the low-income housing market would change radically over the next
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decade. In 1978, the number of low-rent housing units (defined as units renting for

no more than $250 a month, as measured in 1989 dollars ) exceeded the number of

households with incomes below $10,000 a year. By contrast, in 1989, there were 4.1

million fewer low-rent units than there were households below $10,000, a sharp reversal

of the conditions that prevailed only a decade earlier. The result has been a startling

increase in the housing cost burdens of poor households.'

It is thus important to assure that families which bear housing costs that

consume a majority of their incomes should not have to choose between paying the

rent bill and missing meals — between hunger and, in some cases, homelessness.

H.R. 529 and the Administration's bill would remedy this problem. They would

elinunate the $200 ceiling on the shelter deduction so that food stamp benefits are

more adequate for those burdened by severe housing costs, and so that poor families

with children are treated in the same manner as elderly and disabled households

when food stamp benefit levels are determined.

This change would not make any household eligible for food stamps that is

not eligible under current law; what it would do is assure that some very poor
households now on the program who beeir especially high housing cost burdens

received a more adequate level of food stamp support. It would benefit large

numbers of low-income households in urban and rural areas alike and in-all regions

of the country. (See Appendix 2.)

2. Improving incentives for child support

One major cause of poverty among children is the low level of child support

provided by many absent fathers. In 1985, only 61 percent of the mothers of children

whose fathers were absent were covered by child support awards. Of those who had

such awards and were supposed to receive child support payments, more than h^
either received no payments or received less than the junount owed.

These statistics apply to all children, regardless of income level. For poor

children, the picture is considerably more grim. For example, in 1987, child support

'
It should also be noted that the principal reason a cap was placed on the shelter deduction by

the 1977 Act was that Congress worked to ensure that middle-income families could not qualify for

food stamps by subtracting so much in deductions from their gross income that their income (after

deductions) fell below the food stamp program's net income eligibility limits. In 1977, the only
income eligibility limit in the food stamp program was the net income limit — no gross income limit

existed.

This is no longer the case, however. In 1981, a gross income limit was established, equal to

130 percent of the poverty line (except for elderly and disabled households). As a result, a cap on the

shelter deduction is no longer needed to prevent non-low-income families from qualifying for food

stamps. The gross income lintut already accomplishes that task.
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payments were received for only 14 percent
— or just one in seven — of the families

with children on AFDC.

Welfare reform legislation passed in 1988 placed considerable emphasis on

strengthening child support collections, especially for children on AFDC. Increased

collections hold the promise not only of cdleviating child poverty, but also of

reducing the need for AFDC.

Unfortunately, however, a significant inconsistency between the AFDC

program and the food stamp program now serves to hinder efforts to boost child

support collections for children on AFDC.

One key to tracking down the absent fathers of children on AFDC — so that

child support payments can begin to be extracted from them — is the efforts of the

mother in helping authorities to locate and track down the father. Such efforts on the

part of the mother can be emotioruUy wrenching, and at times can even carry an

element of danger for the mother.

Not too long ago, the welfare system effectively discouraged the mother from

cooperating in these efforts. For each dollar collected from the absent father in child

support payments, the mother's AFIXZ grant was reduced one full dollar. As a

result, the mother and her children gained nothing from these efforts.

In 1984, as policymakers began to give far greater attention to the need to

increase child support collections. Congress altered this aspect of the welfare system.

The House Ways and Means and Senate Finance Committees concluded that a

mother on AFDC should be allowed to keep $50 a month in child support collections

as an incentive for her to help track down the absent father. Otherwise, an AFDC
mother who helped track down the father (and thereby saved money for the

taxpayer) would be no better off than an AFDC mother who did not help.

What the Ways and Means and Finance Corrmnittees overlooked, however, is

that the food stamp benefit structure partially undermines the incentive provision

they wrote into the AFDC statute. Under the food stamp program, the $50 in child

support which the mother is allowed to keep is counted against her food stamps
—

and her food stamp benefits are reduced as a result. As a consequence, the overall

net gain to the mother for helping to track down the absent father is reduced to

between $27.50 and $35 a month. Professiortals who work with AFEXI single-parents

report that these parents generally are well aware that the $50 child support payment
causes a loss in food stamps and that this can lead to cynicism about the benefit of

the child support system overall.
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The wise policy would be to make the food stamp program consistent with
AFDC and to disregard the $50 for food stamps as well. This would boost the

incentive for welfare mothers to help track down and collect payments from absent
fathers. H.R. 529 and the Adnninistration's bill include such a provision.

A second child support reform that is needed — and that both bills also

contain — involves the treatment of child support payments made by at>sent parents
if the absent parents are low-income themselves and apply for food stamps. Under

present law, no exclusion from income is provided for the child support payments an
absent parent makes. This means that if an absent parent remarries and has children

in his second family
— but still has low income — the payments he makes to support

the children in his original family are counted as though they represented income still

available to purchase food for his current family. As a result, his current family
receives fewer food stamps.

In addition to being an uiuealistic reflection of the resources available to the

absent parent's current family, this aspect of current law raises serious equity issues.

If two absent fathers have the same level of income before child support payments —
but one responsibly pays child support while the other fails to — both receive the

same amount of food stamps. Yet the father who has made the support payments
has less money left for food purchases than the father who makes no payments. Just

as a key principle of welfare reform has been that poor parents who work should be

better off than those who do not, so cilso should the families of absent parents who

pay child support be better off— or at least not worse off— than parents who

neglect their obligation to support their absent children. Because current food stamp
rviles violate this principle, some researchers have warned that these rules effectively

discourage child support payments.

Current food stamp rules also "double count" money paid as child support
from one poor household to another. This money is coimted first as income to the

absent parent making the child support payment {i.e., the parent's gross income is

counted without any deduction for the amount paid as child support) and then

counted again as income to the household that receives the child support payment.
This means the same dollars are simultaneously counted as income to two different

households, even though these funds cjm orUy be used once to buy food and other

necessities.

H.R. 529 and the Administration's bill would address this problem. They
would exclude legally binding child support payments that a household member
makes to support a diild outside the household from being counted as income

available to the household for food stamp purposes. This change should improve

program equity, promote compliance with child support obligations, and provide
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more adequate levels of food assistance to diildren living with parents or stepparents
who meet their support obligatioi^s to children in other households.

3. Asset limitations

H.R. 529 and the Administration's bill raise the limit on the market value of a

vehicle a household may own before the vehicle begins to be counted against the

food stamp assets limit. The current $4,500 limit is the same limit written into the

Act in 1977. It has not been changed since. Yet from 1977 to the present, the

Consumer Price Index for used cars has risen 125 percent.

In 1984, President Reagan's Task Force on Food Assistance noted that the limit

had not been modified since 1977 and recommended an upward adjustment to

$5,500. The Administration's bill includes such an adjustment. (President Reagan's
Task Force said that the lack of any adjustment in the limit was resulting in derual of

benefits to some legitimately needy households, such as unemployed households who
had purchased a modest car while they were working.)

In 1985, the House did approve an adjustment in the limit, but it was dropped
in conference with the Senate. Iri 1988, an adjustment was passed by the Senate but

dropped in conference with the House. By now, nearly a decade has passed since the

President's Task Force issued its report. As a consequence, the limit is now

significimtly more stringent than it was at that point.

It should be noted that the food stamp automobile limit is a "market value"

limit rather than an "equity" limit, meaning that a household can be disqualified for

food stamps even if it has little equity in its car and would get little for selling it.

The current food stamp rules in this area conflict with the goals of rewarding
work and fostering self-sufficiency. Consider the case of a family in which the

breadwinner has been laid off, and the family is thrust into poverty as a result. The

family may be unable to afford an adequate diet without the aid of food stamps, but

may fail to qualify because the market value of its car puts it modestly over the

assets limit. Forcing the family to sell its cm will make food stamps available — but

may make it more difficult for the family's breadwinner to search for and find a job.

This is partictdarly true in many rural areas, where a car may be essential to finding
and retcdning employment.

Similarly, a family in which a parent works hard but still is poor may need its

car for the parent to commute to work. Yet owrung the car can cause the family to

forgo food stamps even though it is poor and earris wages too low to allow it to

purchase an adequate diet.
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4. Basic benefit levels

Food stamp benefits for any fiscal year are based on the cost of USDA's thrifty
food plan in June of the previous fiscal year. Benefits for households with no

disposable income are set at 103 percent of the cost of the thrifty food plan in the

preceding June. H.R, 529 would raise the basic benefit level to 105 percent of the cost

of the thrifty plan in the preceding June. The Adnunistration's bill would raise the

benefit level to 104 percent of the cost of the thrifty food plan in June.

Use of the thrifty food plan as a basis for setting food stamp benefits has long
been a source of controversy. USDA food consumption surveys show that fewer

than one in every six households that has food expenditures equal in cost to the full

value of the thrifty food plan obtains the Recommended Daily Allowances for the

basic nutrients. Other surveys show that many food stamp households run low on

food toward the end of the month.

Basing food stamp benefits on USDA's next lowest cost food plan
— the Low

Cost Food Plan — would add about $4 billion a year in program costs. It is not

feasible, given budget constraints.

If, however, food stamp benefits are going to be based on the cost of the

thrifty food plan, the benefits should at least cover the thrifty food plan's actual cost.

Because benefit levels in any fiscal yeeir are biised on the cost of the thrifty plan in

June of the prior fiscal year, the benefits often fall below the current cost of the thrifty

plan.

Action which Congress took in 1988 in raising food stamp benefits to 103

percent of the cost of the previous June's thrifty plan helped to address this matter,

but did not fully do the job. An historical aiudysis shows that, on average, the cost of

the thrifty food plan during the last half of the fiscal year exceeds the plan's cost in

June of the previous fiscal year by more than three percent. The food stamp benefit

standard should be adjusted so that food stamp benefits are more likely to afford

food stamp households an opportunity throughout the fiscal year to purchase the

foods in the thrifty plaiv At current rates of inflation, this entails raising the benefit

standard from 103 percent of the cost of the thrifty food plan in the preceding year to

104 percent, as the Administration has proposed.

5. The food stamp household unit

One aspect of the food stamp benefit structure that adds substantial program

complexity and also causes hardship involves the rules for deternuning when people

living together constitute a single food stamp "household." Prior to 1981, individuals

living together who purchased food and prepared meeds in common were considered
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one food stamp household. However, these mles were changed in 1981, changed
again in 1982, and changed further in 1987. Each change made the rules more

complicated; they are now quite intricate.

The concern that led to the changes in 1981 was a fear that some people who
really ought to be combined into one household — such as a husband and wife or a

parent and teen-age child — could purchase food and prepare meals separately and

apply as separate households. In this manner, a spouse or a child in a non-low

income household might be able to maneuver the rules to qualify for food stamps.

The current statutory provisions, however, go beyond what is needed to close

this potential loophole. The current rules not only require that spouses and their

minor children must be considered a food stamp household regardless of whether

they purchase food and prepare meals in common, but also require that in certain

cases, adult siblings and their families who are "doubling up" must also be combined
into a single household unit — even if they are economically distinct.

This provision makes the program harder to administer and more error-prone.
It also makes some legitimately poor families ineligible for food stamps (or eligible

for smaller benefits) because they are doubling up with the famjly of a sibling that is

not as low income as they are. It is appropriate to combine such families into a

single food stamp household if they are sharing food costs, but not if the families are

economically distinct and are not sharing food expenditures. Accordingly, H.R. 529

and the Administration's bill would retain the requirement of current law that

spouses and their minor children be considered a single food stamp household

regardless of whether they purchase and prepare food in common, while removing
the provision extending this inflexible and automatic requirement to adult siblings

and their families as well. The provision is designed in a manner to reduce

substantially the complexity of the current rules and is strongly supported by state

administrators.

6. Pro-rating benefits for households being recertified

Another policy reform involves the treatment of households being recertified

for the food stamp program. The General Accounting Office has reported that the

food stamp rules affecting such households can cause hardship.

Prior to 1981, households applying for food stamps received benefits

retroactive to the first day of the month of application. Hence, a household applying
on November 20 received benefits back to November 1.
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In 1981, the Reagan Adnunistration proposed changing this policy, and

Congress agreed. Benefits were to be provided from the date of application, not the

first day of the month of application.

In proposing this change in 1981, the Reagan Administration specifically
recommended that it should apply to new applications

— but not to households

already on the program who were being "recertified" for food stamps. There was a

strong policy reason for this distinction.

If a household applies for food stamps on November 20, the reason it did not

apply earlier in the month may be that the household did not need food stamps
earlier in the month. The household's breadwinner might have been laid off

November 10 or 15, rather than on November 1.

By contrast, a poor household that is certified to receive food stamps for a

period of time (such as six months) and whose certificabon period ends on October

31 might be in continuous need of food stamps, but not understand that its

certification period had ended and that it consequently needs to go to the food stamp
office to be recertified. The Reagan Adnunistration's 1981 proposal specified that if a

household already on food stamps came in to be recertified within 30 days of the end

of its prior certification period
— and if the household was found still to be eligible— it would receive a full month's benefits, in recognition of the fact that there had

been no interruption of need.

This approach was adopted by Congress in 1981. In 1982, however, when the

Senate Agriculture Coirunittee was a little bit short of its budget target, it extended

the requirement to pro-rate food stamp benefits so that this rule also applied at

recertification. Under the 1982 provision (which the House accepted in conference), a

food stamp household which has a certification period ending on October 30 — but

which does not realize its certification is expiring until its benefits for the next month

fail to arrive, and which consequently reapplies on November 15 — loses half a

month of benefits.^

In a report issued in June 1989, the GAO found that this rule was causing

hardship and encouraged Congress to consider modifying the pro-rating provisions

^
It should be noted that the fact that half a month has gone by does not mean such a

household no longer has a need for a full month's allotment. Most households are exoected to spend
a portion of their own incomes on food, with their funds being supplemented by the food stamp
t>enefit. If a household does not receive its food stamp benefit until the month is half gone, it may
have compensated in the interim by spending

—
during the first t\alf of the month — all or nearly all

of the cash income it has available for food for the entire month. Hence, the household would need its

full monthly food stamp l>enefits to enable it to purchase an adequate diet for the remainder of the

month.

8
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in a manner identical to what Congress had approved in 1981. That is what H.R. 529

and the Admirustration's bill do. Such a change is needed; the current provision can

cause hardship in such circumstances as when an elderly or handicapped person
—

or a person with limited literacy skills or other problems
— does not understand a

bureaucratic notice telling the person that his or her food stamp certification period is

expiring and that the person needs to submit a new application to remain on the

program. In a number of such cases, the household may not understand what has

happened until a number of days go by after the time of the month its food stamps
or food stamp authorization card normally arrives in the mail. In addition, a

household may reapply late because it has been sick; GAO found severed such cases

in its survey. It would be a humane act to end the proration of benefits at

recertificatiorv Some hunger and hardship would be eliminated as a result.

In 1988, Congress did end the proration of benefits at recertification for

migrant farmworker households. The reform in H.R. 529 and the Administration's

bill would extend the provision already in effect for migrants to the rest of the food

stamp caseload.
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APPENDIX 2

HOUSEHOLDS WITH HIGH SHELTER COSTS

Data from the American Housing Survey

Census data show that in 1989, there were 5.3 million poor households in the

nation that paid at least 50 percent of their income for housing. These households

were spread over all regions.

• Some 1.17 million — or 22 percent
— were in the Northeast.

• Some 1.28 million— or 24 percent were in the Midwest, while 1.04

million — or 20 percent
— were in the West.

• The largest number
— 1.81 million, or 34 percent

— were in the South.

This is because there are significantly more poor people in the South

than in any other region.

If the percentage of poor households with housing costs in excess of 50 percent

of income is examined, the Northeast is highest
— but not by that much. Some 65

percent of all poor households in the Northeast pay at least 50 percent of income for

housing but so, for example, do 60 percent of poor households in the West.

Moreover, looking only at the percentage figures gives an incomplete picture;

it fails to take into account that the Northeast has the lowest poverty rate of any region.

While a larger proportion of the poor in that region have high shelter costs, the poor

constitute a smaller proportion of the overall population there than anywhere else.

Data from the Congressional Budget Office

In 1990, CBO ran some numbers to see which households would be helped by

the proposal to eliminate the ceiling on the food stamp shelter deduction. The results

show:

• Most are families with children. Some 81 percent of all households that

would be assisted are households with children.

• There would be large numbers of households affected in every region of

the country. For example, 31 percent of the households affected would

be from the Northeast (which as the Census Bureau defines it, includes

10
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New York, New Jersey, and Pennsylvania), but nearly as high a

percentage
— 25 percent

— would be from the South.

(Thus, the view that most of those helped would be from the Northeast

is not correct. Seven of every 10 households helped would be from

other parts of the country. A somewhat larger percentage of food

stamp households in the Northeast than in other regions would be

aided, but both the percentage and the number of households assisted is

large in every region.)

Raising the shelter cap helps large numbers of households in every

region because the cap does not depend solely on housing costs. It also

depends on household income. Areas with the highest housing costs

also tend to provide well-above-average welfare payments. Areas with

low housing costs tend to have lower welfare benefits and below-

average wages. Thus, while housing costs are lower in the South than

in other regions, wages are also lower in that region
— and welfcire

benefit levels are much lower. Since the shelter deduction equals the

amount by which household shelter costs exceed 50 percent of net

household income, many households in all regions are affected by the

current shelter cap.

11
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TESTIMONY OF ROBERT J. FERSH

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

FOOD RESEARCH AND ACTION CENTER

Good afternoon. My name is Robert Fersh, and I am the

Executive Director of the Food Research and Action Center (FRAG) .

I would like to thank you, Mr. Chairman, and the other Members of

the Subcommittee for inviting me here to testify concerning the

critical problem of hunger in this country and to offer our support

for passage of the Mickey Leland Childhood Hunger Relief Act. The

Leland Bill forvards one of the primary goals of the Campaign to

End Childhood Hunger (CTECH) , improving the Food Stamp Program.

The Campaign combines the efforts of hundreds of state and local

anti-hunger advocates, food bankers, religious groups, business

leaders and many others in a coordinated fight to end childhood

hunger in the United States.

I. It is Time to Pass the Leland Bill

" The last days of each month I cut the size of meals so the

food can last all the days of the fourth week." Mary, mother

of 3.

" My husband and I will make do with beans and potatoes so we

make sure the kids can eat." Estella, mother of 4.

"My husband cuts the sizes of meals for us or skips meals so

that the children get to eat something." Christine, mother of

3.

"Sometimes [my son] tries not to eat because he knows that we



206

do not have enough food." Tina, unemployed due to medical

emergency, living with sister, mother of 1.

These are the voices of hunger in the United States; they are

real people whose stories were documented by the Center on Policy

Priorities in Austin, Texas, as part of ongoing surveys for the

Community Childhood Hunger Identification Project (CCHIP) . The

Leland Bill is targeted to help these families, and the millions of

people like them who are struggling to feed, house, and clothe

their families. They cannot afford to wait any longer for the help

they so desperately need. This vital assistance is long overdue.

As the Subcommittee is aware, the Leland Bill, pending since

1990, has strong bipartisan support. Perhaps there is no greater

proof that hunger is not a partisan issue than the track record of

the Leland Bill. It has passed the House twice on bipartisan votes.

In 1990, the Leland Bill passed the House by a 336-83 vote with

every Democrat and a majority of Republicans supporting the bill.

In 1992, key provisions of the bill were combined with a child

welfare bill and approved on the House floor by a 256-163 vote. In

1991, it cleared the House Agriculture Committee unanimously and

the Senate Agriculture Committee by a vote of 14 to 1.

This year the Congressional Budget Resolution includes funding

to implement the bill: a five year increase of $7.5 billion for

the Food Stamp Program. The House Budget Committee Report stated:

the "increased funding would allow the funding of food stamp and

other improvements contained in the Mickey Leland Hunger Relief

.,
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Act." Similarly, the Senate Budget Committee Report specifically

referenced the major provisions of the Leland Bill. Given this

context, we urge the Congress to move swiftly, and on a bipartisan

basis, to enact this legislation.

II. A Crisis of Childhood Poverty and Hunger

The nature and extent of the crisis of childhood hunger has

been documented by careful and respected research. According to

the CCHIP:

• approximately five million children under the age of 12 in

the Onited States go hungry at some point each month;

• on average, these children experience hunger seven days a

month, six months a year;

• hungry families have average incomes about 25 percent below

the poverty line;

• hungry families spend, on average, over half of their gross

incomes on shelter costs, leaving far too little for food and

other necessities; and

• hungry children, compared with other low-income children,

suffer from two to three times as many individual health

problems, such as unwanted weight loss, fatigue, headaches,

irritability, inability to concentrate and frequent colds.

These findings, while disturbing, are well-grounded. The

National Center of Health Statistics has called CCHIP 's methodology

"well-developed and executed." The General Accounting Office

utilized the definition of hunger developed for CCHIP for the GAO's
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1990 report, Recipient and Expert Views on Food Assistance at Four

Indian Reservations .

Government studies and reports confirm the health

consequences of hunger among children. For example:

• The most recent National Health and Nutrition Examination

Survey (NHANES) found that low-income children are more likely

to suffer from stunted growth and iron-deficiency (anemia) ;

• In the late 1980s, the Centers for Disease Control reported

that anemia remains a significant problem among low-income

children;

• In the mid 1980s, the Joint Nutrition Monitoring Evaluation

Committee reported that 1) as income decreases, nutrient

levels also decrease and 2) growth stunting and iron

deficiency are significant problems among low-income children;

and

• In 1990, the U.S. Public Health Service reported that

significant numbers of low-income children continue to suffer

retarded growth.

Organizations on the front lines of the anti-hunger fight can

attest to the acute and growing nature of the crisis. The U.S.

Conference of Mayors has documented an annual increase in the

demand for emergency food in major U.S. cities since 1983. In 1992

alone, requests for emergency food in survey cities increased on

average 18 percent; the number of families with children requesting

assistance increased by 14 percent. Similarly, a national survey

by Catholic Charities, USA shows that six out of 10 people who went

I
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to Catholic Charities agencies in 1990 needed emergency food or

shelter, up dramatically from two out of 10 persons a decade

earlier.

III. The Food Stamp Program and TEFAP; Important Defenses for

Poor Children

The Food Stamp Program is our nation's largest and first

defense against hunger. It is the only kind of public assistance

that the federal government offers to low-income people no matter

what their age or health status. The Program reaches a significant

number of poor Americans; as of January 1993, 26.8 million persons

were participating in the Program — 3.5 million more than in

June 1990 when the economy started to turn downward. While the

recovery moves slowly to produce adequate numbers of jobs, the Food

Stamp Program has been vital in tiding many families over.

The Food Stamp Program is well targeted on those most in need.

The U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) reports that 52 percent

of all the people participating in the Food Stamp Program are

children — people whose health status and school attendance were

documented by CCHIP as negatively affected by hunger. Over 80

percent of food stamp benefits go to low-income households with

children. Indeed, a large proportion of Food Stamp Program

participants are the poorest of the poor — nine out of 10 have

gross incomes less than the poverty line and four out of every 10

food stamp recipients have total gross incomes less than half the

poverty line .

The Emergency Food Assistance Program (TEFAP) fills an
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inportant gap in our ciirrent social services system by providing

commodities to feunilies in need. For many, TEFAP is a supplement

for food stamps. For others, who may be uncomfortable with the

stigma that often attaches to food stamps, it may be the only food

assistance received.

Food banks across the country, however, report growing

difficulty in meeting the demand created by increases in the number

of persons seeking emergency food. The Leland Bill as introduced

by then Congressman Leon Panetta and Representative Bill Emerson

would strengthen the TEFAP program. He believe strengthening of

TEFAP is warranted.

r7. The Leland Bill Would Help Families with Children

The Leland Bill would make the Food Stamp Program more

effective in combatting hunger. The Leland Bill would improve the

Progreun, increasing access and adequacy of benefits, particularly

for families with children and those on the brink of homelessness .

Over 90 percent of the Leland Bill's benefits would go to families

with children . The Leland Bill would also compensate for

additional costs caused by an increased energy tax.

A. Repealing the Excess Shelter Cap

The Leland Bill would standardize for all food stamp house-

holds the deduction for high shelter costs. Under current law,

households may deduct shelter expenses that exceed 50 percent of

their incomes, but most are subject to a cap of $200 a month. The
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current cap does not apply to elderly and disabled households. The

bill would remove the cap for all households.

CCHIP survey results show that hungry households spend a dis-

proportionate share of their gross income on shelter costs (54 per-

cent) and, therefore, do not have enough money left for food. HUD

and Census Bureau data demonstrate that 45 percent of all poor

renters spend at least 70 percent of their incomes on shelter

costs .

The excess shelter deduction was implemented to a/oid forcing

households with high housing and utility costs to choose between

feeding their families and paying their shelter costs. The cap,

however, undercuts the effectiveness of this deduction for families

with high shelter costs. Moreover, removal of the cap is

particularly important to offset the effects on poor families of

the energy tax. Removal of the shelter cap would benefit more than

one million families with children across the country.

For example, Ms. Cynthia Mejia and her three year old son live

in New York City and currently have income of $74 3 per month; their

shelter costs for food stamp purposes total $717. If there were no

shelter cap, Ms. Mejia would be able to deduct $448 in shelter

costs, (which is the amount by which her shelter costs exceed 50

percent of her adjusted net income) . Because of the present

shelter cap of $200, however, Ms. Mejia can currently deduct only

$200.

The effect of the cap on the amount of benefits the Mejias and

families like them receive is dramatic: Ms. Mejia currently is
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eligible for only $57 in food stamps per month; if the shelter cap

were removed, she would be eligible for $153 per month. In other

words, enactment of this Leland Bill provision would mean that the

average daily meal benefit for her and her son would go from a

current $0.62 to $1.64.

B. The Household Definition

The Leland Bill would allow relatives (except spouses and

parents with minor children) to apply separately for food stamps if

they buy and cook food separately. Under current law, most

parents, their adult children, and siblings must apply together for

food st€unps even if they do not share resources or buy and cook

food together. If one person has too much income or assets, none

of the relatives living with him or her can get food stamps.
•

The current law has the effect of penalizing some food stamp

recipients for taking in relatives in need and preventing those in

need from moving in with relatives. The current law may also force

homeless people to choose between shelter opportunities with a

relative and food stamps, which they may lose if they move in with

a relative. • These rules not only deny needy people food stamps but

also may break up families and force people on the brink of

homelessness into shelters.

The problem is all too real. Mr. Michael McQuade is an adult

from Dover, Delaware, who moved in with his brother and his

brother's family in 1992 when he lost his job and became homeless.

Mr. McQuade 's brother and his wife were each working two jobs to

8
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support themselves, their children and Mr. McQuade's elderly

mother. They were barely making ends meet themselves and so could

not afford to feed Mr. McQuade. Mr. McQuade applied for food

stamps but was denied because current law requires counting his

brother's and sister-in-law's income in determining Mr. McQuade's

eligibility. As a result, for the months until he was able to find

a job, Mr. McQuade was forced to live on the irregular meals he

could scrape together from already overburdened charities until he

was able to find a job.

Congressional action on the Leland Bill is needed so that

homeless persons like Mr. McQuade, who move in with relatives

during periods of financial difficulty, do not have to face the

indignities of going without food but instead get the food

assistance they need.

C. Positive Initiatives to Encourage child Support Payment

and Collection

The Leland Bill would offer positive incentives for custodial

parents to seek, and absent parents to pay, child support. These

provisions: 1) would exclude the first $50 a month received as

child support from consideration as income in determining food

stamp allotments for the recipient; and 2) would exclude from

income any legally binding child support payments a household

member makes to support a child outside his/her household.

Aid to Families with Dependent Children (AFDC) already allows

households to keep the first $50 of child support received each
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month. The $50 exclusion recognizes the importance of having

parents assume responsibility for their children: it gives

custodial parents an incentive to seek out absent parents and

absent parents an incentive to pay child support. The Food Stamp

Program currently undercuts these incentives by counting the $50

payments as income, thereby reducing the household's food stamp

allotment.

The second child support provision, exclusion of money paid

out as child support, would encourage low-income absent parents to

make support payments. It would also ensure that the ability of

these parents to feed their current families is not unduly burdened

by the performance of their child support obligations. Under

present law, no exclusion from income is provided for child support

payments an absent parent makes. This means that if an absent

parent remarries and has children in his second family—but still

has low income—the payments he makes to support the children from

his first marriage are counted as though they represented income

still available to buy food for his cxirrent family.

The Leland Bill provisions would also correct an inequity

created by current law under which money paid as child support from

one poor household to another is now "double-counted" as income.

It is counted first as income to the absent parent making the child

support payment (i.e., the parent's gross income is counted without

deduction for the amount paid as child support) and then counted

again as income to the household that receives the payment. This

means the same dollars are counted as income to two different

10
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households, even though these funds can only be used once to buy

food and other necessities.

D. Promoting Self-sufficiency

The Leland Bill would raise the current $4,500 limit on the

fair market value of vehicles that food stamp recipients may own.

The current $4,500 vehicle limit was written into the Food Stamp

Act in 1977 and has not changed since, despite substantial

inflation. As inflation has passed the $4,500 vehicle resource

limit by, more and more working families are rendered ineligible

for food stamps because of cars they depend upon to get to or look

for work. Many working households are faced with selling their

cars or foregoing participation on the Food Stamp Program.

The problem is real. Eugene and Debbie Harris and their five

children live in Braxton County, West Virginia. The Harrises live

in a rural area and own a 1991 Chevy S-10 pick-up truck, which they

need for everyday transportation. The Harrises purchased the

vehicle on credit and still owe a substantial amount of money on

it. In 1991, Mr. Harris lost his job in a local mine; when his

unemployment benefits ran out, he applied for food stamps. Because

the value of the Harrises' truck exceeds the current limit on

vehicles, the Harrises were denied food stamp benefits.

The Leland Bill would make changes to ensure that families

like the Harrises are not denied the food assistance they need to

feed their children.

The committee may want to consider other changes in asset

11
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policy to assist low-income families. Especially in light of

potential expansion of the Earned Income Tax Credit (EITC) , we need

to make sure that receipt of the lump sum EITC does not force

people off the Food Stamp Program. We also need to ensure that

families are encouraged to save the EITC money or spend it in a

responsible manner.

While we are uncertain how wide and positive an impact it

might have, we believe encouraging asset accumulation among the

poor could promote greater economic independence in some instances.

Some further exploration of this might be warranted.

B. Ensuring the Adequacy of Food Stamp Benefits

We support the Leland Bill's provision raising basic food

stamp benefits. We know, based on our CCHIP findings, that a large

percentage of hungry families are participating in the Food Stamp

Program. Most of these families, however, cannot feed themselves

for an entire month on food stamps, even when combined with other

household income, and find themselves running out of money for food

between the second and third weeks.

Supporting this finding, studies indicate inadequacies in the

Thrifty Food Plan on which food stamp allotment levels are based.

Assumptions upon which the Thrifty Food Plan is based, including

assumptions about food storage facilities, food preparation time,

and food availability, lend to the inadequacy of the Plan. Studies

also indicate that since food stamp benefits are based on the cost

of the Thrifty Food Plan four to 16 months earlier, as food prices

rise with inflation, food stamp households lag several percentage

12
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points behind in purchasing power. In addition, USDA research

shows that, of low-income households whose spending for food

(including cash and food stamps) is roughly equal to the maximum

food stamp allotment, only 12 percent obtain the Recommended

Dietary Allowances for 11 key nutrients.

Food stamps provide an average of only about $0.75 per person

per meal. Although most households add some money for food, it is

clearly not enough — they run out of food in spite of the fact

that they participate in the Food Stamp Program.

For example, Martha Bryson is a single mother living in

Austin, Texas, with her three children, ages 14, seven, and four.

Ms. Bryson works 50 hours a week as an administrative technician

and teacher at a hospital for the mentally ill. Although Ms.

Bryson works full time, she is unable to feed her family on her

income. Ms. Bryson brings home approximately $1,100 per month in

income. Her shelter expenses, including utilities generally total

$450 per month. She pays $100 per month in premiums for health

care for her children and spends approximately $130 per month

repaying student loans. She owns a 1978 Datsun which she needs to

get to work.

Ms. Bryson currently receives $100 per month in food stamps.

The benefits do not last the entire month and she often must take

her children to food pantries or simply "go hungry" toward the end

of the month. Hungry families like the Brysons will benefit from

even this modest increase in benefits.

13
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F. Additional Proviaions

We also applaud additional Leland Bill provisions which would

assist persons living in rural areas, homeless persons, high school

students, persons with disabilities and other persons with low-

incomes to receive the food assistance they so desperately need.

• The bill would help homeless families in transitional

housing by excluding from income the full amount of vendor

payments (payments made to third parties) for transitional

housing for homeless households.

• The bill would assist disabled persons by increasing the

resource limit from $2,000 to $3,000 for any household

containing a disabled member.

• It would strengthen food stamp employment and training

(E&T) programs by raising dependent care reimbursements and

the reimbursement limit for work-related costs.

• The bill would count as income local or state General

Assistance (GA) vendor payments for housing, but would exclude

GA vendor payments for other living expenses. This provision

would help General Assistance recipients who are "the poorest

of the -poor."

• It would ease procedures for reapplication for persons who

despite continuing eligibility were removed from the progreun

for procedural reasons and are returning to the program after

one month.

• It would enable high school students to complete their

education by excluding income of all high school students

14
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regardless of their age.

• The bill would assist families in rural areas by excluding

as a resource vehicles necessary to carry fuel for heating or

water when that fuel or water is the primary source for the

household.

• It would increase funding for the Nutritional Assistance

Program (NAP) in Puerto Rico.

• It would assure adequate funding for the Food Stamp

Program. It would delete from the Act provisions that

authorize the reduction of benefits to households and

notification to states if the Secretary of Agriculture

determines that Food Stamp Program funding is insufficient.

IV. Conclusion

We thank you for the opportunity to testify and address the

serious needs of families with low-incomes in this country. We at

FRAC stand ready to assist the Subcommittee in any way we can. We

hope the Subcommittee will take advantage of the opportunities this

year presents to make the Food Stamp Program more effective in

combatting hunger in America.

The Food Research and Action Center (FRAC), a non-profit 501(c)(3)
organization founded in 1970, is a leader in the fight to improve
national policies to end hunger in the United States. FRAC is

coordinating the Campaign to End Childhood Hunger (CTECH) , a

comprehensive effort, by hundreds of citizens in 50 states, to end
childhood hunger in the United States.

(Attachments follow:) 1-5
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Millions of kids are hungry in America.

Campaign to End Childhood Hunger

MilUoos of kids are hungry in America.

About five millioo children under age 12 — 1 io 8 — go hungry each month.

Hunger burti.

It robe children of proper physical development.

It cause* health problems and it iolerfetes with a child's ability to cooceotnte and learn.

Hunger make* children less likely to reach their potential.

That is why we launched the Campaign to End Childhood Hunger.

We can end childhood hunger now.

Here's the Hiallmge. The primary cause of hunger in the United States is poverty, and in our country today, one in five

children is poor. In the long run, the availability of quality education and training, jobs with living wages, and ^'Ir^r'afT

and affordable bousing, child care and health care will lift funilies out of poverty. Bui hungry children cannot waitfor the

long nut.

The CwnpaigB is feeding kids today. The Campaign to End Childhood Hunger is the most ambitious, sustained and

coordinated natiotuU effort ever undertaken to eliminate hunger in the United Stales. The Campaign is ensuring that children

from Cunilies with low incomes are getting the food they need to be healthy and productive. Most notably, the Campaign
is playing a maior role in:

• iocieasing national and state fimding for the Special Supplemental Food Program for Women. Inftnts and Children,

bringing food to our most vulnerable citizens;

• starting thousands of new school brcakAst programs reaching hundreds of thousands of needy children each

morning;
• protecting school lunch from '*»"~r"g budget proposab;
• expanding wimmrr food programs for needy children when school is closed;

• making the child care food program available in bmity day care homes;
• promoting reforms in the Food Stamp Program to feed hungry funilies;

• ensuring the distribution of food for the hungry and homeless through The Emergency Food Assistance Program;
and

• forging new partnerships and creating new opportunities to ensure that no child goes hungry in this country.

There is a place for everyone in the Campaign.

Coordinated by the Food Research and Action Center, the Campaign is being waged actively by hundreds of citizen groups
in SO states. The Campaign's National Advisory Council includes corporate executives, labor union presidents, bipartisan

leadership in the U.S. Congress, religious leaders, creative artists and experts in hunger and poverty.

The Campaign has the endorsement of more than 100 natirwal
organizations, representing millioas of Americans. These

groups iochide the U.S. ConfiBreace of Mayors, the Second Harvest National Food Bank Network, the National Urban

Leagiw, the AFL-CIO, die League of Women Voters, the Children's Defease Fund, and Catholic Charities USA.

1>

Gampailn To End Childhood Hun^
1175 Couectical Ave. N.W. #J40 •

Waibiiigiaa, DC. 20009 •
(202)986-2200

• FAX (202)986-2325
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At the stale and community levels. Campaign coalitions actively involve hunger and poverty advocates, elected leaders,

educators, parents, people with low incomes, volunleans, corporate and business leaders, government workers, religious

congregations, medical professionals, researchers and many, many others.

The Campaign to End Childhood Hunger is pledged to:

• Ensurt that all of those who art eligible have access to the Special SuppUmental Food Program for Women,

Infants and Children (WIC). Participation in WIC results in improved nutrition and significant savings in federal

health care costs. Yet, inadequate funding leaves many eligible people without benefits.

• Expand the availability of the School Breakfast Program and ensure that the National School Lunch Program
remains accessible to all children. Children from low-income households receive up to one-half of their daily

nutrient intake from school lunch. School breakfiast participation leads to higher test scores and better attrndanrfi

records. Yet, the School Breakfast Program is available in only half of the schools that offer lunch; and stigma,

red tape and other barriers keep many needy children out of the lunchroom.

• Feed children when they are not in school by greatly expanding use of the Summer Food Service Program for

Childnn and the Child and Adult Care Food Program. Just a fraction of the low-income children who receive

lunch at school have access to summer meals because few eligible sponsors choose to offer them. Likewise, many

low-income children go without benefits from the child care food program because their day care providers do not

participate.'

• Strengthen our nation 'sfirst line ofdefense against hunger
— the Food Stamp Program — by supporting program

improvements so that children and theirfamilies will have enough to eat each month. One in ten Americans receives

food stamps; yet benefits are inadequate. And, millions of children, women and men in need are unable to

participate because of program barriers.

And ultimately to:

• Achieve 'food security
' so that all people have access to a nutritionally-adequate diet with dignity as a matter of

right.

Here's how we do it.

Working with key groups in every state, the Campaign:

strengthens local coalitions;

educates the public on the extent, causes and solutions to hunger;

promotes increased governmental response to childhood hunger,

uses the media to get the message out on hungry children;

engages in groundbreaking research on childhood hunger and poverty;

conducts natioiul and statewide conferences and skill-building training sessions;

produces and distributes educational videotapes, fact sheets and reports;

shares information using computer networks and other technologies.

Be informed. Be involved.

If yott are not hungry yourself, or living in poverty, or involved in helping those who are, it is all too easy to ignore the

misfortune and pain of others. And while many may avert their eyes and close their minds, the problems are real and they

are severe. Unless action is taken now, these probletns will only increase in magnitude until the cost of attacking them

becomes overwhelming and millions of children suffer needlessly.

MDlioas of Idtis are hungry in America. Join the Campaign to End Childhood Hunger!

For iiiformation, contaa: Food R(seard> and Action Center, ir7S Connecticut Avenue, N.W. fS40,

Washington. D.C. 20009; (202) 986-2200
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Millions of kids are hungry in America.

Hunger in the United States

February 1993

Extent of Hunger

About five million American children under 12 go hungry each month and millions more are at

risk of hunger according to estimates based on the results of the most comprehensive study ever done

on childhood hunger in the United States -- the Community Childhood Hunger Identification Project

(CCHIP). Hunger was shown to be a major problem among low-income families with children less than

12 years old in all of the CCHIP sites. Based on the results of CCHIP surveys applied to the best

available national data, FRAC estimates that approximately 12 percent of all families with children

under 12 are hungry. The CCHIP estimates are based on pre-recession data; current hunger rates are

probably much higher.

Other private and government surveys conducted throughout the last decade also document dramatic

increases in the demand for emergency food:

• Since 1983, the U.S. Conference of Mayors has documented an annual increase in the demand
for emergency food in major cities across the nation. In 1992, requests for emergency food

increased in the survey cities by an average of 18 percent. The number of families with children

requesting assistance increased by 14 percent. Two out of three persons requesting emergency
food assistance were members of families. In over two-thirds of the cities, emergency food

assistance facilities turned away people in need because of lack of resources. Unemployment
and employment-related problems led the list of causes of hunger.

• A national survey conducted by Catholic Charities USA, the nation's largest private human
service organization, shows that six out of every 10 people (62 percent) who went to Catholic

Charities agencies in 1990 needed emergency food or shelter. Ten years earlier, only two out

of every 10 people (23 percent) sought those services.

While no one knows exactly how many people in this country are hungry, there is no question that

millions face hunger every month.

O
Campaign To End Childhood Hunger

1875 Connecticut Ave. N.W. #540 •
Washington. DC. 20009 • (202)9«6-2200

• FAX (202)986-2525
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Causes of Hui^r

During the 1980s and etriy 1990s, hunger increased primarily due to a combination of economic fxtan

and cuts in federal assistance programs.

Income and poverty data released annually by the U.S. Commerce Department's Bureau of the Census

show that the lion's share of the income gains during the seven year economic expansion of the 1980s

went to those at the top end of the income scale, while poverty remained consistently high (see 'Hunger
and Poverty,' below). As recession hit in 1990 - signaled by a slowing economy, increases in the

unemployment rate, rapidly growing demand for food stamps and other public assistance programs, and

emerging budget crises at all levels of government
~ an already high poverty rate began to grow.

Participation in the Food Stamp Program and Aid to Families with Dependent Children (AFDQ have

increased substantiaUy in the last few years and are now at all-time high levels. More than seven

million people have been added to the food stamp program since the start of the recession. In fact, one

in 10 Americans is now receiving food stamps.

The recession that b^an in 1990 came on top of significant cutbacks in federal programs aiding low-

income pec^le in the early 1980s. This weakening of the "safety net' included cuts in programs like

AFDC, Medicaid, and Unemployment Compensation, in addition to food assistance programs.

According to the Congressional Budget Office, food stamp and child nutrition programs incurred a

cumulative cut of $12.2 billion between fiscal year 1982 and fiscal year 1985. De^te some restoration

of funds to these programs, the cuts have had lasting effects.

State and local governments and private charities, which were enlisted to make up for federal cutbacks

and budget restraints, are increasingly unable to shoulder the burden. Many states are now in financial

crisis and arc announcing severe cuts in human services programs. Private charities — such as soup

kitchens and food banks designed to meet emergency need — find donations unpredictable amid

increasing demand. Over 90 percent of the cities participating in the U.S; Conference of Mayors' 1992

survey rqwrted that the recession has increased the problem of (lunger in their jurisdictions. And, nine

out often cities expect the demand for emergency food assistance to increase throughout 1993. Catholic

Charities USA, reacting to the results of their survey of local agencies, collected 10,000 letters to

Congress voicing support for improvements in the Food Stamp Program to meet the growing need.

Moreover, CCHIP data and other sources indicate that because of barriers to participation, lack of

information about eligibility, or inadequate funding, many of the federal food assistance programs are

not used by million of people who appear eligible to participate in them. Also, survey results

consistently show that food stamp benefits are not sufficient to protect many low-income families from

experiencing hunger.

Without significant improvements in the economy and stronger safety-net programs, hunger will persist.
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Hunger and Poyerty

Hunger is a condition of poverty. Living below the poverty line puts tremendous strains on a household

budget, adversely affecting the ability to purchase a nutritionally adequate diet. In fact, government

surveys show that as income goes down, the nutritional adequacy of the diet goes down as well.

According to data released by the U.S. Census Bureau in September 1992, 35.7 million Americans -

or 14.2 percent of our population
- lived in poverty in 1991. This increase, from 33.6 million in 1990,

rq>resents the highest number of people in poverty since 1964.

Oiildren continued to be the poorest age group in the country, a tragic distinction they have had for 19

yean. In 1991:

• 21.8 percent of all American children ~ one in five -- were poor;
• 25.S percent of children under age three lived below the poverty line;

• for black children, the poverty rate increased from 44.8 percent in 1990 to 46 percent;
• 12.4 percent of all Americans 65 and over were poor;
• the poverty level for a family of four was $13,924.

Continuing economic stagnation has been particularly difficult for the working poor, whose numbers

grew throughout the 1980s. The working poor are at risk of hunger because their income often is not

sufficient to cover all of their living expenses, including food. Roughly 15.8 percent of all heads of

households living in poverty worked year-round and full time in 1991. Among poor family

householders, 50.4 percent worked for some period of time in 1991. The average amount of money
needed to raise the incomes of each poor family (including those with working members) to its

respective poverty threshold was $5,515. So, despite efforts to lift themselves and their families out

of poverty, wages for many working people were inadequate to do so. And, recession means that even

those low-paying jobs may be lost, dropping those families deeper into poverty.

The 1992 poverty figures, reflecting the lingering impact of the recession, may be higher still.

Health Consequences of Hunger

Hunger and undernutrition contribute to a number of negative health consequences:

• Hungry children suffer from two to three times as many individual health problems, such as

unwanted weight loss, fatigue, headaches, irritability, inability to concentrate and frequent colds,

as low-income children whose families do not experience food shortages, according to CCHIP.

• The infant mortality rate is closely linked to inadequate quantity or quality in the diet of the

infant's mother. The United States ranks 21st among developal nations in preventing infant

deaths, down from 16th in 1980. Black infants in the U.S. die at nearly twice the rate of white

infants.
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Stunting and wasting in children result from inadequate nutrition. According to the U.S. Public

Health Service, the Surgeon General's 1990 goal of eliminating growth retardation of infants and

children caused by inadequate diets was not met because significant numbers of low-income

children continue to suffer retarded growth.

Iron-deficiency anemia in children can lead to adverse health effects such as developmental and

behavioral disturbances and increased susceptibility to lead poisoning. Anemia remains a

significant health pix>blem among low-income children, according to the Centers for Disease

Control.

Hunger has a negative impact on children's ability to learn. Research indicates that low-income

children who participate in the School Breakfast Program showed an improvement in

standardized test scores and a decrease in tardiness and absenteeism compared to low-income

students who did not eat breakfast at school.

Hunger and malnutrition exacerbate chronic and acute diseases and speed the onset of

degenerative diseases among the elderly. This not only leads to an unnecessary decrease in the

quality of life for many older people, but also increases the cost of health care in the United

States. National data for people ages 65 to 75 show that a majority are not consuming even two-

thirds of the nutrients they need to stay healthy.

Public Attitudes Toward Hunger

The public is very concerned about what is seen as a growing hunger problem. A national public-

opinion poll released in April 1992 reveals that over 90 percent of registered voters believe that hunger
in the U.S. is a serious and growing problem. Hunger ranks with education, health care policy and

poverty and homelessness as a serious issue, trailing concerns about unemployment, drugs, the deficit,

AIDS and the economy. Unlike these other issues, however, hunger is seen as a very solvable problem.

Voters place the responsibility for ending hunger with the government. It is clearly understood that

private feeding efforts, as valuable as they are, are not the most effective way to feed families over

time. The poll found very strong support for school breakfast and lunch programs, senior feeding,

WIC, and the Food Stamp Program. In fact, when told that half of food stamp recipients are children

and that more than 80 percent of food stamp benefits go to families with children, the approval rate for

the Food Stamp Program jumped from 61 percent to 81 percent. The sentiment that the government
needs to increase its anti-hunger efforts is so strong that voters would be willing to earmark $100 more

in taxes annually to end hunger.

The poll was commissioned for release with the Medford Declaration to End Hunger in the U.S, the

broadest collective statement ever made that hunger in this country can and must be ended. The

declaration calls for an end to domestic hunger by 1995 through improvements in the federal food
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assistance programs and lays the foundation for ending poverty in the U.S. by the end of the decade.

The poll was conducted in January 1992 by Dr. Vincent Breglio, Republican pollster for the Wall Street

Journal/NBC News monthly surveys and former polling director for the 1988 Bush/Quayle presidential

campaign.

Federal Food Assistance Programs

The federal food assistance programs are our nation's first line of defense against hunger. These

programs, which are administered by the Food and Nutrition Service of the U.S. Department of

Agriculture, are intended to provide access to a nutritionally adequate diet for families and persons with

low-incomes, and encourage better eating patterns among the nation's children.

The Food Stamp Program improves the nutrition of low-income people by providing coupons or, in

some areas, an electronic benefits ("debit") card to cover part or all of a household's food budget. The

program operates as an entitlement and is the only food program in the United States that is available

to all who meet eligibility standards regardless of their age or family composition. Recent studies,

including CCHIP, have shown that current benefit levels are inadequate and millions of children, women
and men are denied benefits because of barriers to participation. Reflecting economic difficulties, food

stamp participation grew from 24.4 million to 26.4 million people, an 8.06 percent increase, between

November 1991 and November 1992.

The Special Supplemental Food Program for Women, Infants and Children (WIQ safeguards the

health of pregnant, postpartum and breast-feeding women, infants and children who are at nutritional

risk because of inadequate nutrition and inadequate income. WIC benefits include supplemental

nutritious foods, nutrition education and access to health care. Numerous studies, including a 1991

USDA study and a 1992 GAO study, have found WIC to be both successful in achieving its nussion

and cost-effective. WIC is not an entitlement program and currently serves roughly 55 percent of those

eligible.

The National School Lunch Program was started in 1946 as a "measure of national security, to

safeguard the health and well-being of the nation's children." In 1970, national guidelines were

established for free and reduced-price school lunches for needy children participating in the program.
All public and private nonprofit schools are eligible for the program. Lunches are available to all

children at participating schools. Authorization for the school lunch program expires in 1995; important

changes will be recommoided for the program.

The School Brealrfast Program provides a nutritious morning meal to children in schools. Established

in 1966 as a pilot program, it was permanently authorized in 1975. The program operates under the

same eligibility criteria and administration as does school lunch. Despite its proven effectiveness m
improving school performance and attendance, breakfast is currently available in just over half of those

schools offering lunch and serves only 33. 1 percent of the number of low-income children served by
school lunch.
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The Summer Food Service Program for Children provides nutritious meals to low-income children

during the summer months when school is out. The program is available free to all children under age
18 who attend the meal site of a sponsor organization. Though it is an entitlement, the program serves

only 15.5 percent of those children receiving school lunch.

The Child and Adult Care Food Program provides nutritious meals for all children up to age 12,

handicapped children up to age 15, and handicapped or older adults who participate in nonprofit,

licensed or approved day care programs. This entitlement program only serves a small proportion of

those who could benefit from its services. While small, this program is one of the fastest growing
federal food programs. On average, over 1.5 million children receive benefits from the program each

day.

Conclusion

Hunger in the United States increased significantly during the 1980s, and currently affects the lives of

millions. Jobs lost during the 1990-1992 recession, exacerbated by cuts in federal and state safety-net

programs early in the 1980s and 1990s, consistently high poverty rates, and budget crises at the state

and local levels, have left the poor and near poor extremely vulnerable to hunger.

New and creative thinking is needed to actually end hunger and poverty. Of vital importance is the

achievement of food security
~ access by all people at all times through normal channels to enough

nutritionally adequate food for an active, healthy life. However, those who are hungry, especially

children, cannot wait for the long run. The federal food assistance programs
—

including the Food

Stamp Program, the Special Supplemental Food Program for Women, Infants and Children (WIQ, the

School Lunch and Breakfast Programs, the Summer Food Program, and the Oiild and Adult Care Food

Program
— are this country's first line of defense against hunger. With improved access, funding and

benefit levels, these programs can go a long way toward ending hunger in the United States.

Millions of kids and adults are hungry in America. And we can do something about it.
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CHILDHOOD HUNGER IN THE UNITED STATES

Introduction and Summary

In March 1991, the Food Research and Action Center (FRAC) released the results of a

nationwide survey of childhood hunger
~ the Community Childhood Hunger Identification

Project (CCHIP). CCHIP was an exhaustive study, asking low-income parents over 100 specific

questions about their circumstances. The survey, which was conduct^ under the guidance of

eminent academics and employed widely accepted research methods, documented a serious

hunger problem among low-income families with young children in the United States. It also

demonstrated associations between hunger and health problems and increased school absenteeism

among young children. (Hunger was defined as "the mental and physical condition that comes
from not eating enough food due to insufficient economic, family or community resources.")

In August 1991, the Heritage Foundation, an ultra-conservative think tank, released a

"backgrounder" titled "Hunger and Malnutrition Among American Children". The Heritage

paper sharply criticized the CCHIP survey, arguing that hunger is not a problem for low-income

families, and that, in fact, poor children are as well-nourished as non-poor children. It stated

that overweight is a major nutritional problem for low-income families, not hunger. In addition,

it implied that FRAC's research methods were unreliable, stated that there were no cuts in food

and other public assistance programs between 1980 and 1988, and claimed that FRAC's policy

recommendations ineffectively address a problem that hardly exists. Since the release of the

Heritage Foundation paper, these arguments have shown up from time to time in syndicated

columns in selected newspapers.

The claims made in the Heritage Foundation's backgrounder (and subsequently included in an

article in the Heritage Foundation's journal Policy Review) are contradicted by the facts. Data

cited by the Heritage Foundation paper are selectively
- and often misleadingly

—
excerpted

from various government surveys. Yet none of the surveys it relies upon sought to measure

whether families were hungry. Further, the paper ignored data that show that low-income

children are more likely to suffer from stunting (low height for age) and anemia, less likely to

meet their Recommended Dietary Allowances for nutrients and less likely to be overweight than

non-poor children.

For example, the Departments of Health and Human Services and Agriculture, in a 1986 joint

report on nutrition surveillance data, stated that, according to the most recent national data on

the growth of children, "Stunting was consistently higher among the population below poverty
level than among persons above the poverty level.

"

Regarding iron deficiency, the Public Health

Service stated in its 1990 publication. Healthy People 2000 . "Chronic iron deficiency in

childhood may have adverse effects on growth and development. The prevalence of iron

deficiency is higher in black children compared to white children, and is substantially higher in

children from families with incomes below the poverty level." (Black children have a much

1



233

higher rate of poverty than do white children.) These facts, which indicate that marginal

nutrition is still a problem among the poorest children in our nation, are given scant attention

in the Heritage Foundation backgrounder.

Similarly, the Heritage Foundation paper's harsh criticism of the CCHIP survey methodology
is not well-founded. In fact, CCHIP has been used and lauded by the experts. The National

Center for Health Statistics (NCHS), whose surveys the Heritage Foundation cites heavily, has

called CCHIP "well developed and executed" and stated that it "contributes to our general

knowledge about food insufficiency problems in low-income children in this country." Indeed,

NCHS has included variants of the CCHIP questions in its major national health and nutrition

survey. In their 1990 report, Recipient and Expert Views on Food Assistance at Four Indian

Reservations , the General Accounting Office used the definition of hunger developed by CCHIP.

Dr. William H. Dietz, chairman of the American Society of Clinical Nutrition/American Institute

of Nutrition's joint task force on hunger and malnutrition, has testified before Congress that the

CCHIP questionnaire has both internal and theoretical validity. Moreover, the U.S. House of

Representatives Select Committee on Hunger recommended Ln 1990 that CCHIP serve as a

model for a national hunger study. (Ironically, even the Policy Review article that critiques

CCHIP called its definition of hunger "reasonable.")

In many ways, the view of the world presented by the Heritage Foundation paper is at odds with

common sense. Today, one in five (14.3 million) children live in poverty. Countless hunger

studies from across the country attest to the severity of the hunger problem, as do soup kitchen

and food bank operators from coast to coast. In 1991, Father Thomas J. Harvey, President of

Catholic Charities USA, the largest network of private social service agencies in the United

States, reported the results of the annual survey of Catholic Charities' local agency activities:

"This national survey shows that in 1990, Catholic Charities spent $1.6 billion

serving more than 8 million people. One-third of them were children. This

survey presents a disturbing trend: 62 percent of the people served by Catholic

Charities received food, shelter and emergency services in order to stay alive one

more day. A decade ago, only 23 percent needed emergency help."

The growing need described by Father Harvey is not surprising in light of the increase in

poverty during the last decade and the fact that the poor have become poorer. Between 1979

amd 1991 (the most recent year for which data is available) the poverty rate rose from 11.7

percent to 14.2 percent. In fact, there were more people living in poverty in 1991 than in any

year since 1964. Unemployment has grown, the result of a weak economy and the permanent

loss of jobs that once supported millions of families. Not surprisingly, the number of working

poor households has increased. Housing and health care costs consume a larger portion of

household budgets. In addition, funding for key federal and state safety net programs have

suffered deep cutbacks.

The impact of poverty and limited resources to purchase food are reflected in a study by the

U.S. Department of Agriculture, based on data from the Continuing Consumer Expenditure
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Diary Surveys of the Bureau of Labor Statistics. The study showed that, while food

expenditures of middle and upper income households stayed relatively constant from 1980 to

1988, the food expenditures of poor households fell substantially after adjusting for inflation.

In fact, among the poorest fifth of urban households, food expenditures fell 13. 1 percent. (Food

Spending in American Households . 1980-1988, May 1991)

Considering these statistics, CCHIP's findings paint an unfortunate, but all too credible, picture

of hunger among low-income children in America. Hungry families, CCHIP found, had average
incomes about 25 percent below the poverty line. On average, they spent over half of their

gross income on shelter costs, leaving far too littie for food and other necessities. As a result,

they spent an average of only about 78 percent of what the Department of Agriculture says is

needed to achieve a minimally adequate diet.

The following three sections rebut point by point why assertions that childhood hunger is not a

problem in the United States are incorrect:

o Part I examines government data on the growth of children, their nutritional status, their

dietary intake, and the problem of overweight. (No government survey data are currenUy
available on hunger.) It concludes, based on current data, that poor children are more likely to

be stunted, iron-deficient, and eating less than they should, and are less likely to be overweight,

compared to non-poor children. These data are consistent with CCHIP's finding that chronic

food insufficiency is a common problem among low-income families.

Part II describes the meticulous care with which FRAC's childhood hunger survey was

developed and conducted, pointing out ways in which it surpasses the quality of federal

government surveys in its practices.

Part III explains the negative consequences of hunger on children's health and ability to learn;

describes the negative impact that funding cuts in food programs and other public welfare

programs have had on low-income families' food budgets; and reviews government research

findings on the effectiveness of the food assistance programs when they reach those who are

eligible.
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PART I; Childhood Hunger Is A Significant Problem in the United States.

The Heritage Foundation paper argues that the CCHIP study findings concerning the extent

of childhood hunger in the U.S. are completely contradicted by "serious, scientific"

government surveys, and that poor children are, in fact, as well-nourished as affiuent

children. They also state that overweight is a m^or nutritional problem for poor families,

not hunger.

The Facts;

CCHIP results are not contradicted by the surveys cited by the Heritage Foundation

paper. In fact, the government surveys they cite have not collected data about hunger.

Moreover, the results of "serious, scientific studies" carried out by the federal

government are consistent with the CCHIP findings. A careful look at the data from

these studies reveals differences between poor and non-poor children that appear to be

the result of the kind of chronic, intermittent hunger that CCHIP has documented.

Moreover, although overweight is a m^or problem in the United States, poor children

are less likely to be overweight, and more likely to be stunted in their growth, than non-

poor children.

Government Surveys Have Not Collected Data on Extent of Hunger

Until very recently, the government surveys cited by the Heritage Foundation paper have

paid no attention to investigating the problem of hunger. Therefore, it is inaccurate to state

that CCHIP is contradicted by "serious scientific surveys." No national surveys released to

date contain data about hunger.

It is important to note, however, that national data on hunger have recently been collected,

for the first time, by the federal government. The National Health and Nutrition

Examination Survey III (under DHHS), includes a series of questions about hunger that are

based on those asked by CCHIP. According to the coordinator for nutrition monitoring at

the National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS), the agency takes very seriously the

importance of measuring hunger in the U.S.: "The 'hunger' or food insufficiency topic was

identified during the planning of the Third National Health and Nutrition Survey (NHANES
III) as an important topic for inclusion...NCHS supports the need to gather additional

information about food insufficiency in the population..." (The results of NHANES HI are

not yet available.)
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CCHIP: The First Nationwide Effort to Measure the Extent of Hunger

The purpose of CCHIP was to measure the extent of hunger (i.e., food insufficiency due to

inadequate resources) among low-income families with young children in the United States —

in order to get a handle on the proportion and kinds of people who are at risk of harm. Its

purpose was not to document malnutrition through growth measures, biochemical measures

of nutritional status, or detailed information on dietary intake. Rather, its goal was to act as

an early warning system for the prevention of malnutrition.

CCHIP defines hunger as "the mental and physical condition that comes from not eating

enough food due to insufficient economic, family or community resources." Among the

more than 100 questions asked by the CCHIP survey, the questions used to determine the

existence of hunger in a low-income family were:

o Does your household ever run out of money to buy food to make a meal?

Do you or adult members of your household ever eat less than you feel you should

because there is not enough money for food?

o Do you or adult members of your household ever cut the size of meals or skip meals

because there is not enough money for food?

o Do your children ever eat less than you feel they should because there is not enough

money for food?

o Do you ever cut the size of your children's meals or do they ever skip meals because

there is not enough money for food?

o Do your children ever say they are hungry because there is not enough food in the

house?

o Do you ever rely on a limited number of foods to teed your children because you are

running out of money to buy food for a meal?

o Do any of your children ever go to bed hungry because there is not enough money to

buy food?

Interviewers were explicitly trained that answering "yes" to any of these questions meant that

the the food insufficiency being reported was a function of lack of money (including food

stamps and WIC vouchers). Respondents were also asked the number of days in the past

month and the number of months in the past year for which the answers to each question

were affirmative.
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Families were classified as hungry if they answered "yes" to five or more of the questions.

The responses of hungry families show that, on average, for each of the aspects of hunger to

which they answered affirmatively, they experienced it seven days in the past month, and in

six months over the past year. Thus, the kind of hunger CCHTP has documented is chronic

in nature -- intermittent inadequacy in the amount of food available in the household, and

chronic insecurity about whether the family will have enough food.

CCHTP Hunger Findings Are Consistent With Government Nutrition Survey Data

The impacts of hunger can be seen as a continuum -- the more chronic the hunger problem,
the more likely that signs of undernutrition will be apparent in studies of nutritional status

and dietary adequacy. When one looks more closely at the clinical and dietary data available

in government surveys, one can see the high levels of hunger among the poor showing up in

growth measures, biochemical tests and dietary intake surveys.

There are two general kinds of information that are currently available from nutrition surveys
-

(1) information on physiological indicators of nutritional status (i.e., growth measures such

as height and weight and biochemical measures such as iron levels in the blood); and (2) data

on dietary intake (i.e., the kinds and amounts of foods and nutrients consumed).

There are great difficulties inherent in obtaining accurate information on what and how much

people are actually eating, especially when those surveyed lack education or are reporting

another person's, for example, their child's, intake. Moreover, by the time physiological

indicators such as growth measures and iron levels show an irregularity, deficiencies and

many of their health consequences have been a problem for a significant amount of time.

Thus, the hunger and health findings from CCHIP can act as early warning signs that food

insufficiency is becoming a serious problem among many low-income households.

Poor Children More Likely to Be Stunted in Growth

Contrary to assertions made in the Heritage Foundation backgrounder, there are physiological

indications in the nutritional status data collected by the government that the nutritional intake

of poor children is inferior to that of non-poor children. Specifically, stunting (low height

for age), which is the best indicator of chronic mild undernutrition, is more common among

poor as compared to non-poor children in the United States. (Nutrition Monitoring in the

United States: A Progress Report from the Joint Nutrition Monitoring Evaluation Committee .

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and U.S. Department of Agriculture, 1986)

In N.M.U.S. the Departments state: "Rapid growth is characteristic of healthy well-fed

children. To sustain growth, the child's diet must supply essential nutrients in appropriate

quantities. Inadequate supplies of protein, fat, carbohydrates, vitamins, or minerals can
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result in growth retardation. If the dietary inadequacy is chronic and mild, the child's linear

growth will be slowed, and his height will be low for his age. This condition is termed

'stunting'."

Growth charts are used to compare the distribution of heights and weights one would expect
in a healthy population with the actual distribution in the population being surveyed.

According to N.M.U.S. . "In population surveys, if more than 5 percent of the children fall

below the 5th percentile of height for age, one would be concerned about stunting." In the

second National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES), the most recent

national data curently available on the growth of children, "Stunting was consistently higher

among the population below poverty level than among persons above the poverty level." In

fact, the N.M.U.S. includes a chart (see next page) showing excess levels of stunting among
poor children, compared to more affluent children, based on data from NHANES. The chart

shows that poor children in the age group surveyed by CCHIP are twice as likely to be

below the fifth percentile than are children living above poverty.

The Public Health Service of the Department of Health and Human Services views growth
retardation related to inadequate nutrition as a significant health problem among poor
children in the U.S. Its Healthy People 2000 (1990), a nationally recognized set of health

promotion and disease prevention objectives for the year 20(X), lists among its nutrition

objectives: "Reduce growth retardation among low-income children aged 5 and younger to

less than 10 percent."

This document, which is being used by DHHS and health departments in every state to

determine health services planning and development for the next 10 years, states:

"Retardation in linear growth in preschool children serves as an indicator of overall health

and development, but may especially reflect the adequacy of a child's diet...a prevalence of

more than S percent below the flfth percentile for any population subgroup suggests that full

growth potential is not being reached by children of that subgroup. This prevalence is

exceeded by low-income children in the United States. Among some age and ethnic

subgroups of low-income children, up to 16 percent of individuals aged S and younger are

below the fifth percentile."

Healthy People 2000's recommendations for "interventions to improve linear growth in

populations include better nutrition [emphasis added]; improvements in the prevention,

diagnosis and treatment of infectious and chronic diseases; and the provision and use of fully

adequate health services. Although the response of a population to interventions for growth
retardation may not be as rapid as for iron deficiency or underweight, it should be possible

to achieve the objective by the year 2(XX) in all ethnic, socioeconomic and age subgroups.
"

In fact, growth retardation among low-income children caused by inadequate diets has been a

long-term concern of the Public Health Service of DHHS. In 1980, its Objectives for the

Nation included, "By 1990 growth retardation of infants and children caused by inadequate

diets should have been eliminated in the United States as a public health problem.* In
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DHHS's 1990 Health Objectives for the Nation: A Midcourse Review (1985), the Public

Health Service stated that, "Based on the CDC [Centers for Disease Control] data, it appears
that though modest progress has been made, it is unlikely that this objective will be met.'

Poor Children More Likely to Be Iron-Deficient

As with growth measures, undernutrition has to be prolonged and/or severe for biochemical

signs of undernutrition such as iron deficiency to show up. Nevertheless, income below the

poverty level is associated with higher prevalences of abnormal iron status (i.e., iron

deficiency) in children one to five years of age and women 25-54 years old, according to

N.M.U.S. For example, according to data from NHANES, 20.6 percent of low-income

children one to two years old are iron deficient, while only 6.7 percent of children above

poverty have this health problem.

The Public Health Service has set as one of its nutrition objectives for the year 2000

(Healthy People 2000 . 1990) the reduction of iron deficiency to less than three percent

among children aged one through four and among women of child-bearing age. They cite

the following reasons for including this objective: "Chronic iron deficiency in childhood

may have adverse effects on growth and development. The prevalence of iron deficiency is

higher in black children compared to white children, and is substantially higher in children

from families with incomes below the poverty level."

The Heritage Foundation paper dismisses the significance of anemia as a problem among
low-income children. It argues that a 1987 article by Yip, et al, in the Journal of the

American Medical Association (J.A.M.A.) reported a drop in the prevalence of anemia

among low-income children. However, the J.A.M.A. article itself states, "Even though the

findings of a decline in the prevalence of anemia among low-income children is encouraging,
anemia remains an important health or nutrition problem among these children." In addition,

the authors of the paper point out that the data were derived from a national survey of only
those children enrolled in certain government-funded programs (primarily WIC), and not

from the population of non-participating low-income school children, and that the criteria for

designating a child as anemic in their study were more stringent than normal. (Only 49

percent of eligible preschool children over one year old are currently being served by the

WIC Program, due to inadequate federal funding.) Moreover, the paper speaks only to the

issue of anemia prevalence and not to the issue of iron deficiency.

Iron deficiency, which can ultimately result in anemia, begins to cause adverse effects at

levels that do not result in anemia. An editorial which appeared in the same issue of the

Journal as the Yip paper points out: "Five major studies in children have suggested that

behavioral and developmental disturbances associated with iron deficiency are potentially

among the worst manifestations of this nutritional disorder and may occur in the absence of

anemia. The most recent of these studies indicates the possibility that during early childhood

untreated iron deficiency that progresses to severe or chronic anemia may result in behavioral

and developmental deficits that are not completely reversible with iron therapy."

8
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Poor Children Less Likely to Have Nutritionally Adequate Diets

The Heritage Foundation paper also argues that there is no difference in nutrient consumption
between poor and non-poor children. As mentioned earlier, food consumption data is

inherently biased by many factors, including the varying abilities of individuals to remember

and accurately quantify the amount of food they (or their young children) have eaten over a

period of time. However, assuming that the food consumption data used is at least a close

estimate of kinds and amounts of food eaten, a closer look at the data on which the paper

bases its arguments shows a consistent trend toward less adequate nutrient consumption

among poor children compared to non-poor children.

In the USDHHS/USDA document referred to frequently in the Heritage Foundation

backgrounder
~ Nutrition Monitoring in the United States: A Progress Report from the

Nutrition Monitoring Evaluation Committee (1986) (N.M.U.S.) - the Departments state:

"Income was found to have a positive, statistically significant effect on the nutrient levels in

household diets and individual intakes for participants in the U.S. Department of

Agriculture's 1965-1966 food consumption survey, 1977-1978 NFCS, and the 1977-78

Nationwide Food Consumption Survey~Low-Income (NFCS-LI).' In other words, as

income increases, nutrient levels increase, and as income goes down, so do nutrient levels.

In an effort to prove that low-income children are as well-nourished as non-poor children, the

Heritage Foundation paper uses data from the 1985 Continuing Survey of Food Intake by

Individuals, a relatively small USDA survey of women aged 19 to 50 years and children

aged one to five years. (No children over five years old were included in this survey.)

However, the data from this survey are given only a superficial perusal, and thus the real

story these data tell has been lost.

The argument that poor children are as well-nourished as non-poor children is based on

comparing average (or "mean") consumption. However, comparing "means" in a population

often obscures the reality represented by the data. This is because a large percentage of
'|

individuals in the population being surveyed can have inadequate intakes of a nutrient, while

the average intake of the nutrient by the group may appear adequate.

The following table uses the same data on poor and non-poor children from the USDA

Continuing Survey that were used by the Heritage Foundation in arguing that poor children

are as well-nourished as non-poor children. However, this table shows the percentage of

children in the survey, at incomes below 100 percent of poverty (based on data from 311

children) and above 300 percent poverty (based on 78 children) who consume less than 100

percent of the Recommended Dietary Allowances (RDA). With the exception of thiamin and

zinc, more of the children in the poor group are consuming less than 100 percent of the RDA
of each nutrient listed than are children in the higher-income group.

The table also shows that, for quite a few of the nutrients examined, the magnitude of the

difference between poor and non-poor is large. For example, 63.7 percent of poor children
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are below 100 percent of the RDA for food energy (calories), while only 39.6 percent of

those with higher incomes fall below 100 percent for calories. Other striking differences

include Vitamin A (21.4 percent versus 9.4 percent), Vitamin C (21.7 percent versus 11.5

percent), Vitamin B6 (45.2 percent versus 19.8 percent), and magnesium (44.2 percent 17.3

percent).

Percentage of Children One to Five Years With Intakes Below 100 Percent

of the Recommended Dietary Allowances, 1985
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In summary, despite the similarities in the mean intakes, the data show that, for virtiolly

every nutrient studied, fewer poor children one to five years in this USDA survey met the

RDA, compared to higher-income children.

Poor Children Less Likelv to Be Overweight

The Heritage Foundation paper claims that current data and knowledge concerning the

problem of overweight in the United States are not consistent with CCHIP's findings about

the extent of hunger among low-income families in the United States. However, this claim is

misleading. It is true that overweight occurs more frequently among women living below the

poverty level, than it does in women whose incomes are above the poverty level. However,
the opposite is true for poor men and poor children. Men above poverty are somewhat more

likely to be overweight than men living below poverty. Even more important to point out is

that the incidence of overweight is lower among low-income children than it is among non-

poor children. (Dietz, William, and Stephen Gortmaker, "Factors Within the Physical
Environment Associated With Childhood Obesity," American Journal of Clinical Nutrition

,

vol. 39, pp 6. 19-24, 1984)

Thus, it is only among poor women that the problem of overweight is worse, and this

phenomenon is not well-understood by researchers. In fact, the 1985 and 1986 USDA
Continuing Surveys of Food Intakes by Individuals show that women in the lowest income

households reported lower food energy intakes than did women in the highest income

households, and their intakes in energy, and most other vitamins and minerals studied, were
below the RDA and below the average levels consumed by non-poor women. Indeed, some
researchers speculate that overweight may be a physiological response to the periodic food

deprivation that poor women often experience.
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PART II! The Quality of the CCHIP Survey Methodology Is Very High.

The Heritage Foundation paper argues that the CCHIP study is "flawed" and that it

asks "yague" and "highly subjective questions about whether they [low-income families]

would like to have more or a wider variety of foods."

The Facts!

The Heritage Foundation paper seriously misrepresents the methods used in the

Community Childhood Hunger Identification Project (CCHIP) survey. CCHIP was

developed and conducted using meticulous and widely accepted research methods. The

quality of its research practices compares well with, and often surpasses, government

surveys. In fact, its approach to measuring food insufficiency has been lauded by the

agency within the Department of Health and Human Services that is responsible for

conducting the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) and was
used by them in the development of hunger questions for their most recent national

nutrition survey, NHANES HI.

CCHIP Questions Appropriate for Documenting Hunger

A review of the hunger questions asked in the CCHIP survey (see pages 4 and 5 for a list of

the questions) shows that the Heritage Foundation paper's characterization of the hunger

questions is inaccurate. These are not vague questions about wanting more or a wider

variety of foods; rather they are questions about not being able to purchase enough food for

one's family because "there is not enough money for food." These questions have to do with

running out of money (including food stamps and WIC vouchers) to buy food, eating less

than one should, skipping meals, cutting the size of meals, and children going to bed hungry.

Moreover, for each question, families were asked how many months this occurred in the last

year, and how many days in the past month. CCHIP interviewers went through exhaustive

training on how to ensure that the survey questions asked of respondents were completely
understood and answered accurately.

The questions chosen for the CCHIP survey ask for self-reports of food shortages due to lack

of resources. The use of self-reporting is an accepted practice in survey research. In fact,

the National Health Interview Survey, a survey conducted annually by the National Center of

Health Statistics, asks respondents to assess their own health as excellent, very good, good,
fair or poor. More specific to the problem of hunger, the National Center for Health

Statistics is currently using a series of hunger questions requiring self-reporting, similar to

those asked in the CCHIP survey, in their NHANES ni survey. Indeed, self-reporting of

food sufficiency and constraints to obtaining food has been recommended as an important

component of the core indicators of nutritional well-being by the widely respected Life

Sciences Research Office of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology
(Core Indicators of Nutritional State for Difficult-to-Sample-Populations. July 1990).
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CCHIP Research Methods Praised bv Experts

The Heritage Foundation paper argues that the research methods employed in CCHIP were

faulty. Yet, others have attested to the high quality and integrity of the CCHIP survey

methodology. The National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS) has called CCHIP, "well

developed and executed" and has stated that it "contributes to our general knowledge about

food insufficiency problems in low income families in this country...We commend you and

the completion of CCHIP study and its contribution and approach to assessing a difficult

topic in nutrition monitoring." Indeed, as mentioned in the previous section, NCHS has

included variants of the CCHIP questions in its most recent National Health and Nutrition

Examination Survey (NHANES III).

In addition, the 1990 General Accounting Office report, Recipient and Expert Views on Food

Assistance at Four Indian Reservations , used the definition of hunger developed for CCHIP.

Dr. William H. Dietz, Chair of the Joint Task Force on Hunger and Nutrition of the

American Society of Clinical Nutrition and the American Institute of Nutrition, stated in

testimony before the U.S. Congress, "The [CCHIP] questionnaire has both internal and

theoretical validity." The U.S. House of Representatives Select Committee on Hunger

recommended that CCHIP serve as a model for a national hunger survey.

Moreover, from the very beginning of the project, CCHIP has been under the constant

guidance of a distinguished panel of child health and research experts firom respected

academic institutions such as Yale University, Harvard University, Boston University, the

University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, and the Albert Einstein College of Medicine.

CCHIP Research Methods Similar to Those Used in Standard Government Surveys

The Heritage Foundation implies that the CCHIP research methods were less reliable than

those used by the federal government to conduct national surveys. In fact, the basic methods

employed in CCHIP are quite similar to those employed in government surveys. For

example:

o Pretest and Pilot - The questions and methodology utilized in the CCHIP

survey were pretested and piloted in several sites according to widely accepted

survey techniques.

o Sampling Methods - Either a simple random sample or a two-stage, area

probability sampling strategy with a standard cluster design was employed in

each of the seven sites included in the national CCHIP report. This ensured

that each sample was representative of the population of low-income families

with at least one child under 12 years old living within the specified

geographic area surveyed. Both of these sampling methods are scientifically

accepted. In fact, the multi-stage, stratified area probability sample is the
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same design used in the Nationwide Food Consumption Survey cited by the

Heritage Foundation paper.

Training and Hiring of Interviewers - Trained interviewers conducted 2,335

one-hour, face-to-face interviews with the families who were randomly chosen

to be in the sample, asking 100 questions about their circumstances.

Interviewers were hired for each survey locally, to assure a match between

sex, age range, race/ethnicity and sociodemographic status of the interviewers

and prospective respondents. Face-to-face interviews were conducted to

minimize error and potential bias introduced by illiteracy, lack of telephone

service, and low motivation to return mail surveys. Moreover, since the

reliability and validity of a study depend, in large measure, on consistency, the

principal investigator and a trainer from the national project conducted a five

day training session for all potential CCHIP interviewers.

Response Rate;
~

Follow-up methods were rigorously applied to a degree

unparalleled by most national surveys. Four call-backs to an address were

required on two different days, including at least one evening or weekend day,
before a household was classified as non-responsive. All non-responsive
households and refusals were reassigned to a second interviewer to ensure

acceptable response rates.

The average response rate among eligible families for the seven sites surveyed
was 80 percent. This is well within academic standards and surpasses those of

many national surveys. (For example, the USDA's 1977-78 Nationwide Food

Consumption Survey had a response rate of 57 percent. Moreover, the 1985

Continuing Survey of Food Intakes by Individuals (CSFII) which the Heritage
Foundation paper cites concerning dietary adequacy, had a response rate of

57.5 percent and the 1986 CSFII had a response rate of 66.4 percent.)

Quality Control and Data Analysis
- There were several levels of quality

control of the data. These included review by field supervisors of the

questionnaires for completeness, and central staff review of the questionnaires
to detect errors in coding the answers. Finally, all of the data analyses were

performed by computer using the SAS Statistical Software Package, a widely
used package in social science research. A conservative level of statistical

significance was employed in interpreting the survey results in order to reduce

the possibility of reporting significant findings where there were none.
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PART m; FRAC's CCHIP Study Focuses Attention On Real Problems and Proven

Spliit'pns

The Heritage Foundation paper says that FRAC's policy proposals concerning the Food

Stamp Program, WIC and the School Breakfast Program are misguided and that FRAC
research only "distracts attention from the serious problems that face poor families

today." According to the paper, any nutritional problems that do exist among poor
children can and should be handJed through the provision of vitamin and mineral

supplements by existing food programs. They also argue that during the last decade,

there were no cuts in food and welfare programs.

The Facts;

The proposed solution to the problem of hunger among children recommended by the

Heritage Foundation paper is not consistent with what is known about hunger in the

U.S., what is recommended by scientific experts, and what has been learned through

years of painstaking evaluations of the food assistance programs. Moreover, food

assistance programs, as well as other federally funded programs that assist low-income

families, were, in fact, cut substantially during the last decade. The numbers used in

the Heritage Foundation paper do not tell the full story. Many effective programs do

not yet reach those who need them, or do not provide adequate benefits to those who do

participate. Finally, poor families are more vulnerable to hunger than non-poor

families, and focusing attention and action on this very real problem should not be seen

as "distracting from other problems." Hunger is as much a part of the lives of poor

families as any of the other problems associated with poverty. Adequate nutrition is a

prerequisite to success in school and productivity in the workplace. Thus, FRAC's

research focuses attention on a serious problem related to poverty that can have

significant negative consequences for poor children and their families.

Heritage Foundation Paper's Solution to Hunger Does Not Make Nutritional Sense

The current consensus of nutrition researchers, health professionals and the medical

community is contrary to the Heritage Foundation paper's proposed solution to the nutritional

problems of low-income children. The Institute of Medicine of the National Academy of

Sciences recommends: "Foods rather than vitamin and mineral supplements should serve as

the sole source of nutrients to meet dietary recommendations in government food programs.

It would not be acceptable to this committee were the government to suggest as a cost-cutting

measure the use of dietary supplements or their equivalent (highly fortifiwl products) instead

of the planning of menus which meet or come close to meeting, the Recommended Dietary

Allowances (RDA)." amproving America's Diet and Health: From Recommendations to

Action . 1991) This is because it has not been possible to set RDA for all nutrients that may
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be needed by the human body. Providing access to a wide variety of foods that meet the

RDA is sounder nutrition policy than depending on vitamin and mineral supplements to

ensure nutritional adequacy.

What poor and hungry families and their children really need is sufficient food, and they

need this food to be accessible to them on a regular, rather than sporadic, basis. The food

assistance programs currently in place can play a crucial role in ameliorating the chronic

hunger that results from poverty.

FRAC Policy Recommendations Are Based on Sound Research

FRAC's policy recommendations seek to improve the adequacy of the food assistance

programs and increase access to these important programs, because these programs have

been shown to work:

Nutrition Monitoring in the United States: A Progress Report from the Joint Nutrition

Monitoring Evaluation Committee (USDHHS and USDA, 1986), a reference to which

the Heritage Foundation backgrounder frequently refers, states: "In general.

Government food assistance programs have a positive, statistically significant effect

on dietary levels of nutrients. Analysis of data from the NFCS-LI [Nationwide Food

Consumption Survey of Low-Income] showed the nutrient levels of household diets

and individual intakes to be higher for members of households participating in the

Food Stamp Program and/or Special Supplemental Food Program for Women,
Infants and Children than for members of similar nonparticipating households.

NFCS data also show that children who participated in school breakfast and/or

lunch programs had higher nutrient intakes than non-participants had."

o According to U.S. Department of Agriculture research, households participating in

the Food Stamp Program, on average, spend more on food and purchase more food,

than do low-income non-participating households. Research shows that the quantity

of food purchased is the primary factor differentiating among low-income households

as to whether they achieve the Recommended Dietary Allowances (RDAs). USDA
research also demonstrates that increases in food stamp benefits lead to increased

consumption of nutrients by participating households. In fact, for every one-dollar

increase in food stamp benefits, nutrient consumption by a household is increased

three to seven times higher than it would have been by a one-dollar increase in cash

income. (Assessing the Dietary Effects of the Food Stamp Program. Volumes I and

U, 1989; The Food Choices of Low-Income Households . 1988)

USDA has evaluated the nutritional and health impacts of WIG in a comprehensive,

nationwide survey, and found that WIC participation is associated with improved
nutritional intake for women, infants and children, as well as improved prenatal care,

better immunization, superior cognitive development, and reduced fetal deaths.

(Rush, David, et. al., "The National WIC Evaluation: Evaluation of the Special
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Supplemental Food Program for Women, Infants, and Children," American Journal of

Clinical NutritJon . 1988) Countless other studies carried out by the U.S. Department
of Agriculture and by independent researchers at universities and in public health

departments have demonstrated WIC's effectiveness, both in the nutrition and health

benefits it provides to women, infants and children, and the health care cost savings

that result from participation in the WIC Program.

o In addition to the research referred to previously concerning the nutritional impact of

the School Breakfast Program, a 1987 study of elementary school-age children

found an improvement in standardized achievement test scores and rates of attendance

and tardiness with participation in the School Breakfast Program. (Meyers, A., et.

al., "School Breakfast and School Performance," American Journal of Diseases of

Children ." October 1989) Moreover, students participating in the School Lunch

Program have been shown to have higher intakes of energy and more nutrients than

students who do not participate in any of the school nutrition programs. (U.S.

Department of Agriculture, The National Evaluation of School Nutrition Programs .

1983)

CCHIP Results and Government Data on Food Programs Support Need for Program

Improvements

FRAC's policy recommendations make sense, based on the findings of the CCHIP survey,

and other information that is available about the operation of the food assistance programs:

o Improve access to and benefits from the Food Stamp Program :

According to CCHIP and government studies, lack of information about program

eligibility is a key factor inhibiting participation in the Food Stamp Program by

eligible, needy low-income households. In order to be eligible for the Food Stamp

Program, households must have gross incomes below 130 percent of the poverty line

($18,135 for a family of four), net incomes of less than the poverty level ($13,950 for

a family of four), and resources totalling no more than $2,000 (sometimes including

at least part of the value of their car). Yet, according to a 1988 Congressional

Budget Office (CBO) report, only 41 to 58 percent of the households that are eligible

to receive food stamp benefits were participating in the Program. This CBO analysis

also estimated that among eligible households with monthly incomes less than $400,

38 to 51 percent were nol participating in the Food Stamp Program. (Congressional

Budget Office, The Food Stamp Program: Eligibility and Participation . November

1988.)

Another major policy goal for FRAC that is related to the Food Stamp Program is an

increase in food stamp benefits. Major problems with the adequacy of food stamp

benefits have been documented. For example, several studies from across the country

have demonstrated that households cannot purchase the foods in the Thrifty Food Plan
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(the marketbasket upon which the food stamp allotment is based) when they spend
the equivalent of the maximum food stamp benefit. In addition, excessive shelter

costs, lack of tnuisportation to less expensive stores, inadequate storage and

preparation facilities at home, sjjecial dietary requirements, and a number of other

factors make it very difficult for food stamp households to purchase sufficient food

for their families. (U.S. House of Representatives, Subcommittee on Domestic

Marketing, Consumer Relations and Nutrition, A Review of the Thrifty Food Plan

and its Use in the Food Stamp Program . 1985; Crockett, Elizabeth, fiLil-. "Audit and

Evaluation of Food Program Use in New York State: Food Price Survey', 1989)

On average, families in the CCHIP survey who were participating in the Food Stamp
Program spent only 80 percent of the cost of the Thrifty Food Plan (the lowest cost

USDA food plan, developed by to determine maximum food stamp benefits) on food,

even when counting cash spent on food, food stamps and WIC benefits. Anecdotal

stories and descriptive surveys from across the nation attest that many food stamp
households seek emergency food at food pantries and soup kitchens on a regular basis

when their stamps run out. It is not surprising, considering this information, that 40

percent of the food stamp households interviewed in the CCHIP study were hungry.

Ensure that all eligible low-income women, infants and children receive assistance

through the Special Supplemental Food Program for Women. Infants and Children

£WIQ:

The most recent eligibility estimation data from the Congressional Budget Office

indicate that WIC is unable to serve many of the women and children eligible for the

program. Due to funding constraints, WIC serves less than half of the potentially

eligible children (49 percent) and only 58 percent of the eligible new mothers. A
separate and significant concern is that, in any given month, only 54 percent of the

pregnant women eligible for WIC are served.

It is important to remember that in order to be determined eligible for participation in

WIC, one must be both income-eligible and medically certified as nutritionally-at-risk

(i.e., abnormal weight gain during pregnancy; growth problems such as stunting,

underweight or obesity; iron deficiency anemia; or inadequate dietary pattern.) Thus,
WIC is not able to serve millions of low-income women and children who are at

nutritional risk and who we know could be helped by the program's preventive

benefits. The WIC program not only provides a monthly package of nutritious foods

worth about $40 tailored to the dietary needs of infants, children and pregnant,

postpartum and breast-feeding women; it also offers nutrition education to

participants, and refers them to medical care and other social services.

Increase the availability of the School Breakfast Program to low-income children

across the country and encourage Federal, state and local policies to ensure that the

National School Lunch Program remains broadly accessible to all such children :
•
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According to USDA statistics on School Breakfast Program participation, only 53.5

percent of the schools that offer the School Lunch Program also offer the School

Breakfast Program. Moreover, only 33.1 percent of the low-income children who
receive lunch at school participate in the School Breakfast Program (12.6 million low-

income children participate in the Lunch Program, while only 4.2 million low-income

children receive breakfasts at school).

The School Breakfast Program can be very important to the health and well-being of

low-income children. The CCHIP survey rev«ded that low-income children who
were eating both school breakfast and school lunch were significantly less likely to

suffer from problems associated with low energy reserves (fatigue, irritability and

inability to concentrate) than those who were getting school lunch only. In addition,

children in the families surveyed were less likely to have increased school absences if

they received a breakfast at school.

Increased Povertv and Reductions in Public Assistance Program Funding Put Enormous

Pressures on Family Food Budgets

Very real and quite substantial cuts were made in federal fiinding for food and other public

assistance programs during the 1980s. For example, as a result of reductions enacted in

1981 and 1982, federal outlays for food stamp benefits fell 13 percent from fiscal year 1981

to fiscal year 1988, after adjusting for inflation. In addition, child nutrition program funding

was cut by 28 percent in the early 1980s. From 1981 on, appropriations for low-income

non-entitlement programs were also cut substantially, including a 46 percent drop in the

Low-Income Energy Assistance Program and a 56 percent decrease in funding for housing
assistance for the elderly and handicapped. (Center on Budget Policy Priorities, "Notes on

Reagan Legacy Issues Related to Poverty and Low-Income Programs," January 1989)

The impact of the 1980s food and welfare program funding reductions can be illustrated by

examining, with the help of Census data, their impact on poverty. While 19 percent of

families with children who were poor before receipt of government cash assistance programs
were lifted out of poverty by that assistance in 1979, only 10.5 percent of such families were

lifted from poverty by cash assistance in 1987. Even when non-cash benefits are considered,

the story is the same. In 1979, 36.6 percent of the people in families with children that were

poor before receipt of government assistance were lifted from poverty by cash, food, housing

and tax benefits. In 1988, only 23.6 percent of the people were liftaJ from poverty by this

government assistance. (Testimony before the House Committee on Ways and Means, March

13, 1991 by Robert Greenstein, Executive Director, Center on Budget and Policy Priorities)

Poverty and increased constraints on family food budgets go hand in hand.

It is important to understand that during the 1980's there were major negative trends at work

in the extent and severity of poverty and in the adequacy of welfare, unemployment
insurance and housing program funds. These trends (described below) decreased poor
families' overall food purchasing power.
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o There was an increase in the number of poor people. In 1980, 29.3 million

Americans lived below the poverty line, according to Census figures; by 1988, 31.8

million did. In 1991, the number of people in poverty reached 35.7 million and it is

virtually certain that 1992 poverty numbers will rise even higher.

o The increases in poverty were most severe for children. In 1991, 21.8 percent

(14.3 million) of all American children were poor, and more than one out of four

children under age three (25.5 percent) was poor. For Black children, the poverty
rate increased to 46 percent in 1991. Among White and Hispanic children, the

poverty rates were 16.8 percent and 40.4 percent.

o The poor became poorer . From 1980 to 1988, the income of the average poor

family fell further below the poverty line, because of lower wages and declining

benefits in Aid to Families with Dependent Children (AFDC), a basic cash welfare

program.

The declining benefits in AFDC reflect an erosion in these benefits over time. For

example, from 1980 to 1990, AFDC benefits for a family of three with no other

income fell 18 percent in the typical state, after adjusting for inflation. Moreover,
from 1972 to 1990, the average food stamp and AFDC benefits combined for a family
of four with no other income fell by 22.5 percent. It should not be surprising, then,

that in 1990 a family of four with no other income only received 2.8 percent more
combined AFDC and food stamp benefits than they did from AFDC aJone in 1960.

(The Food Stamp Program did not exist in 1960.) In other words, AFDC benefits

have fallen so much that in 1990, the combined value of AFDC and food stamp
benefits was close to the value of AFDC alone in 1960, before the Food Stamp
Program was ever created. (Committee on Ways and Means, Overview of Entitlement

Programs . May 1991)

Because the Food Stamp Program takes into account all other income, people who are

poorer receive more food stamps. Thus, when AFDC benefits do not keep pace with

need, food stamp benefits increase. However, for each $10 drop in AFDC benefits,

families receive only $3 more in food stamps. This is a net loss of $7, making
families poorer overall and less able to purchase a nutritionally adequate diet.

o Another maior factor that has made purchasing adequate diets more difficult is the

skyrocketing cost of housing . According to the American Housing Survey data for

1989, released jointly by the U.S. Census Bureau and the U.S. Department of

Housing and Urban Development (HUD), 81 percent of poor renter households paid
30 percent or more of their income on housing. (HUD defmes affordable housing as

costing less than 30 percent of income.) Moreover, 56 percent of poor renters spent
at least half of their income on housing. Despite the substantial and growing demand
for housing assistance, appropriations for federal housing programs were cut sharply
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in the 1980s. Indeed, the number of poor renter households not receiving any

housing assistance is larger today than in the late 1970s. High housing costs put

enormous pressure on a poor family's household budget, and often leave little cash

available to purchase food.

In summary, the food budget of the average poor family is under extraordinary pressure

because of the combination of erosion in wages, especially for lower paying jobs, and

reductions in public assistance benefits at the state and federal levels. The impact of poverty
and the resulting limited resources for the purchase of food are reflected dramatically in a

study by USDA fFood Spending in American Households . 1980-1988. May 1991), based on

data from the Continuing Consumer Expenditure Diary Surveys of the Bureau of Labor

Statistics. While food expenditures of middle and upper income households stayed relatively

constant ftom 1980 to 1988, the food expenditures of poor households fell substantially, after

adjusting for inflation. In fact, among the poorest fifth of urt>an households, food

expenditures per person fell by 13.1 percent.

Hunger Is a Serious Problem for Poor Families in the U.S.

Hunger has serious, n^ative consequences. According to current knowledge in the field of

nutrition, the kind of chronic undernutrition that results from hunger leads to increased

suscqMibility to infection, reduced height for age, and iron deficiency. Recent research on

the positive impact of participation in the School Breakfast Program on achievement test

scores indicates an association between chronic periods of hunger and the ability to learn.

(Meyers, A., 'School Breakfast and School Performance,' Journal of Diseases of Children .

October 1989) Even short-term hunger seems to have an effect on childmi's ability to leara.

Laboratory research using middle class elementary school students as subjects, with and

without breakfast, showed that they did significantly better on school-type tasks when they

had eaten breakfast. (Pollitt, E., et al., 'Brief Fasting, Stress, and Cognition in Children,"

American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. August 1981)

Beyond the compelling physical and cognitive aspects of chronic hunger, there is also a

psychological component that is diflicult to measure but very real. A child whose family

often has too little to eat in the midst of the affluent United States must wonder about his

self-worth and the responsiveness of the adult worid to his needs. Along with all the other

problems of poverty, his parents must also deal with the constant insecurity of not knowing
where their next meal will come from.

To claim that there is no hunger in the U.S. flies in the face of the countless rqwrts from

communities across the country on increasing numben of people, including more families, at

emergency food sites. For example, since 1983, the U.S. Conference of Mayors has

documented an annual increase in the demand for emergency food in major cities across the

nation. In 1992, requests for emergency food increased in the survey cities by an average of

18 percent. Just over two out of every three persons requesting emergency food assistance

were memben of families with children. In over two-thirds of the cities, emergency food
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assistance facilities turned away people in need because of lack of resources. Catholic

Charities U.S.A., the largest network of private social service agencies in the U.S.. reported

that in 1990 its local agencies saw almost a three-fold increase in people seeking food shelter

and emergency services. Of the 8 million people Catholic Charities served in 1990, one-

third were children.

Americans see that the hunger problem is worsening. Nine out of 10 registered voters polled

last year by a Republican research firm labeled hunger a serious issue. The intensity of

concern more than doubled compared to a similar 1984 poll. Nearly six out of 10 voten felt

that hunger had worsened in their communities in the last five years, and that hunger was

making its presence felt among the middle class as well as the poor.

Even the controversial President's Task Force on Food Assistance appointed by then

President Ronald Reagan, reported in 1984: 'There is hunger in America; this is an

intolerable situation.* They also added: 'The Task Force cannot report definitive evidence

on the extent of hunger as it is commonly defined. We do not suggest that anyone be

complacent about the hunger problem simply because the problem cannot be quantified with

complete accuracy.'

The CCHIP survey, using meticulous research methodology, paints a "number-picture" of the

extent of the problem of hunger, and its consequences, among poor families. Of the 2,335

low-income households with children interviewed in the CCHIP survey, 32 percent were

hungry and many others reported hunger-related problems. Families that experienced hunger

suffered from it for an average of seven days per month and six months over the past year.

The average incomes of hungry families were nearly 25 percent below the poverty line.

They spent over half of their income on shelter and a third on food. They were only able to

spend an average of 68 cents per person per meal. When compared with children from non-

hungry families, children from hungry families were much more likely to suffier from

infection-based health problems and were two to three times more likely to show symptoms
of low-energy stores in the six-month period prior to the survey. Children who were hungry
were also more likely to be absent from school.

Conclusion

In the early 1980s, with the onset of a recession and major cuts in public assistance

programs, individuals and organizations across the country noticed a growing number of

families seeking help at emergency food programs. These concerned people believed that the

problem of poverty-related food shortages was growing. They wanted to document what

they were seeing in their communities in a way that would be convincing to skeptical policy-

msJcers who did not encounter the problem of hunger every day. The Community Childhood

Hunger Identification Project was developed, in as honest and careful a way as possible, in

response to this need for documentation.
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What FRAC discovered in cuiying out the survey in communities across the country
- a

substantial rate of hunger among low-income children ~ is not surprising to anyone who is

poor, who runs a food pantry, or who pays close attention to the number of children who are

living below the poverty level in the United States. Moreover, the land of chronic food

shortages CCHIP documented is quite consistent with what is known about the nutritional

problems of poor children - based on government data on growth measures, biochemical

tests, and food intake.

Along with the many other challenges they face because of lack of money, poor families

sufTer from food insufficiency. They need jobs, and better paying jobs, higher quality

education, affordable housing, and adequate health care. But they also need food, and

resources to purchase food. The food assistance programs already in place can (and do)

make an enormous and positive difference in the lives of these families. In a country with

the vast resources of the United States, allowing poor families to suffer chronic food

shortages, and constant insecurity over the adequacy of household food supplies, makes no

sense. Turning our backs on a problem that has a negative impact on children's health and

well-being, especially when it affects millions of families with young children, and is

eminently solvable, would be an irresponsible course for our nation to take. If we truly

care about children and about the future productivity and health of our economy, we need to

solve this problem now.

23



256

Feed THE
CHILDREN LARRY JONES INTERNATIONAL MINISTRIES, INC.

Post Office Box 56. Oklihoma Cirv. OK :3lOl^)056 • 405/942-0228 • Urry Jones. Prcsiilcnt

WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF REVEREND LARRY JONES

Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee:

Thank you Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee for inviting me to speak

on behalf of the hungry children here in America.

I know that we cannot solve all the himger problems that we are facing, but as we

listen here today to one another, it is obvious that we are striving for a common goal. I'm

sure that hunger in America is beyond our ability to eradicate and we cannot immimize

hunger like smallpox and measles. However, we can control the further spreading of hunger.

I. PROBLEM; HUNGER STATISTICS ARE RAPIDLY RISING

All of us here today are too familiar with the recent statistics that:

~ 35.7 nullion Americans are living in poverty as reported by the Census Bureau; and

14.3 million are children, the largest number of poor children since 1965;

— which means 1 in 5 American children are living in poverty;

— 60% of children under age 6, who live with a single mother, are poor,

25.7 million Americans depend on the food stamp program;

In Texas alone, every 7 minutes a baby is bom into poverty;

In Oklahoma, the DHS provided over 33 million pounds of commodities to needy

individuals last year.

Also, the TEFAP program in Oklahoma provided food to over 100,000 families last

year.

We often times wonder - who and where are these people that continually need food

assistance and why do the numbers continue to inflate? Typically, Americans think that they

are "those people," not "us." I am constantly reminded of the disbeUef among average
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Americans that hunger exists in our country. A couple months ago I was in our President's

home state - [>umas, Aricansas to be exact - and we interviewed many niraL hard-woridng

families who are trying, bat just cannot make ends meet After their interview was televised,

my staff was asked "Where do you get these actors and actresses?" Mr. Chairman and

subcommittee members, they were not actois and actresses, but real people with a real

everyday problenL

Who are "these people?" Contrary to popular belief, the majority of poor children are

not Black, and not on welfare. Also, they live in working families and they live in small

towns, rural conununities and suburban America. In 1989, the parents of 3.5 million families

with children worked, but were still poor. A particular group that receives very little, if any,

attention is the non-I£spanic whites. Their rate of poverty is growing faster than any other

group and the frightening news is that many Amoicans are not aware of their existence.

Why arc the non-Hispanic white poverty numbers growing disproportionally? It is

quick and easy to obtain media footage and interviews of the inner-city poor, who are mostly

Black. The non-Hispanic whites are not concentrated in an urban area, but scattered

throughout the hills of Arkansas and West Virginia, along the Appalachian Trail and the

Mississippi Delta. Because it takes a lot of effort to reach them, the depth of their poverty

level is nearly unknown. Therefore, they receive very little food assistance and their numbers

are r^dly multiplying.

As Joseph Brodsky has said 'it is a battle not between bad and good, but between bad

and worse."

n. SOLUTION: JOBS; BUT TEFAP "IN THE MEANTIME"
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We are kidding ourselves if we think that the government can solve this problem. The

real problem is job loss.

I recall a commercial many years ago with three older women analyzing hamburgers

from different restaurants and one woman asked "Where's ttie beef?"

While many economists today are painting a picture that depicts a recovering

economy, the man on the street is asking "Where are the jobs?"

Then the Senate passed a $4 billion unemployment benefit package and the House is

expected to approve it this week. I ask you "Where are the jobs?"

Only 12 weeks ago, the following corporations aimounced the following job cuts:

Sears - 50,000 jobs

roM - 25.000 jobs

Boeing - 20,000 jobs

United Technologies - 10,500 jobs

McDonnell Douglas - 8,700 jobs

Eastman Kodak - 2,000 jobs

The inctmibents of these armounced job cuts are your typical hard-working Americans

who prepared themselves to be a responsible American citizen. When their job ends soon,

they too will ask, "Where are the jobs?'

Although the answer to this question requires a long-term solution, there is a solution

that provides temporary relief for the man on the street who is asking "Where are the

jobs?" like the family I met in Dumas, Arkansas ~ that is The Emergency Food Assistance

Program.

Dr. E.V. Hill a personal friend of former President Reagan's, recalled one of their

meetings where the President stated that he wanted to see every person in America employed
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with a secure future ahead. Dr. Hill replied "good. Mr. President, but what about the

meantime?"

That meeting was nearly a decade ago. Mr. Chairman and subcommittee members, we

are still "in the meantime." For those who don't believe that TEFAP is helping people, the late

Congressman Claude Pepper said "If more politicians in this country were thinking about the next

generation instead of the next election, it might be better for the United States and the world."

Seventy per cent of the relief in this country is handled through non-governmental

organizations. Feed The Children provides food for food pantries in all 48 lower states, plus

the District of Columbia.

It is one thing to debate the hunger problem in this country, but when you stand in

firont of a family refrigerator and the mother is ciying because it is empty, you do not want to

debate TEFAP.

If you're thinking of dropping TEFAP, Woodrow Wilson said "Caution is a

confidential agent of selfishness."

"In the meantime," millions of American's daily survival depends on programs like

TEFAP.

m. CONCLUSION: Today We Can Feed The Children

Some people are slow to help lower income families either because they do not fit

their definition of a family, such as babies bom out of wedlock, or belief that the parents are

just plain lazy. The answer to why these children are poor is important, but should not be a

ciiteiia in order for a child to receive food. Otherwise, these iimocent children are being

penalized for their parents faults at the expense of a stronger, healthier American future.

Each of us here today witnessed 24 children bum to their death last week in Waco,
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and we mourned and asked "Why didn't they let the children out?"

Today, we can decide, let's get the children out of hunger. Help sometimes comes a

day late and a dollar short. For the Waco children, it was a day late. For 1 in 5 American

children, help is a dollar short

Fifteen years from now, I hope we do not have to ask "Why are our young adults not

fully developed?" Today's children are the poorest age group
-- two times as likely to be as

poor as elderly people. In fact, hungry children are two to three times more likely to suffer

health problems than the elderly. Lack of nourishment today will breed less-developed adults

incapable of competing in a global market for jobs. The current decline of jobs will continue

if we do not feed the children of today so that they can fully develop physically, emotionally

and mentally at the same level as today's children in Asia and Europe.

I cannot forget the Waco children.

Let's decide today not to be a dollar short We cannot afford to forget the children in

Arkansas, the Appalachian kids and our native American children on reservations or any child

M^o goes to bed hungry in these United States of America.

Thaivk you.
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TESTIMONY

CHRIS REBSTOCK
DIRECTOR OF NETWORK SERVICES

SECOND HARVEST
NATIONAL FOOD BANK NETWORK

INTRODUCTION

CHAIRMAN STENHOLM, MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE, I WOULD LIKE TO

THANK YOU FOR THE INVITATION TO SPEAK TO YOU TODAY ABOUT THE

IMPORTANCE OF THE EMERGENCY FOOD ASSISTANCE PROGRAM (TEFAP) ON

THE NETWORK OF FOOD BANKS AND ITS ABILITY TO SERVE THE HUNGRY.

SECOND HARVEST IS THE NATIONAL NETWORK OF FOOD BANKS TO PROVIDE

CONTEXT, SECOND HARVEST DEFINES A FOOD BANK NOT AS THE LOCAL

CHURCH OR COMMUNITY CENTER PANTRY, BUT AS A FOOD WAREHOUSE. OUR

185 MEMBER FOOD BANKS ARE PRIVATE NON-PROHT ORGANIZATIONS

ENGAGED IN THE SOLICITATION, INSPECTION, STORAGE, AND RE-DISTRIBUTION

OF EVERY KIND OF FOOD PRODUCT PRODUCED IN THIS COUNTRY.

THE VAST MAJORITY OF THE PRODUCT IS DONATED BY THE FOOD INDUSTRY.

OTHER SOURCES INCLUDE FOOD COLLECTED THROUGH FOOD DRIVES.

PRODUCTS PURCHASED WITH PRIVATE AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT FUNDS, AND

FEDERAL COMMODITIES OBTAINED THROUGH TEFAP, SOUP KITCHEN/FOOD

BANK PROGRAM, AND THE COMMODITY SUPPLEMENTAL FOODS PROGRAM

THE MAJORITY OF THE FOOD DISTRIBUTED BY FOOD BANKS IS DISTRIBUTED

NOT TO INDIVIDUALS BUT TO OTHER 501(CX3) ORGANIZATIONS ENGAGED IN

THE DIRECT SERVICE OF INDIVIDUALS IN NEED — AGENCIES SUCH AS SOUP

KITCHENS, EMERGENCY PANTRIES, DAY CARE CENTERS, SENIOR CENTERS,

REHAB PROGRAMS, SHELTERS, THE RED CROSS, AND OTHERS IN 1992, OUR

NETWORK PROVIDED PRODUCTS TO MORE THAN 47,000 SUCH AGENCIES

THROUGHOUT THE 50 STATES AND PUERTO RICO.
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AS YOU ARE AWARE. TEFAP IS THE OUT GROWTH OF AN EFFORT IN THE EARLY

1980's BY THE REAGAN ADMINISTRATION TO ADDRESS THE GROWING

INVENTORIES OF SURPLUS AGRICULTURAL PRODUCTS AMASSED BY THE U S.

DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE THROUGH PRICE SUPPORT PROGRAMS THE

DECISION WAS MADE TO DISTRIBUTE THESE COMMODITIES TO HUNGRY

AMERICANS.

IN 1983, THE PROGRAM BECAME FORMALIZED UNDER THE NAME TEMPORARY

EMERGENCYFOOD ASSISTANCE PROGRAM AND FUNDING WAS APPROPRIATED TO

SUPPORT THE STORAGE AND DISTRIBUTION COSTS INCURRED AT THE STATE

AND LOCAL LEVEL

IN 1988, THE HUNGER PREVENTION ACT AUTHORIZED THE APPROPRIATION OF

FUNDS TO PURCHASE COMMODITIES TO SUPPLEMENT THE PROGRAM THE

AUTHORIZED SPENDING LEVEL FOR FY89 WAS SET AT $120 MILLION THIS ACT

ALSO DID TWO MORE THINGS RELEVANT TO THE DISTRIBUTION OF FEDERAL

COMMODITIES TO THE NEEDY FIRST, IT AUTHORIZED THE APPROPRIATION OF

$32 MILLION FOR THE PURCHASE OF COMMODITIES FOR DISTRIBUTION

THROUGH SOUP KITCHENS AND FOOD BANKS TO HOMELESS/HUNGRY

INDIVIDUALS SECOND, IT BROADENED THE ALLOWABLE COSTS TO BE

COVERED BY THE $50 MILLION STORAGE AND DISTRIBUTION FUNDS TO

INCLUDE THE DISTRIBUTION OF THE SOUP KITCHEN/FOOD BANK COMMODITIES

AS WELL AS NON-FEDERAL PRIVATELY DONATED PRODUCTS

FINALLY. IN 1990, THE FARM BILL MADE THIS "TEMPORARY" PROGRAM

PERMANENT AND RENAMED IT THE EMERGENCYFOOD ASSISTANCEPROGRAM.
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THE PROGRAM WAS AUTHORIZED THROUGH FY94 AND AN INCREASING

SCHEDULE OF FUNDING WAS DESIGNED TO SUPPORT AND MAINTAIN THE

PROGRAM CLEARLY, THE NATURE OF THE PROGRAM WAS CHANGED AS A

RESULT OF THIS ACTION. THE FOCUS WAS REDIRECTED FROM THAT OF A

DEALING WITH SURPLUS INVENTORIES TO ATTEMPTING TO PPROVIDE

RESOURCES FOR HUNGRY CITIZENS.

THE NEED

THE TOTAL POUNDAGE DISTRIBUTED BY THE SECOND HARVEST NETWORK IN

1992 WAS MORE THAN 900 MILLION POUNDS OF THIS AMOUNT. MORE THAN 1 53

MILUON POUNDS WERE FEDERAL COMMODITIES FROM TEFAP. THE SOUP

KITCHEN/FOOD BANK COMMODITIES PROGRAM, AND THE COMMODITY

SUPPLEMENTAL FOOD PROGRAM. THE NETWORK DISTRIBUTED ROUGHLY 35%

OF ALL TEFAP PRODUCT AND SOUP KITCHEN/FOOD BANK PROGRAM

COMMODITIES DISTRIBUTED IN FY91 .

GIVEN THE ENORMITY OF THE "VOLUNTEER" EFFORT REQUIRED TO MAKE THE

NETWORK FUNCTION, i.e BOARDS OF DIRECTORS, VOLUNTEER STAFF

ASSISTANCE, PRIVATELY DONATED FOOD. FINANCIAL SUPPORT,

TRANSPORTATION. WAREHOUSING, TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE. ETC.. THESE

HGURES ARE QUITE IMPRESSIVE YET. IN SPITE OF THE THESE HGURES. WE

CONTINUE TO LACK THE RESOURCES TO KEEP PACE WITH THE PROBLEM.

OUR MEMBERS. AND THE 47,000 CHARITIES THEY REPRESENT, REPORT A

CONTINUALLY INCREASING NEED AT THE LOCAL LEVEL IN 1992, THE AVERAGE

NETWORK FOOD BANK EXPERIENCED ROUGHLY AN 18% INCREASE IN DEMAND
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FOR SERVICE IT COMES AS NO SURPRISE, AS I AM SURE YOU HAVE HEARD FROM

OTHERS, THAT THE MOST RAPIDLY GROWING SEGMENT OF THE POPULATION AT

RISK IS THE WORKING POOR (WHILE WE LACK FIRM SCIENTIFIC STATISTICS AT

THIS POINT, WE ARE IN THE MIDST OF A NATIONAL STUDY OF THE 47.000

AGENCIES SERVED BY THE NETWORK TO GATHER SUCH STATISTICS WE

EXPECT TO HAVE THIS INFORMATION BY THE END OF THE YEAR.) WE DO KNOW,

ON THE BASIS OF RECENT GOVERNMENT REPORTS. THAT MORE THAN 1 IN 10

AMERICANS IS RECEIVING FOOD STAMPS - A RECORD NUMBER OF PROGRAM

PARTICIPANTS THE FOOD RESEARCH AND ACTION CENTER'S RECENT STUDY OF

CHILDHOOD HUNGER INDICATES THAT 1 IN 4 AMERICAN CHILDREN LACKS

ADEQUATE NUTRITIONAL SUPPORT

THE FACT THAT THE FOOD BANK NETWORK IS THE PORT OF LAST RESORT

MAKES THIS INFORMATION PARTICULARLY DISTURBING PEOPLE DO NOT TEND

TO SHOW UP AT SOUP KITCHENS OR COMMUNITY PANTRIES UNTIL THEY HAVE

EXHAUSTED ALL OTHER RESOURCES SO WHEN A FAMILY DOES SEEK

ASSISTANCE AT ONE OF THESE ORGANIZATIONS AND FINDS THE SHELVES BARE,

THEY HAVE NO WHERE ELSE TO TURN ACCORDING TO THE U S CONFERENCE

OF MAYORS. 15% OF THOSE SEEKING ASSISTANCE AT EMERGENCY FEEDING

SITES WERE EITHER TURNED AWAY DUE TO LACK OF RESOURCES OR WERE

PROVIDED INADEQUATE ASSISTANCE TO MEET THEIR NEED

THE PROGNOSIS FOR MEETING THE NEED

AT OUR NATIONAL CONFERENCE LAST SUMMER, A PANEL OF FOOD INDUSTRY

REPRESENTATIVES ADDRESSED THE ASSEMBLY ON THE SUBJECT OF TRENDS IN
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THE INDUSTRY AND THE POTENTIAL IMPACT ON DONATIONS OF INDUSTRY

SURPLUSES THE REPORT WAS NQI GOOD MORE AND MORE OF THE

COMPANIES ARE MOVING TOWARD OPERATING PHILOSOPHIES BASED ON ZERO-

DEFECTS OR TOTAL QUALITY. THERE IS NO QUESTION THAT THIS MOVEMENT IS

TO THE BENEFIT OF THE CONSUMER FEWER ERRORS MEAN LOWER PRICES.

TIGHTER OPERATING CONTROLS MEAN IMPROVED PRODUCT QUALITY IN THIS

CASE, HOWEVER, THE CONSUMER'S BENEFIT SPELLS DDTICULTY FOR THOSE OF

US SCRAMBLING TO GENERATE MORE RESOURCES TO ASSIST THOSE WHO CANT

AFFORD TO BE "THE CONSUMER"

PLEASE DONT MISUNDERSTAND ME WE SALUTE THE INDUSTRY FOR ITS

EFFORTS ON BEHALF OF OUR CONSTITUENTS AND WE APPLAUD THEIR

MOVEMENT TOWARD IMPROVING THEIR SERVICE TO THE CONSUMER WE JUST

NEED TO BECOME MORE CREATIVE IN SEARCHING OUT ADDITIONAL PRODUCT

RESOURCES FROM THE INDUSTRY.

SUPPLIES ARE NOT ONLY DWINDLING FROM THE PRIVATE SECTOR, HOWEVER.

THE COMMODITIES AVAILABLE THROUGH TEFAP ARE DISAPPEARING AS WELL.

ALTHOUGH THE QUANTITIES PROCURED WITH THE FUNDS APPROPRIATED FOR

PURCHASE HAVE BEEN RELATIVELY STABLE OVER THE PAST THREE YEARS, THE

QUANTTTIES AVAILABLE THROUGH BONUS COMMODITIES HAVE STEADILY

DECREASED. IN 1987, NEARLY $1 BILUON WORTH OF BONUS COMMODITIES

WERE DISTRIBUTED THESE INCLUDED SEVEN PRODUCTS: CHEESE, NON-FAT

DRY MILK, HONEY, RICE, FLOUR, CORNMEAL, AND BUTTER IN FY93, ONLY TWO

COMMODITIES ARE AVAILABLE: CORNMEAL AND BUTTER.
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IN SOME STATES, FOOD BANKS MERGE THE TEFAP COMMODITffiS INTO THEIR

REGULAR INVENTORIES, ENABLING THEIR MEMBER AGENCIES TO MIX THESE

COMMODITIES WITH OTHER PRIVATELY DONATED PRODUCTS THE RESULT IS A

BALANCED PACKAGE OF FOOD PRODUCTS FOR THE MOST NEEDY OTHER

STATES HAVE BEEN FORCED TO REDUCE THE FREQUENCY OF THEIR MASS

DISTRIBUTIONS, AND HAVE HAD TO RESTRICT THE AMOUNT OF PRODUCT

DISTRIBUTED TO EACH HOUSEHOLD, REGARDLESS OF THE QUANTITY

GUIDELINES PROVIDED BY USDA

THE IMPACT OF REDUCED STORAGE/DISTRIBUTION FUNDS

THE FUNDS FOR STORAGE AND DISTRIBUTION OF TEFAP AND SOUP

KITCHEN/FOOD BANK COMMODITIES WERE CUT 10% - FROM $50 MILLION TO $45

MILLION - FOR FY92 AND FY93 THE THINKING WHICH LED TO THIS CUT WAS

THAT A REDUCTION IN PRODUCTS AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION EQUALS A

REDUCTION IN THE NEED FOR FUNDS TO UNDERWRITE IT WHILE SEEMINGLY

LOGICAL, THIS THINKING MISSES THE POINT; THE FUNDS WERE INSUFFICIENT IN

THE FIRST PLACE.

THE AVERAGE FOOD BANK SPENDS BETWEEN 12 AND 13 CENTS TO DISTRIBUTE

A POUND OF FOOD THIS LOW COST IS DIRECTLY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE

CREATIVITY OF FOOD BANKERS AND THE EXTENSIVE VOLUNTEER SUPPORT OF

THE NETWORK (IN EXCESS OF 4,164.000 HOURS IN 1992). IT DOES MEAN,

HOWEVER, THAT THE AVERAGE FOOD BANK FACES A LARGE FUNDRAISING

NEED EVERY YEAR IN ORDER TO MEET ITS $656,000 BUDGET. IT IS ESTIMATED

THAT Wrm THE CURRENT LEVEL OF SUPPORT FROM THE STORAGE AND

DISTRIBUTION FUNDS, THE FOOD BANKS ARE LOSING AN AVERAGE OF 2 5 TO 3
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CENTS PER POUND THAT TRANSLATES TO APPROXIMATELY $3.5 MILLION

WHICH MUST BE RAISED BY FOOD BANKS OR APPROXIMATELY $12 MILLION

WHICH MUST BE RAISED BY ALL TEFAP DISTRIBUTORS JUST TO KEEP THE

PROGRAM GOING.

TEFAP; JUST A PIECE OF THE WHOLE
IT IS IMPORTANT THAT TEFAP AND THE SOUP KITCHEN/FOOD BANK

COMMODITIES BE VIEWED FOR WHAT THEY ARE - A PART, ALBEIT A VERY

IMPORTANT PART, OF THE TOTAL COMPLEMENT OF FEDERAL FOOD ASSISTANCE

PROGRAMS DESPITE THE TENDENCY TO PIT ONE PROGRAM AGAINST ANOTHER,

EACH MUST BE EVALUATED ON THE BASIS OF ITS TARGET POPULATION AND

THE NEED IT FELLS FOR THAT POPULATION.

THERE IS SOME OVERLAP; THAT IS TRUE BUT THERE IS ALSO EVIDENCE THAT

TEFAP REACHES A LARGE SEGMENT OF THE HUNGRY POPULATION WHICH IS

UNTOUCHED BY FOOD STAMPS, WIC, SCHOOL BREAKFAST AND LUNCH

PROGRAMS, ETC THIS SEGMENT INCLUDES A SIGNIFICANT NUMBER OF PEOPLE

IN THE RURAL AREAS OF THE COUNTRY AND A NUMBER OF THE WORKING POOR

WHO JUST BARELY EXCEED THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE NEEDS TESTS OF

OTHER PROGRAMS

RECOMMENDATIONS

I WOULD LIKE TO OFFER SEVERAL RECOMMENDATIONS TO THE SUB-

COMMITTEE TO SUPPORT TEFAP AND THE OTHER COMMODITY DISTRIBUTION

PROGRAMS.
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1. CONGRESS SHOULD PASS AND SUPPORT FUNDING OF THE MICKEY

LELAND CHILDHOOD HUNGER RELIEF ACT (HR529) WHICH

PROVIDES FOR FULL FUNDING OF THE AUTHORIZED AMOUNTS FOR

TEFAP PRODUCT PURCHASES ($170 MILLION) AND STORAGE AND

DISTRIBUTION COSTS ($50 MILLION) FOR FY94.

4 CONGRESS SHOULD ESTABLISH A CONGRESSIONAL COMMITTEE

COMPRISED OF REPRESENTATIVES FROM STATE ADMINISTRATIONS

AND PRIVATE NON-PROFIT ENTITIES ENGAGED IN COMMODITY

DISTRIBUTION, ie AMERICAN COMMODITY DISTRIBUTION

ASSOCIATION, FOOD RESEARCH AND ACTION CENTER, SECOND

HARVEST, AND OTHERS THE PURPOSE OF THE COMMITTEE WOULD

BE TO EXAMINE THE POTENTIAL SAVINGS OF COMBINING CERTAIN

COMMODITY PROGRAMS WHICH TARGET THE SAME POPULATIONS

THESE WOULD INCLUDE TEFAP, SOUP KITCHEN/FOOD BANK, AND

CHARITABLE INSTITUTIONS PROGRAMS. SUCH CONSOLIDATION

MAY DECREASE DUPLICATION AND INCREASE EFFECTIVENESS AND

EFFICIENCY.

IN CLOSING, I WANT TO THANK THE SUB-COMMITTEE FOR ITS INTEREST IN AND

CONCERN FOR THIS VERY PRESSING ISSUE THE DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM IS IN

PLACE THE NEED, UNFORTUNATELY, IS GROWING WHAT IS LACKING ARE THE

RESOURCES PLEASE TAKE THESE CHALLENGES, AS I ASSURE YOU THE FOOD

BANKING COMMUNITY WILL, AND LETS USE OUR COLLECTIVE CREATIVITY TO

SEE TO IT THAT THIS ISSUE WILL NOT BE THE DRIVING CONCERN OF THE 2 1ST

CENTURY THANK YOU FOR YOUR TIME.
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NEW STUDY HIGHLIGHTS IMPACT AND STATUS OF CHILD NUTRITION
PROGRAMS IN THE U.S.

Solutions Cited to Improve Nutritional Status and Learning Potential

of Children at All Socioeconomic Levels

Washington, DC -- Stymied by lack of funding, and bureaucratic and attitudinal

barriers, many child nutrition programs leave children of all socioeconomic levels at risk for

poor nutrition and learning, according to a new study by the National/Health Education

Consortium (NHEC).

Eat to Learn. Learn to Eat: The Link Between Nutrition and Learning in Children, released

today at a hearing of the House Agriculture Subcommittee on Department Operations and

Nutrition, was prepared by the National Health/Education Consortium -- a joint initiative of

the National Commission to Prevent Infant Mortality (NCPIM) and the Institute for

Educational Leadership (lEL). The NHEC seeks to effectively integrate health and education

programs, policies and practices throughout the United States. The report is based on research

and discussions with experts in nutrition, children's health and education.

*It is deplorable that in the United States one out of every eight children under the age

of 12 goes to bed hungry at night, and many more don't even know what good nutrition means,'

said Florida Governor Lawton Chiles, chairman of the NCPIM and co-chairman of the

Consortium. "What's even more frustrating is that, although programs are in place that can

change these facts, we allow them to remain under-utilized. We're kidding ourselves if we

expect our children to grow up healthy and ready to learn."

(MORE)

Nactonal Commission to Prevent Infant Monaiit)-

Switzer Building, Room 2014 • }}0 C Street, SW •
Washington, DC 20201 'Tel (202) 205-8)64 • Fan (202) 205-5562

Institute for Educational Leadership

Suite ) 10 • 1001 Connecticut .\venue. NW' • Uashmgton. DC 200J6 • Tel (202) 822-8405 • Fax (202) 872-4050
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The report points to many public and private programs in place that address children's

nutrition and nutrition education. The National School Lunch Program (NSLP), the School

Breakfast Program (SBP), the Food Stamp Program, the Special Supplemental Food Program Tor

Women, Infants and Children (WIC), the Child and Adult Care Food Program, the Summer Food

Service Program for Children, and the Nutrition Education and Training (NET) Program are

examples of government programs that have demonstrated significant, positive effects on the

nutritional status of children and their ability to learn in school. However, their impacts are

compromised by under-funding, red tape and misconceptions about their intent and benefits.

According to the report:

o The U.S. General Accounting Office calculated that for the initial investment of $296
million in WIC funding for 1990, the total savings in health and education related

expenses over the next 18 years total $1,036 billion. However, because of limited

funding, only 60 percent of those eligible for WIC receive benefits.

Families with children receive approximately 83 percent of all Food Stamp Benefits.

However, many Food Stamp households cannot purchase an adequate diet with the

resources available to them.

o The USDA's National Evaluation of the School Nutrition Programs found that 'students

who participate in the School Lunch Program get more than nonparticipants of almost

all nutrients that were examined.' It also projected that over 600,000 students who
normally skip breakfast would eat breakfast if it were available in their schools.

Meanwhile, however, federal subsidies have been reduced, USDA 'bonus' commodities

have vanished; and administrative complexity and costs have increased dramatically.

Consequently, over 200 schools have dropped out of the school lunch and breakfast

programs in the last two years. When a school drops out, all students, including poor

students, are denied access to these programs.

o It has been estimated that 4.2 million eligible poor students are not applying for free

and reduced-price school meals. Some students see the programs as being for low-

income children only, even though this is not true. The resulting 'stigma' associated

with participation deters many children and parents from electing to participate in the

school breakfast and lunch programs. Other parents may be deterred by the free and

reduced-price lunch application form, which tends to be quite complex.

Evidence of the link between nutrition and learning in children comes from both

scientific research and anecdotal evidence. Alan Meyers, MD, MPH, a pediatrician at Boston

City Hospital who testified at today's hearings, said that 'nutrition plays a role in children's

physical and cognitive development from early on, even before they are born. We can't rely

(MORE)
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on physical symptoms to warn us that children are poorly nourished or nutrient deficient

because learning may be affected before noticeable signs of malnutrition appear. Prevention

is key."

According to the report, children of all socioeconomic levels are at risk for poor

nutrition. Some children do not get enough to eat each day because their families lack money

to buy sufficient amounts of food. Other children consume enough (or too much) food, but

have diets high in fat, sugar and sodium that put them at risk for becoming overweight or

developing heart disease or other chronic illnesses.

Many educators know from experience that when children are hungry or

undernourished, they tend to be irritable, apathetic and lethargic, states the report. They often

have little energy and have difficulty concentrating, all factors that can interfere with

learning. In a 1990 Carnegie foundation survey of teachers, more than half of the respondents

said that 'poor nourishment* among students was a problem at their school.

Studies have found that children with diets adequate in calories and nutrients perform

better on various achievement tests. Children in grades 3 through 6 were studied in Lawrence,

Massachusetts public schools where the School Breakfast Program had just been introduced.

They found that participation in the program contributed positively to the 1 987 Comprehensive

Tests of Basic Skills score, and reduced tardiness and absenteeism among these children.

However, the School Breakfast Program is available in only about half as many schools as the

National School Lunch Program.

*In order to ensure the nation's children grow up healthy and ready to learn, it is

imperative that steps be taken to build on the infrastructure of child nutrition programs.* said

business leader William S. Woodside. chairman of lEL and co^hairman of the Consortium. 'No

single agency, organization, school administrator, health professional or parent can - or should

~ singlehandedly. accomplish this goal. Success depends on the ability of these diverse groups

to collaborate, cooperate and combine resources and expertise.*

(MORE)
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The report recommends action steps that government, health and education professionals

and parents can take to expand and increase access to child nutrition and nutrition education

programs. They include:

o Increasing funding for and expanding child nutrition programs with proven
effectiveness such as WIC. Food Stamps, National School Lunch, School Breakfast,
Summer Food Service Child and Adult Care Food and the NET programs.

o Reducing the red tape and administrative requirements for the School Breakfast and
Lunch Programs and eventually implementing a Universal School Breakfast and Lunch
Program.

o Expanding and enhancing nutrition education initiatives in schools.

o Encouraging the development of innovative nutrition progranu that involve children,
families, educators, dietitians and others working at the community level.

Promoting the interconnectedness of children's health and ability to learn in school so
that programs in these areas collaborate and coordinate their efforts.

Eal to Learm, team to Eat: The Link Bttween NutritUm and Leanung in Children is a report

of the National Health/Education Consortium. Comprised of leaders from S7 national health

and education organizations, representing some 1 1 million constituents, the Consortium strives

to bridge the all too often separate worlds of health and education into unified action for

children. Generous support for the production of this report was provided by the American

Cancer Society, the American School Food Service Association and the Prudential Foundation.

Copies of Eat to Learm. Learn to Eat: The Link Between Nutrition and Learning in Children can be
obtained from the National Commission to Prevent Infant Mortality, 330 C Street, SW. Switzer
Building. Room 2014, Washington, DC 20201. Tel: 202/20S-8364.
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FAfTTS CONCERNING U.S. ANTI-HUNGER SPENDING

Food gt«mp*

* Since the inception of the food stamp program with a pilot

project in FY61, food stamp spending (through FY92) has

totalled $220.8 billion

* In FY 92, federal spending on food stamps was $23.4 billion

[$22.4 billion U. S. + $1. bn for Puerto Rico]

* FY93 federal food stamp appropriations were $28.1 billion [US

$27.1 bn + $1.1 for Puerto Rico]

* FY92 average monthly food stamp enrollment: 26.9 million

persons [25.4 mil persons US + 1.5 mil persons in Puerto

Rico]

* FY93 latest enroUment totals (Jan 93 figures): 28.3 mil

persons [26.8 mil US + 1.5 mil persons Puerto Rico]

Recent Total USDA Appropriations for Food Assistance

*
$32.7 billion on Food & Nutrition Service programs

(appropriations) in FY92. This represented 62 percent of

all USDA appropriations for FY 1992.

*
$38.4 billion on Food & Nutrition Service programs

(appropriations) in FY 1993.

* In addition to these USDA domestic food assistance

appropriations, approximately $1 billion a year worth of

domestic food assistance support is provided through

donated "bonus" commodities acqiiired by USDA (not

included in appropriations figures), and by the Dept. of

Health & Hvunan Services (elderly nutrition programs) and

the Federal Emergency Management Administration

(FEMA).



274

Other (non-food-gtamp^ Rni-nllm<>nt Figurea for FY 1992.

* School hrnch program: 24.6 million children
* School breakfast program: 4.9 million children
* Child care food service program: 1.7 million children
* Summer food service program: 1.9 million children
* WIC Program 4.2 million children
*
Emergency Food Assistance Program: 2.5 miUion households

Special note; A survey of all the nations of the world for which we
have national government spending figures reveals that only 21

nations have a total national government budget which is

greater than the figure which the U.S. Congress appropriates to

USDA's Food & Nutrition Service.

* About complUd by the House Agrieulture Conunitlei preat office from information provided by the

Congretrional Reaeareh Service of the Library of Congreat and from Central Intelligence Agency
IMtbliahed reporta.

#
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HASeRO. INC.

'V.VJ 200 NARRAGANSETT PARK DRIVE'—^^
P.O BOX 200

,.^,,_ PAWTUCKET. RHODE ISLAND 02862-0200 U.S.A.
..J .J;.MUJ TELEPHONE: (401 ) 431 -TOYS (8697)

Testimony of Alan G. Hassenfeld
caiainnan. Chief Executive Officer, Hasbro, Inc.

in support of the
Mickey Leland Childhood Hunger Relief Act

Hearing before the House Agriculture Subcommittee on
Department Operations and Nutrition

April 28, 1993, Washington, DC

I am very sorry that I eun unable to join you today to show
my support for the Mickey Leland Childhood Hunger Relief
Act. One year ago I spoke at a House/ Senate press
conference urging passage of this same bill. My belief in
the importance of this bill to our nation's well-being has
only grown stronger over the past year.

I am also pleased to enter into the record the C.E.O.
Statement in Support of the Mickey Leland Childhood Hunger
Relief Act. More than 25 corporate leaders signed this
statement last year and have expressed their continued
support for passage of the Leland bill.

As a corporate leader, I am very concerned about the extent
and impact of hunger in this country. It is terribly wrong
that millions of American children go hungry every month.

The good news is that hunger is a problem we can readily
solve. Unlike some developing nations where resources are
scarce, America has enough food to feed all our people. We
have in place a system of federal food assitance programs
which can feed all hungry Americans.

But we must be willing to utilize these tools so that no
more Americans go hungry. The Leland Bill is a critical
step on the road to ending hunger in the U.S. The bill
maximizes the effectiveness of one of our most important
nutrition progreuns. Moreover, the bill protects our most
vulnerable citizens — more than 90 percent of the Leland
bill's provisions are targeted to feuailies with children.

(continued)
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Testimony of Alan G. Hassenfeld Page 2

In my judgement, we Ignore the fact of hvrnger at our own
peril. Hunger hxirts the nation even as it hurts the
hungry. Increasingly, the scientific literature shows that
when children do not receive adequate nutrition, their
cognitive development suffers. This means that hungry
children will not succeed in school. Ultimately, hunger
impedes the productivity of our workforce and our futxire

ability to compete in world markets. To stay competitive,
U.S. companies must have access to highly skilled, highly
educated workers who can adapt to an increasingly complex,
technological workplace.

We must invest in the health of our citizens, especially
the children. If we do not, we will bear the cost of
hunger twice: now and in the future. We will pay the
price of hunger many times over if we allow it to continue
unabated .

I am thrilled to hear our policymeikers begin to speak the
language of investment. And, the most important investment
is in people. My colleagues and I believe we must invest
in the Mickey Leland Childhood Hunger Relief Act. We urge
Congress to take advantage of the double opportunity
presented by the Leland bill — the opportunity to keep our
children and families healthy, and the opportunity to
strengthen our nation's economic productivity.

(Attachments follow:)
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C.E.O. Statement in Support of the Mickey Leiand Childhood Hunger Relief Act

We come together as chief executives of major American corporations to declare that hunger in the

United States is unacceptable and that it must be ended.

We strongly support the Mickey Leiand Childhood Hunger Relief Act the most important anti-hunger

legislation proposed in the last 16 years. We urge Congress to take advantage of the double opportunity

presented by this bill - the opportunity to keep our children and families healthy, and the opportunity to

strengthen our economic productivity as a nation.

We recognize that we risk the health and vitality of our nation when we allow our children to grow up
lacking necessary supports. Over the past decade, for example, we have become especially concerned about
the quality of their education.

Six years ago the business community issued a statement asserting that we must improve not just the

school systems, but the lives and living conditions of children within those schools. Today we echo this

sentiment. We believe that early investment in our children is an important way to break the vicious cycle of
disaffection and despair.

Nowhere is this despair more evident than in the face of a hungry child. Sadly, millions of American
children go hungry every month. This is morally wrong. Hunger weakens their growing bodies and poses a

peril to their developing brains. It saps their ability to learn and drains their enthusiasm to succeed.

For the U.S. to remain competitive in the future, the health and well-being of our children needs to be
a priority today. Hungry children are deprived of the opportunity to develop and reach their full potential.

They cannot pay attention in class and will not learn essential skills which will enable them to be productive
adults. As hungry children are deprived of opportunities, so will our nation be deprived of their lost

contributions.

The tools for solving the problem of hunger are within our grasp. Passing and funding the Leiand Bill

is a critical step toward maximizing the effectiveness of one of our most important nutrition programs.

More than 90 percent of the Leiand Bill's provisions are targeted to families with children. The bill

allows ways for families to save on excess housing costs without losing food stamp benefits. It updates limits

last set in 1977 on the fair market value of vehicles that recipient families may own. It provides child support

payment incentives for both custodial and absent parents. And, it helps families obtain nutritious diets in the

economy of the 1990' s.

A 1992 survey by Wall Street Journal pollster Vincent Breglio shows that a majority of American voten

joins our call to end hunger. Nine out of 10 voters rank hunger as the most solvable of a list of national

problems, and more than 80 percent express support for programs that benefit children.

A nation that fails to feed its young is a nation that jeopardizes its future. We recognize that America's

competitive strength is dependent upon more than sleek, new factories and high technology. America is

dependent upon a healthy, skilled and educated workforce that is able to create and adapt to an increasingly

technological workplace.

We should wait no longer to end hunger. If we do not act now, we will bear its cost twice: now and

in the future. The most important step right now is for Congress to fund the Leiand Bill. Funding Leiand is

a wise investment. It will protect our most vulnerable and precious resource - our children. And it will

strengthen America.
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CORPORATE EXECUTIVE ENDORSERS OF STATEMENT IN SUPPORT OF
THE MICKEY LELAND CHILDHOOD HUNGER RELIEF ACT

1993

Dwayne O. Andreas, Chaiiman & CEO, Archer Daniels Midland Company, Decatur, IL

Patricia Beninati, President, Gotcha Covered Productions, New York, NY

R. William Blasdale, President and CEO, Julius Koch USA, Inc., New Bedford, MA

Thomas M. Chappell, President, Tom's of Maine, Kennebunk, ME

Yvon Chouinard, Owner, Patagonia, Ventura, CA

David H. Clarke, Deputy Chairman, CEO, Hanson Industries, Iselin, NJ

Ben Cohen, Chairman, Ben & Jerry's Ice Cream, Waterfoury, VT

Larry E. Dixon, President 8c CEO, Map International, Brunswick, GA

Mark Fasold, President, Smith and Hawken, Mill Valley, CA

Harold B. Finch, Chairman & CEO, Nash Finch Company, Minneapolis, MN

S^dra J. Foster, President, Indelible Communications, Atlanta, GA

Lester J. Fox, President &. CEO, Real Services, Inc., South Bend, IN

Richard E. Grey, President, CEO <& Chairman, Tyco Toys, Inc., Mt. Laurel, NJ

Barry Grieff, Chairman &. CEO, Promotional Concept Group, New York, NY

Alan Hassenfeld, Chairman & CEO, Hasbro, Inc., Pawtucket, RI

Arnold Hiatt, Chairman, Stride Rite Corporation, Cambridge, MA

Thomas J. Kalinske, President &. CEO, Sega of America, Redwood City, CA

*

Giarles Lazarus, Chairman & CEO, Toys 'R' Us, Paramus, NJ

Michael MacLeod, President, Public Interest Data Inc., Washington, DC

David Miller, President, Toy Manufacturers of America, Inc., New York, NY

Lawrence S. Phillips, Chairman, PhillipsA^an Heusen, Inc., New York, NY

Jean Acevdo Reimie, President, Quality Controlled Systems, Inc., Pembroke Pines, FL

Vidal Sassoon, President, Vidal Sassoon Foundation, Los Angeles, CA

William H. Tremayne, Sr. VP, The Prudential Insurance Company of America, Newark, NJ

Jack Willis, President & CEO, Twin Cities Public Television, Inc., St. Paul, MN

William S. Woodside, Chairman, Sky Chefs, New York, NY

o
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